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According to research by Frost & Sullivan, EC Healthcare is the largest non- hospnal medical serv eprowder in terms of revenue in2022.
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Key Milestones

TEBRE

Acquisition of medical aesthetics equipment Awarded two ISO certifications

distribution business KRR IEISO 235
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Key Milestones

TEREE

Multiple awards for Best Management
Team in Asia 2023 from Institutional Investor
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Financial Highlights and Five Year Summary
G RERhFEHRE

2024
“E-NE
HK$’000
TAT
Revenue WA 4,211,034 3,875,377 2,919,500 2,080,403 1,948,501
EBITDA BRTEREHA
R0 388,132 430,270 536,364 397,354 460,414
Profit before tax B F AR R 16,874 136,189 321,411 265,896 360,523
Profit for the year EREF 15,695 107,027 270,503 225,593 310,272
Profit attributable to owners of ANAIEAR NEL
the Company 57 (18,947) 60,654 197,501 192,865 286,576
Basic earnings per share (HK cents) & E A Z&F| (1) (1.6) 5.9 17.1 18.8 291

2024
113
HK$’000
FHT
Total assets BEHE 5,373,054 5,513,330 4,860,608 3,790,481 2,555,269
Total liabilities BREE 2,970,283 3,142,385 2,510,052 2,159,695 1,385,736
Net assets EEFE 2,402,771 2,370,945 2,350,556 1,630,786 1,169,533
Financial Metrics BEKER
EBITDA Margin®@ BRITER#H
BRI 9.2% 11.1% 18.4% 19.1% 23.6%
Net profit margin® R KO 0.4% 2.8% 9.3% 10.8% 15.9%
Current ratio® BN E 0.92x 0.85x 1.11x 1.07x 0.98x
Quick ratio® RENL RO 0.85x 0.80x 1.04x 1.04x 0.93x
Debt/EBITDA &%/ ERTER
Bymz B 2.4x 1.7x 0.4x 1.4x 0.7x
Gearing ratio BERRBRE 38.3% 30.3% 10.1% 34.5% 25.9%
Return on equity® PR AR [E SR = O 0.7% 4.5% 11.5% 13.8% 26.5%
Return on average total assets” THBEERGED 0.6% 2.1% 6.3% 7.1% 12.7%
Dividend per share (HK cents) TS () 0.5 10.0 14.4 159 23.0
EC Healthcare 4 Annual Report 2023/24



Financial Highlights and Five Year Summary
MR ERIFHRE

Notes:

M e
EBITDA equals earnings before interests, taxation, depreciation-owned 1. ERMEREHAI 2 BAMNERARGFE  BIE - 8
property, plant and equipment and amortisation. EBITDA is not a standard BYE - BMERBENERBHEANOBF - BB
measure under HKFRS. The Company’s management believes that EBITDA, ERBHAT 2 BB B B E EA T RE
as a proxy of operating cash flow generated by the Group’s businesses, SEARE - ARAREEERA  BRITEREHEM
provide investors with useful supplementary information to assess the ZBIMEARRNEBEBMEEEREROIREK B
performance of the Group. BEERMEANBRER  EHEREBRR -
The following table sets out the reconciliation of the EBITDA and profit before TEREIIA AR AR ST E R AT 2 BRI B
tax for the periods indicated: Tt A e M AR
Year ended
31 March
BE=ZA=+—H
IHEE
2024
—E-mEF
HK$’000
FET
Profit before tax FRA Al ) 16,874
Finance costs EUR DN 100,837
Depreciation-owned property, plant and equipment WE—BBWE  BEKEE 177,073
Amortisation of intangible assets EREESE 108,921
Less: Bank and other interest income (note 6 to the financial statements) & : $R17 R EMF U (B & mEKMIEE6) (15,573)
EBITDA ST E R AT 2 & A 388,132
EBITDA Margin equals earnings before interests, taxation, depreciation-owned 2. ETNEREHEN 2 BN XERTRFEARTH
property, plant and equipment and amortisation over total revenue of the B BE 8BWE - BERXEITE REHAT
financial year. BFBRABIA ©
Net profit margin equals profit for the year divided by revenue for the same 3. JF R F) 2R P s AR DA B BRI A o
period.
Current ratio equals current assets divided by current liabilities as at the end of 4. MBLLEERMBFERORDEERARBEE -
the financial year.
Quick ratio equals current assets less inventories divided by current liabilities 5. R EERIBFERNTEEERTERAR
as at the end of the financial year. FEE-
Gearing ratio equals total debt (total debt refers to the aggregate sum of bank 6. BEABHEXENEHEE (EHEEERTERE
borrowings and convertible bonds excluding lease liabilities relating to ARRERGEN  BESEEANYERRNEE
properties leased for own use) divided by total equity. BERIN B AERLEEE
Return on equity equals profit for the year divided by the ending balance of 7. RAREIREFRENRFIBR AN BEE N #EREE
total equity of the financial year. ZFREER -
Return on average total assets equals profit for the year divided by the 8. FHHEEERBRESVRFARNRAMBFEZNE
arithmetic mean of the beginning and ending balances of total assets of the EREZFNRFERERZEM T -
financial year.
The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16, Leases on 1 April 2019 using the 9. REEER-_Z-NFHA-—BERKETERE

modified retrospective approach. Accordingly, the figures for each of the years
ended 31 March 2018 and 2019 are not restated and therefore may not be
comparable.

BEERRER 5

HREREEN RS ERE CHAE - Fl - B
E-F\FR-F-NFZAS+-BLEFE
BT RES] B BRI -
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EC Healthcare At A Glance

E%L/EDEIJ@E\_%_%E

VISION

FA=

To be the leading one-stop
healthcare ECOSYSTEM with
focus on preventive and
precision medicine

AR — AR EAERER
7o WEERRERBRG LB R

MISSION
fiEam

Bring Health, Beauty and
Happiness to more People

R » X - REBHREZA

Aesthetic medical, beauty

CORE VALUES
wMEE

BEMNE
= RIEL
HREE
TR
FENL il

- Integrity

- Empathy

- Co-Ownership

- Disruptive Agility

- Excellence

Medical and wellness services Veterinary and other
BE BRERXHEM
ZEBERE ZAREERK
Revenue (HK$ million) Revenue (HK$ million) Revenue (HK$ million)
WA (=@ 25632 L ONIGE 30 1 ,309 L ONIEE Y P! 270
No. of Service Points No. of Service Points No. of Service Points
RIS BEEE 1 26 RIS BB E 46 RIS BEE 2 1 0
OUR STORES No. Service Points Total Service Area
&M P E B R 182 @ REES - f‘:g ;g‘;)g
ot 2
OUR CUSTOMERS | h0.9f Customer Visit 1,859,328 Repurchase Rate 69.0%
e ZFREIAR B8 =
M
EXIStIhg C.)usiomer Revenue 63.5% No. of CrosAs Brand 34.5%
Contribution Customers
RETPWAMGL? Bmags A8
Customer Satisfactions Rate® 0
FFBEE 99.98%
No. of Registered
OUR PEOPLE No. of Registered Practitioners 337 Veterinary Surgeons 56
A Y B X FEA B 4 A2 ST ERES A 2
Notes:
Bt
1. Based on sales volume for the year excluding non-retail brands
BERFEHEET TRIEFTE R
2. Customers of FY23 contribution in FY24 divided by the total revenue in FY23
“ECCUERERPE_Z_NUMENRABTR - BRAZZE_=MFEKA
3. Revenue contribution by existing customers to the total revenue for the year
REBPHAFEHBARNERE
4. Number of unique customers who purchased services from more than one brand for the year divided by total number of unique customers

since 2018 among 34 brands

BT \FURMEREPH—EL - REEERENBELEFPHEERNEBYEFPHE
5. 100% minus the percentage of material unfavourable feedback of total revenue for the year
100% M EAFELWAFREATFIRENED

EC Healthcare 6 Annual Report 2023/24



Geographical Coverage
Hofs 78 2=

Total of 182 service points across 657,000 sq ft covering Greater China (as of Mar 31, 2024)
RHEREREZHBHEL657,000 F F RI2ERERH (BE=—S_NF=A=+—H)

Mainland China (exclude

Hong Kong and Macau)
KR (&8 B mpish) (D

Greater Bay Area, China (exclude (14)
Hong Kong) PEIXBE(RE®ES)
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One—Stop Multi-Brand Ecosystem
_ﬁlj—:lfﬁ DEI EE L,\/Zn\/b

46 diverse brands: luxury and affordable options catering to a wide range of customers

6EZnitme REBEFRERHASHERARNEE
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Wellness Brands

XEER XBRKBERE

3 Medical Brands
EEmE

Preventive Care PG E&E2 Q9 DR REBORN

#re:HEALTH
&

5 % - Mo R

Cf\ {BHARER
P \407 £ I FOREST
Lab Testing and Screening #38I & {LB& A

LA #ﬁ ParuLas @HKA|
EAF A b > =
ar o —
§ PANGENIA VLT — = d m

A step ahead for healthcare REW DL

Primary Care and Doctor Network

EEBRERBLEMR

=
gy @I il
Al MEDICAL 2

Srour swiss line

ELEGANT BY DERMALABR

) L

Specialists E &}

EC Healthcare E SPECIALISTS w
Medical Centre C'=2 CENTRAL — \

NF B RO oD

BRREABHEPL = mESR
M Premier Medical Centre o . ﬂ!!ﬂﬁﬁ
EEEBEPL FEPLAFABLIREMBAR

EC EYE P:l [ @

OZainn EEEEEEEES FREBORENEDL Veterinary Brands
iy
@ reVIVE "\ PRIMECAIC %ﬁ% AR ﬁ$
CEBBRBEDD B 52 52 B RS Pl

Pain and Wellness J&iE & &4

% AMAH

DAL I,

LA HNEBRETRR

o © 7\ | MCKENZIE

YRS C @ HEALTHCARE

e o e, oroue CoRES

@//{/ ] EC Veterlnary
‘L) PAINKILLER T mumnmmna s B} 52

BERABBRFLARS D K4 - :

W Cthpcie sl ipthy

Dental Care FF &g {7 2

s
BB
Maple Veterinary Hospital ERanER

BaVIE\/ &laLckson EC DENTAL cARE A Dr. Chan & Partners
it ER0® R ‘

R RN RN ( BT AP
Health & Care Dental Clinic AVE entre

g IR QARAT & BB

CARES  proressionacvereamany senvcs

EC Healthcare 8 Annual Report 2023/24



Chairman’s Statement
FERE

Dear Shareholders,

HFUEHIAIIRR

FY24 has been a challenging year for both our company and the
healthcare industry. The slow recovery of the global economy and
ongoing inflationary pressures continue to suppress consumer
demand. Although geopolitical tensions have eased somewhat,
instability in certain regions still affects market sentiment.
Additionally, the current high-interest-rate environment, inflationary
pressures, and economic uncertainties present unprecedented
challenges to our business.

“EMFH AR MNEEBRREITRMNE - REEIT MR
B—F  2RQEEHREENMBENBRE B ENHBEEFR
Ko BEWGBORRRBBAMER  EXEHROPREILED
REEMHIBE - I BITNRERE - BIRE D SEB A
TE MR ER T T AP AR B A PEE -

The market environment in Hong Kong is particularly complex and
volatile, presenting multiple challenges. Firstly, the number of
international and Mainland visitors to Hong Kong has not yet returned
to pre-pandemic levels, and downgraded consumption severely
impacts the recovery process of tourism and related industries.
Meanwhile, fluctuations in the local stock and real estate markets have
created negative wealth effects, leading to a general decline in local
consumer sentiment. Frequent travel of Hong Kong residents to
Mainland China and internationally further disperses local market
spending power, affecting revenue growth in the retail and service
sectors. Additionally, the declining labour force in Hong Kong has
exacerbated recruitment difficulties, extended hiring cycles, and
increased costs, posing significant pressures on human resources
management.

BAEBRMMMZREEMSE  BRES KB -
B BEREERAMEENHEABERRESR
BRKE - BERGERERE T IREXEMERMT
EWER - A FELAMBRETSNEHET
SRKPELTBENYERE  BHAMEE
BHEEE TR - BEBERMAEHNBMERIK
B EE—FIORTAMTIZRERRESD  FE
TEEMRBENRAER - LI - BESBA
O TRENE T HEME R THERNLHE
BTRAE  REENANERERTRKEKREN -

FERSE 2023/24



Chairman’s Statement
FEHE

Despite these challenges, a series of government economic stimulus
measures and our continuous optimization of operational strategies
have enabled us to achieve stable business growth this year. The
Group conducted a swift strategic review and took decisive actions to
drive sustainable profit growth and enhance productivity through three
key areas of focus: 1) business development; 2) operational excellence;
and 3) digital transformation. We are pleased to report that we
achieved a historical high revenue of HK$4,211.0 million in FY24,
representing a 8.7%YoY growth. This success is attributed to our
excellent management execution and customer-centric approach as
well as targeted marketing campaigns, which have effectively driven
sales growth and increased customer loyalty and repeat purchases.

During the pandemic, we took advantage of the favourable rental
market to expand our business coverage. In FY24, we focused on
accelerating the ramp-up process of newly opened service points to
enhance their operational efficiency. We initiated proactive measures to
optimize resource allocation, enhance staff training, and strengthen
marketing strategies to ensure new service points can quickly integrate
into the market and achieve the expected growth. These new service
points experienced a ramp-up period in FY24, gradually overcoming
initial challenges and showing a steady growth trajectory, moving
towards a stable development phase, indicating positive progress in
our business operations and market expansion. Although some of the
new service points require a longer ramp-up period, we believe the
foundation has been laid to scale up in the short term, enhance our
competitive moat, and achieve growth. This extensive network allows
us to provide a wider range of healthcare services to our customers,
positioning us for long-term success in the highly competitive market.

The inflationary business environment has posed significant cost
challenges and hence we have delivered major cost restructuring by
workforce and operation optimization. We leveraged on rental lease
expiry to achieve rental rate reduction and returned back-office and
service area by consolidating of overlapping and/or synergetic
operations. We also implemented tight cost control across our general
and administrative expenses and back-office operation process
simplification, centralization with strategic outsourcing and
digitalization. By optimizing operations and leveraging technology, we
aim to enhance customer experience, efficiency, and productivity.
These help not only to lower our overhead expenditure but also create
stronger commercial synergy and reinforce our one-stop customer
service proposition. Netting off certain one-off compensation and cost,
these initiatives generated an aggregate HK$100 million of savings in
FY24. By streamlining operations and enhancing operational
efficiencies, we are creating a more agile and competitive organization.

EC Healthcare 10
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Chairman’s Statement
FEHE

As a one-stop healthcare service platform, our talent is the most core
competitiveness of the company. Our co-ownership scheme aligns the
interests of our employees and doctor partners with those of our
shareholders, and we will continue to explore new ways to incentivize
and reward our talented team. We recognize that attracting and
retaining top talent is key to the company’s success. We also recognize
the importance of investing in and contributing to the development of
the healthcare ecosystem. By working with key players in the
telecommunications, technology, insurance, real estate and
pharmaceutical (TTIPP) industries, we can create an interconnected
and efficient healthcare system. Through strategic partnerships, we
can leverage the strengths and expertise of each industry to drive
innovation and improve patient outcomes. The focus is on identifying
goals that leverage our expertise and resources and are consistent with
our long-term strategic vision.

As part of our strategy to build a comprehensive health and beauty
ecosystem, we continue to drive external growth through strategic
M&A opportunities, expanding our healthcare ecosystem and
enhancing vertical integration, focusing on consolidating fragmented
markets and adding value to our assets through corporatization.
Through this strategy, we have stabilized the performance of our
assets and are gradually unlocking their potential value. The current
high interest rate environment has increased the Group’s financing
costs and we have become relatively prudent in our capital allocation
and M&A strategy. This year, we have shifted our M&A focus from
Hong Kong downstream assets to Hong Kong upstream and
midstream assets to improve our overall profitability and EBITDA
margins. The upstream and midstream business structure is relatively
simple, requiring less time and resources for integration, and creating
synergies with existing businesses and acquired assets to reduce costs
and enhance value. Although some assets are not yet fully integrated,
we will continue to ensure their potential value is fully realized, achieving
steady growth and long-term development for the company’s
business.

BEERRER 11
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Chairman’s Statement
FEHE

Looking forward, we are fully committed in delivering sustainable
bottom-line growth and productivity improvements. We will continue to
strategically refocus on three key areas: 1) business development; 2)
operational excellence; and 3) digital transformation to enhance our
profitability. Together with our disciplined capital recycling strategy, we
are committed to creating shareholder value and supporting the long-
term growth of the Group. As part of the TTIPP strategy, we will fully
leverage the one-stop healthcare service platform of EC Healthcare to
unlock the value of our mature assets with our strategic partners. We
will continue to optimize our asset portfolio by disposing of non-core
and underperforming assets and redeploying capital to new
investments with better growth prospects, laying a solid foundation for
profitable growth in the medium term to ensure the long-term
development and sustainable growth of the Group and maximize
returns to shareholders.

Sustainability is a critical component of our business strategy. We are
deeply committed to minimizing our environmental impact, promoting
social responsibility, managing risks, and ensuring ethical business
practices. By prioritizing sustainability across all aspects of our
business, we are confident that we can create a positive impact and
drive long-term success. We have implemented several green
initiatives, including energy-saving measures, waste management
plans, and sustainable procurement policies to reduce our carbon
footprint and promote community well-being.

In conclusion, despite the challenges we faced in FY24, we will
continue to focus on innovation, efficiency, and sustainability to ensure
our business remains competitive in the ever-changing market and
achieves long-term growth, creating lasting value for our shareholders.
Qur vision is to establish a leading one-stop healthcare platform in Asia,
focused on bringing health, beauty, and happiness to everyone.

Tang Chi Fai
Chairman

EC Healthcare 12
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Biography of Directors and Senior Management

EEMNRNRETEABRE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

TANG Chi Fai, Eddy

ETERITES

&

Chairman and Executive Director

TANG Chi Fai, Eddy, aged 45, is the Chairman of the Board, our
executive Director and chairman of the Nomination Committee. He is a
controlling shareholder of the Company and he founded our Group on
23 November 2005. He is responsible for formulating the Group’s
strategy, system, corporate culture, managing the Board and C-suite
platform development. Mr. Tang is also a director of various
subsidiaries of the Company.

Mr. Tang has over 21 years of experience in management of the
aesthetic medical and medical healthcare industries. Mr. Tang has
diversified experiences ranging from the initial establishment and
business development of medical aesthetic clinics and beauty centres,
the development of marketing strategies and maintenance of sales
channels.

From September 1998 to May 2001, Mr. Tang attended the University
of Hong Kong where he was enrolled in the bachelor of medicine and
the bachelor of surgery programmes before deciding to pursue a
different career path. From September 2001 to February 2005, Mr.
Tang enrolled in the bachelor of business administration in accounting
and finance at the University of Hong Kong and worked on a part-time
basis before deciding to switch to full-time employment. Mr. Tang
obtained Certificate IV in Training and Assessment from Northern
Melbourne Institute of Technical and Further Education in September
2009 and the executive master of business administration degree from
the University of Hull in January 2014. Mr. Tang is an Elizabeth
Wordsworth Fellow at St. Hugh’s College, University of Oxford.

BRRER 13
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Biography of Directors and Senior Management

EENSREEABME

LU Lyn Wade, Lesle =AEE
Chief Executive Officer and Executive Director

TREZRRATES

LU Lyn Wade Leslie, aged 44, joined the Group in August 2021 and
is the chief executive officer of the Group. He focus on the Group’s
high level strategy, systems building, implementation and cultural
alignment.

Mr. Lu is a seasoned corporate executive with 22 years of
management experience across multiple industry verticals. Mr. Lu
worked in Sun Hung Kai Real Estate Agency Limited as Deputy Chief
Digital Officer. Before that, Mr. Lu was an executive at Cathay Pacific
Airways Limited during 2001-2007 & 2008-2020. His roles include
General Manager Digital, General Manager Product, managerial
positions in airline planning, cargo, flight operations, customer
relationship management as well as oversea station at Thailand,
Vietnam and United States.

Mr. Lu graduated from The Hong Kong University of Science and
Technology (“HKUST”) with a Bachelor’s degree in Civil Engineering in
2001 and a master’s degree in Global Finance in 2009 from New York
University and HKUST.
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Biography of Directors and Senior Management

EENSREEABME

LEE Heung Wing, Levin Z=A14%
Chief Financial Officer and Executive Director

BERVBERNMIES

LEE Heung Wing, Levin, aged 43, joined the Group as corporate
finance director in March 2016 and was responsible for corporate
finance, mergers and acquisitions matters and has become the chief
financial officer of the Group since July 2019. Mr. Lee is responsible for
supervising capital market activities, evaluating M&A targets, and
setting financial plan for the Group.

Mr. Lee has over 18 years of professional experience in auditing,
accounting and corporate finance. Mr. Lee obtained a degree of
Bachelor of Business Administration in Finance from the University of
Hong Kong in 2004 and a postgraduate diploma in accountancy from
the Hong Kong Polytechnic University in 2006. Mr. Lee became a
member and practising member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants in 2007 and 2015, respectively. Prior to joining the
Group, Mr. Lee founded his own certified public accountant and
consultancy firm in 2015, principally engaged in business and
accounting consultation services. Prior to 2015 and after his
graduation, Mr. Lee worked in assurance department of Ernst & Young
and his last position was senior manager which he acquired intensive
financial reporting and corporate governance experience.
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Biography of Directors and Senior Management

EENSREEABME

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

FHTES

LUK Kun Shing, Ben BE#R
Non-Executive Director

FMITES

LUK Kun Shing Ben, aged 45, has more than 12 years of experience
in the aesthetic medical industry, and over 20 years of experience in
the information technology industry. Prior to joining our Group in March
2010, from January 2011 to February 2014, Mr. Luk served as a
software engineer at Google (Hong Kong) Limited, a subsidiary of
Google Inc., specialising in internet-related services and products.
From December 2003 to December 2010, he was a software engineer
at Google Inc., in Mountain View, California, the United States and
involved in the implementation of Google Maps.

Mr. Luk graduated from Cornell University with a bachelor of science
degree in computer science in August 2000 and Stanford University
with a master of science degree in computer science in June 2003. Mr.
Luk was appointed as the Engineering Site Lead at Google Beijing in
2017. The Board believes that his role in Google Beijing will allow him
to be in touch with the state-of-the-art technology and Mr. Luk will
continue to advise the Company to enhance its IT systems and access
to the latest IT resources.

EC Healthcare 16

BERIR - 4555  RESEXRTEREGR12FK
B WREABHRITERAR20FEH - KN T
—EF=ZAMAREER  BEAER T —F
—AZZZ—F = A Google (Hong Kong)
Limited (Google Inc. KKt & A &) - Z)F 5 B B 4
ARG RER) WEM TR R =F
+ZAEZZ—ZF+F - HREBRMFER
25 J1f Mountain View 1 B Google Inc. &) 8 {4 T 2
B k2 EATHEEDR o

BEXER_ZEETFN\AEERREZTRAZ - |
SEKEEEELSN YR _TT=ZF/X AR
S RBALREREBEMRIEBEP B - [t
R+ EW T AT R RO ER
B EBEEHEGE BERARERANAGKEREE
BERCENRE - WHEEELEBEEGLETAE
NEBRUMBARATITREMERZHNITE
IR e

Annual Report 2023/24



Biography of Directors and Senior Management

EENSREEABME

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

MA Ching Nam 55518
Independent Non-Executive Director
BUFHITES

BYFHTES

MA Ching Nam, aged 71, was appointed as our Independent Non-
Executive Director on 19 February 2016. Mr. Ma is also a member of each
of the Audit Committee and the Remuneration Committee. Mr. Ma has
been practising law for more than 41 years. He was admitted as a solicitor
in England and Wales, Hong Kong, Australia and Singapore. He currently
serves as a consultant of Hastings & Co, Solicitors & Notaries, a law firm in
Hong Kong. Mr. Ma is also a Notary Public, China Appointed Attesting
Officer and Civil Celebrant. He was the President of the Hong Kong
Society of Notaries from 2007 to 2013.

Mr. Ma currently serves as directors of Tai Sang Bank Limited,
Heptacontinental Group of companies, Ma Kam Ming Company
Limited, Ma Kam Ming Charitable Foundation and Ma’s Enterprises
Company Limited. He is now an Independent Non-Executive Director
of JY Grandmark Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 2231), a company
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. Mr. Ma was also an
Independent Non-executive Director of Time Watch Investments
Limited (Stock Code: 2033), which is listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange, during the period between 10 January 2013 and 24
November 2022. Mr. Ma was the Chairman of Po Leung Kuk from
2019 to 2020.

Mr. Ma is a council member of Hong Kong St. John Ambulance. He
was appointed as a member of Political and Consultative Conference
in Hunan Province, PRC. He was also the past Chairman of St. Paul’s
Co-educational College Alumni Association. Mr. Ma graduated from
the University of Hull with a bachelor of science degree in economics
with honours in 1977.

BEERRER 17

BEM 1R R-T-RF_AThBEZRE
REUIFNTES - BEENAERZESLE
MEZEEKE - HRERFEMPEXBBAF -
WAREER BB - B RN BN AR
A =R - BRIR DB B R B AA C AR
17 (REN R AN B - SEETRRFA
TERAAEARBERERA - RR_TTLF
ECT-—FHA/BEERAEAREE R -

SAERBEERERTERAR  tMEER
A HRAARAR  SHABRZESRFRE
EAERABINES - WABR/RERBEEER
BRAB(—RPBRAER EMAH AR - B
IR 2231 MBI IFHTTEFT - R _FT—=F
—ATBEEZ-_—_F+—-A-THAEHH 5
RETREFEREFRAF (R AERL
o RS 2033) B FFRITEE - Fk
EEZZE-NFEZ_TFEARRBEIR

BEAATSROBNERBEELES - BE
RECATEAMAIARHEHERRES -
ERARREBLDSRERGNIER - B4
R-NELERERHAAD  EEEEDES
Bt R -

FEHRE 2023/24



Biography of Directors and Senior Management

EENSREEABME

LOOK Andrew PR
Independent Non-Executive Director
BN ITES

LOOK Andrew, aged 59, was appointed as our independent non-
executive Director on 19 February 2016. Mr. Look is also a member of
each of the Nomination Committee and the Remuneration Committee,
as well as the chairman of the Audit Committee.

Mr. Look holds a bachelor of commerce degree from the University of
Toronto and has over 29 years’ experience in the equity investment
analysis of Hong Kong and China stock markets. From 2000 to 2008,
Mr. Look served in Union Bank of Switzerland (“UBS”) as the head of
Hong Kong research, strategy and product. He was rated as the best
Hong Kong strategist and best analyst by the Asiamoney magazine, a
leading monthly financial and capital markets publication for corporate
and finance readers and investors, in 2001, 2002, 2003, 2005, 2006
and 2007. Mr. Look is currently an independent non-executive director
of Hung Fook Tong Group Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 1446), CITIC
Resources Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 1205) and L.K. Technology
Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 558), all of which are listed on the Hong
Kong Stock Exchange. He was an independent non-executive director
of TCL Communication Technology Holdings Limited (a company
delisted on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange on 30 September 2016)
from September 2010 to September 2016, an independent non-
executive director of Man Sang Jewellery Holdings Limited (Stock
Code: 1466, a company listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange)
from September 2014 to December 2016, an independent non-
executive director of Cowell e Holdings Inc. (Stock Code: 1415, a
company listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange) from April 2017 to
December 2018 and an independent non-executive director of Ka Shui
International Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 822, a company listed on
the Hong Kong Stock Exchange) from December 2009 to May 2024.
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Biography of Directors and Senior Management

EENENREEAEBGE

AU Tsun &%
Independent Non-executive Director
BN ITES

AU Tsun, aged 44, joined the Group in September 2022 as
Independent Non-executive Director. Mr. Au is also the chairman of the
Remuneration Committee, and a member of the Audit Committee and
the Nomination Committee. Mr. Au owns over 16 years of experience
in senior management role, with expertise in audit, compliance and
advisory. He is now the Chief Executive Officer of Verdant Capital
Group, a multi-billion asset management firm based in Hong Kong,
managing and overseeing equities and venture capital investments in
Hong Kong, Singapore and overseas. He provides the overall direction,
leadership and governance of the group, and manages its resources
and daily operations.

Mr. Au was the Group Chief Operating Officer of CTF Education Group,
where he oversaw the operations and management of Hong Kong and
Mainland China regional offices, including operations, finance, IT and
human resources functions. Mr. Au was also the Interim Executive
Director of Victoria Educational Organisation.

Mr. Au was an audit and advisory Partner in Ernst & Young (EY), he
also held the role of EY’s Asia Pacific leader in System, Process and
Automation under Financial Accounting and Advisory Services where
he drove proprietary system solutions for clients. Prior to that, Mr. Au
served as Head of Asia for a US-listed global data analytics firm.

Mr. Au serves on the Audit Committee of UNICEF Hong Kong, school
council member of three Sheng Kung Hui primary schools, and Board
Member of Hong Kong Education City wholly owned by the HKSAR
Government. Mr. Au’s life passion is to support humanity through
different charity initiatives, including Rotary, a leadership endowment
fund, and many more.

Mr. Au obtained a degree of Bachelor of Economics and Finance from
the University of Hong Kong in 2002. Mr. Au is a member of the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, and is also a member of
the New Hampshire State Board of Accountancy in the US and
American Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Mr. Au is an
alumnus of St. Paul’s Co-educational College.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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Management Discussion and Analysis
EEER R ADN

- DU EUSLLEN G
A e

e renewals to co

ns into single locations, resulting in a :N HES 2.
eproniyis

Jation as compared to \k

ame from the m /
e \- ®

) . 001 011010
010 001 011010

-

o Ma0%v 01 010110 100 O
01 1010 01010110 101 010

FE®RE 2023/24




Management Discussion and Analysis
EIEErwm Mo

Business Segment Review

ESy P el

Revenue by Business Segment
REBHRIAE D HIBA
in HK$ million
BEET
$270BEHETT, 6.4%
$1,309E&E T,
31.1%

$2,632HEE T,
62.5%
- Medical
BE

Aesthetic medical, beauty and wellness
EBRE EXRREB4E
» Veterinary and other

BB MM

Revenue by Geographical Location

RiIBN BB 5 HUWRA
in HK$ million
BEET
$123F @, $126B8%ET, 3.0%

2.9% \‘

$3,962E 8T,
94.1%

- ang Kong 4 Macau Mainland China

&5 SR P e Eip NS

-‘ [ | .-
Medical segment
gy | Ees

During the Reporting Period, through both organic and M&A expansion,
the Group’s medical service portfolio grew to encompass 39 specialist
disciplines with 337 registered practitioner headcount. In addition, there
were organic growth derived from the 7 medical facilities that were
established from last financial year and 7 new health screening centres,
laboratories and pain management centres that commenced operation
during the Reporting Period. These enabled the Group’s revenue from
medical services segment to rise by 3.5% YoY to HK$2,632 million,
representing revenue contribution of 62.5%.

RIFEHE - BRANBIEREOEERET  AEENBERBHESERE
EHESOEER - MAIB7 BEMEE o 1o B L —HBFERE
STH) 7 E B R HE DA R IR S MR A S B 7 EF R ERE R L
FREREBABRTL)MERADPER - ZEARSAEENER
R EBIGERILL EF3.5% £ 2,632 BEBTT - AR EE 62.5% °
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Management Discussion and Analysis
BB wm &k

Our Registered Practitioners BN EMmEE
We take great pleasure in continually acting as a trustworthy ally for B ER = B IE R BEEREBERBRY
medical specialists. The following table summarizes our Registered BR - TRBANR T _WF=A=+—HBHM
Practitioners as of 31 March 2024: FMEAERNEE -
Number of
Registered
Practitioners
Type of Registered Practitioners e 4 R ML AR
Anaesthesiology iR B A 4
Cardiology R 10
Cardio-thoracic Surgery BN}
Clinical Oncology b R R R
Dermatology & Venereology B &R
Endocrinology, Diabetes & Metabolism o ~ BB PR R R A
Family Medicine REES
Gastroenterology & Hepatology 1% 5 B
General Practice TRt
General Surgery SN
Geriatric Medicine Z AR
Haematology & Haematological Oncology R K & fE B
Medical Oncology ARHERE R
Neurosurgery FRERONEL
Obstetrics & Gynaecology ImEER
Ophthalmology AR}
Orthopaedics & Traumatology R REIGE
Otorhinolaryngology B2
Paediatric Respiratory Medicine FEM IR
Paediatric Surgery NN
Paediatrics F R
Plastic Surgery BN
Psychiatry Rt
Radiology TR
Reproductive Medicine FIEEE
Respiratory Medicine IR AR}
Rheumatology [BRAE
Urology PR B
Neurology rRE R
Physiotherapy VIR RE
Chinese Medicine B
Endodontics TeEe R
General Dentistry T3 o R
Oral and Maxillofacial Surgery M PesEmE S e 7
Orthodontics ERR
Paediatric Dentistry TEEE
Periodontics TERE
Chiropractic AE
Clinical Psychologist EY NS
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Management Discussion and Analysis

vaEJ: njnﬁ& Tﬁ

Aesthetic medical
and beauty and
wellness services
segment
XEBEBE . XAR
EERKE DI

Our aesthetic medical, beauty and wellness service pillar comprises of aesthetic medic:
beauty, haircare, ancillary wellness services and the sale of skincare, healthcare and bex
products. During the Reporting Period, revenue contribution by this segment has increas!
18.8% YoY to HK$1,309 million, accounted for 31.1% of the total revenue. Revenue frol
Kong rose by 10.8% YoY to HK$3,962 million mainly due to normalization of post-COVID-
pent-up demand and rebound in the number of Mainland tourists. On the contrary, revenue
10 service points in Chinese Mainland and Macau recorded a YoY decline of 26.9% to HKD1
million and a YoY decline of 2.5% to HK$126 million respectively mainly due to local consumption:
downgrade.

BFNESBERE  ZARBERBIEOEEBRE  EHED &2 HHELREARBEE
EE REREDER - RIEHE - ZoBERAKARLL EFA18.8%F 1,309 B & T 16
MU AHI31.1% © REBENW AR EFH10.8% E=3,962 A BB T » X EmNEIEEEEIN
AN 5 SRR IE % R AR A ZREFETE - MR - 2R B A B A RE 10 18 AR 7% 2h BB PIH UR A 5 3l
REL T 26.9% = 123 B & BT LRI THK2.5% £ 126 A &8 7T @ = B i AN S B R R FTE -

Revenue from the Group’s veterinary and multi-channel networking services
segment rose by 16.6% YoY to HK$270 million, mainly driven by the growth of
the Group’s veterinary market share in Hong Kong, with the number of
registered veterinary surgeons increased to 56 during the Reporting Period.
The Group'’s first organic veterinary hospital, Animal Medical Academy Hospital
(“AMAH") in Tsim Sha Tsui East that commenced operation in the last quarter
of previous financial year has been ramping up progressively and has achieved
EBITDA breakeven towards the end of the period. The Group will continue to

Veterinary and other services invest in its leading veterinary consolidation platform to turn it into one major

segment

BENEMBRE DS

growth englne

%%LM§WE§#@@F**§, Y
£ W ERE T BB E B R
BEBBEATA L ISHPEATBEED -

Number of

Registered

Veterinary

Surgeons

Type of Registered Veterinary Surgeons E%Eﬁ%ﬁ?zﬂ ok i R A
Veterinary Surgeon - General Practice B — Eant 50
Veterinary Surgeon Specialist - Canine and Feline Practice .:)i‘g“ﬁ% — AR5 1
Veterinary Surgeon Specialist - Cardiology BEER — LR 2
Veterinary Surgeon Specialist - Neurology BEHER — LR 1
Veterinary Surgeon Specialist - Anaesthesia & Analgesia BEER — MEREERER 1
Veterinary Surgeon Specialist - Emergency & Critical Care BB ER — 22 EEMEER 1
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Management Discussion and Analysis
BB wm &k

OUTLOOK

Cautious optimism amid increasing local economic
and global uncertainties

Despite facing challenging local and global economic conditions, we
remain cautiously optimistic as the Hong Kong healthcare market has
demonstrated resilience by growing at approximately 21.5% YoY to
HK$243 billion in 2022, while the private healthcare market expanded
by approximately 24.1% YoY to HK$98 billion as a result of increasing
general public awareness of health issues during the post-pandemic
era. The Group is optimistic towards growing its market share with our
strong foundation and leading one-stop platform.

Focus on higher growth prospects and scalable
customer segments

The Group had been taking good leverage of its solid foundation on
direct B2C customer engagement for growth in the past. It has now
achieved a comprehensive healthcare service platform of meaningful
size and scale after years of M&A and organic growth to deliver a one-
stop service model underpinned by IT capabilities. These allows us to
better address the needs of various customer segmentations with
different pricing and product proposition, including B2B corporate
medical market, B2l insurance market and B2G Government’s various
Public-Private-Partnership. Capturing these scalable growth segments
will drive sustainable and profitable growth with compressed payback
period for effective market consolidation.

Strategic focuses to deliver bottom-line growth

We strongly believe our market consolidation and corporatization
strategy are still highly relevant to our success. Given our current scale,
the Group is embarking on the next phase of corporate development
with renewed strategic focus on 3 key areas: 1) business development;
2) operational excellence, and 3) digital transformation.

On business development, the Group will leverage its platform
approach to develop relevant product propositions to maximize our
share of wallet by delivering integrated product and service proposition
with dedicated resources. Meanwhile, we shall exercise careful revenue
management across different customer segments to protect our
margin.

On operational excellence, we will focus on talent productivity, asset
utilization, process efficiency and cost control. The Group will strive to
maximize synergies and integration across different centers of
excellence and business units to bring around better customer
experience and convenience.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
BB wm &k

On digital transformation, we will drive service scalability, cost efficiency
and create better customer experiences. With proper and secure data
management protocoal, it allows further automation and streamline our
operation, enhance our availability to customer via 24x7 online booking,
connectivity to co-create innovative services and products with our
TTIPP ecosystem partners from technology, telecom, insurance,
property and pharmaceutical industries (“TTIPP”) and install proper and
standardized governance framework across our internal operation.

Disciplined capital recycling with strengthened TTIPP
partnerships

We will continue to foster strategic partnerships with key players in
TTIPP domain to expand our leadership in establishing an integrated
one-stop healthcare service provider in Hong Kong. As part of the
TTIPP strategy, we will fully leverage the one-stop healthcare service
platform of EC Healthcare to unlock the value of our mature assets
with our strategic partners. Although some assets are not yet fully
integrated, we will continue to ensure their potential value is fully
realized. Meanwhile, we will continue to optimize our asset portfolio by
disposing of non-core and underperforming assets and redeploying
capital to new investments with better growth prospects, laying a solid
foundation for profitable growth in the medium term to ensure the long-
term development and sustainable growth of the Company and
maximize returns to shareholders. More importantly, taking into
account the prevailing business conditions, we shall return excess cash
to shareholders by way of dividends.

Prudent capital allocation and M&A strategy driving
external growth

As part of our strategy to build a comprehensive health and beauty
ecosystem, we continue to drive external growth through strategic
M&A opportunities, expanding our healthcare ecosystem and
enhancing vertical integration, focusing on consolidating fragmented
markets and adding value to our assets through corporatization.
Through this strategy, we have stabilized the performance of our
assets and are gradually unlocking their potential value. The current
high interest rate environment is expected to remain for some time,
and we will continue to be prudent in our capital allocation and M&A
strategy. Firstly, we will seek investment opportunities with a wider
positive valuation carry. Secondly, we will target investments that are
EBITDA margin accretive. Lastly, we will prioritize opportunities which
are relatively simple, requiring less time and resources for integration,
and creating synergies with existing businesses. We will continue to
focus on upstream and midstream investment opportunities to improve
our overall profitability, which also fits our above investment philosophy.
Our two sustainability-linked loans have put us in a strong financial
position to readily execute our M&A consolidation as and when
strategic and synergetic asset of reasonable valuation are available to
further enhance our ecosystem proposition.
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Strategic positioning in Hong Kong’s four key prime
districts

We have always strived to deliver sustainable, attainable and affordable
preventive and precision medicine with a one-stop customer service
model. As such, under the Group’s TTIPP strategy, it is our
commitment to building a comprehensive healthcare ecosystem
focused on delivering high-quality customer services. “Fung House”
located at 19-20 Connaught Road, Central, Hong Kong was renamed
as the “EC Healthcare Tower (Central)” on 1 June 2024 and the
construction work of the Group’s another EC Healthcare Tower located
at Cameron Road, Tsim Sha Tsui is also in progress. The EC
Healthcare Tower (Central) embarks the Group’s first step in its
strategic positioning as a one-stop comprehensive healthcare and
medical service provider in Hong Kong’s four key prime districts:
Central, Tsim Sha Tsui, Mong Kok and Causeway Bay. This Tower will
become one of the centrepieces of EC Healthcare’s premium medical
and healthcare services in Hong Kong, offering a truly seamless
experience of medical and healthcare services within a single building.
Furthermore, this Tower is expected to enhance EC Healthcare’s
corporate branding, improving customer convenience, increasing
operational efficiency with physical operation consolidation while
achieving synergy across our various organic & acquired medical
assets to deliver further asset enhancement and return for our
investors.

Building a sustainable business

We strongly emphasize on sustainability to create long-term value for
all stakeholders and communities. As part of our strategy, we are
committed to driving action on the relevant United Nations Sustainable
Development Goals (“SDGs”), which provide a blueprint for achieving a
sustainable future. Through the implementation of energy efficient
technologies and sustainable practices, we are taking concrete steps
to reduce our carbon footprint and operate in a more environmentally
conscious way. We are also dedicated to improving healthcare access
and promoting equality in underprivileged communities through
community outreach programs. Diversity and inclusion are key values
that we uphold, as we strive to foster a workplace culture that values
and respects all individuals. In addition, we are passionate about giving
back to the community through philanthropic initiatives and
partnerships. We have also enhanced our governance practices with a
focus on risk management, data protection and medical safety to
ensure we operate with the highest standards of integrity and ethical
conduct. By prioritizing sustainability across all aspects of our business,
we are confident that we can create a positive impact and drive long-
term success.

In conclusion, despite the challenges we faced in FY24, we will
continue to focus on innovation, efficiency, and sustainability to ensure
our business remains competitive in the ever-changing market and
achieves long-term growth, creating long-lasting value for our
Shareholders. Our vision is to establish a leading one-stop healthcare
platform in Asia, focused on bringing health, beauty, and wellness to
everyone.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES
Financial Resources

As at 31 March 2024, the Group has drawn down HK$678.9 million of
bank borrowings and undrawn bank facilities available was HK$600.0
million. Together with cash and deposits of HK$593.1 million, the
Group has sufficient liquid assets to satisfy its working capital and
operating requirements.

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

On 12 June 2024, the Company entered into a sale and purchase
agreement to dispose of 51% of the entire issued share capital of a
subsidiary operating under the business name of Zenith Medical Centre
(“Zenith Company”) at a total consideration of HK$80,249,000. Upon
completion of the disposal, the Company will no longer have any
interest in the Zenith Company and the Zenith Company will cease to
be accounted as a subsidiary of the Company.

Under the prevailing conditions, the Zenith Company has faced
challenges in meeting the original financial expectations, prompting the
Company to display strong discipline and corporate governance in
reevaluate its overall strategic development, risk management and
capital recycling opportunities. For further details, please refer to the
announcement of the Company dated 12 June 2024.
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CAPITAL EXPENDITURE AND COMMITMENTS
Capital Expenditure

Capital expenditure was mainly spent on purchases of operation
equipment and expenditure in leasehold improvements to the net
increase of 14 service points, opened during FY24. The capital
expenditure was financed by cash flows generated from operating
activities.

Capital Commitment

As at 31 March 2024, there was no capital commitment to acquire
certain property, plant and equipment for the abovementioned new
service points.

In addition, the Group has committed on 31 March 2024 to enter into
certain new leases that have not yet commenced, the aggregate lease
payments, without taking into account the extension options,
amounted to approximately HK$380 million.

INDEBTEDNESS
Debt Maturity Profile
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Interest-bearing Liabilities

As at 31 March 2024, the Group had outstanding interest-bearing
unsecured bank borrowings in the amount of HK$678.9 million and
convertible bonds of HK$241.8 million.

Contingent Liabilities and Guarantees

As at 31 March 2024, the Group had no significant contingent liabilities
and guarantees.

Charge of Assets

As at 31 March 2024, there was no charge over investment properties,
ownership interests in land and building held for own use as all of them
had been released during FY24.

Gearing Ratio

Gearing ratio equals total debt (total debt refers to the aggregate sum
of bank borrowings and convertible bonds excluding lease liabilities
relating to properties leased for own use) divided by total equity. As at
31 March 2024, the Group had interest-bearing liabilities, except for
the properties leased for own use, of HK$920.7 million and the gearing
ratio is 38.4%.

Foreign Currency Risk

The Group carries out certain operating transactions in foreign
currencies, which expose the Group to foreign currency risk, mainly
pertaining to the risk of fluctuations in the Hong Kong dollar and U.S.
dollar against Renminbi.

The Group has not used any derivative contracts to hedge against its
exposure to currency risk. The management manages the currency risk
by closely monitoring the fluctuation of the foreign currency rates and
will consider hedging measures against significant foreign exchange
exposure should such need arise.

Interest Rate Risk

As at 31 March 2024, it is estimated that a general increase/decrease
of 100 basis points in interest rates, with all other variables remaining
constant, would have decreased/increased the Group’s profit after
taxation and retained profits by approximately HK$5.7 million.

BEERRER 31

FTEAEE

RZE-_WNFZA=+—8 ' AEEHHBF678.9
BEBITHRERTBERKFRITERK241.8
BEBTHAIRKRES -

FARBERER

RZZF-_ME=ZA=1+—H ARBELEEAHL
REERER -

BEEEH

R=B-MF=A=+—0 LEREVE  #
B {EE M L R TS RS (RS - B

AREZHPER T - MBHFEMER -
AERMELR
AEABLESREH AR (BERBRRITE

REARBESEN  EHEFERNMEEH
MEHERERIN RIAERAE R _F M4
ZA=1T—8 AEEFRAGBCEEFARN
MEBRIN) BR07TEEET BEABELER
38.4% -

ShEE LB

REBMUIINERETETLERS  EZHRBT
FETHAARENER SRR - AEBE LR
FE SN [ g2 o

AEBEREREMITEAOE TEERR - B2
Jﬁﬁiﬁﬁ B SMERE KRB R E B TERAR -

ELHBRBERR  EEESEZERUEBRINERR
BITEHIEN

RZZEZWHF=RA=+—8 " HstFEEE L
H/TF 100 B EZ - MATA M ZHGREBT

C AEEMOBRBR T RIRBIEF G 1
ﬂu%’%.?E%ﬁén o

FEHRE 2023/24



Management Discussion and Analysis
BB wm &k

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS, MATERIAL
ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF
SUBSIDIARIES, ASSOCIATES AND JOINT
VENTURES, AND FUTURE PLANS FOR
MATERIAL INVESTMENTS OR CAPITAL
ASSETS

During the Reporting Period, the Group has entered into the following

significant investments and acquisitions.

NOTIFIABLE TRANSACTIONS

(a) Discloseable Transaction — Acquisition of

42.88% equity interests in Pangenia Inc through
Active Compass Limited and Victor Mind
International Limited

On 30 November 2023, EC Healthcare, through its subsidiary,
Jade Master International Limited (as the purchaser), entered into
a sale and purchase agreement to acquire 100% equity interest
in Active Compass Limited (“Active Compass”) and 100% equity
interest in Victor Mind International Limited (“Victor Mind”) at a
consideration of HK$115,000,000.

Active Compass and Victor Mind are investment holding
companies, which hold an aggregate of 42.88% issued share
capital in Pangenia Inc (“Pangenia”). Pangenia is principally
engaged in the business of provision of medical laboratory testing
and distribution of medical laboratory equipment and devices.

The acquisition of Active Compass and Victor Mind will enable
the Group to leverage the Pangenia’s expertise and network in
life science and premium medical service industry and facilitate
the Group’s expansion into the medical laboratory testing market.
The Group can also optimize the Group’s overall business
operations in enhancing the operational efficiencies, cost savings
and improve profitability of the Group. Upon completion, each of
Active Compass and Victor Mind has became a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, and Pangenia has become an
associate of the Company. For details, please refer to the
announcements of the Company dated 30 November 2023 and
4 January 2024.
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(b) Major Transaction — Further acquisition of

12.38% equity interests in Pangenia through
Success Synergy Limited and Bio-Gene Limited

On 4 January 2024, EC Healthcare, through its subsidiary Jade
Master International Limited (as the purchaser), entered into a
sale and purchase agreement to acquire 100% equity interest in
Success Synergy Limited (“Success Synergy”) and 100% equity
interest in Bio-Gene Limited (“Bio-Gene”) (collectively, “the Target
Companies”) at a consideration of HK$17,400,000 and
HK$15,800,000, respectively. The total consideration of
HK$33,200,000 was satisfied in cash.

Success Synergy and Bio-Gene are investment holding
companies, which hold an aggregate of 12.38% issued share
capital in Pangenia. Success Synergy and Bio-Gene hold 6.49%
and 5.89% of the issued share capital of Pangenia respectively.
Upon Completion, each of Success Synergy and Bio-Gene will
become a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company and
Pangenia will be held as to approximately 55.26% by the
Company and accounted as a subsidiary of the Company. The
financial results of Pangenia will be consolidated into the financial
statements of the Company.

Pangenia is principally engaged in the business of provision of
medical laboratory testing and distribution of medical laboratory
equipment and devices. The acquisition of the Target Companies
will enable the Group to acquire a controlling stake in Pangenia
of 55.26% taking into account the previous acquisition of 42.88%
equity interest thereof, to direct the management and business
affairs of Pangenia, which will in turn enable the Group to more
comprehensively integrate Pangenia’s operations and realise the
strategic objectives of expanding the Group’s revenue stream
and tapping into the medical, which laboratory testing market in
Hong Kong has significant room for growth.

The Company has already obtained the written approval from the
controlling shareholder of the Company pursuant to Rule 14.44
of the Listing Rules. No general meeting was convened to
consider the acquisition.

For details, please refer to the announcements of the Company
dated 4 January 2024, 6 February 2024, 28 March 2024 and 13
May 2024 and the circular dated 11 May 2024.
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Save as disclosed in this report, there were no significant
investments held by the Company during the Reporting Period,
nor were there any material acquisitions and disposals of
subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures during the Reporting
Period and there is no plan authorised by the Board for other
material investments or additions of capital assets as at the date
of this report.

References are made to (i) the announcement of the Company
dated 7 February 2023 regarding the acquisition of shares in
Excellent Connect Limited; (i) the announcement of the Company
dated 30 September 2022 regarding the acquisition of shares in
Pioneer Evolution Limited; (jii) the announcement of the Company
dated 29 November 2021 regarding the acquisition of shares in
Bayley & Jackson Dental Surgeons Limited; (iv) the
announcement of the Company dated 8 November 2021
regarding the acquisition of shares in Premier Medical Group (BVI)
Limited; (v) the announcement of the Company dated 15 June
2021 regarding the acquisition of veterinary business (including
the target companies (the “Target Companies (Veterinary
Business)”) named King Equity Investments Limited (“King
Equity”), Eternal Harvest International Limited (“Eternal Harvest”),
Hong Kong Veterinary Imaging Centre Limited (“HKVIC”) and
Crown Leader Limited (“Crown Leader”)) (the “Acquisition of
Veterinary Business”); (vi) the announcement of the Company
dated 8 March 2021 regarding the acquisition of shares in Young
Aesthetics Medical Limited; (vii) the announcement of the
Company dated 20 July 2020 regarding the acquisition of shares
in Hong Kong Pain and Wellness Solutions Limited; (viii) the
announcement of the Company dated 2 November 2016
regarding the acquisition of shares in Good Union Corporation
Limited and Good Union Medical Limited and (ix) the
announcement of the Company dated 30 November 2023.

Save and except the Target Companies (Veterinary Business), all
relevant profit guarantees/revenue guarantees (as the case may
be) given by the relevant parties up to the year ended 31 March
2024, which were calculated based on the agreed formula, have
been met. There have been no change in the terms of the profit
guarantees or revenue guarantees since the respective dates of
the agreements.
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For the Acquisitions of Veterinary Business, (i) each of Dr. Tiong
Hai Hean and Dr. Tan Shyue Wei (together the “Veterinary
Sellers”) guarantees that the aggregate audited net profit of King
Equity for the year ended 31 March 2022 and 2023 shall be no
less than HK$30.5 million and (ii) Dr. Tiong (“Dr. Tiong”)
guarantees that the aggregate audited net profit of Eternal
Harvest, HKVIC and Crown Leader for the year ended 31 March
2022 and 2023 shall be no less than HK$17.0 million. According
to the audited financial statements for the year ended 31 March
2022 and 2023, the aggregate net profit of King Equity was
HK$28.3 million and the aggregate net profit of Eternal Harvest,
HKVIC and Crown Leader was HK$12.5 million respectively.
According to the sales and purchase agreements, there was
shortfall of approximately HK$2.2 million (for King Equity) and
approximately HK$4.6 million (for Eternal Harvest, HKVIC and
Crown Leader) for satisfying the profit guarantees. As the Target
Companies (Veterinary Business) failed to meet the guaranteed
profit, the Veterinary Sellers should compensate the Group the
amount of approximately HK$0.9 million and Dr. Tiong should
compensate approximately HK$2.3 million according to the
shortfall formula. As at 31 March 2024, the Veterinary Sellers
have not yet fulfilled their compensation obligation. The Group
has been demanding the Veterinary Sellers for the fulfiment of
their obligation to settle the compensation. The Group will
consider to take necessary and appropriate actions for the profit
guarantee shortfall if the Veterinary Sellers continue to fail to meet
their obligations. In the meantime, the Company are also
reviewing the veterinary business and operation plans together
with the improvement measures taken by the management of the
Veterinary business.

Considering the Veterinary Sellers are managing the business
and the business is profitable; and the Group is reviewing the
business and operation plans with the Veterinary Sellers, the
Directors consider that it is fair and reasonable and are in the
interests of the Company and its Shareholders as a whole to
continue to operate the veterinary business. The Group will
constantly review the operations of the Veterinary Business and
take appropriate actions accordingly.
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Sustainability Approach
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Overview of our Sustainability Goals AFEZREEENE

The Group endeavours to incorporate sustainability as a key element of REBEGIFEEEEAEBERIILRERKD
its future growth strategy. In 2022, the Group signed its inaugural dual- FERZZ— AEERZZ_FKNAEER
tranche sustainability-linked facility, the first-of-its-kind for a healthcare RRERBRERTEET LAFEERERRSE
services provider in Hong Kong. This transaction reinforces our status NESEFMAGE - BARZHERE T HRMHITE
as a leading industry pioneer and our commitment to sustainability in WSS RN T RMENRATFELE
the long-term. HYHGE o

As a next step, we have identified 11 focus areas that will form the Hig - RIS 7 11 BB RS - ZESEHSHE
pillars of our ESG strategy and outline our approach to promote a RASEIRE e kEREBMHIE - Wl
culture of sustainability across the Group. These priorities have been RAEBAKITAFHEERE LN T o L8

mapped against eight of the United Nations’ Sustainable Development LRECHEBARABEERBEHRMRAHA
Goals (SDGs) that we believe are most relevant to our business: BMEBERM RS0 8 [EZRER KT

Respective SDGs Focus Area 2030 Target
HRTHERRER EXEg “Z-ZEEE “ECMEEH

Environment Energy
5 REIR

Formalize the adoption of energy-efficient Phasing roll-out of energy-efficient

lighting and loT to optimize energy lighting and loT devices, including new

consumption across our service network service points, and 74%" of our
E¥ - gAERE RERAEORRA R - URCRE faciities has completed the installation
R HGITRL MOUTON PRE AR KOs IR R of LED lights
AIBBRIE AT R R RS -
BRI B lF74% IR
SERK LED 25

J Set an additional KPI to reduce
greenhouse gas (Scope 2) emission
intensity by 8% annually?
HIERINBREIER - NEFH
BERE(HE2)HREERD 8%

1 BEEHEA
# FERESPONSIBLE Water
CONSUMPTION

AND PRODUCTION 7K

QO

Standardize the installation of equipment
with water-efficient features to reduce the
impact of water consumption
RELREKRE  WRD KT E

Design and plan for water efficient
operation in our upcoming
purpose built building
REMT—RIZAREENRE
WRE MR AR K

(R1T
1 ﬁﬁﬂtﬁuu Waste

1 REREERNBHEE
PARTNERSHIPS
FOR THE GOALS

&

[ TN

EC Healthcare

Implement the best practices of waste
management procedures across business
units to monitor and minimize waste
generation
EEEBENERERNEREFNRER
B UERRBERIELEEY

Based on the snapshot of 117 service poluts during FY22
RIER - = — B F 17 EARBHOBIEHE
Applies to our Hong Kong operations, excluding imaging centers operated after FY22

HARBMNEBES  TRE_Z-_MFREZNZEPL

36

Implementation of online platform for
expense reimbursement to all
departments

RAABMERERRHNE LT
A

=)

Partnership with Kerry Logistics on
phase 1 of centralised warehouse,
inventory and logistics management
RE-—HNPREE  EFERDR
ERRZEVRAE
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2030 Target

2024 Update

Respective SDGs Focus Area
HRTHERRER ENEE
Social Training and
e development

FIIEER

R4 42 BEELE AL
GOOD HEALTH AND
WELL-BEING

e

MRIFE
GENDER EQUALITY

¢

Annual increase in the average training
hours of employees
8 TR g EEm

Create a tailored training and development
plan for the main business units
QIE%t%iﬁ%ﬂﬁE%ET%%E@%EJH&?’;‘E%
2l

“RONEEHR

21% increase in employee training

hours .

8 TR SIEIN21%
Incorporated occupational health
and safety fraining into the

ﬂgx #gee onboardmgyro am
(R 215 3|4y

We have engaged an external
consultant to provide training on
operation and risk management;
the consultant has also reviewed
our current practice and tEO“C
W ﬁEH%nHM\‘LBEEFEHEL

B ErRE @Hﬁamﬂﬁ
Hﬁﬂa%&ﬁﬁ

Safety
k [7mPaN

PARTNERSHIPS

1 EEREERNBLEE
FOR THE GOALS

&

Maintain workplace safety performance
BRTERMNTREN

Obtained ISO 9001:2015 to
implement quality management
system that covers all aspect for
our operatlons

5 |so 9001:2016 * LAE R
ﬁﬁ EREAENEEERE

R

Established the Medical Advisory
Board to give guidance on medical
safety; and elevate medical service
quality and risk management and
strengthen corporate governance
capability
Wigﬁﬁﬁié@ukt§%
ﬁih% LR ERRGE =
REERKE - UhemtEE

/El Fch

Stakeholder engagement
B 2R

Continuous involvement of our
stakeholders to steer our ESG strategy
FhERE2HE  ARMNRE  HERER
RIS

Incorporated the insights from
stakeholder engagement
exercise into the ESG targets of
the susta|nab|l|t -linked Ioans
B E2EEEN BRMA
Tﬁ%ﬁﬁmﬂgxmfﬁ
%i & B0 E 1{1’

Community investment

HRERE

Increase total volunteer service hours

and provide healthcare services the
underprivileged through community
outreach program

Z I RBARIE N EBLRIMNES BRI
FRBRHBERS

Organized over 50 sessions of
community outreach and health
talks reachlng more than 6,000

%%tﬂwﬂd[%&&&%
WA 386,000 A

Qutreach program increased
coverage to 45 nursmg homes
gﬁtﬂg%ﬁligﬁﬁﬁ

D|verS|ty and inclusion
Zritkasi

" Compared to base year 2022
VB FARERE

Promote gender equality via education
and sharing
BRYERAZRERRTE

37

Females currently hold 45% of
senlor management and
artment head roles N
' B BT 45% Mm R E 1B 5
4&$WEE
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Respective SDGs
HRTHERRER

Governance

PN
BA

16 M - EZwE

IRAHENE
PEACE, JUSTICE AND
STRONG INSTITUTIONS

1 EERERANBHEE
PARTNERSHIPS
FOR THE GOALS

&

EC Healthcare

Focus Area

EXEY

Board
EEy

2030 Target

Increase the Board's participation in
sustainability issues
ENEESYHHESRIANZHE

2024 Update
“Z-NEEH

Quarterly meeting held by the
Sustainability Working Group,
reported ESG progress to the
Board at each regular board
meeting
HERRTIENMNEGETER
me® TBREZellgt
MESERERE HERE
RERBR

Anti-corruption
K&

Implement anti-corruption policy to
strengthen internal control
B iR E5 R AN A EE

Arranged seminars by ICAC to
enhance the knowledge of our
employees
ZHRBLERBNERET
ik

Reviewed AML policy in
accordance with our strategies
and development on governance
issues

RERMHE FENER R
B ROEREEER

Risk management
RRER

Develop risk management policy to
ensure consistent delivery of services
across our brands

I E R E BBEARRS mENREEH
—%

38

Adhered to the ISO 31000:2018
Risk Management standards
TS0 31000:2018 [@ 13 B B IS %

Regular dialogue with Chief Advisor
(Data Privacy)
EHE R R (BELE) H5E

Regular meeting by the medical
advisory board

BERERZRETHRNER
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Co-Owners
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CO-OWNERSHIP PLAN 1

The Company adopted the Co-Ownership Plan 1 on 16 April 2020 to
incentivise skilled and experienced eligible participants to remain with
the Group and to motivate them to strive for the future development
and expansion of the Group in order to create value for the
Shareholders, by providing eligible participants with a co-investment
opportunity to acquire equity interests in the Company. The participants
of the Co-Ownership Plan 1, comprising the directors, employees or
individual service providers of the Company or its subsidiaries, were
invited to join the scheme in April 2020 and those who agreed to join
the plan have settled their respective investment amount or contribution
shares before the end of May 2020. The trustee of the Co-ownership
Plan 1 has acquired the award shares on the market during the period
between July and October 2020. Other than the investment amount
and/or the contribution shares, no separate amount shall be payable
on acceptance of the awards by the participants. The maximum
entitlement of () the employees of the Group (who are not directors of
the Company) was 12,042,893 award shares; (i) the directors of the
Company was 1,225,686 award shares; and (iii) other connected
person/service providers of the Group was 8,686,779 award shares. A
participant’s maximum entitlement is 5 award shares for every whole
multiple of 10 investment shares held by the participant through the
trustee. There was no awards available for grant under the Co-
ownership Plan 1 as at 1 April 2023 and 31 March 2024.

The purchase price of award shares was determined based on the (i)
HK$5.3201, being 30-trading-day volume weighted average closing
price of the Shares on the Stock Exchange, where such period ended
on 24 February 2020, and (i) the prevailing market price at the time of
share purchases by the plan trustee; whichever is lower.

The vesting period was originally from the date on which the
participants contributed their respective investment amount or
contribution shares, which was in around May 2020 to the date of
publication of the annual results of the Company for the Reporting
Date, i.e. 23 June 2023 (the “2023 Annual Results”). Nevertheless, the
Co-ownership Plan 1 was terminated on 29 May 2023 before
publication of 2023 Annual Results. During the Reporting Period, all
awards have lapsed due to termination.

(*Unless otherwise indicated, terms used herein shall have the same meanings as
ascribed to them in the circular of the Company dated 12 May 2023.)
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ENMAZENZEAERR _ZE-_ZEF A KA
HES BRI E TR MERRD - HREEAGT
E1MZAEABR-ZE-_ZSF A=+ AHHE
Ti5 F BB EAR G o BRIEE FUB R, SRR A
BN MBS W AEEZRENE T HE MK
Eoé@hh%%@tﬁﬁ@$%l@é@ﬂi
N A B E 12,042,893 : (VAN A A B F
1,225,686 % K (iii) 4~ 55 B E fh B i A £ AR FS 4
FER] 8,686,779k - 2HEFBITEAIFTENE
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F 2R o
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The following table discloses movements in the Company’s awards

TEREENRE PR AREFREIEAGTE K

granted under the Co-Ownership Plan 1 during the Reporting Period: THARNE R E

Awards granted/

exercised/vested/
Unvested Awards lapsed cancelled Unvested
awards granted during the during the awards as at
Categories of participants asat1April2023 Reporting Period  Reporting Period 31 March 2024
RZB==F REEHEA 3
mA-BET REEDHA B/ BTE/ ZA=t-H
SEARER AEBNRE RHNED BE/EHOED AERORD
Employees = 8,028,595 8,028,595 - -

Directors e

— Lee Heung Wing - ZRE 380,500 380,500 - -
— Wong Chi Cheung (Note) - &58 (M) 436,624 436,624 - -
Others 2t 5,791,186 5,791,186 - -
Total &g 15,113,073 16,113,073 - -

Note: Mr. Wong Chi Cheung resigned as an executive Director with effect from 31
December 2023.

CO-OWNERSHIP PLAN 2

It was expected that the grant conditions of the Co-Ownership Plan 1
would not be met under the foreseeable circumstances. Against the
backdrop of resounding success, the Board is delighted to unveil the
Co-Ownership Plan 2 in May 2023, continuing to incentivize our skilled
and experienced Eligible Participants (as defined below) to strive for
nothing short of excellence in driving the Group’s performance to new
heights. By aligning efforts and goals, we aim to conquer the
challenges ahead and achieve a rewarding revenue target for the
Group over the next three years, concluding in the financial year ending
31 March 2026. On 29 May 2023, the ordinary resolutions approving
the termination of Co-Ownership Plan 1 and the adoption of Co-
Ownership Plan 2 were duly passed by the Shareholders at the
extraordinary general meeting of the Company held on 29 May 2023.
For details of the Co-Ownership Plan 2, please refer to the Company’s
circular dated 12 May 2023.
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Purpose of Co-Ownership Plan 2

The reasons, purposes and objectives of the Co-Ownership Plan 2 are
to incentivise skilled and experienced Eligible Participants to remain
with the Group and to motivate them to strive for the future
development and expansion of the Group in order to create value for
the Shareholders, by providing Eligible Participants with a co-
investment opportunity to acquire equity interests in the Company
according to the Co-Ownership Plan 2, and further aligning their
interests with those of the long-term Shareholders.

With the unprecedented triumph of the Co-Ownership Plan 2 since its
adoption on 29 May 2023, the highly motivated Eligible Participants
have played an instrumental role in propelling the Group’s remarkable
growth and expansion.

Life of Co-Ownership Plan 2

The Co-Ownership Plan 2 shall be valid and effective for the period
commencing from 9 June 2023, and shall expire on the earliest of (i)
the date on which all award shares have been settled; (i) 31 December
2029; and (iii) the date on which the Co-Ownership Plan 2 is terminated
in accordance with the terms of Co-Ownership Plan 2.

Eligible Participants of the Co-Ownership Plan 2

The eligible participants of the Co-Ownership Plan 2 comprise a
director, employee or service provider of any group company of the
Group as at or after the adoption of the Co-Ownership Plan 2
(the “Eligible Participants”), provided that neither Mr. Tang Chi Fai Eddy
(the Chairman of the Board and an executive Director) nor any
non-executive Director shall be eligible participants.

Total Number Available for Issue under the
Co-Ownership Plan 2

The maximum number of award shares that may be granted to all
participants shall be 29,630,281 Shares. If the number of award shares
to be granted to all participants is greater than the said limit, then the
award shares shall be allocated among the participants on a pro rata
basis.

The maximum number of new shares that may be allotted and issued
by the Company under the Co-Ownership Plan 2 and other share
schemes of the Company shall be 10% of the issued shares on the
date of approval of the Co-Ownership Plan 2, i.e. 118,521,126 Shares,
unless otherwise approved by the Shareholders in a general meeting.
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The maximum number of new Shares that may be granted to all
service providers under the Co-Ownership Plan 2 and other share
schemes of the Company shall be 4% of the Shares in issue as at the
date of approval of the Co-Ownership Plan 2, i.e. 47,408,450 Shares.

Maximum Number of Each Participant

The maximum number of new Shares that may be allotted and issued
by the Company pursuant to the Co-Ownership Plan 2 to a participant
in the 12-month period up to and including the date of relevant
invitation shall be 1% of the Shares in issue as at the date of the
relevant invitation or grant, except for a participant that is a Director, a
chief executive of the Company or an associate of the aforesaid, who
shall be subject to the limit of 0.1% of the Shares in issue, unless
otherwise approved by the Shareholders in a general meeting.

Arrangement under the Co-Ownership Plan 2

In accepting the invitation to participate in the Co-Ownership Plan 2,
the Eligible Participant shall contribute an investment amount (in cash
and/or contribution shares) for the investment shares.

Award shares will only be granted to Eligible Participants who have
contributed investment amounts (in cash and/or contribution shares)
for the investment shares in accordance with the Co-Ownership Plan 2.

The total investment amount to be contributed by a participant (in cash
and/or contribution shares) must be within the following range: an
amount (i) equal to or greater than 16.67% of his annual remuneration
package and (ii) less than or equal to 100% of his annual remuneration
package.

The remuneration committee will utilize the cash investment amounts
contributed by the participants to (through the plan trustee) endeavour
to purchase existing Shares on-market over a reasonable period of
time as is feasible to purchase the requisite number of Shares at the
prevailing market prices of the Shares, provided that such prices must
be less than or equal to the higher of (i) the five-trading-day
volume-weighted average closing price of a Share on the Stock
Exchange where such five trading-day period is ended on the business
day immediately prior to the date of issuance of the invitation letter to
the participant; and (ii) the closing price of a Share on the Stock
Exchange on the business day immediately prior to the date of
issuance of the invitation letter (the “Investment Share VWAP”). The
Company may direct the trustee to allot and issue new Shares at a
price per Share equal to the Investment Share VWAP if there remains
any unutilized investment amount.
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The trustee of the Co-Ownership Plan 2 has acquired the investment
shares on the market during the period between 20 July 2024 to
4 August 2024. Other than the investment amount and/or the
contribution shares, no separate amount shall be payable on
acceptance of the awards by the participants. The number of awards
available for grant under the Co-Ownership Plan 2 as at 9 June 2023
and 31 March 2024 was 29,630,281 and 19,665,788 respectively.

The grant of award shares to Eligible Participants is conditional upon
satisfaction of the grant conditions, including (i) the total aggregate
EBITDA margin of the Group for the financial years ended 31 March
2024, 31 March 2025 and 31 March 2026 (being the EBITDA of the
Group for the said 3 financial years divided by the revenue of the Group
for the said 3 financial years multiplied by 100) being greater than or
equal to 18%, (i) the revenue of the Group for the financial year ending
31 March 2026 being greater than or equal to HK$7,713 million, and (iii)
the closing price of the Share on the Stock Exchange on the business
day immediately prior to the proposed grant date being greater than or
equal to HK$3.961. If all the grant conditions are satisfied, an eligible
participant shall be entitled to a grant of the award shares as follows:

For every whole multiple of 10 investment shares beneficially held by an
Eligible Participant on the grant date, the participant shall receive a
number of award shares equal to Y where, if the revenue of the Group
for the financial year ending 31 March 2026 is greater than or equal to
(i) HK$7,713 million and less than HK$8,013 million, then Y is one; (ii)
HK$8,013 million and less than HK$8,313 million, then Y is two; (iii)
HK$8,313 million and less than HK$8,613 million, then Y is three; (iv)
HK$8,613 million and less than HK$8,914 million, then Y is four; (v)
HK$8,914 million and less than HK$9,214 million, then Y is five; (vi)
HK$9,214 million and less than HK$9,514 million, then Y is six; (vii)
HK$9,514 million and less than HK$9,814 million, then Y is seven; (viii)
HK$9,814 million and less than HK$10,114 million, then Y is eight; (ix)
HK$10,114 million and less than HK$10,414 million, then Y is nine; and
(x) HK$10,414 million, then Y is ten. A participant’s maximum
entitlement is 10 award shares for every whole multiple of 10
investment shares beneficially held by such participant through the plan
trustee.

For participants who are not Doctor Group Participants (as defined
below), there are no additional individual performance target.
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For Doctor Group Participant (i.e. becomes service providers on or
after 1 March 2023, provide services to the Group in a speciality
practice area and have equal to or greater than 10 years of experience
practicing as qualified medical doctors), they are subject to additional
performance targets (the “Doctor Group Grant Conditions”) that, the
person’s annual billing figure for the financial year ending 31 March
2028 being greater than or equal to the person’s annual billing figure
for the 12 months period immediately preceding the date falling such
person was employed as a qualified medical doctor (the “Doctor Group
Participant Start Date”) compounded at a rate of 5% per annum for the
period from the Doctor Group Participant Start Date until 31 March
2028, as determined by the remuneration committee in their sole
discretion. In the case of each Doctor Group Participant if, on the
relevant grant date, the grant conditions have been satisfied but one or
more of the Doctor Group Grant Conditions for each Doctor Group
Participant have not been satisfied, then the number of award shares
such Doctor Group Participant shall be entitled to shall be between
zero and their maximum entitlement as utilized in the Co-Ownership
Plan 2, to be determined by the remuneration committee of the
Company in their sole discretion.

The date of grants are (i) in case of a participant who is not Doctor
Group Participants, the date falling 10 business days after the
publication of the Company’s annual results announcement for the
financial year ending 31 March 2026; and (ii) in case of Doctor Group
Participants, the date falling 10 business days after 31 March 2028.
Once the number of award shares could be determined, those award
shares will be vested in the relevant participants.

The vesting period was from the date on which the participants
contributed their respective investment amount or contribution shares,
which was in around May to July 2024 for those participants who
participated in the Co-Ownership Plan 2 during the Reporting Period to
(i) (for participants who are not Doctor Group Participants) the date of
publication of the annual results of the Company for the year ending 31
March 2026; and (i) (for Doctor Group Participant) the date on which
the Doctor Group Grant Conditions are satisfied. The minimum vesting
period shall be 12 months.

The average purchase price of investment shares in respect of those
investment shares purchased by the trustee on-market under the

Co-ownership Plan 2 during the Reporting Period was HK$4.346.

No new share has been issued under the Co-ownership Plan 2 during
the Reporting Period.
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Co-Owners
HREIEA

The following table discloses movements in the Company’s awards TREBEEXRGEHAEAARBRRERAGE 2R
granted under the Co-Ownership Plan 2 during the Reporting Period: TR AR EZEEE)

Employees (Note 1) EE (1) - 4,952,244 609,537 - 4,342,707
Others (Note 2) Hiw(FiE2) - 5,621,786 - - 5,621,786
Total By - 10,574,030 609,537 - 9,964,493

Note: B

1. Employees do not include any Director. 1. EEITEEEMES -

2. Others comprised service providers and Doctor Group. 2. HitBiERGREERBEER -

The Group has not recognised any share-based payment expenses in REERARERTMAAFRERAGE2HHD
connection with the Co-Ownership Plan 2. LARR ) B EERE 2 ERBS -

During the meeting of the remuneration committee of the Company RZZE-_NFRNA-Z T+ HEHETHARRRFHEE
held on 27 June 2024, the committee has reviewed the Co-ownership Begnl ZESCEMIFREEAFS2:
Plan 2, and considered that there is no specific matter that need to be VR A EAREBEEERAE B ER -
adjusted, amended or abolished.
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Awards and Recognitions
HETE N 52 5T

Corporate Awards {S¥4E

EC Healthcare Received 8th
Consecutive Year “Ultherapy®
Golden Record Award 2023” for Asia
Pacific Category B and HK

EREREESFERTARBRS
7 [2023 £F Ultherapy® Golden
Record Award |

ESG Award
BIE HERLEEREE

]IIE

RECOGNITION

56 BISCLOSURE

HONG KONG ESG REPORTING AWARDS 2023

HERA “Hong Kong ESG

EC Healthcare Reporting 2023”
HERA[ 2023 &8 ESG #i
o =
AT A o da
EC Healthcare 46

nstitutional
Stor

2023 ASIA (EX-JAPAN) EXECUTIVE TEAM

MOST HONORED COMPANY

BestCEO
REBAFNTE
Best CFO

r& Eﬁ%i@ &

i est

Bonone? meﬁ%ﬁm@%

N N Best IR Prograi
BOBMAE | SEiAshEns
Best ESG

HERSE  HERARARE
Best Board of Directors
RIEEFER

The Most Honoured Company
E’x mi%

r&éﬁiﬂﬂ B

Bes
Asia ex- r& aﬁ%m &
i Best IR
ainland rfﬁxﬁ%ﬁﬁ%@%
. Best IR Prograi
ENE HEREEH %IEE
R ] Best ESG
(R EIKRE) HERE  HERARARE
Best Board of Directors

REEES
Best Investor Relatlons Professional
BERBEEWEES

The Most Honoured Company
BREHEREHE

Best CEO

REEABNTE

Be{st E(?j';gz@ .

Asia Small Best IR Team

and Midcap r&&é%?ﬁ%@%

3 i Best IR Program
%Q*d\i FLAEEER

Best ESG

HERE B RARDEE

Best Board of Directors

&KiE g

Best Investor Relanons Professional
HREREEBERES
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Awards and Recognitions
3PN

Brand Awards R4 E

o
e 5 -

. : - DR REBORN Received the DR REBORN Received the

re“.HEALTH Received the .Prestlglogs “No. 1 in Dysport® Sales in “No. 1 in Restylane® Sales in
2023 Hong Kong Premier Brand HK for 16th Consecutive Year” HK for 13th Consecutive Year”

S — £ &K o s g S
r202§f§gﬁ3$§é§%ﬁﬁ | DR REBORN 4133 4 16 F &8 DR REBORN 4133 (8 13 F &85
7 [Dysport® BB a7 $HE & — | [Restylane® I A HEE —
NEAUVIA 7§

DR REBORN

DR REBORN Received DR REBORN Received “2024 NEAUVIA™ DR REBORN Received
“2023 Top 10 Aesthetic Centre in HK” Accredited Medical Center” “TEOXANE® No.1 Sales in HK in 2023”
DR REBORN 48& DR REBORN 48& DR REBORN 48&
[2023F BB TARBRERP L [2024 NEAUVIA™ [ kit | 5RA] B8R0 | [2023 4 TEOXANE® 25452 No. 1|

“Bord® Chessdernr
2000-202 380141 2010-20238M 144
P 0 o 00 R o

9 DR REBORN 9 OR REBORN
= L -9
sxq =t
f— T —— BN i _,.:-.--—‘
A DR REBORN Received “BOTOX® — Highest DR REBORN Received “Jevéderm® —
DR Erilranolfn’:‘ Sggi‘?:l;?g eStgrUirlj Izzglzgted Sales Achievement for 14 Years from Highest Sales Achievement for 14 Years
DR REBORN 4448 2010-20283 in Hong Kong” from 2010-2023 in Hong Kong”
S N DR REBORN &7 DR REBORN 447
e E e L o ,
IC ORI ORI R 5 B [&4E 14 % BOTOX® [i& 4 14 4 Jevéderm®
22T E 2010-2023 ] 2B 2T E 2010-2023 ]

Highest Sales Achievement
for Consecutive 16 years within Hong Kong

SEEICER BN T
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Investor Relations Report
KREABERS

INVESTOR CALENDAR

30 November 2023

T = ST s

19 January 2024

—T_ME—A+hA

27 June 2024

—TERAZ A

20 to 28 August 2024 (Both days inclusive)

CECMENA+RE-L=H(EREMABEEN)

23 August 2024
—ZEoUFENRZ+=H

EC Healthcare

48

REEZB®

2023/24 interim results announcement

o= NEREREEAE

Payment of interim dividend

AR R

2023/24 annual results announcement

“ERCZ /CNEERERS

Closure of Register of Members (for
determination of shareholders who are
entitled to attend and vote at annual general
meeting)

HiEHERNBEELFE (TG RLFE
BREBFAEGINE FREZRRHD)

Annual General Meeting

RERBFRE
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Investor Relations Report

REERRSRS

INVESTOR RELATIONS

We increased our investor relations activities following the re-opening
of the cross border and normalization of post-pandemic by ensuring
the best deliverance of two-way communication between the
Company, shareholders and the whole investment community. We
held several post-result roadshows successfully at our Shenzhen
headquarters and attended various investment conferences hosted by
investment banks to provide the most up-to date information to
mainland investors. Through various channels, including domestic and
international roadshows, investor meetings, annual general meetings,
company meetings, teleconferences and emails, we have made
transparent, efficient and timely communication with our shareholders,
analysts, fund managers and potential investors.

Apart from proactively engaging with the investment communities, we
also treasure the two-way communication with investors through our
feedback mechanism. We noticed there were raising interests
regarding the additional disclosure of ESG issues, consolidation
strategies and corporate governance practices. In particular, several
concerns were brought-up including 1) adopting international
frameworks such as GRI, UNSDG, CDP and TCFD to strengthen the
ESG context; 2) continuing to improve board independence and board
diversity, and establishing anti-corruption policy; 3) shedding more light
on our long-term M&A strategy; and 4) disclosing long-term operational
targets and aligning management’s compensation with performance.
We discussed the matter with the Board and agreed to work with the
concerned investors in providing supplementary disclosure to the
public without compromising our internal protocol. Ultimately, the
investor relations team is made of the people and for the people, and
hence we continue to welcome valuable feedback from investors at all
levels.

During the Reporting Period, our management team and IR team
attended over 200 one-on-one and Group meetings and actively
participated in investor conferences and non-deal roadshows in Hong
Kong, Shenzhen, Shanghai, Guangzhou, Beijing and overseas
meetings with over 1,000 investors.
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Investor Relations Report

REEMERS

SHARE INFORMATION

Company Name
NSIE3
Listing

JETT

Stock Code
A& 5
Listing Date
A
Board lot
BFEEHN

Issued share capital as at 31 March 2024

R-FBE-ME=A=+—HBH2ETIRA

INVESTOR RELATIONS DEPARTMENT

EC Healthcare — Corporate Communications and Investor Relations

Department
Tel: (852) 3975 4798
Email: ir@echealthcare.com

SHAREHOLDERS SERVICE AND ENQUIRIES

For enquiries about your shareholding including change of name or
address of shareholders, transfer of shares, loss of share certificates or
dividend cheques, registrations and requests for copies of annual or
interim report, please contact the Company’s branch share registrar

and transfer office:

Link Market Services (Hong Kong) Pty Ltd.

Suite 1601, 16/F

Central Tower

28 Queen’s Road Central
Hong Kong

EC Healthcare

R ER

EC Healthcare
ERRERER
The Main Board of
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
BERBMAERZARATER

2138

2138

11 March 2016
—ZT-X"F¥=A+—H

1,000 shares
1,000 B iz 15
1,185,211,265 shares
1,185,211,265 &A% {7

REEBER
BEME - CEENREEEBED

EE : (852) 3975 4798
EH[ : ir@echealthcare.com

REBHERERA

B ETHRR(BERRMAIHUESE - IR
NEE  BRAREIMEXEURBETRRIEF
EFHRE) WEH - FHREARARNEP

BRSH -

Link Market Services (Hong Kong) Pty Ltd.
B

ERREH 285
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Corporate Governance Report
PEERAWE

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Board acknowledges the vital importance of good governance to
the Group’s success and sustainability by providing a framework for
the Company to formulate its business strategies and policies, and to
enhance its transparency, accountability and shareholder value.

The Board is committed to maintaining statutory and regulatory
standards and adhering to the principles of corporate governance
emphasising on transparency, independence, accountability,
responsibility and fairness.

The Company has adopted the principles as set out in the CG Code
contained in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules. The Company has
complied with all code provisions set out in the CG Code during the
Reporting Period, save for the deviation from code provision C.2.1 as
disclosed below.

From 1 April 2023 to 31 October 2023, the roles of the Chairman of
the Board (the “Chairman”) and the chief executive officer of the
Company (the “CEQ”) were performed by Mr. Tang. Although the dual
roles of the Chairman and the CEO constituted a deviation from the
code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code, the Board believed that having
Mr. Tang acting as both the Chairman and the CEO provided a strong
and consistent leadership to the Company and allowed the Company
to have more effective planning and management. Further, in view of
Mr. Tang’s extensive experience in the industry, personal profile and
roles in the Group and the historical development of the Group as
disclosed in the Prospectus under the section headed “Our History,
Reorganisation and Corporate Structure” and publications of the
Company from time to time, the Board considered that it is appropriate
and beneficial to the business prospects of the Group that Mr. Tang
acted as both the Chairman and the CEO. Mr. Lu Lyn Wade Leslie, an
executive Director, was a co-chief executive officer. With effect from 1
November 2023, in order to enable the Company to fully comply with
code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code, Mr. Tang has resigned as CEO
and Mr. Lu Lyn Wade Leslie has been re-designated as CEQ.
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Corporate Governance Report
PEEBME

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as set out in Appendix C3
to the Listing Rules as its code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by the Directors. Specific enquiries have been made to all
the Directors, and the Directors have confirmed that they have
complied with the Model Code throughout the Reporting Period.

Co-owners, senior management, executives and staff who, because of
their offices in the Company, are likely to possess inside information,
have also been requested to comply with the Model Code. No incident
of non-compliance with the Model Code by such co-owners,
employees was noted by the Company during the Reporting Period.

THE BOARD AND THE DIRECTORS
Board Composition

During the Reporting Period and up to the date of this annual report,
the composition of the Board is as follows:

Executive Directors

Tang Chi Fai Eddy (Chairman)

Lu Lyn Wade Leslie (Chief Executive Officer)

Lee Heung Wing Levin (Chief Financial Officer)

Wong Ka Ki Ada (Chief Strategy Officer and Chief Investment Officer)
(resigned on 1 November 2023)

Wong Chi Cheung (Chief Digital Officer)
(resigned on 31 December 2023)

Non-Executive Director
Luk Kun Shing Ben (Chief Information Officer)

Independent Non-executive Directors
(“INEDs, each an “INED”)

Ma Ching Nam

Look Andrew

Au Tsun
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Corporate Governance Report
EERERWME

Throughout the Reporting Period, the Board has complied with the
requirements of the Listing Rules to have three independent non-
executive Directors who represent one-third of the Board and with one
of whom possessing appropriate professional qualifications or
accounting or related financial management expertise.

The Board has received from each INED a written annual confirmation
that he satisfied the independence guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of
the Listing Rules, and the nomination committee of the Board (the
“Nomination Committee”) has assessed the independence of each
INED and the Company considers that each of their independence is in
compliance with the Listing Rules during the Reporting Period and as
at the date of this annual report. Each INED will inform the Company in
writing as soon as practicable if there is any change of circumstances
with may affect his independence.

To the best knowledge of the Company, the Directors do not have
financial, business, family or other material/relevant relationships with
each other.

After annual assessment by the Nomination Committee, the Board
considers the current structure, size and composition of the Board is
able to perform a balanced and independent monitoring function on
management practices to complement the Company’s corporate
strategies. The Directors and their biographical details as at the date of
this annual report are set out on pages 13 to 19 of this annual report.

BRRER 53

REERESHR EFCCBTLEMRUZA
FEERER=UABMYIENTES  HES
BAB=Dz— HP BN TEZAR
BEEXERUSTXMAYBEEER -

EFEC RIS BIFRTESRELTRANE
AR B MRS RRERENT AR ZE
FHERALK MEFFREZES(REZEE))
ERME B IR AFR A AT RS BILIENT
EEZHEYMN  MARRRREEEENBILMN
A LEWARR - WHREA AT e S E BT
MEEBERN  EBUIFATEETENERATTIE
MTIBRASHBNARF -

RARBRM EEZHEBEFAYE %
% RBYEMERHENERK -

RAZESHRTFENZE EETSRREES
RFRZEE - ABRAREEEEEDEHNEE
NIEMBIHNERBE  UEARQARINDESR
B - EBNBEENAFRBPNEEFBHNRAR
FHREI1ZEE198 ©

FERSE 2023/24



Corporate Governance Report
PERERWmE

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code stipulates that the roles of
chairman and chief executive officer should be separate and should
not be performed by the same individual.

From 1 April 2023 to 31 October 2023, the roles of the Chairman of
the Board (the “Chairman”) and the chief executive officer of the
Company (the “CEQO”) were performed by Mr. Tang Chi Fai (“Mr.
Tang”). Although the dual roles of the Chairman and the CEO
constituted a deviation from the code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code,
the Board believed that having Mr. Tang acting as both the Chairman
and the CEO provided a strong and consistent leadership to the
Company and allowed the Company to have more effective planning
and management. Further, in view of Mr. Tang’s extensive experience
in the industry, personal profile and roles in the Group and the historical
development of the Group as disclosed in the Prospectus under the
section headed “Our History, Reorganisation and Corporate Structure”
and publications of the Company from time to time, the Board
considered that it is appropriate and beneficial to the business
prospects of the Group that Mr. Tang acted as both the Chairman and
the CEO. Mr. Lu Lyn Wade Leslie, an executive Director, was a co-
chief executive officer. With effect from 1 November 2023, in order to
enable the Company to fully comply with code provision C.2.1 of the
CG Code, Mr. Tang has resigned as CEO and Mr. Lu Lyn Wade Leslie
has been re-designated as CEO. The respective roles and
responsibilities of the Chairman and the CEO are being divided in
writing and carried out as below:

The role of the Chairman focuses on the formulation and determination
of the overall strategies, direction and goal of the Group. The Chairman
is also responsible for leading the Board to effective management of
the Company by, among others, ensuring good corporate governance
practices and procedures, encouraging the Directors to make full and
active contribution to the affairs of the Board, developing a culture of
openness and active discussion among the Directors so that Board
decisions could fairly reflect consensus.

The CEO, within the powers delegated by the Board from time to time,
are responsible for day-to-day management of the Company and to
implement strategies and major policies decided by the Board with the
support of other executive Directors and the Management.
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Board Diversity

The Company has adopted a board diversity policy to comply with the
code provision on board diversity. Under such policy, the Nomination
Committee is delegated with the responsibility to review, assess and
recommend any appointment, re-election or any succession plan of
any directors to the Board from time to time after considering a number
of factors, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and
educational background, or professional experience, to accommodate
the Company’s business model and specific needs.

During the Reporting Period, the Board had 7 male Directors. As of 31
March 2024, the Group employed a total of 2,611 people, 24% of
which were male and 76% were female.

The Company will ensure that at least one Director of different gender
will be appointed before 31 December 2024.

Roles and Responsibilities of the Board

The executive Directors are responsible for formulating the Company’s
corporate strategies, monitoring its implementation and reviewing
operational and financial performance of the Group.

The non-executive Director and independent non-executive Directors
have diversified industry expertise and professional knowledge, and
provides advisory, adequate check and balances for effective and
constructive contribution to the executive Directors to safeguard the
interests of the Company and the shareholders as a whole.

The Board makes decisions on major aspects of the Company’s
business operations and other matters, including but not limited to
approving and monitoring key policies, material transactions, business
plans, annual budgets, risk management and internal control systems,
annual and interim results, major capital expenditure and appointment
of Directors.

Delegation to Management

The day-to-day operational management and administration functions
of the Group and implementation of the corporate strategies of the
Group are delegated to the Management led by the executive
Directors.
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Corporate Governance Functions

The Board is responsible for the performance of functions of corporate
governance. During the Reporting Period, the Board has performed the
functions as set out in code provision A.2 of the CG Code.

Appointment, Re-election, Rotation and Removal of
Directors

The Company has established formal, considered and transparent
procedures for the appointment, re-election, rotation, and removal of
the Directors. The Nomination Committee is responsible for considering
the suitability of an individual to act as a Director and making
recommendations to the Board on appointment or re-election of
Directors, succession planning of Directors and assessing the
independence of the INEDs as set out below under sub-section
headed “NOMINATION COMMITTEE”.

All other Directors entered into a service contract or letter of
appointment with our Company, which shall be renewed as determined
by the Board or the shareholders. Their term of office each is the
period up to his retirement by rotation or retirement, but they are
eligible for re-election at annual general meetings of the Company in
accordance with the Articles of Association.

In accordance with the Articles of Association, the Company may by
ordinary resolution at general meetings of the Company elect any
person to be a Director. The Directors shall have power from time to
time and at any time to appoint any person as a Director either to fill a
casual vacancy or as an addition to the Board. Any Director so
appointed shall hold office only until the first annual general meeting
after his appointment, and shall then be eligible for re-election at such
general meeting.

At each annual general meeting of the Company, not less than one-
third of the Directors (including those appointed for a specific term)
shall retire from office by rotation provided that each Director shall be
subject to retirement by rotation at the annual general meeting at least
once every three years.
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Induction and Continuing Professional Development
of Directors

The Company encourages all Directors to participate in continuous
professional development to further enhance and refresh their
knowledge and skills to ensure their contribution to the Board remains
informed and relevant. The Directors have attended the following
trainings during the Reporting Period on various regulatory topics:

EEMARBIRSEERRE

ARRSBAAEE2EBETXERNE—D
RENMEMRE 2 MBRXE  ERESERR
EEHEARTABEATHESS(ELER - &%
ERHmEHE2ETIARSRE S SKEMNE
Al

Nature of Trainings

EIEE
Type 1 Type 2
ERicR ¥A2
Executive Directors HITES
Tang Chi Fai Eddy B E v/ v
Lu Lyn Wade Leslie = E v/ v
Lee Heung Wing Levin ESEES v v/
Wong Ka Ki Ada FRH
(resigned on 1 November 2023) (RZZT_=F+—H—BEE) v/ v/
Wong Chi Cheung =]
(resigned on 31 December 2023) (M—Z—_=F+—-A=+—HEMT) v/ v
Non-Executive Director FHITES
Luk Kun Shing Ben S 4 4
INEDs BYFHITES
Ma Ching Nam b=t v/ v
Look Andrew BEER 4 4
Au Tsun @& v v
Type of trainings: HliELE
1. Reading materials. 1. BB o
2. Attending training sessions/conference/forum/workshops/seminars. 2. HEENRE e wiE TIEY /g -
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Supply of and Access to Information

Notices of regular Board meetings and draft agendas thereof are made
available to the Directors with sufficient times and at least 14 or 3 days
respectively in advance to encourage the Directors’ involvement. All
Directors have full and timely access to the Management for any
information to enable them to make informed decisions at the Board
meetings. The Company Secretary of the Company ensures that the
applicable Board procedures are followed.

Relevant members of the Management are usually invited to attend the
Board meetings to promote an effective communication within the
Group. Each Director may hire external consultants or experts for
independent professional advice at the Company’s expenses to
discharge the Director’s responsibilities.

ATTENDANCE RECORDS OF DIRECTORS AND
COMMITTEE MEMBERS

BRI KA

REBEF2H EXeTHERREREEH
A2 B R AR R A R iR D 14 S B R ATER
TEE -2REFHIAEEFEIAMNEEES
3 & B EUS AR S (EH MR TE P 2 (ETE
B ARRM AR WERREANESTSEIRIE
Fri& 8 e -

*E?QE@EWE\ BESEFESe S UE

EAREERNZBBUE - SREEAEAINERE
MAERSKBLEEER  BAHRARRA
& METT?%H@ZE\ °

EENZE SR EMNHFETE

The Directors actively participated in meetings and a summary of the RBEHR EEZEHRLHEESE  MSESEHLY
attendance records of each Director during the Reporting Period are as FsEZamT -
follows:
Meeting attendance/eligible to attend
BRLER SEKLRE
Audit Nomination Remuneration General

Board Committee Committee Committee Meeting

g EREES REZES FHEES BRRKXE
Executive Directors HITES
Tang Chi Fai Eddy BEE 777 N/AZ i A 2/2 N/ATER 2/2
Lu Lyn Wade Leslie SR 77 N/ATiE A N/ATiE A N/AiE 2/2
Lee Heung Wing Levin EEES 77 N/ATEHR N/ATER N/ATER 2/2
Wong Ka Ki Ada (Note) TRH (M) 2/2 N/AE A N/AE A N/ANE A 2/2
Wong Chi Cheung (Note) =EE (M) 6/6 N/A 3@ F N/AT5E F N/AT3E F 2/2
Non-executive director & {TES
Luk Kun Shing Ben BEFR 77 N/ATEH N/ATEHR N/ATER 2/2
INEDs BYFHTES
Ma Ching Nam HiEm 6/7 N/A i 2/2 2/2
Look Andrew PER 7/7 2/2 2/2 2/2
Au Tsun = 77 2/2 2/2 2/2

Note: Wong Ka Ki Ada resigned on 1 November 2023. Wong Chi Cheung resigned
on 31 December 2023.
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The Board has established three Board committees on 19 February
2016, namely the audit committee (the “Audit Committee”), the
remuneration committee (the “Remuneration Committee”) and the
Nomination Committee. Each of the aforesaid committees reports to
the Board on their decisions or recommendations. Each committee or
committee member is authorized to hire outside consultants or experts
for independent professional advice at the Company’s expenses to
discharge their responsibilities.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee was established by the Board with its written
terms of reference in compliance with code provision D.3.3 of the CG
Code. The primary duties of the Audit Committee are set out in the
written terms of reference which include reviewing and supervising the
Group’s financial reporting process, risk management and internal
control systems, and providing advices and comments to the Board.
During the Reporting Period and as at the date of this annual report,
the Audit Committee consists of Mr. Look Andrew as its chairman, and
Mr. Ma Ching Nam and Mr. Au Tsun as its members, all of whom are
INEDs. The Audit Committee has reviewed the consolidated financial
statements for the year ended 31 March 2024. The Audit Committee
has also reviewed the accounting principles and practices adopted by
the Company and discussed auditing, internal control and financial
reporting matters.

During the Reporting Period, the Audit Committee held three meetings
with the Management, the external auditor of the Company and an
external professional engaged by the Company to review the interim
results and report for 2023/2024 and annual results and reports for the
year ended 31 March 2023 and the accounting principles and
practices adopted by the Group and to consider significant issues on
the financial reporting and compliance procedures, internal control and
risk management systems, effectiveness of the Company’s internal
audit functions, the scope of work and appointment of external auditor,
connected transactions and arrangements of the Company for
employees to raise concerns about possible improprieties. It also
considered and approved the change of auditors.
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Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee was established by the Board with its
written terms of reference in compliance with code provision E.1.2 of
the CG Code adopting a model of making recommendation to the
Board on the remuneration packages of individual Directors and senior
management. The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee are
set out in the written terms of reference which include regular
monitoring of the remuneration of all the Directors and senior
management to ensure that the levels of their remuneration and
compensation are appropriate and review of matters relating to share
schemes of the Company.

During the Reporting Period and as at the date of this annual report,
the Remuneration Committee consists of Mr. Au Tsun as its chairman,
and Mr. Ma Ching Nam and Mr. Look Andrew as its members, all of
whom are INEDs.

During the Reporting Period, the Remuneration Committee held two
meetings for considering and recommending to the Board the
remuneration and other benefits paid by the Company to the Directors
and senior management and review the share schemes of the
Company.

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee was established by the Board with its
written terms of reference in compliance with code provision B.3.1 of
the CG Code. The primary duties of the Nomination Committee are set
out in the written terms of reference which include selecting and
recommending candidates for directorship, review of the structure, size
and composition of the Board and assessment of the independence of
INEDs.

During the Reporting Period and as at the date of this annual report,
the Nomination Committee consists of Mr. Tang as its chairman,
executive Director, and Mr. Au Tsun and Mr. Look Andrew as its
members, both of whom are INEDs.
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Directors’ nomination policy

The Nomination Committee may invite nominations of candidates from
Board members for its consideration. The Nomination Committee may
also put forward candidates who are not nominated by Board
members. The factors in assessing the suitability of a proposed
candidate for director include, inter alia, reputation for integrity,
professional qualifications, skills, knowledge and experience that are
relevant to the Company’s business and corporate strategy, willingness
to devote adequate time to discharge duties as Board member,
diversity of the Board, and such other perspectives appropriate to the
Company’s business. The Nomination Committee shall make
recommendations for the Board’s consideration and approval.

During the Reporting Period, the Nomination Committee held two
meetings and reviewed the structure, size and composition of the
Board and made recommendation to the Board on the re-election of
Directors with reference to the board diversity policy adopted by the
Company and assessed the independence of INEDs.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary, Mr. Siu Chun Pong Raymond fulfills the
requirement under Rule 3.28 of the Listing Rules and is responsible for,
inter alia, provision of advice to the Board on corporate governance
matters and regulatory compliance during the Reporting Period. Mr.
Siu had taken no less than 15 hours of professional training during the
Reporting Period.

REMUNERATION OF EXTERNAL AUDITORS

For the year ended 31 March 2024, the remuneration paid to Ernst &
Young in respect of the annual audit of the Group’s consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2024 and audit-
related services as reporting accountants and agreed upon procedure
on the Company’s preliminary results announcement amounted to
approximately HK$2,180,000 and HK$1,200,000, respectively. In
addition, HK$3,380,000 was charged by other auditors for statutory
audit of financial statements for certain subsidiaries of the Group. Save
as disclosed above, there was no remuneration paid or payable to the
external auditors of the Company for other non-audit services during
the year ended 31 March 2024.

The Board and the Audit Committee were satisfied with Ermnst & Young,
Certified Public Accountants, of their findings, independence, objectivity
and effectiveness in the annual audit and their audit fees. Ernst &
Young, Certified Public Accountants, are proposed for re-appointment
as the Company'’s external auditor at the forthcoming AGM.
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DIRECTORS’ AND AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY
IN RESPECT OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for preparing the
financial statements of the Company for the year ended 31 March
2024 to give a true and fair presentation of the financial position of the
Company in accordance with all applicable Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards and for timely financial disclosures under the
Listing Rules and any other regulatory requirements.

The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating to
events or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.

The statement as to the auditor’s responsibility for the audit of the
financial statements is set out in the independent auditor’s report on
pages 99 to 101 of this annual report.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for the risk
management and internal control systems of the Group and reviewing
their effectiveness. The risk management and internal control systems
are designed and being implemented to manage, rather than eliminate,
the risk of failure to achieve the business objectives of the Group, and
can only provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance against
material misstatement or loss.

The Directors and the management would identify any risks associated
with the businesses of the Group by considering both internal and
external factors and events from time to time which include but not limit
to political, economic, technology, environmental, social and human
resources. Two approaches are used for risk identification and
evaluation, which are (1) to identify the root causes of risks, that is,
identify the undesirable events or things that could go wrong and then
identify the potential impacts of each factor and event on the businesses
of the Group; and (2) to identify all the essential functions that the
Group are performing or businesses objectives that the Group are
achieving and then identify all the possible modes by which such
functions might fail to perform. Five strategies are adopted by the
Company to manage risks, including (1) to accept the risk, (2) to avoid
the risk, (3) to transfer the risk, (4) to mitigate the risk, or (5) to exploit
the risk.
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The Company has adhered to the ISO 31000:2018 Risk Management
standard, showcasing a structured and systematic approach to risk
management. Additionally, the Company has engaged an external
professional firm to further its internal audit function and to conduct an
annual review on the effectiveness of the risk management and internal
control systems of the Company in respect of the Group’s financial,
operational, compliance controls and risk management for the
Reporting Period and discussed its findings with the Audit Committee
and then reported to the Board. The Board is not aware of any areas
of concern that would have a material impact on the financial position
or businesses of the Group and considers that the risk management
and internal control systems of the Company are generally adequate
and effective and that the Company could maintain the adequacy of
resources, staff qualifications and experience, training programs and
budget of the Company’s accounting, internal audit and financial
reporting functions during the Reporting Period.

The Company has been implementing a policy within the Group to
ensure that all unpublished inside information of the Group shall be
kept confidential until such information is published on the websites of
the Company at www.echealthcare.com and Hong Kong Exchanges
and Clearing Limited at www.hkexnews.hk in accordance with the
requirements of the Listing Rules or other applicable laws and
regulations.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Pursuant to Article 58 of the Articles of Association, any one or more
shareholders holding not less than 10% of the paid up capital of the
Company may deposit at the Company’s principal place of business in
Hong Kong as set out below a written requisition which specifies the
transaction of any business at such meeting and is signed by the
requisitionists to require an extraordinary general meeting to be
convened by the Board. However, there are no provision merely
allowing shareholders to put forward new resolution at a general
meeting under the Companies Act of the Cayman Islands or the
Articles of Association. Shareholders who wish to propose a resolution
may request the Company to convene an extraordinary general
meeting following the aforesaid procedures.
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Pursuant to Article 85 of the Articles of Association, no person other
than a Director retiring at the meeting shall, unless recommended by
the Directors for election, be eligible for election as a Director at any
general meeting unless a notice signed by a member (other than the
person to be proposed) duly qualified to attend and vote at the meeting
for which such notice is given of his intention to propose such person
for election and also a notice signed by the person to be proposed of
his willingness to be elected shall have been lodged at the head office
or at the registered office of the Company provided that the minimum
length of the period, during which such notice(s) are given, shall be at
least fourteen (14) days and that (if the notices are submitted after the
dispatch of the notice of the general meeting appointed for such
election) the period for lodgment of such notice(s) shall commence on
the day after the dispatch of the notice of the general meeting
appointed for such election and end no later than fourteen (14) days
prior to the date of such general meeting.

Procedures for shareholders to require an extraordinary general
meeting or propose a person for election as a Director are detailed in
the Memorandum and Articles of Association published on the
websites of the Company at www.echealthcare.com and Hong Kong
Exchanges and Clearing Limited at www.hkexnews.hk.

The Company’s Hong Kong branch share registrar serves the
shareholders with respect to all share registration matters. Specific
enquiries of shareholders and other stakeholders to the Board could be
sent in writing to the Company Secretary of the Company by mail to the
Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong set out below:

EC Healthcare

20/F, Devon House,
Taikoo Place,

979 King’s Road
Quarry Bay, Hong Kong

Shareholders’ rights are further protected when separate resolutions
are proposed at shareholders’ meetings on each substantially separate
issue, including but not limited to election or re-election of individual
director at annual general meeting. All resolutions proposed at
shareholders’ meetings are put to vote by poll in accordance with the
Listing Rules and the Articles of Association.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ COMMUNICATION POLICY

In February 2016, the Company adopted a shareholders’
communication policy. Under the policy, the Company communicates
with its shareholders and investors through various means. Timely
publication of interim and annual results announcements on the latest
development of the Company and press release on the Company’s
website at www.echealthcare.com and Hong Kong Exchanges and
Clearing Limited’s website at www.hkexnews.hk could keep the
shareholders updated of the Company’s financial position and latest
development. Shareholders are highly recommended to pay attention
to these public information. Annual general meetings could provide an
effective forum for the shareholders to share their views with the Board.
Shareholders are welcome to attend the forthcoming annual general
meeting. The Directors and the external auditor of the Company would
be available at the forthcoming annual general meeting to answer
shareholders’ questions about the annual results of the Group for the
year ended 31 March 2024 and the business and prospects of the
Group. The Company considers that, in light of the above measures,
its shareholders communication policy is effective.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

There were no amendments in the Memorandum and Articles of
Association during the Reporting Period.
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Report of the Directors
ESEWE

The Board is pleased to present their report and audited consolidated
financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2024.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND GEOGRAPHICAL
ANALYSIS OF OPERATIONS

The principal activities of the Company is the provision of medical and
healthcare services in Hong Kong, Macau and the Mainland China. The
principal activities of its subsidiaries during the Reporting Period are set
out in note 39 to the consolidated financial statements.

An analysis of the Group’s performance for the year ended 31 March
2024 by businesses including geographical segment information is set
out in note 4 to the consolidated financial statements. The geographical
location of customers is determined based on the location where our
services or goods are provided or delivered.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A fair review of the Group’s business and an indication of the likely
future development in the Group’s business are set out in the sections
headed “CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT” and “MANAGEMENT
DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS” on pages 9 to 12 and 20 to 35 of this
annual report respectively. Certain financial key performance indicators
which complement and supplement our financial disclosures are set
out on page 4 of this annual report.

Key Risks and Uncertainties

The following highlights some of the key risks that affect our business:

Reputation Risk

We rely significantly on our brand image and reputation. Any failure to
maintain and enhance, or any damage to, our brand image or
reputation could materially and adversely affect the level of market
recognition of, and confidence on our services, and in turn our
business, results of operations, financial condition and prospects.
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Talent Risk

If we are unable to attract and retain skilled Registered Practitioners
and other competent staff, our business, results of operations, financial
condition and prospects may be materially and adversely affected.

Customer Risk

Our service focuses on improving our customers’ health condition and
physical appearance, and customers have varying expectations of the
magnitude of improvement that may result from our services. If we fail
to properly manage a customer’s expectations of the results from our
services, a customer may in turn be dissatisfied with the results of our
service, and a disappointed customer may, among others, request
refunds, complain to the media and/or the Hong Kong Consumer
Council and file legal claims against us. Such actions from a customer
may have a material adverse effect on our reputation, business, and
results of operations, financial condition and prospects.

Environmental Policies and Performance

The Group considers the importance of environmental affairs and
believes that business development and environment affairs are highly
related. The Group has implemented certain environmental protection
measures to save energy and reduce the consumption of resources.
These policies were supported by our staff and were implemented
effectively.

Compliance with Laws and Regulations

As a listed company mainly engaging business in Hong Kong, the
Group is subject to various laws and regulations, including, among
others, Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong
Kong), Business Registration Ordinance (Chapter 310 of the Laws of
Hong Kong), Inland Revenue Ordinance (Chapter 112 of the Laws of
Hong Kong), Employment Ordinance (Chapter 57 of the Laws of Hong
Kong) and Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance (Chapter 486 of the Laws
of Hong Kong). The Listing Rules is also applicable to the Company.
Being an exempted company incorporated in the Cayman Islands with
limited liability, it is also subject to the Companies Act, Chapter 22 (Law
3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman Islands.
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Our Group has put in place internal controls to ensure compliance of
the same. In addition, as the Group also engages business in more
than one jurisdictions, compliance procedures are in place to ensure
adherence to applicable laws, rules and regulations in those
jurisdictions. Any changes in the applicable laws, rules and regulations
are brought to the attention of relevant employees and relevant
operation units in the Company and its subsidiaries from time to time.

To the best of the Directors’ knowledge, information and belief on the
date of this annual report, the Company has complied in all material
respects with the relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the business and operation of the Company.

Relationship with Key Stakeholders

The Group fully understands that co-owners, talents, customers and
suppliers are the key to our sustainable and stable development. We
are committed to establishing a close relationship with our staff,
enhancing cooperation with our suppliers and providing high-quality
services to our customers so as to ensure the Group’s sustainable
development.

Staff

Our staff members are regarded as one of the most important assets
of the Group. The Group has been endeavouring to provide our staff
with a fair and harmonious workplace. We offer competitive
remuneration packages and great opportunities for career
advancement based on employees’ performance. The Group intends
to grant share options to outstanding employees to recognise and
reward the employees who have contributed to the Group’s
development. The Group also provides our staff with regular trainings
to keep them abreast of the latest development of the Company and
our industry, and medical related knowledge and skill sets.

Customers

Professionalism and safety have always been our core values. We are
committed to providing the best customer experience to our
customers. Meanwhile, we have a customer phone survey system in
order to further our active solicitation of customer feedback.
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Suppliers

Reliable and quality suppliers are of equal importance in facilitating us
to provide services with high standards of safety and professionalism.
When selecting suppliers, we consider, among other factors, the
suppliers’ reputation, safety record, track record of performance,
quality of goods supplied, price competitiveness, punctuality of
delivery, relationship with our Group, completeness of certification and
credentials provided, service quality and product offerings. We regularly
review and assess our suppliers’ performance and their qualifications
to ensure the quality of our suppliers and that such suppliers have
obtained the applicable licenses (if any), and update our approved
supplier list accordingly.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2024 are set out
in the consolidated financial statements on pages 102 to 261 of this
annual report.

Operating Segment Information

The Group is principally engaged in the provision of medical and
healthcare services in Hong Kong, Macau and the Mainland China.

Financial Summary

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group
for the last five financial years is set out on page 4 of this annual report.

The Board does not recommend the declaration of a final dividend for
the year ended 31 March 2024. Details of the dividend for the year
ended 31 March 2024 are set out in note 29 to the consolidated
financial statements.
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Dividend Policy

The Company has adopted a dividend policy (the “Dividend Policy”).
The Board would consider, inter alia, the following factors before
declaring or recommending dividend to the shareholders:

1.  financial results of the Company;

2. shareholders’ interests;

3.  general business conditions, strategies and future expansion
needs of the Company;

4. the Company’s capital requirements;

5. the payment of cash dividends to the Company from its
subsidiaries;

6. possible effects on liquidity and financial position of the
Company; and

7.  the amount of profit that can be distributed under applicable
accounting standards and other factors that the Board may
deem relevant and appropriate.

Any dividend shall be declared by the Company in accordance with the
Cayman Islands Companies Act, the Articles of Association of the
Company and other applicable laws and regulations, and shall not
affect the normal operation of the Company and its subsidiaries.

The Board will review the Dividend Policy, as appropriate, which will
include an assessment of the effectiveness of the Dividend Policy and
approve any amendments thereto if necessary.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the Reporting Period are set out in note 13 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES

Details of the movements in the Company’s share capital and reserves
during the Reporting Period are set out in note 29 to the consolidated
financial statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 March 2024, the reserves of the Company available for
distribution to shareholders under the Companies Act of the Cayman
Islands amounted to HK$1,177,839,000 (2023: HK$1,255,773,000).

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group made charitable
donations amounting to HK$159,000 (2023: HK$3,660,000).

INDEBTEDNESS

The Group’s indebtedness as at 31 March 2024 is set out on notes 25,
28 and 32 to the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE SCHEMES

During the Reporting Period, the Company operated a share option
scheme, a share award scheme and the Co-Ownership Plan 2 for the
purposes of providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants
who contribute to the success of the Group.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

As disclosed in the Prospectus, the Company adopted a share option
scheme (the “Share Option Scheme”) on 19 February 2016 by way of a
written resolution of the then sole shareholder of the Company and the
Share Option Scheme is valid and effective for 10 years from the
Listing Date (both dates inclusive). The Share Option Scheme was
terminated on 29 May 2023.

The following table discloses movements in the Company’s share
options, which were granted under the Share Option Scheme, during
the Reporting Period:

Granted Exercised Expired Cancelled Lapsed Forfeited
during the during the during the during the during the during the
Name or category Asat 1 April Reporting Reporting Reporting Reporting Reporting Reporting
of participant 2023 Period Period Period Period Period Period
SEAN RZBZZF  REEHER REERER  RESHEA  REERER  REEHEA  REEEER
ERAER mA-A i 2114 B bii 34 3
Directors
£
LU Lyn Wade Leslie 10,000,000 - - - - - -
Bk
LEE Heung Wing 100,000 - - - - - -
0
1,000,000 - - - - - -
1,000,000 - - - - - -
2,500,000 - - - - - -
2,500,000 - - - - - -
WONG Ka Ki Ada 8,000,000 - - - - 8,000,000 -
5%
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Closing price
of share
immediately Exercise
Date of before the price of
As 31 March grantof  dateof grant  Exercised period share options
2024 share options HK$pershares  of share option  HKS per share
R
BB BIREN
RZB=MF BRE R i

ZA=t-H RtAH ShEn  BRENGES BRET

10,000,000 24/09/21 1080 26/09/22-23/09/31 1160
(Note 1) (1)

100,000 0210/18 471 02/01A9-0110/28 600
(Note 2) (f£2)

1,000,000 1200719 708 02/01/20-11/07/24 708
(Note 3) (Ff£3)

1,000,000 16/10/19 578 11/0A9-1010/29 700
(Note 4)(Fiz£4)

2,500,000 15/03/21 655 15/03/22-14/03/31 655
(Note 5) (ff3£5)

2,500,000 01A2/21 1200 0112/22-30/11/31 1330
Note 6) (fft6)

- 0112021 1200 0112/22-30/41/31 13.30
(Note 7)(f£7)
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WONG Chi Cheung 500,000 500,000 = 21/08/18 549 02/01/19-13/08/28 600
EHE (Note 8)(FiE28)
1,500,000 1,500,000 3 28/11/18 528 02/0119-27/11/28 600
(Note 9)(FiE9)
450,000 450,000 = 0112121 1200 01/12/22-30/11/31 1330
(Note 10) (K& 10)
Employees (Note 18)
E& (i)
In aggregate 100,000 = 100,000 10/07/18 522 02/0119-3112123 660
5 (Note 1) (3t 11)
50,000 - 50,000 070918 507 02/01/19-06/09/28 600
(Note 12) (E12)
272,500 5000 267,500 02110118 471 02/01A9-0110/28 600
(Note 2) (FiE2)
95,000 - 95,000 28/11/18 528 02/0119-27/11/28 600
(Note 9)(FiE£9)
150,000 150,000 - 020719 600 02/01/20-01/07/23 600
(Note 13) (FH3E13)
100,000 - 100,000 05/03/20 499 05/03/20-07/11/29 600
(Note 14) (it 14)
350,000 100,000 250,000 29/07/21 1232 29/07/21-28/07/31 1246
(Note 15} (FH3H15)
1,300,000 1,000,000 300,000 01/08/22 674 31/07/23-31/07/32 9.15
(Note 16) (3t 16)
2200000 - 2,200,000 01/08/22 674 31/07/23-31/07/32 804
(Note 16) (3t 16)
900,000 - 900,000 05/01/23 438 0/01/24-04/01/33 9,00
(Note 17) (F3E17)
900,000 - 900,000 05/01/23 438 0/01/24-04/01/33 10.00
(Note 17) (Hz17)
33967,500 (11,705,000) 22,262,500
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Notes:

1

SRE

The total of 10,000,000 share options shall be exercisable in ten tranches
from 26 September 2022 to 23 September 2031.

2 The original total of 840,000 share options shall be exercisable in four equal
tranches from 2 January 2019 to 1 October 2028.

3 The total of 1,000,000 share options shall be exercisable in four equal
tranches from 2 January 2020 to 11 July 2024.

4 The total of 1,000,000 share options shall be exercisable in five tranches from
16 October 2019 to 10 October 2029.

5 The total of 2,500,000 share options shall be exercisable in eight tranches
from 15 March 2022 to 14 March 2031.

6 The total of 2,500,000 share options shall be exercisable in four tranches from
1 December 2022 to 30 November 2031.

7 The total of 8,000,000 share options shall be exercisable in five tranches from
1 December 2022 to 30 November 2031.

8 The original total of 800,000 share options shall be exercisable in four tranches
from 2 January 2019 to 13 August 2028.

9 The original total of 1,620,000 share options, shall be exercisable in seven
tranches from 2 January 2019 to 27 November 2028.

10 The total of 450,000 share options shall be exercisable in nine tranches from 1
December 2022 to 30 November 2031.
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The total of 100,000 share options, shall be exercisable in five equal tranches
from 2 January 2019 to 31 December 2023.

The original total of 100,000 share options shall be exercisable in four equal
tranches from 2 January 2019 to 6 September 2028.

The total of 150,000 share options shall be exercisable in three equal tranches
from 2 January 2020 to 1 July 2023.

The original total of 150,000 share options shall be exercisable in one tranche
from 5 March 2020 to 7 November 2029.

The original total of 380,000 share options shall be exercisable in four tranches
from 29 July 2021 to 28 July 2031.

The original total of 3,500,000 share options shall be exercisable in five
tranches from 31 July 2023 to 31 July 2032.
The total of 1,800,000 share options shall be exercisable in three tranches

from 5 January 2024 to 4 January 2033.

All grantees in this category are employees or staff of the Group.
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Purpose

The Share Option Scheme is to provide an incentive or reward for the
Grantees (as defined below) for their contribution or potential
contribution to the Group.

Eligible Persons

Under the Share Option Scheme, eligible persons include any full-time or
part-time employees, potential employees, executives or officers (including
executive, non-executive and independent non-executive Directors) of the
Company or any of its subsidiaries, and any suppliers, clients, consultants,
agents and advisers who, in the sole opinion of the Board, has contributed
or will contribute to the development, growth or benefit of the Group
(collectively, the “Eligible Participants” or “Grantees”) and whom the Board
may in its absolute discretion select.

Maximum Number of shares

The maximum number of shares in respect of which options may be
granted under the Share Option Scheme shall not exceed 10% of the
issued share capital of the Company as at the Listing Date, which is
98,000,000 shares, being 9.99% of the issued share capital of the
Company as at the date of this annual report. The limit may be refreshed
at any time provided that the new limit must not exceed 10% of the total
number of shares in issue as at the date of the shareholders’ approval.

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in the Share Option Scheme, the
maximum limit on the number of shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised under
the Share Option Scheme and any other schemes of our Company must
not in aggregate exceed such number of shares which represent 30% of
the shares in issue from time to time.

As at 1 April 2023 and 31 March 2024, the number of options available
for grant under the Share Option Scheme was 57,207,500 and nil
respectively.

Maximum Entitlement of Each Eligible Participant

Subject to the requirements under the Listing Rules relating to the grant of
share options to the Directors, chief executive or substantial shareholders,
unless approved by the shareholders at general meeting in the manner
prescribed in the Listing Rules, the maximum entitlement of each Eligible
Participant is that the total number of shares issued and to be issued upon
exercise of the outstanding options granted and to be granted to such
Grantee (including both exercised, cancelled and outstanding options)
under the Share Option Scheme and other scheme(s) of the Group in any
12-month period must not exceed 1% of the issued share capital of the
Company as at the date of grant (the “Maximum Entitlements”).
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Option Period

An option may be exercised in whole or in part in accordance with the
terms of the Share Option Scheme during a period notified or to be
notified by the Board, provided no option period shall exceed 10 years.

Minimum Period for which an Option must be held
before it is Exercised

There is no requirement of minimum period for which an Option must
be held before exercise under the Share Option Scheme. The period
within which an option may be exercised under the Share Option
Scheme is determined by the Board at its absolute discretion, provided
that such period is consistent with any other terms and condition of the
Share Option Scheme.

Payment on Acceptance of the Option

A consideration of HK$1 is payable on or before the last day for
acceptance of the option granted under the Share Option Scheme set
out in the offer document from time to time.

Basis of Determining the Subscription Price

The subscription price for shares under the Share Option Scheme shall
be at the absolute discretion of the Board, provided that it must be at
least the highest of (i) the closing price of the shares as stated in the
Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheets on the date of offer; and (ii)
the average of the closing prices of the shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotation sheets on the five Business Days
immediately preceding the date of offer; and (jii) the nominal value of a
share (the “Benchmark Price”).

The Remaining Life of the Share Option Scheme

The Share Option Scheme remained in force from the Listing Date to
29 May 2023, the same of which was terminated by way of ordinary
resolutions of the Shareholders. No more option was available for grant
under the Share Option Scheme as at 31 March 2024.

The number of Shares that may be issued in respect of options granted
under the Share Option Scheme during the Reporting Period divided by
the weighted average number of Shares in issue for the Reporting Period
was nil.

During the meeting of the remuneration committee of the Company
held on 27 June 2024, the committee has reviewed the Share Option
Scheme, and considered that there is no specific matter that need to
be adjusted or amended.
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NEW SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company adopted a new share option scheme (the “New Share
Option Scheme”) on 29 May 2023 by way of ordinary resolutions
passed at the extraordinary general meeting. The New Share Option
Scheme is valid and effective for 10 years from 29 May 2023 (both
dates inclusive).

The purpose of the New Share Option Scheme is to provide an
incentive or reward for the grantees for their contribution or potential
contribution to the Company and/ or any of its subsidiaries. Under the
New Share Option Scheme, eligible participants include (i) any director
and/ or employee of the Company or any of its subsidiaries, (i) any
director and/ or employee of the holding companies, fellow subsidiaries
or associated companies of the Company; and (i) service providers,
which mainly comprise individual medical professionals who provide
services to, or on behalf of, the Group.

The maximum number of shares in respect of which options may be
granted under the New Share Option Scheme shall not exceed 5% of
the issued share capital of the Company as at 29 May 2023, which is
59,260,563 shares and the maximum number which may be granted
to the service providers shall not exceed 2% of the issued share capital
of the Company as at 29 May 2023, which is 23,704,225 shares. The
aforesaid limits may be refreshed at any time provided that the new
limits must not exceed 5%/ 2% of the total number of shares in issue
as at 29 May 2023. The maximum entitlement of each eligible
participant shall be the Maximum Entitlement. During the Reporting
Period, no option has been granted, exercised, expired, cancelled,
lapsed, forfeited nor outstanding under the New Share Option Scheme.

An option may be exercised in whole or in part in accordance with the
terms of the New Share Option Scheme during a period notified or to
be notified by the Board, provided no option period shall exceed 10
years. The vesting period in respect of any option granted to any
eligible participant shall not be shorter than 12 months from the date of
acceptance of the offer, provided that where the eligible participant is (i)
an employee participant who is a Director or a senior manager, the
remuneration committee of the Board shall; or (i) an employee
participant who is not a Director nor a senior manager, the Directors
shall have the authority to determine a shorter vesting period under
specific circumstances.
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A consideration of HK$1 is payable on or before the last day for
acceptance of the option granted under the New Share Option
Scheme set out in the offer document from time to time. The
subscription price for shares under the New Share Option Scheme
shall be at the absolute discretion of the Board, provided that it must
be at least the Benchmark Price.

The number of Shares that may be issued in respect of options granted
under the New Share Option Scheme during the Reporting Period
divided by the weighted average number of Shares in issue for the
Reporting Period was nil.

During the meeting of the remuneration committee of the Company
held on 27 June 2024, the committee has reviewed the New Share
Option Scheme, and considered that there is no specific matter that
need to be adjusted, amended or abolished.

SHARE OPTIONS GRANTED OTHER THAN
THOSE UNDER SHARE OPTION SCHEME

Pursuant to the sale and purchase agreement in connection with the
acquisition of additional 24% equity interest in Hong Kong Pain and
Wellness Solution Limited, a non-wholly owned subsidiary of the
Company, during the year ended 31 March 2021, the Group issued
warrants which allow the sellers to subscribe an aggregate number of
10,000,000 shares of the Company within 1-5 years at an exercise
price of HK$4.20. The warrants would vest in stages in 5 years
following the completion of the acquisition, 2,000,000 shares were
allotted and issued upon exercise of the relevant warrants during the
year ended 31 March 2023.

As at 31 March 2023, the warrants granted to the sellers had a
remaining contractual life of 2.4 years.
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SHARE AWARD SCHEME

The Company also adopted a share award scheme (the “Share Award
Scheme”) on 27 June 2016 with a summary of the Share Award
Scheme rules published in the announcement dated 29 June 2016. On
30 September 2016, the Company entered into a deed of variation to
the trust deed of the Share Award Scheme (the “Deed of Variation”) to
make certain changes to the said trust deed, to the effect that as from
30 September 2016, all core connected persons (as defined in the
Listing Rules) of the Company be excluded from participating in the
Share Award Scheme. Under the Share Award Scheme, the Group’s
employees, selected by the Board are entitled to participate.

The objectives of the Share Award Scheme are (i) to recognize the
contributions by certain employees and to provide them with incentives
in order to retain them for the continual operation and development of
the Group; and (i) to attract suitable personnel for further development
of the Group.

The Share Award Scheme is subject to the administration of the Board
and the independent trustee in accordance with the Share Award
Scheme rules and the trust deed of the Share Award Scheme. The
Share Award Scheme is valid and effective from the date of adoption for
10 years or such date of early termination as determined by the Board,
provided that such termination shall not affect any subsisting right of any
eligible persons selected for participation in the Share Award Scheme.
All award shares were funded by existing shares of the Company.

The Board shall not make any further award of awarded shares which
will result in the nominal value of the shares awarded by the Board
under the Share Award Scheme exceeding 10% of the issued share
capital of the Company from time to time. The maximum number of
shares which may be awarded to a selected employee under the Share
Award Scheme shall not exceed 1% of the issued share capital of the
Company from time to time. As at 31 March 2020, all awarded shares
granted were forfeited. During the period from 1 April 2020 to 31
March 2024, no awarded shares were granted and no share has been
issued under the Share Award Scheme.

During the meeting of the remuneration committee of the Company
held on 27 June 2024, the committee has reviewed the Share Award
Scheme, and considered that there is no specific matter that need to
be adjusted or amended.
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CO-OWNERSHIP PLAN 2

The Company has terminated the Co-Ownership Plan 1 and adopted
the Co-Ownership Plan 2 on 29 May 2023. For details of the
Co-ownership Plan 2, please refer to the section headed “Co-Owners”
of this annual report.

The aggregate number of Shares that may be issued in respect of
options and awards granted under the Share Option Scheme, the New
Share Option Scheme, the Share Award Scheme and the
Co-Ownership Plan 2 during the Reporting Period represented 0.84%
of the weighted average number of Shares in issue during the
Reporting Period.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the Reporting Period and up to the date of this
annual report were:

Executive Directors

TANG Chi Fai Eddy (Chairman)

LU Lyn Wade Leslie (Chief Executive Officer)

LEE Heung Wing Levin (Chief Financial Officer)

WONG Ka Ki Ada (Chief Strategy Officer & Chief Investment Officer)
(resigned on 1 November 2023)

WONG Chi Cheung (Chief Digital Officer)
(resigned on 31 December 2023)

Non-Executive Director

LUK Kun Shing Ben (Chief Information Officer)

Independent Non-Executive Directors

MA Ching Nam
LOOK Andrew
AU Tsun
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, every Director shall be
indemnified and secured harmless out of the assets and profits of the
Company from and against all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages
and expenses which they or any of them shall or may incur or sustain by
or by reason of any act done, concurred in or omitted in or about the
execution of their duty, or supposed duty in relation thereto.

The Company has arranged appropriate liabilities insurance to
indemnify the Directors against any liabilities and costs arising from the
business of the Group.

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Biographical details of Directors and senior management of the Group
are set out in the section headed “BIOGRAPHY OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT” on pages 13 to 19 of this annual report.

CHANGES IN INFORMATION OF DIRECTORS

Save as disclosed below or in this annual report, there has been no
change in information required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule
13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules.

Mr. Tang Chi Fai Eddy has resigned as chief executive officer of the
Company with effect from 1 November 2023.

Mr. Lu Lyn Wade Leslie, an executive Director, was re-designated as
the chief executive officer of the Company with effect from 1 November

2028.

Ms. Wong Ka Ki Ada resigned as an executive Director with effect from
1 November 2023.

Mr. Wong Chi Cheung resigned as an executive Director with effect
from 31 December 2023.

Mr. Look Andrew retired as an independent non-executive director of
Ka Shui International Holdings Limited with effect from 31 May 2024.
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CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE

The Company has received from each of the independent non-
executive Directors an annual confirmation of his independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. After review by the
Nomination Committee, the Company considered all of the
independent non-executive Directors to be independent during the
Reporting Period and as at the date of this annual report.

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND FIVE
HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

The remuneration paid to and/or entitled by each of the Directors and
the five highest paid individuals for the year ended 31 March 2024 is
set out in notes 9 and 10 to the consolidated financial statements.

No Director has waived or has agreed to waive any emoluments and
no emoluments were paid by the Group to the directors or the five
highest paid individuals as an inducement to join or upon joining the
Group or as compensation for loss of office during the Reporting
Period.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS OR
LETTERS OF APPOINTMENT

No Director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual general
meeting has a service contract or a letter of appointment with the
Company which is not determinable by the Company within one year
without payment other than statutory compensation.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract, other than employment contracts, concerning the
management and administration of the whole or any substantial part of
the Company’s business was entered into or existed during the
Reporting Period.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

On 21 February 2020, the Board approved the conditional adoption of
the Co-Ownership Plan 1. The Co-Ownership Plan 1 was approved by
the Shareholders at the EGM on 16 April 2020. For details of the
Co-Ownership Plan 1, please refer to the circular of the Company
dated 31 March 2020. Under the Co-Ownership Plan 1 and as
of 1 April 2023 Mr. Lee Heung Wing, an executive Director, and
Mr. Wong Chi Cheung, an executive Director who resigned on
31 December 2023, accepted HK$2,024,298 and HK$2,000,000,
respectively, as Investment Amounts under the Co-Ownership Plan 1.
The Co-Ownership Plan 1 was terminated on 29 May 2023 and they
ceased to have interests in the Co-Ownership Plan 1 thereafter.

Save as disclosed above and in this annual report, no Director or his
connected entity had a material interest, either directly or indirectly, in
any transactions, arrangements or contract of significance to the
business of the Group to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries
was a party during the Reporting Period and required to be disclosed
under the Listing Rules.

CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Directors’ Interests in
Transactions, Arrangements or Contracts” above and elsewhere in this
annual report, no transaction, arrangement or contract of significance
in relation to the Group’s business in which the Company, or any of its
subsidiaries or a controlling shareholder of the Company or any of the
controlling shareholder’s subsidiaries was a party, and in which a
Director had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted
at the end of the Reporting Period or at any time during the Reporting
Period.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

During the Reporting Period, save for the competing businesses as
disclosed below, none of the Directors had any interest in a business
other than the Group, which competes or is likely to compete, either
directly or indirectly, with the businesses of the Group, and required to
be disclosed pursuant to Rule 8.10 of the Listing Rules.

As at the date of this annual report, Mr. Tang was interested in a
company which is not included in the Group (the “Relevant Company”).

EERHFEXRBHESR

RIEBEA - B T XHENHFEBI

EENERIMEEREE RGBT EREK
BRENER (BRAEEIN) RHAEMER XA
BIE FTRAIE 810 GRMRE T AKE -

RAEREE -

WARERL NG AR KEE R A]

(MMEBAE D h AR -

Name of the
Relevant Company Nature of business Board of Directors Size of business
HEARER ERHE Ezg ERHE
Healthy Concept (HK) Limited Supply of skincare and Mr. Tang Revenue in 2023: less than
(“Healthy Concept”) (note 1) beauty products/ HK$5.1 million
Operation of call centre Net profit in 2023: less than
(note 2) HK$2.6 million (note 3)
Healthy Concept (HK) Limited ~ {tJER S #12 R = RER, kA4 3 ONE
([Healthy Concept]) BTN (EE2) L5 BEBT
(Fi7E1) TR ZFEFHF
L2688 (HiES)

Notes: PREE -

1. Healthy Concept is a company incorporated under the laws of Hong Kong 1. Healthy Concept@ —RHW =—TZFHA=+XH
with limited liability on 26 May 2006, and is wholly-owned by Mr. Tang. BEEBEOTMAIOBRARLABEELE

A -

2. Healthy Concept operates its business in Hong Kong. Its target customers in 2. Healthy Concept E BB 4L & H ¥ 75 - BBt E#E
respect of the supply of skincare and beauty products are primarily aesthetic ERERERNEREFPIERE 5%/\&@ #t
medical or traditional beauty service providers. Separately, it also operates a BRGEHER - B HIMEE —EREERE P
call centre which targets individual customers. The personnel of the call centre BOREOY ARG o FREAY AR O A B AR E‘J@)E']IH% "%
contact individual customers and refer them to the providers of body DRIEN FE SR - EREMNMEDRIGEERS
screening services, beauty products and beauty services, respectively, for AR NN o 2R T+ Healthy Concept I #& 42
referral income. However, Healthy Concept does not provide any aesthetic A EEEAREREDRE NGB TR -
medical or traditional beauty services, nor body screening services.

3. The figures are determined by reference to the audited financial statements for 3. HFE2ZHEEAREHE_S_=ZF=A=+—H
the year ended 31 March 2023 of the Relevant Company. W FEZ BN EHRRET

The Group offers a broad range of services and products, including REEREEZORBE RESD - \11‘% SEARTS

medical services, aesthetic medical services, beauty and wellness
services, skincare, healthcare and beauty products, primarily of private-
label brands, PRODERMA LAB, Swissline, Suissebeaute and
re:HEALTH. The Group does not focus on mass market retailing of
products and substantially all skincare, healthcare and beauty products
are sold to the customers of the Group’s services.
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The Directors are of the view that the Group’s business activities are
clearly delineated from that of the Relevant Company, since the Group
does not focus on the supply and distribution of medical consumables,
devices and equipment, or skincare, healthcare and beauty products.
Instead, the Group only focuses on (i) applying medical consumables,
devices and equipment during the course of provision of services; and
(i) selling skincare, healthcare and beauty products to the customers of
the Group’s services. In contrast, the Relevant Company focuses on
the supply and distribution of such goods to aesthetic medical service
providers and traditional beauty service providers in Hong Kong.
Furthermore, the Relevant Company does not supply and distribute
any skincare, healthcare and beauty products of the Group’s private-
label brands, PRODERMA LAB, Swissline, Suissebeaute and
re:HEALTH.

In light of the above, the Directors are of the view that the businesses
conducted by the Relevant Company do not form part of, and are not
in line with, the core business of the Group, and as such, do not
compete and are unlikely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with
the Group’s business.

Deed of Non-competition

As disclosed in the Prospectus, pursuant to the non-competition
undertakings set out in the deed of non-competition dated 19 February
2016, each of Mr. Tang and Union Medical Care Holding Limited
(“Union Medical Care”), our controlling shareholders, have undertaken
to the Company (for itself and on behalf of its subsidiaries) that,
amongst other things, each of them is not or will not, and will procure
each of their respective close associates not to, to be interested,
involved or engaged in or concerned with, directly or indirectly, any
business which is in any respect in competition with or similar to or is
likely to be in competition with the business of the Group during the
period commencing from the Listing Date and ending on the
occurrence of the earliest of (i) the day on which its shares cease to be
listed on the Stock Exchange or other recognised stock exchange; (ii)
the day on which Mr. Tang and/or Union Medical Care cease to be
controlling shareholder(s) of the Company; and (iii) the day on which
Mr. Tang and/or Union Medical Care beneficially own or are interested
in all the issued ordinary shares of the Company.

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the
implementation of the deed of non-competition and are of the view that
the controlling shareholders have complied with its undertakings given
under the deed of non-competition for the year ended 31 March 2024.
As at 31 March 2024, no new business opportunity has been notified
by the controlling shareholders.
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Independence from the controlling shareholders

The Board believes that the Group is capable of carrying on its
business independent of, and does not place undue reliance on, Mr.
Tang and/or Union Medical Care or their respective close associates,
taking into consideration the factors of financial independence,
operational independence and management independence when the
facts and reasons as disclosed in the Prospectus applied to the Group
during the Reporting Period.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES

As at 31 March 2024, the interests and short positions of the Directors
and the chief executives in the shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance
(Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong, the “SFQ”)), which (a) were
required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests
and short positions which they are taken or deemed to have under
such provisions of the SFO) or (b) as recorded in the register kept by
the Company pursuant to section 352 of the SFO or (c) otherwise
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the
Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers
were as follows:
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‘Company

Tang Chi Fai
HEE

Lu Lyn Wade Leslie
aiE

Lee Heung Wing
EALIES

Luk Kun Shing Ben
EHR

Ma Ching Nam
EEtE

Notes:

L denotes long position.

shares of

Beneficial owner, interest of spouse and

interest in a controlled corporation
ERBAA  REREMRZES
AR

Beneficial owner

EsHEBA

Beneficial owner

ESHBA

Beneficial owner

EsHBA

Beneficial owner

EEHAA

1. Total number of issued shares as at 31 March 2024 was 1,185,211,265.

2. Mr. Tang and Union Medical Care Holding Limited (“Union Medical Care”) are
the controlling shareholders of the Company. Union Medical Care is entirely
owned by Mr. Tang. Out of 722,204,610 shares that Mr. Tang was interested
in, (i) 5,403,000 shares were held by Mr. Tang personally, (i) 4,181,000 shares
were held by Ms. Yau Ming Li, the spouse of Mr. Tang, and (i) 712,620,610
shares were held by Union Medical Care and Mr. Tang was therefore deemed
to be interested in such 4,181,000 shares and 712,620,610 shares under Part

XV of SFO.
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mRsm:

722,204,610 (L) - 60.93%
(Note 2)
(FizE2)
- 10,000,000 0.84%
(Note 3)
(fEE3)
680,500 (L) 7,100,000 (L) 0.66%
(Note 4)
(FizE4)
2,822,992 () - 0.24%
300,000 (L) - 0.03%
BEE
L EEE-
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1,185,211,265% «

5% 4 K Union Medical Care Holding Limited ([Union
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Caem ¥ 2 EBA EHAEH AN
722,204,610 B %19 7 - (i) 5,403,000 A% F &P 5 A4 1
AFEA ¢ (i) 4,181,000 B% Ty 3 B % 4 KO BL (B AR BR | 22
T8 ¢ (i) 712,620,610 % Union Medical Care
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AR AR 8 R 4,181,000 A% Ak 15 K2 712,620,610 A AR
DA -
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10,000,000 share options (with their exercise period) include (i) 1,500,000
share options (26 September 2022 to 23 September 2031); (ii) 1,500,000
share options (25 September 2023 to 23 September 2031); (i) 1,500,000

share options (24 September 2024 to 23 September 2031); (iv) 1,500,000
share options (24 September 2025 to 23 September 2031); (v) 1,500,000
share options (24 September 2026 to 23 September 2031); (vi) 500,000 share
options (24 September 2027 to 23 September 2031); (vi) 500,000 share
options (25 September 2028 to 23 September 2031); (viii) 500,000 share
options (24 September 2029 to 23 September 2031); (ix) 500,000 share
options (24 September 2030 to 23 September 2031); (x) 500,000 share
options exercisable on 23 September 2031.

7,100,000 share options (with their exercise period) include (i) 25,000 share
options (2 January 2019 to 1 October 2028); (ii) 25,000 share options (2
January 2020 to 1 October 2028); (i) 25,000 share options (4 January 2021
to 1 October 2028); (iv) 25,000 share options (3 January 2022 to 1 October
2028); (v) 250,000 share options (2 January 2020 to 11 July 2024); (vi)
250,000 share options (4 January 2021 to 11 July 2024); (vii) 250,000 share
options (3 January 2022 to 11 July 2024); (vii) 250,000 share options (2
January 2023 to 11 July 2024); (ix) 200,000 share options (11 October 2019
to 15 October 2029); (x) 50,000 share options (4 January 2021 to 15 October
2029); (xi) 100,000 share options (3 January 2022 to 15 October 2029); (xii)
150,000 share options (2 January 2023 to 15 October 2029); (xii) 500,000
share options (2 January 2024 to 15 October 2029); (xiv) 312,500 share
options (15 March 2022 to 14 March 2031); (xv) 312,500 share options (15
March 2023 to 14 March 2031); (xvi) 312,500 share options (15 March 2024
to 14 March 2031); (xvii) 312,500 share options (15 March 2025 to 14 March
2031); (xviii) 312,500 share options (15 March 2026 to 14 March 2031); (xix)
312,500 share options (15 March 2027 to 14 March 2031); (xx) 312,500 share
options (15 March 2028 to 14 March 2031); (xxi) 312,500 share options (15
March 2029 to 14 March 2031); (xxii) 625,000 share options (1 December
2022 to 30 November 2031); (xxii) 625,000 share options (1 December 2023
to 30 November 2031); (xxiv) 625,000 share options (1 December 2024 to 30
November 2031); (xxv) 625,000 share options (1 December 2025 to 30
November 2031).
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Interest in shares and underlying shares of associated
corporation(s) of the Company

RED TR EEORGRABR O
it

Approximate
percentage of
Number of Number of  the total issued
shares underlying share capital
Name of Name of interested in shares held of the
Director/Chief associated the associated under equity associated
Executive corporation Capacity corporation derivatives corporation
DRASTETA 1EHEBEE 2
REEEBHES FAEKME BERITRAMN
EE IETBAEHS HEEEERE % ERNRAHE RGEE BARSL
Tang Chi Fai Union Medical Care Beneficial owner 2 () - 100%
iyt Holding Limited ~ E##A A (Note 1) (PizE1)
Note: B3
L denotes long position. L EIf R o
1. The 2 shares in which Mr. Tang was interested in were ordinary shares of 1. B 4 4 4G e 2 1 5% 2 AR BR 19 2 Union Medical Care

Union Medical Care.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2024, so far as is known to
any Directors or chief executives of the Company, none of the Directors
or chief executives of the Company had any interests or short positions
in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company or its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO)
which (a) were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO
(including interests and short positions which they were taken or
deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO) or (b) were
required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the
register referred to therein or (c) were required, pursuant to the Model
Code, to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDER'’S INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 March 2024, other than interests disclosed above in respect
of the Directors and chief executives of the Company, the following
persons had or were deemed or taken to have interests or short
positions in the shares or underlying shares of the Company which
would fall to be disclosed under the provision of Divisions 2 and 3 of
Part XV of the SFO as recorded in the register kept by the Company
pursuant to section 336 of the SFO or who was, directly or indirectly,
interested in 5% or more of the issued share capital of the Company.
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Interests in shares and underlylng shares'of the_
Company : = _

R A TR R AR B

Union Medical Care (Note 2) Beneficial owner 712,620,610 (L) 60.13%
Union Medical Care (Ki5£2) EnEAA
Yau Ming Li (Note 3) Beneficial owner and 722,204,610 (L) 60.93%
interest of spouse
FBEAF] (M5 3) WA AR BER
Notes: FifaE

L Denotes as long position.

1. Total number of issued shares as at 31 March 2024 was 1,185,211,265.

2. Mr. Tang and Union Medical Care are the controlling shareholders of the
Company. Union Medical Care is wholly-owned by Mr. Tang.

3. Out of the 722,204,610 shares, (i) 4,181,000 shares were held by Ms. Yau
and (i) 718,023,610 shares were held/deemed to be held by Mr. Tang, the
spouse of Ms. Yau, and Ms. Yau was therefore deemed to be interested in the
shares of the Company in which Mr. Tang was interested under Part XV of the
SFO.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2024, the Directors have not
been notified by any person (other than the Directors or chief
executives of the Company) who had interests or short position in the
shares or underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the register
required to be kept pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO.

L EFE-

1. RIZ-WNF=A=Z+-HNEBRTROLER
1,185,211,265 %

2. B0 %5 4 I Union Medical Care 7872 B A AR R -
Union Medical Care HES L2 A ©

3. 1E722,204,610 B & 7 & -+ () 56 2 =% A 4,181,000
& &(u)liliﬁimmﬁﬁﬂﬁ*ﬁiﬁﬁ/?&w/ﬁﬁﬁ
718,023,610% + E It » RIFEFFH REE &BIEXV
2 BLZ LR AR AR BESNOAQRKRN
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ARRANGEMENTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save and except the Share Option Scheme, the Share Award Scheme,
the Co-Ownership Plan 1 (which has been terminated) and the
Co-Ownership Plan 2, at no time during or at the end of the Reporting
Period was the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party to any
arrangement to enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means of
the acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Company or any other
body corporate.

EMPLOYMENT AND REMUNERATION POLICY

As at 31 March 2024, the Group employed approximately 2,611
(81 March 2023: 2,579) employees (excluding Registered Practitioners)
in Hong Kong, Macau and the PRC.

The Group is aware of the importance of human resources and is
dedicated to retaining competent and talented directors and employees
by offering them competitive remuneration packages. Their salaries
and bonuses were determined with reference to their duties, work
experience, performance and prevailing market practices. The Group
also participates in the Mandatory Provident Fund (“MPF”) scheme in
Hong Kong, and provides employees with medical insurance coverage.
No forfeited contribution is available to reduce the contribution payable
in the future years. The MPF contributions charged to the consolidated
statement of profit or loss represent the contributions payable to the
funds by the Group. The Share Option Scheme, the Co-Ownership
Plan 2 and the Share Award Scheme are in place to reward individual
employees for their outstanding performance and contribution to the
success of the Group.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of material related party transactions of the Group undertaken
in the normal course of business during the Reporting Period are set
out in note 36 to the consolidated financial statements. None of these
transactions is required to be disclosed under Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules.
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES

During the Reporting Period, neither the Company nor any of its
subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed
securities.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of
Association or the laws of Cayman Islands which would oblige the
Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing
shareholders.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and
to the best knowledge of the Directors, during the Reporting Period
and up to the date of this annual report, there is sufficient public float of
the Company’s securities as required under the Listing Rules.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year ended 31 March 2024, the aggregate amount of revenue
or sales attributable to the Group’s five largest customers represented
less than 30% of the Group’s total revenue. The aggregate amount of
purchases attributable to the Group’s five largest suppliers represented
less than 30% of the Group’s total purchases.

To the best knowledge of the Directors, none of the Directors, their
respective close associates or any shareholder (which to the
knowledge of the Directors own more than 5% of the Company’s
issued share capital) had any direct/indirect interest in these major
suppliers or customers during the year ended 31 March 2024.

TAX RELIEF

The Company is not aware of any relief from taxation available to the
shareholders of the Company by reason of their holding of the shares
of the Company.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The corporate governance report is set out on pages 51 to 65 of this
annual report.

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE
REPORT

The environmental, social and governance report of the Company for
the year ended 31 March 2024 is published on the Stock Exchange’s
website and the Company’s website.

AUDITOR

The financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2024 have been
audited by Erst & Young, who will retire and, being eligible, have
offered themselves for re-appointment at the forthcoming AGM. A
resolution for the re-appointment of Ernst & Young as the auditor of the
Company is to be proposed at the forthcoming AGM.

The financial statements for the years ended 31 March 2022 and 2023
have been audited by KPMG, Certified Public Accountants. Further
details of the change of auditors during the year ended 31 March 2024
are disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 19 March

2024.

On behalf of the Board

Tang Chi Fai
Chairman

Hong Kong, 27 June 2024
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Independent Auditor's Report
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Ernst & Young

27/F, One Taikoo Place,
979 King's Road,
Quarry Bay, Hong Kong

EY:

To the shareholders of EC Healthcare
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of EC
Healthcare (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out
on pages 102 to 261, which comprise the consolidated statement of
financial position as at 31 March 2024, and the consolidated statement
of profit or loss, the consolidated statement of comprehensive income,
the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the
consolidated financial statements, including material accounting policy
information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 March
2024, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and
have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities
for the audit of the consolidated financial statements section of our
report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”),
and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do
not provide a separate opinion on these matters. For each matter
below, our description of how our audit addressed the matter is
provided in that context.
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We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements
section of our report, including in relation to these matters. Accordingly,
our audit included the performance of procedures designed to respond
to our assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements. The results of our audit procedures,
including the procedures performed to address the matters below,
provide the basis for our audit opinion on the accompanying
consolidated financial statements.

BRI RREIT T ARE [RAEDRUBAARA M
WERAENRE] BoMANEE  BRFRAGL
FHEMAMMEL - fAEM - HPNEST TESR
HITRRE &G A M B IMREAHE R R AT
EMRETOERRF - BEFFEFNAERBERE T A
ZEFAMITHIZR - SRR SMEHRERD
ERRREMTER -

Revenue recognition from prepaid packages REBELFEEZENRAER

Revenue mainly comprises income from the provision of  Our audit procedures included:
medical, aesthetic medical and beauty and weliness services. FFINETIZFRIE -

Revenue is recognised when the related services are provided

to customers. o
WATZBERHERE X28F  XBNBRERBHOWA -
WARBEBERBEH TR PRER -

Certain services provided by the Group are sold on a prepaid
basis. Payments received for prepaid packages are initially
recorded as deferred revenue in the consolidated statement of
financial position at the time of receipt. The service period for a
prepaid package is generally one year.

ERERENE TREGRENEELE - ERNTENESR
IR BN R R A TR R ARERTERA » TR
EZNRBE KR —F - o

Prepaid packages are non-refundable and customers may not
exercise all of their contractual rights of the prepaid packages
before expiry of the service period, and such unexercised rights e
are referred 1o as breakage. An expected amount of breakage is
estimated by management based on historical experience and is
recognised as revenue in proportion to the pattern of services
provided to customers. Any residual deferred revenue at the end
of the contractual service period is fully recognised in profit or loss.
BANEZTAREREPNRBHAEMIIARBITERENER o
BV ERE KRR - T ARRIARITREAE NI R AR R EHER] | o
TEHEIREANENSEHEEERBBALRMT RIZREH
FTEFPHORBEXNLLOIERRBBA - BE QR EAREE
A FIERIEIE W AT B 25 N EIER o o

The recognition of revenue from the prepaid packages involves
significant management’s judgement to determine the
appropriate amount and timing of revenue recognition, and
involves significant estimation of the utilisation pattern of
services and the expected breakage amount.
ERAREANEZNBRALRERENEKRAE - LETE o
HHWAERSELER - 0 R RBEBRA RFEHAR
ERAENSEEL BRI -

The related disclosures are included in notes 3.1 and 3.2 to the
consolidated financial statements.

MHEARED SN R e MR HmRMES1 k32
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obtaining an understanding of the Group’s
revenue recognition policy in relation to prepaid
packages;

T BEEEEANERFENRAERBER

inspecting, on a sampling basis, sales contracts
and evaluating management’s accounting
treatment for the recognition of revenue with
reference to the terms set out in the sales
contracts and the requirements of the prevailing
accounting standards;

Z2EHEQNMBNBRRIB TS ERNR
E o OHEREREE S K MAHEE R B H W AR

VEEHERIE

assessing the estimates used in the determination
of the expected breakage amount such as
historical experience on the utilisation of prepaid
packages by examining the related usage records
and comparing to the actual usage records on a
sampling basis; and

AR EE TE TR EA R i AN  BERF E (hET - ANy
FRBENEZNBRILR FRUHES RS
MR AR s MBI RS ETTLH R -

testing the internal controls and checking the
calculation of the amount of revenue recognised
during the reporting period and the amount of
deferred revenue as at the end of the reporting
period by examining the underlying sales
contracts and related records on a sampling
basis.
FRARE T AN REHEBEEES O MAERERH
AN BB e B RN wE RN EERN DR
MR RERARBECRANSENAH -
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Impairment assessment of non-current assets in
cash-generating units of the acquired businesses

As at 31 March 2024, the carrying values of the Group’s
goodwill, intangible assets and other property, plant and
equipment of the acquired businesses amounted to HK$947.2
million, HK$568.3 million and HK$395.4 million, respectively,
which in total represented 36% of the Group’s total assets.
MRZZE_WMF=A=+—0 FTEENHE BEEEURK
WRE X EMYE - BERRENEREES B/ 47.2
BEAT 5683BBBTRIBAIBEET  AFEAER
B EMER36% °

Management performs impairment assessments annually for
cash-generating units (“CGUs”) of the acquired businesses to
which goodwill has been allocated. In addition, impairment
assessments are performed for CGUs of the acquired
businesses to which intangible assets with finite useful lives
and other property, plant and equipment have been allocated if
there is any indication of impairment.
ERESFHEESRAENRKRBREReELSU([R]
éEi B4V |) ETTRUERT (4 o B ERETR - #
PHEEEREAFROBILEEREMYE - BB K&
E&ﬁﬁ’ﬂ%&ﬂﬁlﬁ%%ﬁﬁ@éiﬁﬁ T EITRERE °

In performing impairment assessments, management
determines the recoverable amounts of the smallest CGUs of
the acquired business to which the goodwill, intangible assets
and other property, plant and equipment have been allocated;
and compares the carrying amount of each of the identifiable
CGU with its value in use based on discounted cash flow
forecasts to determine if any impairment loss should be
recognised.

RETRENGER  EEEBETE ENE  BEEEUR
HE - BELREBEOBEBEE S NREELEUOT
WEEEE ARG EBEAEMNReES EUNREERLE
MR RIANEREBEETLE  NETREERERE
RDBEEE -

The impairment assessment is significant to our audit due to (j)
the magnitude of the carrying amounts involved; and (ii)
significant estimates involved in the estimation of the value-in-
use of the CGUs, including, amongst others, expected future
cash flows and discount rates.

BROMPREENXRD (At REEEEUNERER
g R EAMEE - B (AR el BHRKR2RE LB
BE - ORENMEHRMANETM S SREKX -

The related disclosures are included in notes 3.1, 3.2 and 14
to the consolidated financial statements.

MHEARED BN FE M RRM T3 32814
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RBBEBR S ELEVHNFRBDEENRETE

Our audit procedures included:

B ETRF B

evaluating management’s assessment of
impairment indicators, identification of CGUs of
the acquired businesses and the allocation of
goodwill, intangible assets and other property,
plant and equipment to each CGU,;

A BIERENERENR - BERWIEEBER
CELABEMARSERE BEEEREMY
¥ BEMNRBESHSELEL

involving our valuation experts to assist us in
evaluating the discount rate adopted in the value
in use calculation; and

HMWEEER2 BB M EEREEE
PETERAIITIR K © |

assessing the key assumptions used in
management’s cash flow projections including,
amongst others, budgeted revenue, growth rate
and discount rate, taking into consideration the
historical results, market conditions and trends
and reliability of previous projections.

M EREEEE 2 REREEAMAEERE
BREEABE)BERA EBEERTHRE - I
ZERBEFRE TR BELBETRAZ AI5ER
Z o
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OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN THE
ANNUAL REPORT

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises the information included in the Annual
Report, other than the consolidated financial statements and our
auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the
audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the
work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that
fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the
Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue
as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the
directors of the Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to
cease operations or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee in

discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial
reporting process.
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BHPSGRAMBERROBRAL TREEMES
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BERRERAAARBEBGHMASHEMNE
B ERERN R BB (R ARG ) B3 5E R E
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. Our report is made solely to you, as a
body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated
financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit.
We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one
resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the

reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.
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° Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on
the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report.
However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to
cease to continue as a going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

° Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within the
Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and
performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for
our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.
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From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of
the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be
expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Wu Ka Lai, Cary.

Ernst & Young
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

27 June 2024
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Lloss

'A__| = \/
e BEmx

For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE-—Z_WF=A=+—HIFE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA L5l 7R~)

2024 2023
—E_MF o4
HK$’000 HK$’'000
F#&T FHTT
REVENUE WA 5 4,211,034 3,875,377
Other net income and gains Hilg A Rz 558 6 7,662 77,098
Cost of inventories and consumables FERFEMEA (666,132) (552,953)
Registered practitioner expenses SmEARY (1,171,274) (974,511)
Employee benefit expenses EEBAMAX (1,043,342) (1,086,512
Marketing and advertising expenses TS HERESRY (207,222) (172,715)
Rental and related expenses e MAEAX (92,338) (77,743)
Depreciation-right-of-use assets WE—[FTREEE (339,551) (351,764)
Depreciation-owned property, plant WE—BEVE  BENMKE
and equipment (177,073) (137,204)
Amortisation of intangible assets mAEEH (108,921) (97,767)
Charitable donations REIEHL (159) (3,660)
Finance costs B AR AR 7 (100,837) (63,636)
Credit card expenses ER+rEX (81,248) (77,502)
Administrative and other expenses TR R H A 8 (219,151) (232,647)
Share of profits less losses of joint ventures b & &1 2 % 8 E 18 2,686 10,705
Share of profits less losses of associates DG E R EE TR E B 2,740 1,623
PROFIT BEFORE TAX BB BT R 8 16,874 136,189
Income tax FR18%: 11(a) (1,179) (29,162)
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR & %R 15,695 107,027
Attributable to: AT & IBEG -
Equity shareholders of the Company PiN/NIT s ) (18,947) 69,654
Non-controlling interests FEITRE REZS 34,642 37,373
15,695 107,027
HK cents HK cents
AL AL
(LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE SR (BE) 2R 12
Attributable to equity shareholders R BRI R IEG
of the Company
Basic and diluted AR RS (1.6) 5.9

The notes on pages 110 to 261 form part of these financial
statements. Details of dividends payable to equity shareholders of

the Company are set out in note 29(b).

EC Healthcare
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

rA 2 E WK

For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE—_ZT_UF=A=+—HIFE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (A& T 2l7)

2024 2023
—E-NE —E-=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAT
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR FRERA 15,695 107,027
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE (LOSS)/ FEREADE (FR) WS
INCOME FOR THE YEAR
ltem that may be reclassified Hign sz
subsequently to profit or loss: BmmIEE -
Exchange differences on translation of REBABINTE AR
financial statements of subsidiaries IS ImERMER =58 -
outside Hong Kong, net of tax MEREIE (804) 1,229
Item that will not be reclassified to BIrEFEID BIEEMIER
profit or loss:
Fair value loss on financial assets LAFEF AR EERES
at fair value through other MeMEENAFE
comprehensive income, net of tax &8 - kA (782) (7,807)
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FREEWHAE
FOR THE YEAR 14,109 100,449
Attributable to: AT S IEREA
Equity shareholders of the Company /NG (20,533) 63,076
Non-controlling interests FEVE R A 2 34,642 37,373
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME EREERSAE
FOR THE YEAR 14,109 100,449

The notes on pages 110 to 261 form part of these financial statements.

103

F1102F261 ERMTFEK IS

s —&bo o

FEHRE 2023/24



Consolidated Statement of Financial |[Position

Are WRIAILER

At 31 March 2024 RZ-ZT_NE=ZA=+—8
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA L5l 7R~)

2024 2023
—E_MF o4
Notes HK$’000 HK$’'000
Fd 5 F#&T FAT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - R NRE 13 1,388,023 1,586,655
Investment properties LAY 13 172,922 199,300
Goodwiill [EES 14 947,176 743,544
Intangible assets B EE 15 613,749 662,424
Interests in joint ventures REETENER 16 40,081 45,986
Interests in associates B SN B Ay RS 17 382,947 263,934
Rental and other deposits HekEMZES 20 113,636 115,130
Prepayments and other receivables TERT R & E A FE U R IE 20 195,317 281,157
Financial assets at fair value through AT EFFAEMEE B R
other comprehensive income TMEE 21(a) 9,637 10,419
Financial assets at fair value through BAFEFABZENEREE
profit or loss 21(b) 104,527 124,195
Deferred tax assets EREFRRBEE 27(p) 86,389 55,974
Total non-current assets JEMENVEE LA 4,054,404 4,088,718
CURRENT ASSETS REEE
Inventories Ve 18 107,087 86,891
Trade receivables =)l E e 19 263,016 211,886
Prepayments, deposits and other TETFRIE ~ e REM BRI
receivables 20 225,629 242,058
Deferred costs PRIERK AR 5 102,866 124,752
Financial assets at fair value through EBAFEFABESNEREE
profit or loss 21(b) 13,179 15,981
Tax recoverable BEEEE 27(a) 13,737 32,185
Time deposits with original maturity over [REI8] B 88 =18 A 8 F 8FER
3 months 22 39,511 1,000
Cash and cash equivalents HeRBESZEY 22 553,625 709,859
Total current assets MENBEMRE 1,318,650 1,424,612
CURRENT LIABILITIES VL A=L |
Trade payables 2 SN KIA 23 81,094 70,093
Other payables and accruals H b FETFRIE M ERHE A 24 370,331 549,115
Bank borrowings IRITIER 25 136,912 101,348
Lease liabilities HEAE 28 255,461 299,039
Deferred revenue PEIEUA 26 540,148 596,247
Tax payable eI TR 27(a) 47,170 59,752
Total current liabilities mEN B BB 1,431,116 1,675,594
NET CURRENT LIABILITIES REBEEFE (112,466) (250,982)
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT EEHAERARBEE
LIABILITIES 3,941,938 3,837,736

EC Healthcare
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

fr e ISR

At 31 March 2024 RZ-ZE_NE=ZA=+—8
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (A& T 2l7)

2024 2023
—E-NE —E-=4F
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
h=s THET T
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FREBEME
Deferred tax liabilities EEFRBERE 27(p) 93,807 103,233
Lease liabilities HERE 28 427,566 514,089
Other payables H i e 5008 24 213,032 212,675
Bank borrowings RITER 25 541,990 387,660
Provision for reinstatement costs EE K AEE 24 21,005 19,002
Convertible bonds R ES 32 241,767 230,132
Total non-current liabilities JERBAGATE 1,539,167 1,466,791
NET ASSETS EEZRHE 2,402,771 2,370,945
CAPITAL AND RESERVES BARGFHE
Share capital R AN 29(c) 12 12
Reserves Ea 1,961,333 1,854,472
Total equity attributable to equity AATERRREGERERE
shareholders of the Company 1,961,345 1,854,484
Non-controlling interests FEERER 441,426 516,461
TOTAL EQUITY EREE 2,402,771 2,370,945

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on

27 June 2024.

Lu Lyn Wade Leslie

B HE
Director
2FE

The notes on pages 110 to 261 form part of these financial statements.
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EAEE
Director
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or the year e ded

< (Expressed in Hong Ko

1A 022 “EERA-R foolm® 6 O I - EhMY) S I N X%
Changes in equity for 2023: CECCERERE.
Profit for the year ERER - - - - - - - - 69,654 69,654 RIRTE) 107,027
Other comprehensive ncome/jos) Ab2Eds/(58) 5 = 5 5 129 i (7807 5 e (6578) 5 6578
Total comprehensive income/[oss) 2ENE/ (BR)4E - - - - 129 - 180) - 60,654 63,076 7313 100449
Issuance of sheres upon exercise of share optons—~ TEBREERARG 290 - 134 29 - - - - - - 106 - 106
Issunce ofsheres Upon exercie of varants RAREREEARE 90 -+ 8400 - - - - - - - 8400 - 8400
Acaistion of subsidares YEHELA . S - = S - b (29709 bl @703 33860 4166
Disposalof partl nerests i subsicaies HEMRATS S - - = o o - - N (10,085) (1008 %860 16775
Recogriton of equiy-setted share-based EEREEIRGE
compensation: Sere opfions ERME  BRE - - 56854 - B - N = - 584 - 5854
Recogriton of shere-bsed peyment forshares of T JEERiERHIEAT
subsicries granted fonon-contoling merests - RAHNRABERRZ - - 3963 - - - - - - 3963 329 1202
Conersion of convetbl bonds BRTERES 20 4 2149 - - - [4.349) - - - 17,104 - 1104
Aoqistion of partl iterests in subsiciries PGl PO i 2() B 438 - - - - - - (3611) 8 182 -
Corlrbuion o nor-whlly owned subsiday P ENBATEE - - - - - - - - - - 9000 9000
Changein consideration payableasngfomthe. - B FHHERBENEBRAELY
put options granted to non-controling inerests EfiftE2Y - - - - - - - (18262 - (18262 - (18262)
Diidends paid to non-contrling nteests FHFRERRS - - - - - - - - - - (62460 (62460)
Dividend declaed Rl 20 - - - - - - - - (118004 (118004) - (118004
At 31 March 2023 and 1 Apri 2023 RZF==%=f=1-BR

Z3-ZERA-A 12 2017702 1065217 20 (282) 66,322 (7.807) (423.908) 97,208 1,854,484 516,461 2370945
Changes in equity for 2024; ZECRERESE:
Proftfor the year ERER - = = = = = = = (18,947) (18,947) 34642 16,695
Other comprefiensive loss AHREEE - = - - (804 - (182) - o (1,586) - (1,986)
Total comprefiensive ncomel[oss) 2EYE/(BE)2E = = = = (804) = (182) o (18.947) (20,833 34642 14109
Aoquistion of subsidaries KEKEAF - - - - - - - 55,024 - 55,024 13624 68,648
Disposal of a subsicary that resuted nloss of contol ‘&85 % £ 155 iEMHBAT = - - - - - - - - - 7215 1215
Recognion of equity-seted share-based BNEREEIBRR A
compensaton: Share optons ERMG  BhRE - - 4690 - - - - - - 469 - 4690
Recognition of shere-based payment for shares of -~ BAA P SAMBAR
subsidaries ranted to non-controling nterests ~ RIAELLRI AERAT - - 3962 - - - - - o 3962 3,299 1,261
Acapistion of pate nteests n subsicares BENELTEAER 20 = = (1,400) S - - - 20670 (13865 129405 80722) 78683
Change n consideraton payeblearsng fomthe X 3 AR ERMDEHANE LY
put optons grented tonon-controling nterests - EEATRESE - - - - o o = 9998) o (999) o (5%99)
Dividends peic to non-contrllng nerests TR FEREEORE - - - - - - - - - - (83,093) 83,083)
Dividend declared BERRE 290 = = = ° o - - - (5,689) (55,689) - 55,689)
At31 March 2024 R-F-REZAZ1-8 2 2010 106,469 2 (1,086) 66,322 (8589) (168,212 (61299 1961345 s 20T

* Amount less than HK$1,000

The notes on pages 110 to 261 form part of these financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
Seliasnak

For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE—_ZT_UF=A=+—HIFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (A& T 2l7)

2024 2023
—E-ME o4
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
Fd 5 FET FHTT
OPERATING ACTIVITIES KT
Profit before tax BRF5 B A 16,874 136,189
Adjustments for: ek
Interest on bank borrowings RITIERFE 7 58,339 14,152
Interest on convertible bonds AR & 5 A B 7 18,265 18,604
Interest on lease liabilities HEAEFE 7 24,233 16,569
Imputed interest expenses on ERREZ HMERNE
consideration payables A 7 - 14,311
Bank interest income SRITFI B U A 6 (13,665) (3,418)
Other interest income H R B U A 6 (1,908) (1,108)
Depreciation e 8 516,624 488,968
Impairment loss on goodwill B EEE 6 - 7,481
Amortisation of intangible assets G 8 108,921 97,767
Share of profits less losses of DEE e E s N REE
joint ventures (2,686) (10,705)
Share of profits less losses of DAGHE S N B AR E 1R
associates (2,740) (1,623)
Equity-settled share-based payment AR B AR (D AR 2
expenses RIRFX 8 11,951 63,116
Loss on disposal of a subsidiary L E—FB AR EE 6 84 -
Gain on early termination of leases, net 2 AT4 1E T L H U 25 5 548 6 (1,828) -
Loss/(gain) on disposals and write-off HEMMEYE - BEMRE
of property, plant and equipment mEsE, (UEs) 6 1,751 (3,636)
Unrealised and realised losses on BATEFABENERERE
financial assets at fair value HY R BN R B TR
through profit or loss, net g hEs 6 24,582 19,093
Fair value loss/(gain) on investment BEWENNTEEE, (k)
properties 6 26,378 (2,200)
Foreign exchange differences HNE ZRE 1,472 5,825
786,647 859,385
(Increase)/decrease in inventories FEOEM),ED (14,309) 19,974
Increase in trade receivables 2 5 FEWRIAIE N (44,785) (36,321)
Decrease/(increase) in prepayments, TENFIE - e REMER
deposits and other receivables FIER L) 103,552 (43,534)
Decrease in deferred costs B X AR 21,886 18,053
Decrease in trade payables B 5 R R IER (11,530) (14,239)
Decrease in other payables and HihE kB R EE A
accruals Do (46,265) (52,709)
Decrease in deferred revenue PFEIEU AR (56,140) (59,820)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

CEReRER

For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE-—Z_WF=A=+—HIFE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA L5l 7R~)

2024 2023
—E-ME o4
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
Ff 5 FExT FAT
Cash generated from operations REEANRS 739,056 690,789
Hong Kong profits tax paid BERBEAFEH (49,955) (82,689)
Tax paid outside Hong Kong BRI EBEINGIE = (2,822)
Net cash generated from operating KEEEFARIR G R
activities 689,101 605,278
INVESTING ACTIVITIES REEH
Bank interest received B UERITRILE 13,665 3,418
Payments for purchases of financial BERATFEFABEN
assets at fair value through profit CREEMNTR
or loss - (14,066)
Payments for purchases of financial BERATES AL MEE
assets at fair value through other W H e a & ERNRR
comprehensive income - (8,638)
Contribution to an unlisted equity Mo AE AT AR ABERN
investment classified as financial assets & @& E M FE_EHIRA
at fair value through profit or loss B&ETE (2,112) (1,310)
Proceeds from disposals of property, HEWME - BEMEREDN
plant and equipment Fr8 08 41,290 12,376
Other interest received B E AL TS 1,908 1,108
Dividend received from joint ventures BRAEETENRE 8,591 13,100
Disposal of a subsidiary HE—RMEBAR 323 -
Acquisitions of businesses, net W B 22765 558 33 (96,013) (42,109)
Prepayments for business acquisitions 2 7 Us B T~ 52X = (20,000)
Investment in an associate R—EBE QR E (115,000) ()
Loan to an associate A —RHE & AR ER (11,273) (261,157)
(Increase)/decrease in time deposits [REINEA A #RE =& A &Y
with original maturity over 3 months TEHATE RN (28 00), ek (38,511) 1,000
Payments for purchases of property, HBEWE  BEMRE
plant and equipment EOENEN (161,223) (411,012)
Payments for purchase of BEEFEEMNMR
intangible assets = (1,480)
Net cash used in investing activities REEBMAR ST (358,355) (723,771)
EC Healthcare 108 Annual Report 2023/24



Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
e A b T

For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE—_ZT_UF=A=+—HIFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (A& T 2l7)

2024 2023
—E-ME o4
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET FAT
FINANCING ACTIVITIES MEEE
Interest paid on bank borrowings BEAHRITIE AR 22(b) (52,967) (13,142)
Interest paid on convertible bonds B AR ESFIE 22(b) (14,410) (1,441)
Capital element of lease rentals paid ENHERSHERE S 22(b) (323,112) (350,782)
Interest element of lease rentals paid BENHEERSHF SIS 22(b) (24,233) (16,569)
Proceeds from new bank borrowings I IRIT B FRPTIE A 22(b) 686,641 494,334
Repayment of bank borrowings BEBITER 22(b) (500,014) (6,336)
Proceeds from exercise of warrants TR EE B PTSFIE - 8,400
Proceeds from disposal of partial HEMB AR B ERA
interests in subsidiaries FT{S 38 = 16,775
Dividend paid IR E 29(a) (55,689) (118,004)
Dividends paid to non-controlling A T AR I 2 O AR B
interests (83,093) (62,460)
Loan from an associate e —EEERRINER 10,000 -
Acquisitions of partial interests in BB B AR B D R
subsidiaries (129,587) -
Proceeds from issuance of shares BFITRD B FTISFIA = 105
Contribution to a subsidiary by IS M B A R EE
non-controlling interests = 9,000
Net cash used in financing activities AR ATAIR S RS (486,464) (40,120)
NET DECREASE IN CASH AND RERBESEYAD FE
CASH EQUIVALENTS (155,718) (158,613)
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 April MA—HHNIRERIRESEED 709,859 870,228
Effect of changes in foreign YINGEE PE R A B R FL 22
exchange rates (516) (1,756)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS ~ =A=+-HWESR
AT 31 MARCH ReEEY 22(a) 553,625 709,859

The notes on pages 110 to 261 form part of these financial E1102 5261 BN R SH SRR —85

statements.
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2.1

EC Healthcare

1:||||/

CORPORATE INFORMATION

The Company is an exempted company with limited liability
incorporated in the Cayman Islands. The registered office address
of the Company is at Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box
2681, Grand Cayman, KY1-1111, Cayman Islands. The principal
place of business of the Company is located at 20/F, Devon
House, Taikoo Place, 979 King’s Road, Quarry Bay, Hong Kong.

The Company is an investment holding company. The Company
and its subsidiaries (together referred to as the “Group”) are
principally engaged in the provision of medical and healthcare
services.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) (which
include all Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong
Accounting Standards (“‘HKASs”) and Interpretations) issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance. They have been prepared under the historical cost
convention, except for investment properties certain other
receivables, financial assets at fair value through profit or loss and
financial assets designated at fair value through other
comprehensive income which have been measured at fair value.
These financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars and
all values are rounded to the nearest thousand except when
otherwise indicated.

Notwithstanding the net current liabilities of HK$112,466,000 as at
31 March 2024, the Group’s consolidated financial statements
have been prepared on a going concern basis because the
directors are of the opinion that the Group would have adequate
funds to meet its obligations, as and when they fall due, having
regard to the following: (a) the Group is expected to generate
positive operating cash flows in connection with its principal
activities; and (b) deferred revenue of approximately HK$540
million as at 31 March 2024 mainly relates to non-refundable
prepaid packages for which settlement (i.e; recognised as revenue)
is expected within one year without material cash outflow.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

R

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued) 21 RBEEE @)

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred
to as the “Group”) for the year ended 31 March 2024. A subsidiary
is an entity (including a structured entity), directly or indirectly,
controlled by the Company. Control is achieved when the Group is
exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with
the investee and has the ability to affect those returns through its
power over the investee (i.e., existing rights that give the Group the
current ability to direct the relevant activities of the investee).

Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of voting rights
results in control. When the Company has less than a majority of the
voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group considers all
relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has power
over an investee, including:

(@  the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of the
investee;

(o)  rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

(¢ the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the
same reporting period as the Company, using consistent accounting
policies. The results of subsidiaries are consolidated from the date
on which the Group obtains control, and continue to be
consolidated until the date that such control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income
are attributed to the owners of the parent of the Group and to the
non-controlling interests, even if this results in the non-controlling
interests having a deficit balance. All intra-group assets and liabilities,
equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
between members of the Group are eliminated in full on
consolidation.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

RIS

2.1

2.2

BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)
Basis of consolidation (Continued)

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts
and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more
of the three elements of control described above. A change in the
ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is
accounted for as an equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises the
related assets (including goodwill), liabilities, any non-controlling
interest and the exchange reserve; and recognises the fair value of
any investment retained and any resulting surplus or deficit in profit
or loss. The Group’s share of components previously recognised in
other comprehensive income is reclassified to profit or loss or
retained profits, as appropriate, on the same basis as would be
required if the Group had directly disposed of the related assets or
liabilities.

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES

The Group has adopted the following new and revised HKFRSs for
the first time for the current year’s financial statements.
HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts

Amendments to HKAS 1 and
HKFRS Practice Statement 2

Disclosure of Accounting Policies

Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting
Estimates

Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to
Assets and Liabilities arising
from a Single Transaction

Amendments to HKAS 12 International Tax Reform
— Pillar Two Model Rules
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Notes to the Financial Statements

R

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (continued)

The nature and the impact of the new and revised HKFRSs that are
applicable to the Group are described below:

(@)

Amendments to HKAS 1 require entities to disclose their
material accounting policy information rather than their
significant accounting policies. Accounting policy information
is material if, when considered together with other information
included in an entity’s financial statements, it can reasonably
be expected to influence decisions that the primary users of
general purpose financial statements make on the basis of
those financial statements. Amendments to HKFRS Practice
Statement 2 Making Materiality Judgements provide non-
mandatory guidance on how to apply the concept of
materiality to accounting policy disclosures. The Group has
disclosed the material accounting policy information in note
3.1 to the financial statements. The amendments did not have
any impact on the measurement, recognition or presentation
of any items in the Group’s financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 8 clarify the distinction between
changes in accounting estimates and changes in accounting
policies. Accounting estimates are defined as monetary
amounts in financial statements that are subject to
measurement uncertainty. The amendments also clarify how
entities use measurement techniques and inputs to develop
accounting estimates. Since the Group’s approach and policy
align with the amendments, the amendments had no impact
on the Group’s financial statements.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

RIS

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (continued)

©

Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets and
Liabilities arising from a Single Transaction narrow the scope
of the initial recognition exception in HKAS 12 so that it no
longer applies to transactions that give rise to equal taxable
and deductible temporary differences, such as leases and
decommissioning obligations. Therefore, entities are required
to recognise a deferred tax asset (provided that sufficient
taxable profit is available) and a deferred tax liability for
temporary differences arising from these transactions. The
amendments did not have any significant impact on the
financial position or performance of the Group upon initial
application.

Amendments to HKAS 12 International Tax Reform — Pillar
Two Model Rules introduce a mandatory temporary exception
from the recognition and disclosure of deferred taxes arising
from the implementation of the Pillar Two model rules
published by the Organisation for Economic Co-operation and
Development. The amendments also introduce disclosure
requirements for the affected entities to help users of the
financial statements better understand the entities’ exposure
to Pillar Two income taxes, including the disclosure of current
tax related to Pillar Two income taxes separately in the periods
when Pillar Two legislation is effective and the disclosure of
known or reasonably estimable information of their exposure
to Pillar Two income taxes in periods in which the legislation is
enacted or substantively enacted but not yet in effect. The
Group has applied the amendments retrospectively. Since the
Group did not fall within the scope of the Pillar Two model
rules, the amendments did not have any impact to the Group.

EC Healthcare 114

22 BHERBENES @)

()

ERGHENFE12RBTHE -
BELHEER R EHBAELEHE
WmNEEGHEAE 12K ERER
PISMERHFEE - EEAFEARNE
[R5 H) FE AR T I R HMR A 1 5
WZ5 fImEERERREE - B
bt BRARZERZFEENERM
EZRERELERBEE (FREART
RERBGEN) MELEHRBARE - %
FEFTR A AR E N R BN
AR HERIRY BAEREAZE o

BB G ERE 12 BT R W
KE — FoXHBARAEHRITA
REAERERABBEMOE I
FAN A5 R 22 A A A 2T A5 TR O g R AN
WESIE — TR IER AR - 25
BRI TR EE B ERBEE RN
B BREEREEN T RER
EF-_XHEMEHNER 8RS
CXHEEERHREBRES -
TEFTISTARBE A E AT IR - AR L
EBIE S EE L HE B W R A ]
WEEE —HEAEHRERKN D MK
AAEM[FNER - AEEDEHE
RZEER] - ARAKEL TNEREH
TXHESEANRRNNEE - ZFEFTTY
REE T EEAZE -

Annual Report 2023/24



Notes to the Financial Statements

R

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS

The Group has not applied the following revised HKFRSs, that have
been issued but are not yet effective, in these financial statements.
The Group intends to apply these revised HKFRSs, if applicable,

23 CHEMERENNEBUHR
HEEA

AEBRANZEMBERRPEATIC
BMERARERNEEITEEWBREE
Al - AEEBNZEFRETERYBRE

when they become effective.

Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of
and HKAS 28 Assets between an Investor
and its Associate or Joint Venture®
Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback’
Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current
(the “2020 Amendments”)" 4
Non-current Liabilities with Covenants
(the “2022 Amendments”)" 4
Amendments to HKAS 7 and  Supplier Finance Arrangements’
HKFRS 7

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability?

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025
8 No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for adoption
4 As a consequence of the 2020 Amendments and 2022 Amendments,

Hong Kong Interpretation 5 Presentation of Financial Statements —
Classification by the Borrower of a Term Loan that Contains a
Repayment on Demand Clause was revised to align the corresponding
wording with no change in conclusion

Further information about those HKFRSs that are expected to be
applicable to the Group is described below.

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 address an inconsistency
between the requirements in HKFRS 10 and in HKAS 28 in dealing
with the sale or contribution of assets between an investor and its
associate or joint venture. The amendments require a full recognition
of a gain or loss resulting from a downstream transaction when the
sale or contribution of assets constitutes a business. For a
transaction involving assets that do not constitute a business, a gain
or loss resulting from the transaction is recognised in the investor’s
profit or loss only to the extent of the unrelated investor’s interest in
that associate or joint venture. The amendments are to be applied
prospectively. The previous mandatory effective date of
amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 was removed by the
HKICPA. However, the amendments are available for adoption now.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

RIS

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG 23 EEMERERNE B BB R

KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 16 specify the requirements that a seller-
lessee uses in measuring the lease liability arising in a sale and
leaseback transaction to ensure the seller-lessee does not recognise
any amount of the gain or loss that relates to the right of use it
retains. The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning
on or after 1 April 2024 and shall be applied retrospectively to sale
and leaseback transactions entered into after the date of initial
application of HKFRS 16 (i.e., 1 April 2019). Earlier application is
permitted. The amendments are not expected to have any
significant impact on the Group’s financial statements.

The 2020 Amendments clarify the requirements for classifying
liabilities as current or non-current, including what is meant by a right
to defer settlement and that a right to defer must exist at the end of
the reporting period. Classification of a liability is unaffected by the
likelihood that the entity will exercise its right to defer settlement. The
amendments also clarify that a liability can be settled in its own
equity instruments, and that only if a conversion option in a
convertible liability is itself accounted for as an equity instrument
would the terms of a liability not impact its classification. The 2022
Amendments further clarify that, among covenants of a liability
arising from a loan arrangement, only those with which an entity
must comply on or before the reporting date affect the classification
of that liability as current or non-current. Additional disclosures are
required for non-current liabilities that are subject to the entity
complying with future covenants within 12 months after the reporting
period. The amendments shall be applied retrospectively with early
application permitted. An entity that applies the 2020 Amendments
early is required to apply simultaneously the 2022 Amendments,
and vice versa. The Group is currently assessing the impact of the
amendments and whether existing loan agreements may require
revision. Based on a preliminary assessment, the amendments are
not expected to have any significant impact on the Group’s financial
statements.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

R

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG 23 EEMERERNE B MBE R

KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (continued)

Amendments to HKAS 7 and HKFRS 7 clarify the characteristics of
supplier finance arrangements and require additional disclosure of
such arrangements. The disclosure requirements in the
amendments are intended to assist users of financial statements in
understanding the effects of supplier finance arrangements on an
entity’s liabilities, cash flows and exposure to liquidity risk. Earlier
application of the amendments is permitted. The amendments
provide certain transition reliefs regarding comparative information,
quantitative information as at the beginning of the annual reporting
period and interim disclosures. The amendments are not expected
to have any significant impact on the Group’s financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 21 specify how an entity shall assess
whether a currency is exchangeable into another currency and how
it shall estimate a spot exchange rate at a measurement date when
exchangeability is lacking. The amendments require disclosures of
information that enable users of financial statements to understand
the impact of a currency not being exchangeable. Earlier application
is permitted. When applying the amendments, an entity cannot
restate comparative information. Any cumulative effect of initially
applying the amendments shall be recognised as an adjustment to
the opening balance of retained profits or to the cumulative amount
of translation differences accumulated in a separate component of
equity, where appropriate, at the date of initial application. The
amendments are not expected to have any significant impact on the
Group’s financial statements.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

RIS

3.1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.1 EXGFER

Investments in associates and joint ventures

An associate is an entity in which the Group has a long term interest
of generally not less than 20% of the equity voting rights and over
which it has significant influence. Significant influence is the power to
participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of the
investee, but is not control or joint control over those policies.

A joint venture is a type of joint arrangement whereby the parties
that have joint control of the arrangement have rights to the net
assets of the joint venture. Joint control is the contractually agreed
sharing of control of an arrangement, which exists only when
decisions about the relevant activities require the unanimous
consent of the parties sharing control.

The Group’s investments in associates and joint ventures are stated
in the consolidated statement of financial position at the Group’s
share of net assets under the equity method of accounting, less any
impairment losses. Adjustments are made to bring into line any
dissimilar accounting policies that may exist.

The Group’s share of the post-acquisition results and other
comprehensive income of associates and joint ventures is included
in the consolidated profit or loss and consolidated other
comprehensive income, respectively. In addition, when there has
been a change recognised directly in the equity of the associate or
joint venture, the Group recognises its share of any changes, when
applicable, in the consolidated statement of changes in equity.
Unrealised gains and losses resulting from transactions between the
Group and its associates or joint ventures are eliminated to the
extent of the Group’s investments in the associates or joint ventures,
except where unrealised losses provide evidence of an impairment
of the assets transferred. Goodwill arising from the acquisition of
associates or joint ventures is included as part of the Group’s
investments in associates or joint ventures.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

R

3.1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.1 EXSTHBE@

(Continued)
Business combinations and goodwill

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition
method. The consideration transferred is measured at the acquisition
date fair value which is the sum of the acquisition date fair values of
assets transferred by the Group, liabilities assumed by the Group to
the former owners of the acquiree and the equity interests issued by
the Group in exchange for control of the acquiree. For each
business combination, the Group elects whether to measure the
non-controlling interests in the acquiree at fair value or at the
proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All other
components of non-controlling interests are measured at fair value.
Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.

The Group determines that it has acquired a business when the
acquired set of activities and assets includes an input and a
substantive process that together significantly contribute to the
ability to create outputs.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial
assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification and
designation in accordance with the contractual terms, economic
circumstances and pertinent conditions as at the acquisition date.
This includes the separation of embedded derivatives in host
contracts of the acquiree.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer is
recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Contingent
consideration classified as an asset or liability is measured at fair
value with changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss.
Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is not
remeasured and subsequent settlement is accounted for within

equity.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of the
aggregate of the consideration transferred, the amount recognised
for non-controlling interests and any fair value of the Group’s
previously held equity interests in the acquiree over the identifiable
assets acquired and liabilities assumed. If the sum of this
consideration and other items is lower than the fair value of the net
assets acquired, the difference is, after reassessment, recognised in
profit or loss as a gain on bargain purchase.

BRRER 119

EBEREE

EBAHIRWEER - EEAETIRIK
BHUNATERE  ZAVFERTEH
EENEERNRBARNQTE A&E
HRWBT W RERAAENEBERRE
B 317 DAR B UK B 5 45 B O R AN A 2
M - REEBAGT  AEERER
NP ERAERIE T A B EEFER
LB - STER IR DT A SRR AR R A AR
FEIEIRAR A ) — ) E 310 TH IR A F
Bt 8 - BRUBRARELRSSFHX -

BB AT REERE —BERK
AR—IEEZRE  MMmEHEIEEHY
BREHNBEERER  BIXAEEETACDIAE
—IRE o

AEBWE -BEBRSRES RGX
U8 B e 47 AR K B B AR 1 R A RIS Y
TREERFENSBAE  NETEE
DERIEE - WEERBRKEL EZARP
ERAR DT E T EETT O BE ©

U 7 8 30 4 £ 1 258 A (6 A B
ATERER - WRARBRASBAEER
818 BRATENE  EATENS

BRBRER - RARBOEH B AES
BR - ATBHEEHE  AENGE
@AM -

BE VIR ARG E - NEERE  #®R
BRI SN SR AEBILATRH AR
UL RS 77 B R~ FE 2 M B H AN SR B
WIBR BRI BEERAAEAENS o fi
ZREREMER ZMERMKEEEF
BENRAVE FRAEZREEM[ENEBERE

REERBERE -

FEHRE 2023/24



Notes to the Financial Statements

RIS

3.1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.1 EXSTHBE @

(Continued)
Business combinations and goodwill (Continued)

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any
accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is tested for impairment
annually or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying value may be impaired. The Group
performs its annual impairment test of goodwill as at 31 March. For
the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business
combination is, from the acquisition date, allocated to each of the
Group’s cash-generating units, or groups of cash-generating units,
that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination,
irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the Group are
assigned to those units or groups of units.

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable amount of
the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating units) to which
the goodwill relates. Where the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit (group of cash-generating units) is less than the
carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised. An impairment
loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a subsequent period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating unit (or
group of cash-generating units) and part of the operation within that
unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated with the operation
disposed of is included in the carrying amount of the operation when
determining the gain or loss on the disposal. Goodwill disposed of in
these circumstances is measured based on the relative value of the
operation disposed of and the portion of the cash-generating unit
retained.

The Group measures its investment properties, certain other
receivables, financial assets at fair value through profit or loss and
financial assets designated at fair value through other comprehensive
income at fair value at the end of each reporting period. Fair value is
the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a
liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the
measurement date. The fair value measurement is based on the
presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the
liability takes place either in the principal market for the asset or
liability, or in the absence of a principal market, in the most
advantageous market for the asset or liability. The principal or the
most advantageous market must be accessible by the Group. The
fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions
that market participants would use when pricing the asset or liability,
assuming that market participants act in their economic best interest.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

R

3.1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.1 EXSTHBE@

(Continued)
Fair value measurement

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account
a market participant’s ability to generate economic benefits by using
the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market
participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the
circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to measure
fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and
minimising the use of unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed
in the financial statements are categorised within the fair value
hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that
is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole:

Level 1 — based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2 — based on valuation techniques for which the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is observable, either directly or
indirectly

Level 3 — based on valuation techniques for which the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial
statements on a recurring basis, the Group determines whether
transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by
reassessing categorisation (based on the lowest level input that is
significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of
each reporting period.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

RIS

3.1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.1 EXSTHBE @

(Continued)
Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than inventories,
deferred tax assets, financial assets and investment properties), the
asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. An asset’s recoverable
amount is the higher of the asset’s or cash-generating unit’s value in
use and its fair value less costs of disposal, and is determined for an
individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows
that are largely independent of those from other assets or groups of
assets, in which case the recoverable amount is determined for the
cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment, a portion of the
carrying amount of a corporate asset (e.g., a headquarters building)
is allocated to an individual cash-generating unit if it can be allocated
on a reasonable and consistent basis or, otherwise, to the smallest
group of cash-generating units.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount of an
asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value
using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the
asset. An impairment loss is charged to the statement of profit or
loss in the period in which it arises in those expense categories
consistent with the function of the impaired asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period as to
whether there is an indication that previously recognised impairment
losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. If such an
indication exists, the recoverable amount is estimated. A previously
recognised impairment loss of an asset other than goodwill is
reversed only if there has been a change in the estimates used to
determine the recoverable amount of that asset, but not to an
amount higher than the carrying amount that would have been
determined (net of any depreciation/amortisation) had no impairment
loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. A reversal of such
an impairment loss is credited to the statement of profit or loss in the
period in which it arises.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

R

3.1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Related parties
A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(@ the party is a person or a close member of that person’s
family and that person

0] has control or joint control over the Group;
(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(i) is a member of the key management personnel of the
Group or of a parent of the Group;

or

(o) the party is an entity where any of the following conditions
applies:

0] the entity and the Group are members of the same
group;

(i) one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other
entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow subsidiary of
the other entity);

(i) the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the same
third party;

(iv)  one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other
entity is an associate of the third entity;

(v)  the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity
related to the Group;

(vi)  the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person
identified in (a);

(viij  a person identified in (a)() has significant influence over
the entity or is a member of the key management
personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity); and

(vii)  the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a
part, provides key management personnel services to
the Group or to the parent of the Group.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

RIS

3.1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.1 EXSTHBE @

(Continued)
Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

Property, plant and equipment, are stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and any impairment losses. The cost of an item of
property, plant and equipment comprises its purchase price and any
directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working
condition and location for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and equipment
have been put into operation, such as repairs and maintenance, is
normally charged to the statement of profit or loss in the period in
which it is incurred. In situations where the recognition criteria are
satisfied, the expenditure for a major inspection is capitalised in the
carrying amount of the asset as a replacement. Where significant
parts of property, plant and equipment are required to be replaced
at intervals, the Group recognises such parts as individual assets
with specific useful lives and depreciates them accordingly.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write off the
cost of each item of property, plant and equipment to its residual
value over its estimated useful life. The principal annual rates used
for this purpose are as follows:

Buildings Over the shorter of the lease term
and their estimated useful lives
Leasehold improvements Over the shorter of the lease terms

and 25%
Furniture and fixtures 10% to 25%
Operation equipment 10% to 20%
Office equipment 15% to 20%
Computers 20%
Motor vehicles 20%
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Notes to the Financial Statements

R

3.1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.1 EXSTHBE@

(Continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
(Continued)

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have
different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated on a
reasonable basis among the parts and each part is depreciated
separately. Residual values, useful lives and the depreciation method
are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at least at each financial
year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including any significant
part initially recognised is derecognised upon disposal or when no
future economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any
gain or loss on disposal or retirement recognised in the statement of
profit or loss in the year the asset is derecognised is the difference
between the net sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the
relevant asset.

Investment properties

Investment properties are interests in land and buildings held to earn
rental income and/or for capital appreciation. Such properties are
measured initially at cost, including transaction costs. Subsequent to
initial recognition, investment properties are stated at fair value,
which reflects market conditions at the end of the reporting period.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair values of investment
properties are included in the statement of profit or loss in the year in
which they arise.

Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of an investment
property are recognised in the statement of profit or loss in the year
of the retirement or disposal.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

RIS

3.1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.1 EXSTHBE @

(Continued)
Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial
recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets acquired in a
business combination is the fair value at the date of acquisition. The
useful lives of intangible assets are assessed to be either finite or
indefinite. Intangible assets with finite lives are subsequently
amortised over the useful economic life and assessed for impairment
whenever there is an indication that the intangible asset may be
impaired. The amortisation period and the amortisation method for
an intangible asset with a finite useful life are reviewed at least at
each financial year end.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are tested for impairment
annually either individually or at the cash-generating unit level. Such
intangible assets are not amortised. The useful life of an intangible
asset with an indefinite life is reviewed annually to determine whether
the indefinite life assessment continues to be supportable. If not, the
change in the useful life assessment from indefinite to finite is
accounted for on a prospective basis.

Licence

Licence is stated at cost less any impairment losses and is
amortised on the straight-line basis over its estimated useful life of 5
years.

Trademarks

Trademarks are stated at cost less any impairment losses and are
amortised on the straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives
of 10 to 20 years.

Club memberships and school debentures

Club memberships and school debentures are regarded to have
indefinite useful life as there is no foreseeable limit to the period over
which it is expected to generate cash flows for the Group.

Customer lists and relationships

Customer lists and relationships are stated at cost less any
impairment losses and are amortised on the straight-line basis over
their estimated useful lives of 2 to 10 years.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

R

3.1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.1 EXSTHBE@

(Continued)
Intangible assets (other than goodwill) (Continued)
IT applications platform

[T applications platform is stated at cost less any impairment losses
and is amortised on the straight-line basis over its estimated useful
life of 7 years.

Other intangible assets

Other intangible assets are stated at cost less any impairment losses
and are amortised on the straight-line basis over their estimated
useful lives of 8 years.

Leases

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a contract is, or
contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract
conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period
of time in exchange for consideration.

Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement approach
for all leases, except for short-term leases and leases of low-value
assets. The Group recognises lease liabilities to make lease
payments and right-of-use assets representing the right to use the
underlying assets.

(@)  Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the commencement
date of the lease (that is the date the underlying asset is
available for use). Right-of-use assets are measured at cost,
less accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses,
and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities. The
cost of right-of-use assets includes the amount of lease
liabilities recognised, initial direct costs incurred, and lease
payments made at or before the commencement date less
any lease incentives received. Leasehold properties are
depreciated on a straight-line basis over the lease terms.

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Group by the
end of the lease term or the cost reflects the exercise of a
purchase option, depreciation is calculated using the
estimated useful life of the asset.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

RIS

3.1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Leases (Continued)

Group as a lessee (Continued)

®)

Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the commencement date of
the lease at the present value of lease payments to be made
over the lease term. The lease payments include fixed
payments (including in-substance fixed payments) less any
lease incentives receivable, variable lease payments that
depend on an index or a rate, and amounts expected to be
paid under residual value guarantees. The lease payments
also include the exercise price of a purchase option
reasonably certain to be exercised by the Group and
payments of penalties for termination of a lease, if the lease
term reflects the Group exercising the option to terminate the
lease. The variable lease payments that do not depend on an
index or a rate are recognised as an expense in the period in
which the event or condition that triggers the payment occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the Group
uses its incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date because the interest rate implicit in the
lease is not readily determinable. After the commencement
date, the amount of lease liabilities is increased to reflect the
accretion of interest and reduced for the lease payments
made. In addition, the carrying amount of lease liabilities is
remeasured if there is a modification, a change in the lease
term, a change in lease payments (e.g., a change to future
lease payments resulting from a change in an index or rate) or
a change in assessment of an option to purchase the
underlying asset.

The Group’s lease liabilities are included in interest-bearing
bank and other borrowings.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

R

3.1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.1 EXSTHBE@

(Continued)

Leases (Continued)

Group as a lessee (Continued)

(c)  Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption
to its (that is those leases that have a lease term of 12 months
or less from the commencement date and do not contain a
purchase option). It also applies the recognition exemption for
that are considered to be of low value.

Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of low-value
assets are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis
over the lease term.

Group as a lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it classifies at lease inception (or
when there is a lease modification) each of its leases as either an
operating lease or a finance lease.

Leases in which the Group does not transfer substantially all the
risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an asset are classified
as operating leases. When a contract contains lease and non-lease
components, the Group allocates the consideration in the contract
to each component on a relative stand-alone selling price basis.
Rental income is accounted for on a straight-line basis over the
lease terms and is included in revenue in the statement of profit or
loss due to its operating nature. Initial direct costs incurred in
negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added to the
carrying amount of the leased asset and recognised over the lease
term on the same basis as rental income. Contingent rents are
recognised as revenue in the period in which they are earned.

Leases that transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental
to ownership of an underlying asset to the lessee are accounted for
as finance leases.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

RIS

3.1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.1 EXSTHBE @

(Continued)
Investments and other financial assets
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as subsequently
measured at amortised cost, fair value through other comprehensive
income, and fair value through profit or loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends on
the financial asset’s contractual cash flow characteristics and the
Group’s business model for managing them. With the exception of
trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing
component or for which the Group has applied the practical
expedient of not adjusting the effect of a significant financing
component, the Group initially measures a financial asset at its fair
value plus in the case of a financial asset not at fair value through
profit or loss, transaction costs. Trade receivables that do not
contain a significant financing component or for which the Group
has applied the practical expedient are measured at the transaction
price determined under HKFRS 15 in accordance with the policies
set out for “Revenue recognition” below.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured at
amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive income, it
needs to give rise to cash flows that are solely payments of principal
and interest (“SPPI”) on the principal amount outstanding. Financial
assets with cash flows that are not SPPI are classified and measured
at fair value through profit or loss, irrespective of the business model.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

R

3.1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.1 EXSTHBE@

(Continued)
Investments and other financial assets (Continued)
Initial recognition and measurement (Continued)

The Group’s business model for managing financial assets refers to
how it manages its financial assets in order to generate cash flows.
The business model determines whether cash flows will result from
collecting contractual cash flows, selling the financial assets, or both.
Financial assets classified and measured at amortised cost are held
within a business model with the objective to hold financial assets in
order to collect contractual cash flows, while financial assets
classified and measured at fair value through other comprehensive
income are held within a business model with the objective of both
holding to collect contractual cash flows and selling. Financial assets
which are not held within the aforementioned business models are
classified and measured at fair value through profit or loss.

Purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets
within the period generally established by regulation or convention in
the marketplace are recognised on the trade date, that is, the date
that the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on their
classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured using
the effective interest method and are subject to impairment. Gains
and losses are recognised in the statement of profit or loss when the
asset is derecognised, modified or impaired.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

RIS

3.1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.1 EXSTHBE @

(Continued)
Investments and other financial assets (Continued)

Financial assets designated at fair value through other
comprehensive income (equity investments)

Upon initial recognition, the Group can elect to classify irrevocably its
equity investments as equity investments designated at fair value
through other comprehensive income when they meet the definition
of equity under HKAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation and
are not held for trading. The classification is determined on an
instrument-by-instrument basis.

Gains and losses on these financial assets are never recycled to the
statement of profit or loss. Dividends are recognised as other
income in the statement of profit or loss when the right of payment
has been established, except when the Group benefits from such
proceeds as a recovery of part of the cost of the financial asset, in
which case, such gains are recorded in other comprehensive
income. Equity investments designated at fair value through other
comprehensive income are not subject to impairment assessment.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

R

3.1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.1 EXSTHBE@

(Continued)
Investments and other financial assets (Continued)
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried in the
statement of financial position at fair value with net changes in fair
value recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

This category includes derivative instruments and equity investments
which the Group had not irrevocably elected to classify at fair value
through other comprehensive income. Dividends on the equity
investments are also recognised as other income in the statement of
profit or loss when the right of payment has been established.

A derivative embedded in a hybrid contract, with a financial liability or
non-financial host, is separated from the host and accounted for as
a separate derivative if the economic characteristics and risks are
not closely related to the host; a separate instrument with the same
terms as the embedded derivative would meet the definition of a
derivative; and the hybrid contract is not measured at fair value
through profit or loss. Embedded derivatives are measured at fair
value with changes in fair value recognised in the statement of profit
or loss. Reassessment only occurs if there is either a change in the
terms of the contract that significantly modifies the cash flows that
would otherwise be required or a reclassification of a financial asset
out of the fair value through profit or loss category.

A derivative embedded within a hybrid contract containing a financial
asset host is not accounted for separately. The financial asset host
together with the embedded derivative is required to be classified in
its entirety as a financial asset at fair value through profit or loss.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

RIS

3.1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.1 EXSTHBE @

(Continued)
Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or
part of a group of similar financial assets) is primarily derecognised
(i.e., removed from the Group’s consolidated statement of financial
position) when:

° the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired;
or

° the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from
the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the received
cash flows in full without material delay to a third party under a
“pass-through” arrangement; and either (a) the Group has
transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset,
or (b) the Group has neither transferred nor retained
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has
transferred control of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from
an asset or has entered into a pass-through arrangement, it
evaluates if, and to what extent, it has retained the risk and rewards
of ownership of the asset. When it has neither transferred nor
retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset nor
transferred control of the asset, the Group continues to recognise
the transferred asset to the extent of the Group’s continuing
involvement. In that case, the Group also recognises an associated
liability. The transferred asset and the associated liability are
measured on a basis that reflects the rights and obligations that the
Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the
transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original carrying
amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration that
the Group could be required to repay.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

R

3.1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.1 EXSTHBE@

(Continued)
Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit losses
(“ECLs”) for all debt instruments not held at fair value through profit
or loss. ECLs are based on the difference between the contractual
cash flows due in accordance with the contract and all the cash
flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted at an
approximation of the original effective interest rate. The expected
cash flows will include cash flows from the sale of collateral held or
other credit enhancements that are integral to the contractual terms.

General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for which
there has not been a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses that result from
default events that are possible within the next 12 months (a
12-month ECL). For those credit exposures for which there has
been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, a
loss allowance is required for credit losses expected over the
remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of the timing of the default
(a lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether the credit risk
on a financial instrument has increased significantly since initial
recognition. When making the assessment, the Group compares
the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the
reporting date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial recognition and considers
reasonable and supportable information that is available without
undue cost or effort, including historical and forward-looking
information.

The Group considers a financial asset in default when contractual
payments are 90 days past due. However, in certain cases, the
Group may also consider a financial asset to be in default when
internal or external information indicates that the Group is unlikely to
receive the outstanding contractual amounts in full before taking into
account any credit enhancements held by the Group.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

RIS

3.1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.1 EXSTHBE @

(Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
General approach (Continued)

A financial asset is written off when there is no reasonable
expectation of recovering the contractual cash flows.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subject to impairment under
the general approach and they are classified within the following
stages for measurement of ECLs except for trade receivables and
lease receivables which apply the simplified approach as detailed
below.

Stage 1 - Financial instruments for which credit risk has not
increased significantly since initial recognition and
for which the loss allowance is measured at an
amount equal to 12-month ECLs

Stage 2 - Financial instruments for which credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition but
that are not credit-impaired financial assets and for
which the loss allowance is measured at an amount
equal to lifetime ECLs

Stage 3 - Financial assets that are credit-impaired at the
reporting date (but that are not purchased or
originated credit-impaired) and for which the loss
allowance is measured at an amount equal to
lifetime ECLs

Simplified approach

For trade receivables and lease receivables that do not contain a
significant financing component or when the Group applies the
practical expedient of not adjusting the effect of a significant
financing component, the Group applies the simplified approach in
calculating ECLs. Under the simplified approach, the Group does
not track changes in credit risk, but instead recognises a loss
allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date. The Group
has established a provision matrix that is based on its historical
credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors specific
to the debtors and the economic environment.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

R

3.1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.1 EXSTHBE@

(Continued)
Financial liabilities
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, loans and borrowings,
payables, or as derivatives designated as hedging instruments in an
effective hedge, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in the
case of loans and borrowings and payables, net of directly
attributable transaction costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade and other payables and
accrual, lease liabilities, convertible bonds, and interest-bearing bank
and other borrowings.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends on their
classification as follows:

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss include financial
liabilities held for trading and financial liabilities designated upon initial
recognition as at fair value through profit or loss.

Financial liabilities are classified as held for trading if they are incurred
for the purpose of repurchasing in the near term. This category also
includes derivative financial instruments entered into by the Group
that are not designated as hedging instruments in hedge
relationships as defined by HKFRS 9. Separated embedded
derivatives are also classified as held for trading unless they are
designated as effective hedging instruments. Gains or losses on
liabilities held for trading are recognised in the statement of profit or
loss. The net fair value gain or loss recognised in the statement of
profit or loss does not include any interest charged on these financial
liabilities.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

RIS

3.1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.1 EXSTHBE @

(Continued)

Financial liabilities (Continued)

Subsequent measurement (Continued)

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss (Continued)

Financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition as at fair value
through profit or loss are designated at the initial date of recognition,
and only if the criteria in HKFRS 9 are satisfied. Gains or losses on
liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss are recognised
in the statement of profit or loss, except for the gains or losses
arising from the Group’s own credit risk which are presented in
other comprehensive income with no subsequent reclassification to
the statement of profit or loss. The net fair value gain or loss
recognised in the statement of profit or loss does not include any
interest charged on these financial liabilities.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost (trade and other payables,
and borrowings)

After initial recognition, trade and other payables, and interest-
bearing borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost,
using the effective interest rate method unless the effect of
discounting would be immaterial, in which case they are stated at
cost. Gains and losses are recognised in the statement of profit or
loss when the liabilities are derecognised as well as through the
effective interest rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or
premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral part of
the effective interest rate. The effective interest rate amortisation is
included in finance costs in the statement of profit or loss.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

R

3.1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.1 EXSTHBE@

(Continued)
Financial liabilities (Continued)
Convertible bonds

The component of convertible bonds that exhibits characteristics of
a liability is recognised as a liability in the statement of financial
position, net of transaction costs. On issuance of convertible bonds,
the fair value of the liability component is determined using a market
rate for an equivalent non-convertible bond; and this amount is
carried as a long term liability on the amortised cost basis until
extinguished on conversion or redemption. The remainder of the
proceeds is allocated to the conversion option that is recognised
and included in shareholders’ equity, net of transaction costs. The
carrying amount of the conversion option is not remeasured in
subsequent years. Transaction costs are apportioned between the
liability and equity components of the convertible bonds based on
the allocation of proceeds to the liability and equity components
when the instruments are first recognised.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the
liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the
same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an
existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or
modification is treated as a derecognition of the original liability and a
recognition of a new liability, and the difference between the
respective carrying amounts is recognised in the statement of profit
or loss.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

RIS

3.1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.1 EXSTHBE @

(Continued)
Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount
is reported in the statement of financial position if there is a currently
enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts and there is
an intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise the assets and
settle the liabilities simultaneously.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
Cost is determined on the first-in, first-out basis and, in the case of
finished goods. Net realisable value is based on estimated selling
prices less any estimated costs to be incurred to completion and
disposal.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of financial position
comprise cash on hand and at banks, and short-term highly liquid
deposits with a maturity of generally within three months that are
readily convertible into known amounts of cash, subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value and held for the purpose of
meeting short-term cash commitments.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash
and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and at banks, and
short-term deposits as defined above, less bank overdrafts which
are repayable on demand and form an integral part of the Group’s
cash management.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

R

3.1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.1 EXGTBEM®@

(Continued)
Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or
constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and it is probable
that a future outflow of resources will be required to settle the
obligation, provided that a reliable estimate can be made of the
amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount recognised
for a provision is the present value at the end of the reporting period
of the future expenditures expected to be required to settle the
obligation. The increase in the discounted present value amount
arising from the passage of time is included in finance costs in the
statement of profit or loss.

A contingent liability recognised in a business combination is initially
measured at its fair value. Subsequently, it is measured at the higher
of (i) the amount that would be recognised in accordance with the
general policy for provisions above and (ii) the amount initially
recognised less, when appropriate, the amount of income
recognised in accordance with the policy for revenue recognition.

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax relating
to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised outside profit
or loss, either in other comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount
expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities,
based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period, taking into
consideration interpretations and practices prevailing in the countries
in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all temporary
differences at the end of the reporting period between the tax bases
of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial
reporting purposes.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

RIS

3.1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary
differences, except:

o when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition
of goodwill or an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a
business combination and, at the time of the transaction,
affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss
and does not give rise to equal taxable and deductible
temporary differences; and

o in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures,
when the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences
can be controlled and it is probable that the temporary
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary
differences, and the carryforward of unused tax credits and any
unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent
that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which
the deductible temporary differences, and the carryforward of
unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

° when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible
temporary differences arises from the initial recognition of an
asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business
combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither
the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss and does not
give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary
differences; and

° in respect of deductible temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures,
deferred tax assets are only recognised to the extent that it is
probable that the temporary differences will reverse in the
foreseeable future and taxable profit will be available against
which the temporary differences can be utilised.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

R

3.1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.1 EXSTHBE@

(Continued)
Income tax (Continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of
each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or
part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred
tax assets are reassessed at the end of each reporting period and
are recognised to the extent that it has become probable that
sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the
deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that
are expected to apply to the period when the asset is realised or the
liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if and only if
the Group has a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets
and current tax liabilities and the deferred tax assets and deferred
tax liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation
authority on either the same taxable entity or different taxable entities
which intend either to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net
basis, or 1o realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously,
in each future period in which significant amounts of deferred tax
liabilities or assets are expected to be settled or recovered.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where there is
reasonable assurance that the grant will be received and all
attaching conditions will be complied with. When the grant relates to
an expense item, it is recognised as income on a systematic basis
over the periods that the costs, for which it is intended to
compensate, are expensed.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

RIS

3.1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.1

(Continued)
Revenue recognition
Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when control
of goods or services is transferred to the customers at an amount
that reflects the consideration to which the Group expects to be
entitled in exchange for those goods or services.

When the consideration in a contract includes a variable amount,
the amount of consideration is estimated to which the Group will be
entitled in exchange for transferring the goods or services to the
customer. The variable consideration is estimated at contract
inception and constrained until it is highly probable that a significant
revenue reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue recognised
will not occur when the associated uncertainty with the variable
consideration is subsequently resolved.

When the contract contains a financing component which provides
the customer with a significant benefit of financing the transfer of
goods or services to the customer for more than one year, revenue
is measured at the present value of the amount receivable,
discounted using the discount rate that would be reflected in a
separate financing transaction between the Group and the customer
at contract inception. When the contract contains a financing
component which provides the Group with a significant financial
benefit for more than one year, revenue recognised under the
contract includes the interest expense accreted on the contract
liability under the effective interest method. For a contract where the
period between the payment by the customer and the transfer of
the promised goods or services is one year or less, the transaction
price is not adjusted for the effects of a significant financing
component, using the practical expedient in HKFRS 15.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

R

3.1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

(@)

Provision of services

Certain of the Group’s services are sold on a prepaid basis.
The service period of a prepaid package is generally one year.
Generally, there are multiple components within the package,
the deferred revenue of each component is an appropriate
proportion of the total transaction price under the contract,
allocated between all the goods and services promised under
the contract on a relative stand-alone selling price basis.

Deferred revenue is recognised when the customer pays
consideration before the Group recognises the related
revenue, such deferred revenue is regarded as a contract
liability in accordance with HKFRS 15.

A contract liability is recognised when the customer pays
consideration before the Group recognises the related
revenue. A contract liability would also be recognised if the
Group has an unconditional right to receive consideration
before the Group recognises the related revenue. In such
cases, a corresponding receivable would also be recognised.

Revenue from the rendering of services is recognised when
the services have been rendered to customers.

The Group’s customers may not utilise all of their contracted
rights within the service period. Such unutilised services are
referred to as breakage. An expected breakage amount is
determined by historical experience and is recognised as
revenue in proportion to the pattern of services utilised by the
customers. Any residual deferred revenue at the end of the
service period is fully recognised in profit or loss.

Services which are not sold on a prepaid basis is recognised
in full when the services have been rendered to customers.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

RIS

3.1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.1 EXSTHBE @

(Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)
(b)  Sale of goods

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when the
customer takes possession of and accepts the products.

(c)  Commission income and provision of marketing services

Commission income and marketing service income are
recognised when the relevant services are rendered.

(d)  Provision of management services

Revenue from the provision of management services is
recognised over the scheduled period on a straight-line basis
because the customer simultaneously receives and consumes
the benefits provided by the Group.

Other income

Rental income is recognised on a time proportion basis over the
lease terms. Variable lease payments that do not depend on an
index or a rate are recognised as income in the accounting period in
which they are incurred.

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using the effective
interest method by applying the rate that exactly discounts the
estimated future cash receipts over the expected life of the financial
instrument or a shorter period, when appropriate, to the net carrying
amount of the financial asset.

Dividend income is recognised when the shareholders’ right to
receive payment has been established, it is probable that the
economic benefits associated with the dividend will flow to the
Group and the amount of the dividend can be measured reliably.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

R

3.1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.1 EXSTHBE@

(Continued)
Share-based payments
Share option scheme

The Company operates a share option scheme. Employees
(including directors) of the Group receive remuneration in the form of
share-based payments, whereby employees render services in
exchange for equity instruments (“equity-settled transactions”). The
cost of equity-settled transactions with employees is measured by
reference to the fair value at the date at which they are granted. The
fair value is determined by an external valuer using a binomial model,
further details of which are given in note 31 to the financial
statements.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised in employee
benefit expense, together with a corresponding increase in equity,
over the period in which the performance and/or service conditions
are fulfiled. The cumulative expense recognised for equity-settled
transactions at the end of each reporting period until the vesting
date reflects the extent to which the vesting period has expired and
the Group’s best estimate of the number of equity instruments that
will ultimately vest. The charge or credit to the statement of profit or
loss for a period represents the movement in the cumulative
expense recognised as at the beginning and end of that period.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

RIS

3.1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.1 EXSTHBE @

(Continued)
Share-based payments (Continued)
Share option scheme (Continued)

Service and non-market performance conditions are not taken into
account when determining the grant date fair value of awards, but
the likelihood of the conditions being met is assessed as part of the
Group’s best estimate of the number of equity instruments that will
ultimately vest. Market performance conditions are reflected within
the grant date fair value. Any other conditions attached to an award,
but without an associated service requirement, are considered to be
non-vesting conditions. Non-vesting conditions are reflected in the
fair value of an award and lead to an immediate expensing of an
award unless there are also service and/or performance conditions.

For awards that do not ultimately vest because non-market
performance and/or service conditions have not been met, no
expense is recognised. Where awards include a market or non-
vesting condition, the transactions are treated as vesting irrespective
of whether the market or non-vesting condition is satisfied, provided
that all other performance and/or service conditions are satisfied.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as a
minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms had not been
modified, if the original terms of the award are met. In addition, an
expense is recognised for any modification that increases the total
fair value of the share-based payments, or is otherwise beneficial to
the employee as measured at the date of modification. Where an
equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if it had vested on
the date of cancellation, and any expense not yet recognised for the
award is recognised immediately.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as additional
share dilution in the computation of earnings per share.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

R

3.1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.1 EXSTHBE@

(Continued)
Share-based payments (Continued)
Share Award Scheme

The Group operates an equity-settled, share-based compensation
plan (the “Share Award Scheme”), under which the Group receives
services from employees as consideration for equity instruments
(shares) of the Group. The fair value of the employee services
received in exchange for the grant of the shares is recognised as an
expense. The total amount to be expensed is determined by
reference to the fair value of the shares granted:

— including any market performance conditions;

— excluding the impact of any service and non-market
performance vesting conditions; and

—  excluding the impact of any non-vesting conditions.

Non-market vesting conditions are included in assumptions about
the number of shares that are expected to vest. The total expense is
recognised over the vesting period, which is the period over which
all of the specified vesting conditions are to be satisfied.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group revises its estimates
of the number of shares that are expected to vest based on the
non-market vesting conditions. It recognises the impact of the
revision to original estimates, if any, in profit or loss, with a
corresponding adjustment to equity.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

RIS

3.1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.1 EXSTHBE @

(Continued)
Share-based payments (Continued)
Share awards given by the Group’s subsidiaries

Shares in subsidiaries of the Group are awarded to certain registered
practitioners in respect of their future services for the Group. The fair
value of such shares is recognised as registered practitioner
expenses with a corresponding increase in either the share-based
compensation reserve or non-controlling interests within equity,
depending on whether such shares awarded are attributable to the
Group or the non-controlling shareholders of the subsidiaries.

The fair value of such share awards is spread over the expected
vesting period, which is consistent with the expected service period
of these registered practitioners. The expected service period is
reviewed annually and the expense charged to profit or loss is
adjusted prospectively from the date of change of the expected
service period.

Co-ownership scheme

The Group operates an equity-settled, share-based compensation
plan under which the invited employees who accepted the scheme
offer are required to purchase shares through an independent trust
or transfer the shares previously owned by the employees to the
trust (“Co-ownership scheme”), and such purchased and transferred
shares would be kept in the independent trust until the end of the
vesting period. Upon the end of the vesting period, the Group would
grant shares to the invited employees based on the rules as stated
in the Co-ownership scheme.

The fair value of shares granted to employees (“Award Shares”) is
recognised as employee expenses with a corresponding increase in
share-based compensation reserve within equity. The fair value is
measured at the grant date using the Black-Scholes Option Pricing
model, taking into account the terms and conditions upon which the
Award Shares were granted. Where the employees have to meet
the vesting conditions before becoming unconditionally entitled to
the Award Shares, the total estimated fair value of the Award Shares
is spread over the vesting period, taking into account the probability
that the Award Shares will vest.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

R

3.1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.1 EXSTHBE@

(Continued)
Other employee benefits
Pension schemes

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory Provident
Fund retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) under the
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for all of its
employees. Contributions are made based on a percentage of the
employees’ basic salaries and are charged to the statement of profit
or loss as they become payable in accordance with the rules of the
MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately
from those of the Group in an independently administered fund. The
Group’s employer contributions vest fully with the employees when
contributed into the MPF Scheme.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which operates in
Chinese Mainland and Macau are required to participate in a central
pension scheme operated by the local municipal government. This
subsidiary is required to contribute 5% of its payroll costs to the
central pension scheme. The contributions are charged to the
statement of profit or loss as they become payable in accordance
with the rules of the central pension scheme.

Dividends

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they are approved
by the shareholders in a general meeting. Proposed final dividends
are disclosed in the notes to the financial statements. Interim
dividends are simultaneously proposed and declared, because the
Company’s memorandum and articles of association grant the
directors the authority to declare interim dividends. Consequently,
interim dividends are recognised immediately as a liability when they
are proposed and declared.

Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars,
which is the Company’s functional currency. Each entity in the
Group determines its own functional currency and items included in
the financial statements of each entity are measured using that
functional currency. Foreign currency transactions recorded by the
entities in the Group are initially recorded using their respective
functional currency rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions.
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are
translated at the functional currency rates of exchange ruling at the
end of the reporting period. Differences arising on settlement or
translation of monetary items are recognised in the statement of
profit or loss.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

RIS

3.1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.1 EXSTHBE @

(Continued)
Foreign currencies (Continued)

The functional currencies of certain overseas subsidiaries are
currencies other than the Hong Kong dollar. As at the end of the
reporting period, the assets and liabilities of these entities are
translated into Hong Kong dollars at the exchange rates prevailing at
the end of the reporting period and their statements of profit or loss
are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the exchange rates that
approximate to those prevailing at the dates of the transactions.

The resulting exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the exchange reserve,
except to the extent that the differences are attributable to non-
controlling interests. On disposal of a foreign operation, the
cumulative amount in the reserve relating to that particular foreign
operation is recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation and any
fair value adjustments to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities arising on acquisition are treated as assets and liabilities of
the foreign operation and translated at the closing rate.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

R

3.1

3.2

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, the
cash flows of overseas subsidiaries are translated into Hong Kong
dollars at the exchange rates ruling at the dates of the cash flows.
Frequently recurring cash flows of overseas subsidiaries which arise
throughout the year are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the
weighted average exchange rates for the year.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements requires
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that
affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and
liabilities, and their accompanying disclosures, and the disclosure of
contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these assumptions and
estimates could result in outcomes that could require a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities
affected in the future.

Judgements

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies,
management has made the following judgements, apart from those
involving estimations, which have the most significant effect on the
amounts recognised in the financial statements:

Revenue recognition from prepaid packages

Revenue recognition on the provision of certain services is
dependent on the estimation of the utilisation pattern of each type of
services. Based on the Group’s historical experience, the Group
makes estimates of an expected amount of breakage. The
recognition of revenue from the prepaid packages involves
significant management’s judgement to determine the appropriate
amount and timing based on the Group’s accounting policy for
revenue recognition in note 3.1 to the financial statements.
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RIS

3.2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS 3.2 EREF A RMAT @

AND ESTIMATES (continued)
Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources
of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that have
a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are
described below.

Impairment of goodwill

The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at least on an
annual basis. This requires an estimation of the value in use of the
cash-generating units to which the goodwill is allocated. Estimating
the value in use requires the Group to make an estimate of the
expected future cash flows from the cash-generating units and also
to choose a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present
value of those cash flows. The carrying amount of goodwill at 31
March 2024 was HK$947,176,000 (2023: HK$743,544,000).
Further details are set out in note 14 to the financial statements.

Impairment of non-financial assets (other than goodwill)

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of impairment
for all non-financial assets (including the right-of-use assets) at the
end of each reporting period. Indefinite life intangible assets are
tested for impairment annually and at other times when such an
indicator exists. Other non-financial assets are tested for impairment
when there are indicators that the carrying amounts may not be
recoverable. An impairment exists when the carrying value of an
asset or a cash-generating unit exceeds its recoverable amount,
which is the higher of its fair value less costs of disposal and its value
in use. The calculation of the fair value less costs of disposal is
based on available data from binding sales transactions in an arm’s
length transaction of similar assets or observable market prices less
incremental costs for disposing of the asset. When value in use
calculations are undertaken, management must estimate the
expected future cash flows from the asset or cash-generating unit
and choose a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present
value of those cash flows.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

R

3.2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS 3.2 EREFHE R @

AND ESTIMATES (continued)
Estimation uncertainty (Continued)
Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax losses to the
extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against
which the losses can be utilised. Significant management judgement
is required to determine the amount of deferred tax assets that can
be recognised, based upon the likely timing and level of future
taxable profits together with future tax planning strategies. The
carrying value of deferred tax assets relating to recognised tax
losses at 31 March 2024 was HK$88,592,000 (2023:
HK$62,940,000). The amount of unrecognised tax losses at
31 March 2024 was HK$28,091,000 (2023: HK$31,791,000).
Further details are set out in note 27 to the financial statements.

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

For management purpose, the Group is organised into business
units based on their services and products. Accordingly, the
Group has three reporting segments as follows:

(@ Medical;

(b)  Aesthetic medical and beauty and wellness; and

(c) Veterinary and other.
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RIS

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)

Segment results, assets and liabilities

The medical segment represents all medical services (excluding
aesthetic medical services) and dental services. The aesthetic
medical and beauty and wellness segment represents aesthetic
medical, traditional beauty, haircare and ancillary wellness
services and sale of skincare, healthcare and beauty equipment
and products. The veterinary and the other segment mainly
represents veterinary services and multi-channel networking and
related services.

For the purposes of assessing segment performance and
allocating resources between segments, the Group’s
management monitors the results attributable to each reportable
segment on the following bases:

Segment assets include all tangible, intangible assets and current
assets with the exception of investment properties, interests in
associates and joint ventures, financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss and financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income. Segment liabilities include trade payables,
other payables and accruals, provision for reinstatement costs,
lease liabilities relating to properties leased for own use, deferred
revenue, current tax payable and deferred tax liabilities.

The segment revenue of the Group is based on the type of
services provided to the customers. Revenue and expenses are
allocated to the reportable segments with reference to sales
generated by those segments and the expenses incurred by
those segments or which otherwise arise from the depreciation
or amortisation of assets attributable to those segments.

Management monitors the results of the Group’s operating
segments separately for the purpose of making decisions about
resource allocation and performance assessment. Segment
performance is evaluated based on reportable segment profit/
loss, which is a measure of adjusted profit/loss before tax. The
adjusted profit/loss before tax is measured consistently with the
Group’s profit before tax except that bank interest income, other
interest income, dividend income from unlisted investment funds,
unrealised and realised gains/losses on financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss, net, fair value gain/loss on investment
properties, rental income from investment properties, share of
profits less losses of joint ventures and associates and head
office and other corporate expenses are excluded from such
measurement.
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(Continued)

Segment results, assets and liabilities (Continued)

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

4, RBREPHER @)

TEREE EEREE@W)

Aesthetic medical and

Medical beauty and wellness Veterinary and other Total
BREK RERRURZERELRH BRRHf @it
2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023
L 2 Gt iy C2o-C bty CTo-F ekl CRocE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$ 000
TR Thn Thn Thn Tén TAT TEn ThL
Reportable segment revenue TREIPRA 2,637,966 2,547,354 1,309,401 1,101,896 286,500 244,725 4,233,867 3,893,975
Less: Inter-segment revenue RN (6,019) (5,187) - - (16,814) (13411) (22,833) (18,598)
Revenue from extemal customers— SMIRFIA 2,631,947 2,542,167 1,309,401 1,101,896 269,686 231314 4,211,034 3875377
Segment result IBEE 6,779 72,196 62,359 114,657 6,974 20,190 76,109 207,043
Bank interest income FITHEHA 14,965 3418
Other interest income EfpfBBA 1,908 1108
Dividend income from unlsted FETREESH
investment funds REMA 1,648 344
Unrealised and realised losses BATEHABEHN
on financial assets at air value SHAENRERR
through proft or loss, net BEREEEE (24,582) (19,093)
Fair value (oss)/gain on investment — RENEATE
properties (B8)/ & (26,378) 2200
Rental income from investment RENMERLUA
properties 3,179 4708
Share of profts less losses of MEEELEER
joint ventures R 2,686 10,705
Share of profits less losses of associates 2% A AT FE R 2,740 1,623
Others £ (36,001) [75.867)
Consoldated proftt before tax GaRmET 16,874 136,189
Depreciation and amortisation for ERTEREH 413,937 377,553 164,263 172,184 47,345 36,998 625,545 586,735
the year
Impairment loss on goodwil BEHEER - 7,481 - - - - - 7,481
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RIS

4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

(Continued)

Segment results, assets and liabilities (Continued)

4, RBREPHER (@)

TEEE  BEEREE@W)

Aesthetic medical and

Medical beauty and wellness Veterinary and other Total
BRIRH ZERBNRZARELRE BRREf @it
2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2028 2024 2028
CRIRE Ly 2 - ZRIRE IRIRE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR i TER T TH7T T T T
Reportable segment assets THEITEE 2,848,264 3,135,484 1,338,109 1,164,718 463,388 563,313 4,649,761 4,853,515
Investment properties RENE 172,922 199,300
Interests in joint ventures REELENER 40,081 45,986
Interests in associates REERARER 382,047 263,934
Financial assets at fair value BATEHAEMZE
through other comprehensive hateBEE
income 9,637 10,419
Financial assets at fairvalue through R A T A 1B 3¢
proft or loss tREE 117,706 140,176
Consolcated total assets GREEEE 5,373,054 5513330
Addions to non-cunent segment  ERFEFRRHHTEE
assets during the year (excluding (PEEEREE)
husiness acauisitions) 155,244 576,969 128,064 186,980 86,464 97,347 369,772 861,296
Reportable segment liabilities TRELHEE 1,230,016 1,394,124 11,787 927,596 107,861 101,525 2,049,614 2423245
Bank borrowings BIER 678,902 489,008
Convertible bonds maRES 204,767 230,132
Consolidated total liabilies BABEBE 2,970,283 3,142,385
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OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)

Segment results, assets and liabilities (Continued)

The following table sets out information about the geographical
location of (i) the Group’s revenue from external customers and (i)
the Group’s investment properties, property, plant and equipment,
intangible assets, goodwill and interests in joint ventures and
associates and the non-current portion of prepayments (“specified
non-current assets”). The geographical location of customers is
based on the location at which the services were provided or the
goods delivered. The geographical location of the specified non-
current assets is based on () the physical location of the asset, in
the case of investment properties and property, plant and
equipment, (ii) the location of operations to which they are
allocated, in the case of intangible assets and goodwill, and (iii) the
location of operations, in the case of interests in joint ventures and
associates and the non-current portion of prepayments.

4, RBREPHER @)

TEREE EEREE@W)

TREINEREATSENMIEMENER
()AL B 2K B B2 P ey WA K (i) A< &=
MEEYE - VE BERRE BVE
E BEMRAZLERBENRMER
ARENFENEREE D ((FFEFRE
BE] - TRHMIBAEENARERS
IMRNERNUE - HEFRDEEN
WEVEERNEENERUE GLREY
KUAERME  BEERREME) - (i) EED
AENEEUE (BT EERBEMS)
KijEZME(RNEELEREERT
MR AR TBN SRIBRSERE MO S ) ©

Information about geographical areas ERtwENER
Revenue from Specified
external customers non-current assets
REMEBEF YA BEFRBDEE
2024 2023 2024 2023
—E-IMF —T=F —E-IEF —T=F
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
THET TET FHET THET
Hong Kong B 3,961,934 3,577,659 3,639,017 3,663,923
Macau SR Y 125,652 128,828 12,118 20,914
Chinese Mainland B K B 123,448 168,890 72,887 93,976
Total A&t 4,211,034 3,875,377 3,624,022 3,678,813
Information about major customers EBXEEFNER

Since no revenue derived from sales to a single customer of the
Group has individually accounted for over 10% of the Group’s
total revenue during each of the reporting periods presented, no
information about major customers in accordance with HKFRS 8
Operating Segments is presented.
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RIS

5. REVENUE 5. A
Revenue represents the value of services rendered and the net WARRERENEERESHEMmAE
invoiced value of goods sold, excluding value added tax or other =5RE (RE RIS ER A S ER - WA
sales taxes and is after deduction of trade discounts. An analysis MR ERE SHTH) o WA RBELELHD T
of revenue and the deferred balances is as follows: m
2024 2023
—EomE ZE=F
HK$’°000 HK$’000
FHT T
Revenue WA
Medical services BERS 2,631,947 2,542,167
Aesthetic medical and beauty and ZERBEINERREERE R
wellness services and related revenue b El NN 1,309,401 1,101,896
Veterinary and other services L5 N H A RS 269,686 231,314
Total A5 4,211,034 3,875,377

All of the above revenue is recognised in accordance with HKFRS

15.

Revenue from contracts with customers

Disaggregated revenue information

ER WA TIIRIEE B IEIREERE
155FHER o

REFEFEHHBA
AHFRAE R

2024 2023
—EolmE —EF=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
F#&T FAT
Rendering of services R R 3,937,058 3,709,336
Sales of goods HEE M 215,024 97,739
Commission income and provision of WA RIRET 5 H#EE RS
marketing services 58,952 68,302
Total revenue from contracts with customers R B &2 F & £IH UL A 4858 4,211,034 3,875,377
Timing of revenue recognition W AR E B
Goods or services transferred at a point RE 2N ENE R RS
in time 4,211,034 3,875,377
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R

5. REVENUE (continued) 5. WAm@
Deferred balances I IE 4L 8k
The following table provides information about deferred liabilities TREINEEFEIE QMNIELT S & &8
from contracts with customers and related deferred costs. RAIRIER AR B o
2024 2023
—EolE —T-=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHxT FHET
Deferred revenue (note 26) EIEYA (Fi5E26) (540,148) (596,247)
Deferred costs PRI AR 102,866 124,752
The deferred costs primarily relate to the incremental costs of BLEXAETZEHESEFPAHEENTE
obtaining a contract with a customer, which represent sales BUEENHENEIRE=FRIEMNHEE
commissions and bonus paid or payable to the staff and third e MIEAL) » WRNERE ISP RIER -
party agents, and are recognised in the consolidated statement BREKARE A B ARER AR BK
of financial position. Such costs are recognised in profit or loss in AR HA NTE B A FER ©

the period in which the deferred revenue to which they relate is
recognised as revenue.

All of the capitalised deferred costs are expected to be ERERNMEREERANEHRER —F R
recognised in profit or loss within one year. RIBEHER ©

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the amount of such REE-_T-_NEF=A=+—HIEFE »®
incremental costs charged to profit or loss was HK$350,834,000 BN EBEEEXNEANSEA
(2023: HK$371,020,000) and there was no impairment loss in 350,834,000/ 7L (ZZ = =4 : 371,020,000
relation to the costs capitalised. BrT) - WA EBRE MUK AR FERIE
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RIS

6. OTHER NET INCOME AND GAINS 6. HEARAR U TFE
2024 2023
“E-IME —ETC=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHT FAxT

Bank interest income RITHEUA 13,665 3,418

Other interest income E b A B 1,908 1,108

Dividend income from unlisted FELETMIREE SRR BIA

investment funds 1,648 344

Unrealised and realised losses on RATEFABZNESREED

financial assets at fair value through AEE LD EIREEFEE
profit or loss, net (24,582) (19,093)

Impairment loss on goodwil [EEYEREN ¢ = (7,481)

Fair value (loss)/gain on investment properties & ¥t A T 1E (E518) s (26,378) 2,200

Rental income from investment properties & WA S UA 3,779 4,708

Loss on disposal of a subsidiary HE—FHHBRARMNER (84) -

Gain on early termination of leases, net AR LM 558 1,828 -

(Loss)/gain on disposals and write-off of HERMBEME BER

property, plant and equipment HEH (B1R), s (1,751) 3,636

Government grants (note (i)) B Bh (B RE ) 538 51,877

Others (note (ii)) E A (B 5E (i) 37,091 36,381

Total &5t 7,662 77,098

Note: Bt e -

0] Government grants for the year ended 31 March 2023 mainly include (0] HE-_ZT-_=F=A=1T—HBLEFENERF
subsidy income received from the Government of the Hong Kong W EEEEEABFITRERS ([
Special Administrative Region (“HKSAR Government”) to subsidise the & BUR J) W8] B R 1 BY 2 COVID-19 & 1B
corporations/industries impacted by the COVID-19 pandemic. FEDE TENBBA -

(ii) Included in “Others” is fair value losses of other receivables measured (i [HAh ] BIEARTFEFE/E b ERRIEN
at fair value amounting to HK$1,254,000 (2023: fair value gains of RTERE1,254008T(ZT=F: 2
HK$13,560,000). AU 25 13,560,00087T) °

7. FINANCE COSTS 7. BAEERRA
2024 2023
“E-mEF —E-=F
HK$’°000 HK$’'000
THET FHT

Interest on bank borrowings RITIERF S 58,339 14,152

Interest on convertible bonds AR ESF B 18,265 18,604

Interest on lease liabilities HEBEFE 24,233 16,569

Imputed interest expenses on consideration JEABEEE R BH

payables - 14,311

Total A&t 100,837 63,636
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R

PROFIT BEFORE TAX 8.

The Group’s profit before tax is arrived at after charging/

BR Bt A 2 A
7 45 B0 I B AT R D004 (GEA) A

(crediting): THIBEEBE :
2024 2023
—E-E T
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET FAT
Staff costs (including directors’ BTN (BIEESEHMW) : ¢
emoluments):*
Salaries, wages, allowances, bonuses, e TE - EBL - T4
commissions and benefits in kind e REYF = 1,204,859 1,168,450
Equity-settled share-based NEREE RN RER
payment expenses R 7,989 59,153
Pension scheme contributions RIRSFT BB
(defined contribution schemes) (REHEETE) 62,827 62,216
1,275,675 1,289,819
Equity-settled share-based payment M FE 28 & S 5 AR R 4
expenses to registered practitioners ARG BERENAREAS
(excluding those included in staff costs) (GTABIAERIN 3,962 3,963
Auditors’ remuneration* Z LR BN & 5,674 6,201
Depreciation e
— owned property, plant and equipment —BEDE BMENEE 177,073 137,204
— right-of-use assets —([FREEE 339,551 351,764
Amortisation of intangible assets S E 108,921 97,767
Impairment loss on goodwill* B REEE" - 7,481
Foreign exchange differences, net* GINEE = KBFRE 2,511 3,639
Rental income from investment HEMERSRARERE
properties less direct outgoings of 2 §5653,000 % 7T
HK$653,000 (2023: HK$619,000) (ZZ==% : 619,000/ ) (3,126) (4,089)
Utilities™ IKEE 33,701 31,501
Legal and professional fees* RENEEER” 7,330 6,502
Repairs and maintenance expenses* wENREER" 27,026 22,147
IT related and office expenses* BRI AR R A ER S 30,816 37,902
Laundry and cleaning expenses* R B RS 10,706 9,857
Bank charges* RITER" 6,281 8,033
Insurance expenses RS
(excluding those recognised as financial (T BIEERBEAFETA
assets at fair value through profit or loss)* EBFMEHEERS) 10,335 8,639
Supplies and consumables* FEMAmREER 9,052 8,937
Delivery and travelling* B RER* 22,010 17,705
# Included in staff costs are employee benefit expenses of # B IR AR IEE 818 77 X 1,043,342,000 7%

HK$1,043,342,000 (2023: HK$1,086,512,000) and registered
practitioner expenses of HK$232,333,000 (2023: HK$203,307,000)
paid/payable to certain registered practitioners who are also employees
of the Group.

Included in administrative and other expenses.
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RIS

9. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS 9.

Directors’ emoluments disclosed pursuant to section 383(1) of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the
Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits of Directors)
Regulation are as follows:

ESHM

RIEFE D al 1§55 383(1) & KA al (HFE
BEREER)ROIE 2O WENEEH
BAEERBL T ¢

Salaries,
allowances Retirement
Directors’ and benefits Discretionary scheme Share
fees in kind bonuses contributions Sub-total options Total
o2 B
Ezhe  REMAE Mgt HE 5 i) - 14 @it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TiEn TiEn TR TR Tién TiEn TiEn
Year ended 31 March 2024 HZ-EB-mE
ZAZt-BLEE
Executive directors Hi1EZ
Tang Chi Fai g - 1,218 - 18 1,236 - 1,236
Lee Heung Wing &30k - 3,750 - 18 3,768 = 3,768
Wong Chi Cheung (resigned on BHE(NZZ-=
31 December 2029) TZA=+—REL) - 3,222 - 14 3,236 - 3,236
Lu Lyn Wade Leslie R - 4,800 - 18 4,818 - 4,818
Wong Ka Ki Ada (resigned on IFB(N-B-=F
1 November 2023) T-A-BE) = 5,010 - 12 5,022 - 5,022
Subtotal gt - 18,000 - 80 18,080 - 18,080
Non-executive directors FHEE
Luk Kun Shing Ben EHS - 120 - 6 126 - 126
Subtotal et - 120 - 6 126 - 126
Independent-non-executive director B #5172 Z
Ma Ching Nam HiEtE 20 - - - 240 - 240
Look Andrew 63 220 - - - 220 - 220
AuTsun BE 120 - - - 120 - 120
Subtotal IS 580 - - - 580 - 580
Total At 580 18,120 - 86 18,786 - 18,786
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Year ended 31 March 2023 BE-ECZE
ZAZT-HLEE

Executive directors HTEE
Tang Chi Fai Wi - 1,100 - 17 1,17 - 1,17
Lee Heung Wing E30ES - 3,984 - 18 4,002 8,018 12,020
Wong Chi Cheung EEE - 3,544 - 18 3,562 727 4289
Lu Lyn Wade Leslie BB - 4,468 - 18 4,486 16,159 20,645
Wong Ka Ki Ada IZ% - 7,815 - 18 7,833 18,231 26,064
Subtotal et - 20911 - 89 21,000 43,135 64,135
Non-executive dlrector FHTEZE
Luk Kun Shing Ben R - 12 - 6 18 - 118
Subtotal INet - 12 - 6 118 - 118
Independent-non-executive directors - B #3172 %
Ma Ching Nam Bt 240 - - - 240 - 240
Look Andrew ER 220 - - - 220 - 220
Lam Chi Hang Josekin (resigned W5 -%

on 1 September 2022) NA-BET) 50 - - - 50 - 50
AuTsun (appointed on EE(R-T_=F

1 September 2022) NA—BEZfF) 70 - - - 70 - 70
Subtotal NGt 580 - - - 580 - 580
Total At 580 21,023 - 9% 21,698 43,135 64,833
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RIS

10. INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST
EMOLUMENTS

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments, one (2023:
three) of the individuals is a director for the year ended 31 March
2024 and his emoluments are disclosed in note 9. The aggregate
of the emoluments in respect of the other four (2023: two)
individuals for the year ended 31 March 2024, are as follows:

Salaries, allowances and other benefits

10. REFMA L

L RRREMEYHN R

HE—_TomE=A=+-—HEEE A
EERFHATH-—B(ZZE==F: =8)
ATHES  HEMRHFORE - BE=
T_NEZA=+—RHLFE  BHMEOE
(ZE2Z=%F: mB) ATHEFMNEES
AT ¢

2024 2023
—E-IEF —E-=F
HK$’000 HK$000
FHET FHT

in kind 9,946 6,500
Performance related bonuses AR IR AR B 30,829 14,200
Pension scheme contributions (defined RS EIHR (R EHRKEED

contribution schemes) 69 36
Total A& 40,844 20,736

The emoluments of the four (2023: two) individuals with the
highest emoluments for the year ended 31 March 2024 are within

the following bands:

BHE-_Z-_NEF=A=+—HItFE #
MEEmNg(—E-=F : ®mE) ATH

D BT RIATEE -

2024 2023
—F_pmF —F-=

HK$5,500,001-HK$6,000,000 5,500,001 /& 7L £ 6,000,000 78 7T 1 -
HK$7,500,001-HK$8,000,000 7,500,001 77L& 8,000,000 7 7T 1 -
HK$9,500,001-HK$10,000,000 9,500,001 /& 7T & 10,000,000 7% 7T 1 1
HK$10,500,001-HK$11,000,000 10,500,001 77T 2 11,000,000/8 7T = 1
HK$17,500,001-HK$18,000,000 17,500,001 7 7T = 18,000,000 7 7T 1 -
Total Bt 4 2

EC Healthcare
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R

11. INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED 1. FERBRANFTER

STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

(@) Taxation in the consolidated statement of profit or loss @ REABHRRANTIIEE
represents:
2024 2023
—E_MF —E-=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT FAT
Current — Hong Kong BER — &B/A
Provision for the year FNEE 65,517 58,371
Over-provision in respect of prior years LA FE B EE (17,157) (4,138)
48,360 54,233
Current — Outside Hong Kong BVER — BHAREIN
Provision for the year FANRHE 4,687 12,564
(Over)/under-provision in respect BEFE (GBERE)
of prior years BETRE (1,240) 543
3,447 13,107
Total current tax BREATR 1B 42 %8 51,807 67,340
Deferred tax IEIEFRIE (50,628) (38,178)
Tax charge for the year FRARIBEZH 1,179 29,162

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Cayman Islands
and the British Virgin Islands (“BVI”), the Group is not
subject to any income tax in the Cayman Islands and BVI.

Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate of
16.5% (2023: 16.5%) on the estimated assessable profits
for the year. Macau complementary tax has been provided
at progressive rates up to 12% (2023: 12%) on the
estimated taxable profits arising in Macau. Taxes on profits
assessable outside Hong Kong have been calculated at the
rates of tax prevailing in the jurisdictions in which the Group
operates.
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RIS

11. INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS (continued)

1. FEBBERANFAEHR @)

(b)  Reconciliation between tax charge and accounting profit at (b)
the applicable tax rates:

RERAREXGENBIAR S B
Mz BESRREINOT

2024 2023
—E-ME o4
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET FHTT
Profit before tax BR T AR A 16,874 136,189
Tax on profit before taxation, calculated — BRFEATEFI 2 5518 - 1240
at the rates applicable to profits in i aERERZ
the tax jurisdictions concerned R E 951 21,695
Over-provision in respect of prior years NEFERBERE (18,397) (3,595)
Tax effect of non-taxable income FEEFRHUWA ZTRIBATE (5,417) (14,026)
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses AR A 2 BT E 22,927 23,912
Tax effect of unrecognised tax losses AERHIEEEZHIEBETE 26 3,707
Tax effect of utilisation of unused BB FE M AR
tax losses not recognised in prior years REARBEEEZRBYE (939) -
Temporary differences not recognised BEFE AR
in prior years but recognised ERAFEERT
during the year TR 2,028 (2,531)
Tax charge for the year FAFIEL H 1,179 29,162
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12. (LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE
ATTRIBUTABLE TO EQUITY
SHAREHOLDERS OF THE COMPANY

Basic (loss)/earnings per share

The calculation of basic (loss)/earnings per share is based on the
loss for the year attributable to equity shareholders of the
Company of HK$18,947,000 (2023: profit of HK$69,654,000)
and the weighted average share of 1,185,211,000 ordinary
shares (2023: 1,180,602,000 ordinary shares) in issue during the
year, calculated as follows:

Weighted average number of ordinary shares:

Issued ordinary shares at the beginning R BFEEYNEZEITE R

12X A EaRRELAER
(B#8])&F

BREL (BE) 27

BREN(EBE) B THERANARER
PSSR B 1 4F A E518 18,947,000 L (=&
T = 3% 5169,654,0007 T ) K E N E B
1T INHEF Y L BARE R 1,185,211,0000% (=
T~ = £ :1,180,602,000 % & @A) T &
[N

ERARE) IR B

2024 2023
—EComE —T_=F
’000 '000
T TR

of the financial year 1,185,211 1,178,372
Effect of share options exercised T EREN 2 - 8
Effect of issuance of shares during the year R ERZEFTAR 5 (17 BERRHERR H1)

other than exercise of share options K2 - 2,222
Weighted average number of ordinary RZAZ=Z+—BMT BRI

shares at 31 March 1,185,211 1,180,602
Basic (loss)/earnings per share (in HK cents) & (E518), /& F (&l) (1.6) 5.9
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RIS

12. (LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE 12.
ATTRIBUTABLE TO EQUITY
SHAREHOLDERS OF THE COMPANY
(Continued)

Diluted (loss)/earnings per share

The calculation of diluted (loss)/earnings per share is based on
the loss attributable to equity shareholders of the Company of
HK$18,947,000 (2023: profit of HK$69,654,000), and the
weighted average number of ordinary shares of 1,185,211,000
(2023: 1,184,284,000) shares.

No adjustment has been made to the basic loss per share
amount presented for the year ended 31 March 2024 in respect
of a dilution as the impact of the share options, warrants and
convertible bonds outstanding had an anti-dilutive effect on the
basic loss per share amount presented.

The calculations of weighted average number of ordinary shares
used in the calculation of diluted earmnings per share for the year
ended 31 March 2023 were based on:

AAAREEREELER
(B8, B @

SREE(ER) BF

BREE(BR) BRI DERERBER
PSR B (5 /E51818,947,000/8 7L ( —E - =4 ¢
i M) 69,654,000 7 7T, ) & i A% hn e 35 £1
1,185,211,000 % (ZZ = =4 : 1,184,284,000
BR)ETE -

RN BEITEINEIAE - RAREE AR
BEFHMEINEREAERESBAAR
BEYE BUEBHBE_FT_WNF=A
=t HLEFEMRZINERERAEES
BIEH ISR -

RAtEBE T =F=-A=+t—HILF
[Z B0 £ B 5 22 ) B AT A ) S AR e
BB ETEDERATEIEA

2023
o4
‘000
Fi%
Weighted average number of ordinary R=A=+—BmEmiR e
shares at 31 March T8 1,180,602
Effect of deemed issue of shares under RIBA R RIER T SR 1
the Company’s share option scheme BEITRMHNTE 363
Effect of exercise of warrants TR EEN R 3,319
Weighted average number of ordinary R=A=+T—ANTEEk(E#E)
shares (diluted) at 31 March hniEF 1,184,284
Diluted earnings per Share (in HK cents) Eh#EE R (B 5.9

The diluted earnings per share amount for the year ended 31
March 2023 was increased when taking convertible bonds into
account. The convertible bonds had an anti-dilutive effect on the
basic earnings per share for the year ended 31 March 2023 and
were not included in the calculation of diluted earnings per share
for that year.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

R

13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND 13. %X BERRBUARREY
INVESTMENT PROPERTIES =

(@) Reconciliation of carrying amount (@ EREEHIER:

Ownership

interests in

land and Properties

building held leased for Leasehold Fumniture  Operation Office Motor Investment
for own use ownuse improvements  andfixtures  equipment  equipment Computers vehicles ~ Sub-total  properties

REERH
1HEEFH  REERN
faks fEhE HENRRE BERKE  EERR BORR HEL] bt} Nt REE
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000
TR T T Tin T T ThRL ThR TiEn TiEn

Cost or valuation: RAZE:
At 1 Aprl 2022 37,000 1,271,164 380,476 108,989 356,576 17,544 24,110 8812 220521 197,100 2,402,371
Additions AE - 444,118 176,363 9,314 216,763 3,110 7,208 2,345 859,816 - 859,816
Business acquisiions £BE - 34,004 6,250 1,512 3,190 310 422 25 45913 - 45913
Disposals & - (5,317) (8,929) (225) (640) (U] (241) - (15,353) - (15,353)
Exchange adustment Eyn - (10,641) 269) (1,200 (545) = @ - (15090 - (15090
Fair value adjustment LTERR - - - - - - - - - 2200 2,200
At 31 March 2023 RZE-ZFZAZ1-R 37,000 1,733,928 551,468 118,381 575,344 20,963 32,091 11,382 3,080,557 199,300 3,279,857
Representing: K%
Cost e 37,000 1,733,928 551,468 118,381 575,344 20,963 32,091 11,382 3,080,557 - 3,080,557
Valuation 2023 S5 = = = = - - - - - 199300 199,300
37,000 1,733,928 551,468 118,381 575,344 20,963 32,091 11,382 3,080,557 199,300 3,279,857
At 1 April 2023 37,000 1,733,928 551,468 118,381 575,344 20,963 32,091 11,382 3,080,557 199,300 3,279,857
Additions - 208,549 109,327 3421 43,530 1,567 2,797 515 369,772 - 369,772
Business acquisiions S0 - 4,276 - % 4,206 140 330 - 9,066 - 9,066
Disposals/early termination HE/REIE = (33,016) (40,644) (126) (615) (12) (58) (3,119 (77,590) - (77,590)
Disposal of a subsiclary HE-FHEAT - (2,191) - (847) - - - - (3,038) - (3,038)
Exchange adjustment EiRE - (6,001) (2,289) (890) (a11) - - - (0,541) - (0,541)
Fair value adjustment ATEER - - - - - - - - - (26,378) (26,378)
At 31 March 2024 RZZZME=A=+-A 37,000 1,905,545 617,912 119,969 622,144 22,658 35,160 8838 3,360,226 172922 3,542,148
Representing; R&:
Cost KA 37,000 1,905,545 617,912 119,969 622,144 22,658 35,160 8838 3,369,226 - 3,369,226
Valuation 2024 ZE-MERE = = = = = = = - - 172,922 172,922

37,000 1,905,545 617912 119,969 622,144 22,658 35,160 8838 3,369,226 1712022 3,542,148

Accumulated depreciation:  B3t47% :

A1 April 2022 R-B-—4mA-R 3489 603,557 193,845 20174 164506 8,042 13,359 4983 1,011,955 - 101,955
Charge for the year Efg 1,327 350,017 61,494 9,785 56,791 3,107 4610 1,837 488,068 - 483,968
Witien back on disposals MEEREE - 1 k] (149) (258) - 211) - (708) - (708)
Exchange adusiment EiAE - (4,256) (1,185) (685) (185) - @ - (6:313) - (6:313)
At31 March 2023 4816 949,231 254,159 20125 220854 11,149 17,756 6820 1493902 - 1,493,902
At1 Apr 2023 4816 949,231 254159 20125 220,854 11,149 17,756 6820 1493902 - 1,493,002
Charge for the year ERTH 1,321 339,551 81,108 9,635 75423 3,338 4933 1300 516624 - 51662
Written back on disposals REEBRD - (21,056) - (15) (459) - (12 (1,047)  (22589) - (22,589)
Disposal ofa subsidiary HE-FNELA = (974) - (198) - - - - (1,172) - (1,172
Exchange adjustment i3 - (8,774) (1,089) (538) 2t1) - - - (5,562) - (5,562)
At31 March 2024 RoE-ME=f=1-F 6,143 1,262,078 334,220 36000 205607 14,487 2611 7082 1,081,203 - 1981203
Net book value:

A 31 March 2024 30,857 642,567 283,692 81960 326537 817 12,483 175 1388028 172922 1560945
At31 March 2023 32,184 784,697 207,317 89256 354490 9,814 14,33 4562 1506655 199300 1,785,955
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13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND 13. %X BERRBUARREY

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued) A )]
(b) Fair value measurement of investment (b) REVMENATFETE
properties
() Fair value hierarchy (i) 2AFEER
The following table presents the fair value of the TREFNREEREYER®
Group’s investment properties measured at the end HFHRREEMLEEFEZR
of the reporting period on a recurring basis, FE - WiIRRBHBY B mEE
categorised into the three-level fair value hierarchy as A3 A FEAENERD
defined in HKFRS 13 Fair value measurement. The REBERXFEER - 2 TEE
level into which a fair value measurement is classified EMERDHSREERMATA
is determined with reference to the observability and MASBOIERMEMESE
significance of the inputs used in the valuation SR

technique as follows:

° Level 1 valuations: Fair value measured using .
only Level 1 inputs, i.e. unadjusted quoted
prices in active markets for identical assets or
liabilities at the measurement date

° Level 2 valuations: Fair value measured using o
Level 2 inputs, i.e. observable inputs which fail
to meet Level 1, and not using significant
unobservable inputs. Unobservable inputs are
inputs for which market data are not available

° Level 3 valuations: Fair value measured using .
significant unobservable inputs
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13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND 13.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

(b) Fair value measurement of investment

properties (Continued)

(i) Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

Recurring fair value measurement
Investment properties

Recurring fair value measurement
Investment properties

Fair value at
31 March
2024

i

—E-|mF
=A=t-H
HATLE
HK$°000
THT

ERIEATEHE

REME 172,922

Fair value at
31 March
2023
—TZ=F
=A=t+—"H
HAFE
HK$000
T
REHATESE

REME 199,300

173

ME BERIKBEBUARKREY
EA¢ )

(b) BEVMENQAFEE @)

i) DFEEBRE

Fair value measurements as at
31 March 2024 categorised into
R-E-_MF=A=1+—H
AEAUTERINAFETE

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

F—-BR EER E=EH
HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FER TER
- - 172,922

Fair value measurements as at

31 March 2023 categorised into

RZE-=%=RA=+—H

HBABATEANNATEHNE
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
E—ER FER FZER
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT THET FHET
- - 199,300
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RIS

13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND
INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

(b)

Fair value measurement of investment

properties (Continued)

@i

EC Healthcare

Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

During the years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023,
there were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2,
or transfers into or out of Level 3. The Group’s policy
is to recognise transfers between levels of fair value
hierarchy as at the end of the reporting period in
which they occur.

The valuations of investment properties were carried
out by an independent firm of surveyors, AP Appraisal
Limited, who have among their staff fellows of the
Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors with recent
experience in the location and category of property
being valued. The Group’s finance director and the
chief financial officer have discussions with the
surveyors on the valuation assumptions and valuation
results when the valuation is performed at the annual
reporting date.

Valuation techniques
HER %
Investment properties Market comparison approach
REME MsLEA
174

13. % BMERKBURREY

E ¢ )

(b) BEVMENQFEE @)

DNVERER(HE)

REBEE-ZT-_NEFR-_FT_=
FZA=1t-—HLEE F—
BREE_ER MBI EE
B rEEARENE=E
e REBZBERARATE
[ & 2 BB % M 3R 5 B
RIEREHERS -

BEYENEEHRBLAZR
7T AP Appraisal Limited # 17 °
HETARERFEASMES
g8 R L EMEMTH
MR B EABELR A&
B XE2MBRER ARG
ERAAEMAREFERS
AEITHERNREMER -

Unobservable input Range
TTBRRHARE gE
Premium (discount) on quality -10% to 10%

of the properties -10% 2 10%
MELERECTE) (2023: -10% to 10%)

(ZB-=F:10%E10%)
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R

13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND
INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

(b) Fair value measurement of investment
properties (Continued)

(ii)

Information about Level 3 fair value
measurement

The fair value of properties is determined using the
market comparison approach by reference to recent
sales price of comparable properties on a price per
square foot basis, adjusted for a premium or a
discount specific to the quality of the Group’s
properties compared to the recent sales. Higher
premium for higher quality properties will result in a
higher fair value measurement.

The movements during the year in the balance of

13. 1% BMERKRBURREY

2w

(b) BEVMENQAFEE @)

(ii)

F-—EBRATVEIFEES

W%y AEETE RS LR
HEE HERETHEBY
$IRET S REREESE Y
A ARSAEEYE
T84 (S (B
HE T S LB FE)
o MYEEEREEETE
85 BETGHEREL AT
B -

EZERATEFEZEBE

these Level 3 fair value measurements are as follows: FRzEEHOT -
2024 2023
=k —T=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FABT

Investment properties REYE

At 1 April AEA—H 199,300 197,100
Fair value adjustment NEEFHE (26,378) 2,200
At 31 March R=A=+—8~ 172,922 199,300

Fair value adjustment of investment properties is
recognised in the line item “Other net income and
gains” on the face of the consolidated statement of
profit or loss.

All the gains/losses recognised in profit or loss for the

year arose from the properties held at the end of the
reporting period.
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BREMENRFERBRES
BEARN [ EMRA R EF
] ABPER -

A E R B N RERH P A W
&/ BRI RA R RE R
BHE -
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RIS

13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND
INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

(c)

Right-of-use assets

The analysis of the net book value of right-of-use assets by

13. % BMERKBURREY

EA¢ )
(c) EHAREE

IR EERERI D

e EAEEEN

class of underlying asset is as follows: BREDFENT :
2024 2023
kS —B_=F
Notes HK$’000 HK$’'000
B 5 TR T FHT
Ownership interests in leasehold  #FH{rE AN EEHE
land and buildings held for own + i A FRIFT A
use in Hong Kong, with remaining  # % © FI%MHE A
lease terms between 102504
10 and 50 years (i) 30,857 32,184
Properties leased for own use HEEBRNYE (ii) 642,567 784,697
Operation equipment BB (iii = 840
Total A5t 673,424 817,721
The analysis of items in relation to leases charged/(credited) REZHIRGtA) EBHEENE
to profit or loss is as follows: BoMHfuT :
2024 2023
—R-[F —T-=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
TFE T FHET
Depreciation charge of right-of-use IZIAREE E BRI D 5 R
assets by class of underlying asset: BEZINERS :
— Ownership interests in leasehold  — #{EG BHAE i REFH
land and buildings PGk
held for own use 1,327 1,327
— Properties leased for own use — HEEEROME 339,551 350,017
— Operation equipment — EIELR = 420
340,878 351,764
Interest on lease liabilities (note 7) Ea &g (HE7) 24,233 16,569
Expense relating to short-term leases %8 B3FH SN X 17,267 5,659

EC Healthcare
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R

13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND
INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

(c) Right-of-use assets (Continued)

During the year, additions to right-of-use assets were
HK$212,825,000 (including HK$4,276,000 arising from
business acquisitions) (2023: HK$478,722,000 (including
HK$34,004,000 arising from business acquisitions)). This
amount primarily related to the capitalised lease payments
payable under new or renewed tenancy agreements.

Details of total cash outflow for leases and the maturity
analysis of lease liabilities are set out in notes 22(c) and 28,
respectively.

@i

Ownership interests in leasehold land and
buildings held for own use

The Group holds a property for its medical business.
The Group is the registered owner of these property
interests. Lump sum payments were made upfront to
acquire these property interests from their previous
registered owners, and there are no ongoing
payments to be made under the terms of the land
lease, other than payments based on rateable values
set by the relevant government authorities. These
payments vary from time to time and are payable to
the relevant government authorities.
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13. 1% BMERKRBURREY

2w
(c) FERAEEE @)
EFRN FECRAREES

212,825,0007% T (B 38 B 75 W i
MELM4,276,00087T) (ZE=-=
& 1 478,722,000 T (B IEE 2 1%
U B T 2 4 #934,004,00058 7T) ) ©
ZeHEITERF K EERE N E
BREMEAMCEENRBERE -

HENRESRHABLRHERRENE
BN TREIB 9 B E R MT7E22(c) %2 28 °

() HEEANEELHREF
M P RS

AEBEREBEERFE R
ME - AEBRZEMEER
MM A A o FIBEE
BARBZEMERRR G
FEEH—RMEMR - BREL
WHREBRRB AR AN K
122 401 ST 146 B R E ) B AR R
BEXMORIEBERIN - ZEK
BAREE) - YRS FHEE
KR o
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RIS

13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND
INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

(c) Right-of-use assets (Continued)

(ii)

(iii)

Properties leased for own use

The Group has obtained the right to use other
properties as its office, warehouses, clinics and
beauty centres through tenancy agreements. The
leases typically run for an initial period of 2 to 6 years.
Lease payments are usually increased every 2 to 3
years to reflect market rentals.

Other leases

The Group leases operation equipment under leases.
The leases run for an initial period of 8 years. Some
leases include an option to renew the leases when all
terms are renegotiated, while some include an option
to purchase the operation equipment at the end of
the lease terms at a price deemed to be a bargain
purchase option. None of the leases includes variable
lease payments.

(d) Assets leased out under operating leases

The Group leases out investment properties under
operating leases. The leases typically run for an initial period
of 2 to 3 years, with an option to renew the leases after that
date at which time all terms are renegotiated. Lease
payments are usually increased every 2 to 3 years to reflect
market rentals. None of the leases includes variable lease
payment.

EC Healthcare
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13. ¥ - BERZREURKREY
EA¢ )

FRAEEE @)

(c)

(d)

(ii)

(iii)

R

HEFB AN

AEEDEBEEHRERGRE
REMHEERBAE A
B ZHRERERRLHER -
HEMNTRBARBER2E6
F-HENK—REMNFE=
FEEIEN - URRTTIZHES -

HitniAE

AEERBHEHEZER
e HENNFHRBBF o
MOHERERENEDA
R AR HEREERE - T
BB E R B R R H BRI
BREBEREEENERE
BRERBEEE - BIEE
EBEMEEENR -

REHEHENEE

AEBERBLEHELESZBEREY
X REHE-—RVISREME=
FUAREEEE  WZBRFAE
GREENED -  HENKBEEM
BE=FERAR URBETISES -
ZEHENERBEEHEENK -
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R

13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND 13. %X BERRBUARREY

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued) ¥ )
(d) Assets leased out under operating leases (d RELEHSEHENEE @)
(Continued)
Undiscounted lease payments under non-cancellable N5 B A o 2R B RS FE U A R 45 B HATE
operating leases in place at the reporting date will be EO TS LHE THRELIRAE
receivable by the Group in future periods as follows: ERFMT -
2024 2023
—E-MmE —EC=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FE T FHET
Within 1 year 1R 2,755 3,366
1to 2 years 1Z2%F 516 2,120
Total &5t 3,271 5,486
14. GOODWILL 14. B
2024 2023
—E-MmE —EC=F
Notes HK$’000 HK$’'000
iz TFE T FHET
At the beginning of the year == 743,544 709,073
Business acquisitions E i 33 203,632 41,952
Goodwill impairment B = (7,481)
At the end of the year FR 947,176 743,544
2024 2023
—E-ME o=
HK$’000 HK$'000
TR T FHBT
Cost B#N 964,282 760,650
Accumulated impairment losses ZEHREBE (17,106) (17,106)
Net carrying amount BREFE 947,176 743,544
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RIS

14. GOODWILL (continued) 14. BHE @)

Impairment testing of goodwill BB E R
The carrying amounts of goodwill allocated to each of the cash- PEREESBESEABMN((BREEEEM])
generating units (“CGUs”) is as follows: WEEREENT

2024 2023
—E-mEF —EC=F
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FE T FBT
Spine treatment services in Hong Kong EBBHEEERS 24,546 24,546
Aesthetic dental services in B EHRTE — Conya
Hong Kong — Conya 20,885 20,885
Therapy services in Hong Kong — McKenzie & AERE — EBE 18,736 18,736
Child clinic operations and medical services &4 R 2 T R BE RS
in Hong Kong — Prime Kids — Prime Kids
(“Prime Kids CGU”) ([Prime Kids 3R & 4 8837 |) 35,823 35,823
Multi-channel networking and related services BERPHRZRBEHEZH N
in Hong Kong and PRC — Prime Inspire HERABR TS — Prime Inspire 21,305 21,305
Provision of laboratory testing services IR LB AR 7S
— Pathlab (“Pathlab CGU”) — A (BB eEESEMN]) 134,437 134,437
Clinic operations and medical services PHEEREERS
— New Medical — New Medical 127,482 127,482
Provision of Obstetrics and Gynaecology RMEEZE RS
medical specialist services — Zenith — 2R ((EMRSEEENM])
(“Zenith CGU”) 55,881 55,881
Provision of veterinary services R AR TS
— Dr. Tiong’s Clinics — RENEDAT 39,760 39,760
Clinic operations and medical services PR e B N B AR
— PMC — PMC 47,764 47,764
Dental services in Hong Kong — BETERE — EFAEE
Bayley & Jackson (“B&J CGU”) ([EFERRSEEEM]) 94,042 94,042
Clinic operations and medical services PR e B N B AR
— Excellent Power — Excellent Power 13,765 13,765
Clinic operations and medical services PRTEE R BERG
— Surecare — ZE 21,952 21,952
Provision of comprehensive health screening REBIRE 2 HEESGSIRGE
services in Hong Kong — Mobile Medical
— Mobile Medical 15,312 15,312
Distribution of aesthetic devices and DIEERAXRBEREDHBEER
beauty related consumables and ARAERARE
leasing of aesthetic devices — AR B~
— Beautisky* 192,334 -
Provision of veterinary services TR BB AR TS
— Animal Medical Center (‘AMC CGU”) —PWBEEPL([BMER
RO EEER]) 20,120 20,120
Other insignificant goodwill Hib W A AERAEE 63,032 51,734
Total &5t 947,176 743,544
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R

14. GOODWILL (Continued) 14. B2 @)

Impairment testing of goodwill (Continued)

The recoverable amounts of these CGUs have been determined
based on value-in-use calculations. The value-in-use calculations
use cash flow projections from financial budgets approved by
senior management covering a five-year period (2023: 5 years).
The discount rates applied to the cash flow projections range
from 13.9% to 17.5% (2023: 13.1% to 17.5%) and the growth
rates used to extrapolate the cash flows of the CGU beyond the
five-year period is 3% (2023: 2% 1o 2.5%).

Based on the assessment of the recoverable amounts of the
CGUs, no impairment loss was recognised for the year ended
31 March 2024 (2023: HK$7,481,000).

Assumptions were adopted in the value-in-use calculations of all
CGUs, which include discount rate, long term growth rate and
revenue growth rate, on which management has based its cash
flow projections to perform impairment testing of goodwill.
Management determined the cash flow projections and growth
rates based on past performance and its expectations for the
market development. The values assigned to the key
assumptions are consistent with external information sources.

The goodwill for Beauitisky CGU is from the acquisition of Excellent
Connect.

BRREER 181
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175%(ZFE_=F : 131% & 17.5%) ' M
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Bl%(ZEZ=F : 2% E2.5%) MR X
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= o
B

RIBHIRSEA BN WE S ERTG
BE-_Z_WNE=A=+—HILFEI1&E
BRBEEE(ZZE == : 7,481,000/8
JL) ©

REtEMAERSELSBMNERBERR
AREZ BERRE  REERXIKEA
BEX EEERBEERSREMEET
HERENR EEERBEBENEER
H 5% R a0 TR B E 3R 2 R OB Mg
FEE - DETIEHREOEERINFER
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R

14. GOODWILL (Continued) 14. B2 @)

Impairment testing of goodwill (Continued)

Management has assessed whether a reasonably possible
change in key assumptions, discount rate, growth rate beyond
the five-year period or revenue growth rate during the forecast
period, could cause the carrying amounts of certain CGUs to
exceed the respective recoverable amounts.

As at 31 March 2023, the carrying amounts of Conya CGU and
Excellent Power CGU exceeded their estimated recoverable
amounts. As a result, impairment losses of HK$1,166,000 and
HK$6,315,000 were recognised in the statement of profit or loss
on the respective goodwill of Conya CGU and Excellent Power
CGU.

As at 31 March 2024, the estimated recoverable amounts of
Pathlab CGU, Mckenzie CGU, AMC CGU, B&J CGU and
Excellent Power CGU exceeded their carrying amounts by
approximately HK$53 million, HK$4 million, HK$8 million, HK$5
million and HK$6 million, respectively. The growth rate would
need to decrease by 1.3%, 0.6%, 0.9%, 0.3% and 0.4% during
the forecast period with all other variables remain constant, for
the estimated recoverable amounts to be equal to the carrying
amounts of Pathlab CGU, Mckenzie CGU, AMC CGU, B&J CGU
and Excellent Power CGU, respectively. In addition, the discount
rate would need to increase by 0.2% or the growth rate beyond
the five-year period would need to decrease by 0.4% for the
estimated recoverable amount to be equal to the carrying
amounts of B&J CGU.

As at 31 March 2023, the estimated recoverable amounts of
Prime Kids CGU, Pathlab CGU, Zenith CGU and B&J CGU
exceeded their carrying amounts by approximately HK$3 million,
HK$21 million, HK$4 million and HK$14 million, respectively. The
discount rate would need to increase by 0.5%, 0.7%, 0.3% and
1%, the growth rate beyond the five-year period would need to
decrease by 0.8%, 0.3%, 0.5% and 0.8% or the growth rate
during the forecast period would need to decrease by 0.4%,
0.4%, 0.7% and 0.6%, respectively, with all other variables
remain constant, for the estimated recoverable amounts to be
equal to the carrying amounts of Prime Kids CGU, Pathlab CGU,
Zenith CGU and B&J CGU, respectively.

For all other CGUs, management believes that any reasonably
possible change in any of the key assumptions of cash flow
projections would not cause the respective carrying amounts of
these CGUs to exceed their recoverable amounts.
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=+ 2
B F5 < M 5
15. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 15. B EE
Club
memberships ~ Customer IT
and school lists and applications
debentures  relationships Licence  Trademarks platform Others Total
efeER  EFEER
ERE% BE i1 BE  TERTA Af &3t
HK$ 1000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK§ 1000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$ 1000
TEL Thn T Thn T T ThEnL
Cost: HA:
At 1 Apri 2022 R-B-_EMmA-A 30,788 303817 3913 385,871 14,285 38,604 827,338
Additions HE 1480 - - - - - 1480
Business acauistfons R : 11,704 - 55,967 - = 67,691
Exchange adjustment ERHE = - (186) - (1,072) - (1,259)
At 31 March 2023 RZB-ZE=f=1-H 32,268 365,581 3127 441,858 18213 38,604 895,251
At 1 Apri 2023 RZE-ZEmA-A 32,268 365,581 37 441858 13213 38,604 895,251
Business acauistfons Bt - 33,280 - 27428 - - 60,717
Exchange adjustment Eim% - - - - (681) - (681)
At 31 March 2024 i S s 32,268 398,870 Rl 469,286 12532 38,604 955,287
Accumulated amortisation: 2it8E.
At 1 Apri 2022 RZE-ZEmA-A - 06,612 3,906 39,921 2,041 22,01 135,401
Charge for the year FR - 54,661 5 36,386 1889 4,806 97,767
Exchange adjustment EiBE - - (184 - (157) - (341)
At 31 March 2023 RoE-ZEZA=+-A - 121,213 372 76,307 3718 2,14 232,801
At 1 April 2023 R-E-=FRA-A - 121278 372 76,307 3718 a4 232,801
Charge for the year Ef - 61,139 - 41,149 1807 4,806 108921
Exchange adjustment E A% - - - - (210 - (210)
At 31 March 2024 R-E-ME=f=1-H - 182412 372 117,456 5370 578 341,538
Net book value: EEEE:
At 31 March 2024 R-E-ME=F=1-H 32,268 216,458 - 361830 7,162 6,031 613,749
At 31 March 2023 RZEZ=FZA=1-A 32,268 244,308 - 365,551 9.440 10,857 662,424
The intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are related to club ERAFRAFHNERESENEEENS
memberships and school debentures in Hong Kong. No FreaElEB8REAER - £ mERE
impairment loss was recognised during the year (2023: nil). BEEB(ZZE-_=F:%)-
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R

16. INTEREST IN JOINT VENTURES

Share of net assets DIhEEFE

16. REELEMNER

2024 2023
—E_MF —E-=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHT FHBT
40,081 45,986

(@) Details of the Group’s principal joint ventures, which are
accounted for using the equity method in the consolidated
financial statements, are as follows:

Place of Particulars of
incorporation and issued and
Name of joint venture business paid-up capital
AR BETR
RELELR EBgeny  HREAHE
Good Union Corporation Hong Kong HK$100
Limited (‘GUC")
BleEER AR ([8I2E]) BE 10077

Good Union Medical Limited (‘GUM’) Hong Kong HK$100

Good Union Medical Limited ([GUMJ) &% 10057

Hero Design Group Limited (‘HDG”) Hong Kong HK$3,100,000

MlERER BRARAR (TFHE]) B 3,100,000 7

Tengkang Healthcare (Hong Kong) Hong Kong HK$15,605,500
Limited (‘Tengkang”)

BREREE(FR)ERAA B 15,605,500 %7
(Teg))

GUC and GUM (together referred to as the “GU”), HDG
and Tengkang, the joint ventures in which the Group
participates, are unlisted corporate entities whose quoted
market prices are not available.

BRRER 185

AEERETEARZEE(REEME
WREAEDEAR)FBFWAT -

Proportion of ownership interest

ikl 4 34

Group’s Held

effective by the Heldbya

interest ~ Company  subsidiary  Principal activities

rEH KEAR

EREE ADAfR i TEEE

50% - 50%  Provision of repairs and
maintenance services
for beauty equipment

50% - 50%  AXRHER{EE
RtER

50% - 50%  Sales of medication
products

50% - 50% HEEMER

35% - 35%  Provision of interior
design services

35% - 0% REEREHRE

45% - 45%  Provision of medical
services

45% - 4%  REBBRE

AEBHEENEELXASER
GUM (#H8 [GU)) « E1ERER - B
WEAISMEGRENFELTAAE
B
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RIS

16. INTEREST IN JOINT VENTURES (continued)

(b)

Summarised financial information of the material joint
ventures, GU, adjusted for any differences in accounting
policies, and a reconciliation to the carrying amount in the
consolidated financial statements, are disclosed below:

16. REBELENER @)

b FHEABEREMEZRELFIBRNEKN

BECEGUIIBERBIE K HE

AN
A

P HREEENERBENT

2024 2023
—E_NF —Eo =
HK$’000 HK$’'000
F#ET FHT
Gross amounts of GU GU 4
Current assets MEEE 64,399 55,193
Non-current assets EMEEE 2,036 7,304
Current liabilities mEAE (38,682) (30,287)
Equity e 27,753 32,210
Included in the above assets and SFALMEEREE :
liabilities:
Cash and cash equivalents ReRREFEY 18,957 14,934
Current financial liabilities (excluding R RAaE(Z5REMERN
trade and other payables and TRIB N BRI
provisions) (2,963) (1,699)
2024 2023
—E_ME =4
HK$’°000 HK$’ 000
F#&T FHTT
Gross amounts of GU GU 4258
Revenue WA 84,471 84,832
Profit from continuing operations PNERSE FdE S ti0pap 8,530 15,670
Total comprehensive income EHEKEEEE 8,530 15,670
Dividend paid B E (13,300) (22,000)
Included in the above profit: A _E#UEF] -
Interest expense MERMX (278) (320)
Income tax expense FTisFiR (1,913) (3,482)
Reconciled to the Group’s interest in GU B2 7 £ [ Aris GU #E 25 1 BF
Gross amounts of GU’s net assets GUEEFERR 27,753 32,210
Group’s effective interest REBERER 50% 50%
Group’s share of GU’s net assets REEEEGUEESE 13,877 16,105
Fair value adjustment on net assets FrUE S EE 2 A EFAE
acquired 591 591
Goodwiill RS 12,383 12,383
Carrying amount in the consolidated iR E MR M AREE
financial statements 26,851 29,079
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16. INTEREST IN JOINT VENTURES (continued)

Summarised financial information of the Group’s shared portion
of joint ventures, excluding GU, that are not individually material

is disclosed below:

16. REELENER @)

AEEHEANEEAAL S
CU)#5 2B B AR ESHBMT

eE(TeR

2024 2023
—EolE —ET-=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHT FABT
Aggregate carrying amount of individually EARIEERE SR EREmAE
immaterial joint ventures 13,230 16,907
(Loss)/profit from continuing operations REFECEERH (F5R), =5 (1,579) 2,870
Other comprehensive income Efb 2wl = -
Total comprehensive (loss)/income 2HE(F18),Wa=iesE (1,579) 2,870
17. INTEREST IN ASSOCIATES 17. REEE QAR ER
2024 2023
—E_MF —E_=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FH T T
Share of net assets PMEEEFE 120,523 2,783
Advance to an associate (note 20) ) — FE B 2 A B EVER (B 5 20) 21 19
Loan to an associate (note) M — R L A R E K () 272,424 261,151
Loan from an associate RE—HEBERRNER (10,000) -
Subtotal /NEt 382,968 263,953
Less: Advance to an associate classified TR — B A R EBER
as current assets under (p#EA [FarzoE -
“Prepayments, deposits and & N E U R E |
other receivables” B NRRBEE) (21) (19)
Total =X 382,947 263,934

Note: In accordance with the terms of the shareholders’ agreement in

MIEE - RIREE R RAARBRCR B

YR - B A

connection with an associate, all the shareholders of the associate AR EBRRE R T SRR MRS D RIRM

have provided loan capital to this associate under equal terms. The

loans are unsecured, interest-free and subordinated to all external BE N A RSHFAINEE - Bt - hE

borrowings obtained by the associate. Accordingly, this loan forms an
integral part of the Group’s equity investment in this associate and is

recognised as such.

— B A AR RERR -

BB AR EERZEE R

AR EREN

187 FEHRE 2023/24



Notes to the Financial Statements

RIS

17. INTEREST IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

17. REEE DRI RERS (@)

(@) Details of the Group’s associates, which are accounted for @ TXEINAEEHOBEARFE K
using the equity method in the consolidated financial TDERAERENGEEVBREFTA
statements are as follows: R

Proportion of
ownership interest
Gt 1 B
Place of Particulars of Group’s
incorporation issued and effective Held by Held by
Name of associate and business paid-up capital interest the Company  asubsidiary  Principal activity
AL K EERTRAR rEEER KRR WEAR
NGRS FBLEHE BAREE B Firfs fis EEER
Kenta Clinic Limited Hong Kong HK$1,000 49% - 49%  Provision of medical
senvices
BADEMERRR BB 1,0007%7T 49% - 49%  REBERS
Creative Profit Development  Hong Kong HK$7,200 30% - 30%  Property development
Limited (“Creative Profit”)
BRNERBRAR(AN]) FE 7,200/ 7T 30% - 30% EERWE
Pangenia Inc. (‘Pangenia’)  British Virgin HK$271,564,000 43% - 43%  Distribution of laboratory
Islands equipments and
reagents and provision
of laboratory services
MEENREERAR EBEMAREE 271,564,000 7T DHERTRER
(M%) SBIA R RS

EC Healthcare

Kenta Clinic Limited, Creative Profit and Pangenia are
unlisted corporate entities whose quoted market prices are
not available.

On 30 November 2023, the Group acquired a 42.88%
issued share capital in Pangenia from Active Compass
Limited and Victor Mind International Limited for an
aggregate consideration of HK$115 million.

Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, on 13 June
2024, the Group completed the acquisition of an additional
12.38% issued share capital in Pangenia from Success
Synergy Limited and Bio-Gene Limited for an aggregate
consideration of HK$33.2 million, increasing the Group’s
interest therein from 42.88% to 55.26%. Upon completion,
the Group obtains the controlling stake in Pangenia to
direct its management and business. Accordingly,
Pangenia becomes a subsidiary of the Group and its results
will be consolidated into the financial statements of the
Group thereafter.
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RADEMERATE - BIFRHER
FELMARIERE  HYEASTH®R

RZBEZ=F+—H=1H F£&E
# Active Compass Limited 2 %9 &/
BRAERARWEHNEE BITRAR
42.88%  HRERIISEAEET -

EREBREERE RZZEZEFA
RA+=H  KN&EBE MK Success
Synergy Limited XA BRARFE
B 5T T FEHMN2.38% M B B 1T ALK -
BRERIIB2BEERT FA5HE
fEE AP ) FEAR LE DI B8 42.88% 18 N &=
55.26% ° MITTR R - AEE GRS
Hoo AR A BB R -
Eit - ek AR EREB AT - A
EEBRA AREAEBMNYBERE -
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17. INTEREST IN ASSOCIATES (Continued) 17.

o)

Summarised financial information of the material associates,
Creative Profit and Pangenia, adjusted for any differences
in accounting policies, and a reconciliation to the carrying
amounts in the consolidated financial statements, are

disclosed below:

REENTNER #®)

b) MEEBEER

EREBRELABNEX

B2 RREIN R NP BERE
REZE
L

MR EN L RNE

2024 2023
—EomE o=
HK$’000 HK$'000
Creative profit RIF FHT FABT
Gross amounts of Creative Profit BIF4a %8
Current assets MEEE 1,687,672 1,527,719
Current liabilities mEaE (915,473) (855,321)
Non-current liabilities ERBAE (768,782) (673,797)
Equity s 3,417 (1,399)
Included in the above assets and FFALMBEEREE
liabilities:
Cash and cash equivalents HeRRESZEY 35,778 6,003
2024 2023
—E-MmE —E-=F
HK$’000 HK$’'000
F#&T FHTT
Gross amounts of Creative Profit Bl 7| 4858
Revenue ILON = -
Profit from continuing operations REFELEEESHGF 2,635 3,864
Total comprehensive income 2HEW RS 2,635 3,864
Reconciled to the Group’s interest in B B TR BI MRS H AR
Creative Profit
Gross amounts of Creative Profit’s RIFEE (A& FHEAE
net assets/(liabilities) 3,417 (1,399)
Group’s effective interest KREBEREZ 30% 30%
Group’s share of Creative Profit’s REBE E(EIF]
net assets BETE 1,025 -
Group’s share of shareholders’ loans $'§ BEo{EIREER 272,424 261,151
Carrying amount in the consolidated R E MR M ERE A
financial statements 273,449 261,151
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17. INTEREST IN ASSOCIATES (Continued) 17. REEE R RINREDR (@)

(o)  (Continued) L (&)

—E_NF
HK$’000
Pangenia bt FTER
Gross amounts of Pangenia Fron/ERE
Non-current assets FERBEE 91,191
Current assets mENEE 249,752
Current liabilities mENEE (64,919)
Non-current liabilities EREAE (3,834)
Equity 125 272,190
Included in the above assets and liabilities: FFALMEEREE
Cash and cash equivalents ReRREEFEY 75,174
Gross amounts of Pangenia InseEE
Revenue WA 111,693
Profit for the year F R F) 4,000
Total comprehensive income HERELREE 4,000
Reconciled to the Group’s interest in Pangenia EAREE AT R R
Group’s effective interest REEERER 42,888
Group’s share of Pangenia’s net assets RNEE G EEFE 116,715
Group’s share of shareholders’ loan REESERFEER (10,000)
Carrying amount in the consolidated financial statements ~ R4r& B HREKMEEEE 106,715
()  Summarised financial information of the Group’s shared © AEESNHRTERIZEEREE QA
portion of the remaining associates that are not individually BER D BV TS E R N T

material is disclosed below:

2024 2023

—E-E —E-=F

HK$’000 HK$’000

TET TET

Aggregate carrying amount of associates B ‘& /A BRI R A2 (& 2,783 2,783
Profit and total comprehensive income & Fl| % 2 Uk 25 42 28 = 1,630
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18. INVENTORIES 18. &
(@) Inventories in the consolidated statement of () FEMBRRERNEERRE:
financial position comprise:
2024 2023
—EopmE —E=F
HK$’000 HK$’'000
Fa5 FHT
Skincare, healthcare and beauty EE REREARENRESR
equipment and products 16,186 7,575
Medications, consumables and &) FEM R E AL AR S
other supplies 90,901 79,316
Total &5t 107,087 86,891
(b) The analysis of the amount of inventories (b) BRAEMIATABENTFE
recognised as an expense and included in SEINOT :

profit or loss is as follows:

2024 2023
—ECoNE —T_o=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT FHT

Carrying amount of inventories sold BHERHEAENTEERAE

and consumed 666,132 552,953
19. TRADE RECEIVABLES 19. EZRWNIE

2024 2023

“EMEF —EC=F

HK$’000 HK$’000

FExT T

Trade receivables 2 5 el EIE 263,016 211,886

All of the trade receivables are receivables from contracts with FTEZ S EWNZIBEY AT B GHE 4L

customers within the scope of HKFRS 15. FISHBEAMRE R AL EWTRIE
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19. TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued) 19. B 5 BWRIE @)

The Group’s trading terms with its customers are mainly on credit
card settlements and other institutional customers in respect of
provision of medical, aesthetic medical and beauty and wellness
and veterinary and related services. The credit period is generally
0 to 120 days for the credit card settlements from the respective
financial institutions and other institutional customers. The Group
seeks to maintain strict control over its outstanding receivables
and overdue balances are reviewed regularly by senior
management. The Group does not hold any collateral or other
credit enhancements over its trade receivable balances. Trade
receivables are non-interest-bearing.

As of the end of the reporting period, the ageing analysis of trade
receivables, based on the invoice date and net of loss allowance,
is as follows:

AEEETEFPNEZHRREIEMNEARFT
BEUARRERER BEXTURER
Ko 3 A R A KBRS K AR B AR 75 O LAt 14
BEF BEcRBBREMGEEZPR
BHNERATEENERSE—RB/0E120
R o ANSE | [ B AR 4% I H R Uk B B9 FE LU
RE - malsstmefEEEEHEN -
AEBEYERELE S REFRGEHIT AT
AR R RREBEREREE - B
FEUGRIATET B o

BERSHR  REZAHFLNESE
WoskoR (ER SRR ) RORRER DTN T

2024 2023

—EmE o=

HK$’000 HK$’000

THET T

Within 1 month 1EAR 156,754 145,097
1 to 3 months 123184 57,652 39,581
Over 3 months 3{EA N E 48,610 27,208
Total &%t 263,016 211,886

Further details on the Group’s credit policy are set out in note 36.
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20. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER 20. ERIE - &R H it WK
RECEIVABLES |
2024 2023
—E-mE —T-=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FEx FAxT
Prepayments (note) FERTRRIE (P 3E) 141,085 236,976
Deposits %4 141,805 148,481
Other receivables H b rEW G IR 251,692 252,888
534,582 638,345
Portion classified as non-current DA RIERNERRED
— Rental and other deposits — e REMRS (113,636) (115,130)
— Prepayments and other receivables — TR FRIE K CE M FR A
(note) (M3E) (195,317) (281,157)
Current portion BIEREE 225,629 242,058

Note: In connection with certain acquisitions in previous and current years,
the Group prepaid HK$138,340,000 (2023: HK$138,343,000) to
certain practitioners in respect of their future services to the Group.

The amounts included in prepayments as at 31 March 2024 were
HK$66,409,000 (2023: HK$80,743,000), of which HK$14,334,000
(2023: HK$14,334,000) is expected to be charged to profit or loss
within 12 months from the end of the reporting period.

The above other receivables are unsecured, interest-free and
recoverable within one year, except for amounts of HK$83,846,000
(2023: HK$77,340,000) (including an amount of HK$5,836,000
(2023: HK$5,836,000) bearing interest at 2.5% to 5% (2023:
2.5% to 5% per annum) which are expected to be recovered after
more than one year; and HK$32,347,000 (2023: HK$30,847,000)
which is secured by a property interest and the non-controlling
interests in two subsidiaries, interest-bearing at prime rate and
expected to be recovered after more than one year.
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Mict: MBAFERAFENETHENS - K&
EERETEAREARNEERUENRER
1% % 78 17 138,340,000/ L (=T = = 4 :
138,343,000/ 7T) °

R-ZZ-ZWFE=A=+— Bt AEMNKIEN
& % /66,409,000 (= T = = F:
80,743,000 7T) + H 14,334,000 7t (=
T = =& 114,334,000 ) TEERAE A &
AR AR AT+ =@ A R RMEES 0k -

L E M ENRIEREER - 2ERATR
—FRULE - HE%883,846,0008 T (=F
— =% : 77,340,000/ 0 ) (BIEZFEFIR
25%E5%( =T~ =4F : 25% % 5%) 5t
B K4 %85,836,0008 L( —F = = 4
5,836,000/8 7)) TEEA G A BB — F 1B I
B }&32,347,0008 o( = & = = F:
30,847,000% 7T ) s — I Y 2 KO M 2w 2 A ]
MR a RIS EER  RxER
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20. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER 20. ENRE  REREMBEWRR

RECEIVABLES (continued)

The above other receivables include amounts due from
non-controlling interests, joint ventures and an associate of
HK$217,463,000 (2023: HK$199,610,000), HK$21,550,000
(2023: HK$11,268,000) and HK$21,000 (2023: HK$20,000),
respectively. The balances are unsecured, interest-free and
recoverable on demand, except for an amount of
HK$65,587,000 (2023: HK$67,505,000) which is expected to be
recovered after more than one year; and amounts of
HK$46,229,000 (2023: HK$32,305,000) bearing interest at 2.5%
to 5% or the prime rate (2023: 2.5% or the prime rate) which are
expected to be recovered after more than one year (including an
amount due from non-controlling interests as mentioned in the
preceding paragraph).

The above other receivables include an aggregate amount of
HK$98,305,000 (2023: HK$99,559,000) which is measured at
fair value in accordance with terms and conditions set out in
sales and purchase agreements of certain acquired businesses
in the previous years. The fair value losses, net, of HK$1,254,000
(2023: HK$13,560,000) was recognised during the year and
included in “Others” of “Other net income and gains” in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss.

The above other receivables also include an amount of nil (2023:
HK$1,254,000) due from a related company which is related to
the profit guarantee in connection with the acquisition of a 50%
equity interest in GU during the year ended 31 March 2017. The
related company is beneficially owned by the spouse of Tang Chi
Fai, Eddy the controlling shareholder of the Company.
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I8 (4)

it E M R SGR IR B AR FE SR I i A -
EECER —HBEEATAREBEIANA
217,463,000 7x( = T = = #F:
199,610,000/ 7T) * 21,550,000/ T (==
— = :11,268,00078 7t ) & 21,0007 7T

—T = :20,00087) c EHEBA
ERE - RERTZRERKD - S5
65,587,000/8 7t (= Z = =4 : 67,505,000
BT ZEBEEASNER—FRKE
DM E25%E5% U HEBRFER(ZF
ZEF 25%KNEERFER)ENSRE
46,229,000/8 70 (=& — = : 32,305,000
ETT) (B8 A BT it FE YR S PR AR 1 25 SR IE)
TE B R R — g g E -

T EMmERREBERELESEA
98,305,000/8 7t (=Z = =4 : 99,559,000
BIT) IR - REBRIATE THEEBD
BEHER B BRRRGEGE R ER
E - FARRBHNLATEEBEBIFES
1,254,000/ 7L ( = F = = & : 13,560,000
BIL) C Wt AREBmEETH [ EMmlA
M FEE ]/ [E At ] -

Pt E RN R —EEED
AIREAZT(ZT — =4 : 1,254,000
TL)  RREEBE T —+tF A=+ —
B 1F 4 E W GU 50% XA 035 FI R E A
B o BIE R R AR AR R S
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20. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER

21.

RECEIVABLES (continued)

The above prepayments include an amount prepaid to a joint
venture of HK$4,771,000 (2023: HK$4,771,000) which is trade in
nature.

The non-current portion of prepayments and other receivables
include prepayments to contractors of HK$8,240,000 (2023:
HK$3,781,000) in respect of the progress payment for
renovations under progress, of which HK$5,602,000 (2023:
HK$1,170,000) is prepaid to a joint venture.

The financial assets included in the above balances were neither
past due nor impaired as at 31 March 2024 and 2023, for which
there was no recent history of default. As at 31 March 2024 and
2023, the loss allowance on the financial assets was assessed to
be minimal.

FINANCIAL ASSETS

(a) Financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income

Unlisted equity investments

FLETRAERE

20. EARIE - REREMERRK

21.

T8 ()

FBEBNREBREEN AL ENK
I84,771,0008 7T (ZZE = =4 : 4,771,000
Bir) BRESMHE -

FEf A R H A JE U R IB R IERNER D B
ERETPRFT IENEENRAEAER
B H B9 78 5t FUIE 8,240,000 L (—ZF = =
£ : 3,781,000 7T) + HH15,602,000% T
(ZZT— =4 :1,170,000/&7T) B BN F—
MEEDE-

HE-_Z-_NMF=ZA=Z+—A8Ak=-ZF=-_=
F- LAt eREER RS HTE
WAE - BATHAN AR GRIE R 8 o R F
ZE=ZA=+—BERZT_=F £
BEMBERBERTHARE -

TREE
(@) BAFEFAEMZEKEN

2024 2023
—EoE —T_=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
TR FHT
9,637 10,419

The Group designated the above investments at fair value
through other comprehensive income, as the investments
are held for strategic purposes. As at 31 March 2024, the
investments held by the Group were principally engaged in
market and data research and provision of medical and
related services. No dividends were received on these
investments during the year (2023: Nil).
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21. FINANCIAL ASSETS (continued) 21. TREE @)
(b) Financial assets at fair value through profit (b) BRAFEFABRHNEREE
or loss
2024 2023
—E-MmEF —E=F
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHET FHTT
Non-current F e
— Unlisted equity investments — FELMRAERE 25,510 33,696
— Unlisted fund investments — ELTEEKEE 20,827 33,902
— Investments in life insurance policies — AERBRIEE 58,190 56,597
Subtotal /INET 104,527 124,195
Current T E
— Listed equity investments — EWlRAREE 899 1,028
— Unlisted fund investments — ELTMESEE 12,280 14,953
Subtotal /NEt 13,179 15,981
Total 8% 117,706 140,176
22. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND TIME 22 RERBEESEEYURERE
DEPOSITS EXY
(@) Cash and cash equivalents and time deposits (@ RERRESEVWUREHF

comprise: REFE
2024 2023
—E-ME =4
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FExT FATT
Cash at banks and on hand RITER N FERS 553,625 709,859
Time deposits with original maturity FERHEBE=AR
over 3 months TEEBIFR 39,511 1,000
593,136 710,859
Less: Time deposits with original maturity J& : R H B 88 =& 5 &9
over 3 months EHITT K (39,511) (1,000)
Cash and cash equivalents RERREEEY 553,625 709,859

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on
daily bank deposit rates. Time deposits are made for
varying periods depending on the Group’s immediate cash
requirements, and earn interest at the respective time
deposit rates. The bank balances and time deposits are
deposited with creditworthy banks with no recent history of

default.
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22. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND TIME 2 HeREASEEYURERF
DEPOSITS (continued) K (#8)
(@) Cash and cash equivalents and time deposits (@ B2RReLEEVUREHE
comprise: (Continued) RBE @
Included in cash and cash equivalents, HK$4,141,000 RRERREZEWS - 4,141,000
(2023: HK$6,794,000) are denominated in Renminbi and BT (ZZT =% :6,794,00048T)
deposited with the banks in Chinese Mainland. These TIAANREEEHE - WAF R B K RE
deposits are not freely convertible and the remittance of BIRTT o ZEF I A 5 gk -
funds out of Chinese Mainland is subject to exchange & & H B K P 2B 8 <7 R B e
restrictions imposed by the Government of the PRC. 1THRE H R &l -
(b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from (b) METBFELEEENEER
financing activities
The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities TRV ASEREEHMEEAR
from financing activities, including both cash and non-cash K E) - @?Ei%%&#ﬁ%“ﬁb o @t
changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are BEHAELBGEREERSRER
liabilities for which cash flows were, or future cash flows will RERMBREMEBGRAEENGE R
be, classified in the Group’s consolidated statement of ERERTESEAME TSGR
cash flows as cash flows from financing activities. SREMAEE -
Bank borrowings  Lease liabilities Convertible bonds
(Note 25) (Note 28) (Note 32) Total
RITER HEAHE MRRES
(Mt 25) (Hi&E28) (K 32) @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THEL TAL TAL TATL
At 1 April 2022 RZBEZZENA-H - 705,402 235,709 941,111
Changes from financing cash flows:  B®ERLTE2 %8 :
Proceeds from new bank borrowings R ITRIENE 494,334 - - 494,334
Repayment of bank borrowings ERETER (6,336) - - (6,330)
Capital element of lease rentals paid BENHERSHERTD - (350,782) - (350,782)
Interest element of lease rentals paid ENRERLHFIEENS - (16,569) - (16,569)
Interest paid on bank borrowings BRRTERAE (13,142) - - (13,142)
Total changes from financing cash flows ~ RER&HE 2 58 474,856 (367,351) - 107,505
Exchange adjustments ERAR - (7,126) - (7,126)
Other changes: b8 !
Increase in lease liabilities from entering ~ ERZ[ U HASEHAS
into new leases during the year BEEM - 437,535 - 437,535
Increase in lease liabilties from business ~ £HAHEHMEEEEM
acquisitions - 34,004 - 34,004
Early termination of leases AR IERS - (5,905) - (5,905)
Interest on lease liabilties HERETS - 16,569 - 16,569
Interest on bank borrowings RITERAE 14,152 - - 14,152
Interest on convertible bonds* MRRESHS" - - 1,627 1,627
Conversion of convertible bonds BREFER - - (17,104) (17,104)
Total other changes EigenE 14,152 482,203 (5,577) 490,778
At 31 March 2023 RZB-=F=f=1-H 489,008 813,128 230,132 1,532,268
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22. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND TIME 2 RERReEBYUREHEF

DEPOSITS (continued) (&)
(b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from b) MEZTEBFFELEEBENHE
financing activities (Continued) (#)

Bank Lease Convertible
borrowings liabilities bonds
(Note 25) (Note 28) (Note 32) Total
RITER REaE TRRES
(KizE25) (Hizk28) (Kz32) @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$°000
TR TEx Thx Thx
At 1 April 2023 R-B-=EMA-A 489,008 813,128 230,132 1,532,268
Changes from financing cash flows: BERSTEZED:
Proceeds from new bank borrowings HERAERAGRE 686,641 - - 686,641
Repayment of bank borrowings BEBITER (500,014) - - (500,014)
Capital element of lease rentals paid ERBERENERES = (323,112) = (323,112)
Interest element of lease rentals paid ENAERENFIESS - (24,233) = (24,233)
Interest paid on bank borrowings ERBHERHE (52,967) = = (52,967)
Interest paid on convertible bonds ERAERESRFE - - (6,630) (6,630)
Total changes from financing cash flows RERLREVEDLE 133,660 (347,345) (6,630) (220,315)
Exchange adjustments EiAZ - (2,690) - (2,690)
Other changes: HitgE
Increase in lease liabilities from entering FREIIHREEHAE
into new leases during the year BEEM - 206,546 - 206,546
Increase in lease liabilities from business EBAGEHHER BN
acquisitions - 4,276 - 4,276
Decrease in lease liabilties from HE-BHBARNEHR
disposal of a subsidiary HEAEHD = (1,333) = (1,333)
Early termination of leases bilkSlwizko) - (13,788) = (13,788)
Interest on lease liabilties RERERNS = 24,233 = 24,233
Interest on bank borrowings FITERFAE 56,234 = = 56,234
Interest on convertible bonds® MHRESH S - - 18,265 18,265
Total other changes Hit 298 56,234 219,934 18,265 204,433
At 31 March 2024 R-Z-_ME=A=1+-H 678,902 683,027 241,767 1,603,696

* The interest on convertible bonds of HK$18,265,000 (2023:
HK$18,604,000) charged for the year included a coupon payable
of HK$6,630,000 (2023: HK$7,077,000 included in other
payables and accruals). The coupon payment of HK$14,410,000

(2023: HK$1,441,000) was settled by the Group during the year.

EC Healthcare
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18,265,000 7T( — & — = % :
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R

22. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND TIME

DEPOSITS (continued)

(©)

(d)

Total cash outflow for leases

Amounts included in the consolidated statement of cash

flows for leases comprise the following:

22.

RekREEBYUREHREF
()

(c)

HENRER

JINGRARRERERNHEESEBRE
ATEIE

2024 2023
kS —B_=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FEx FAxT
Within operating cash flows KEREmEN 17,267 5,659
Within financing cash flows MERESREN 347,345 367,351
364,612 373,010
These amounts relate to the following: ZECHEHENTSEERH
2024 2023
“EE —EC=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
F#&T FAxT
Lease rentals paid EfNHEERe 364,612 373,010
Disposal of subsidiaries (d HEKEBATE

During the year, the Group disposed of its entire 51%
equity interest in Flora Floriculture Limited for a
consideration of HK$500,000. Flora Floriculture Limited
was principally engaged in retail. The transaction was

completed on 27 October 2023.

Total net assets disposed amounted to HK$584,000,
resulting in a gain on disposal of a subsidiary of
HK$84,000. The net cash inflow in respect of the disposal

of a subsidiary is HK$323,000.
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B e

=F+A=tt
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+ Ay
RS YT
23. TRADE PAYABLES 23. EFENRE
An ageing analysis of the trade payables, based on the invoice H 5 ENFIER R ST (REZ B HEL)
date, is as follows: AR :
2024 2023
b 113 ZT=F
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FE T BT
Within 1 month 1EAR 47,442 20,240
1 to 2 months 1&21@A 12,379 19,849
2 to 3 months 22 3@ A 2,611 9,942
Over 3 months 3{EA N E 18,662 20,062
Total 5&T 81,094 70,093
The trade payables are non-interest bearing and generally have B EMNFIEBAE R —A60K
payment terms within 60 days. PAR o
24. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS 24, HittENRIERETER
2024 2023
—E-ME o4
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET FAT
Other payables and accruals HEth e RE R ERTE A 575,565 753,922
Provision for reinstatement costs EERAEE 28,803 26,870
604,368 780,792
Portion classified as non-current DEE A IR AR SR D
— Provision for reinstatement costs — EERARE (21,005) (19,002)
— Other payables — HihpER A (213,032) (212,675)
Current portion BIEREE 5 370,331 549,115
Other payables are non-interest bearing and have an average PR TSR E SN - MR I ET S
payment term of three months except for those specified below. FHNREAR=EA -
The current portion of other payables include amounts due to H b fE S SRIB R BN EA SR 5 B 18 FE - FE 1 AR
non-controlling interests of HK$36,867,000 (2023: 7 21 5 I8 36,867,000 L( —ZF = = F -
HK$53,364,000), which are unsecured, interest-free and 53,364,000/870) * ZREAEERE - £8
repayable on demand. MILZERKEE -
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24,

25.

OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS
(Continued)

Other payables include consideration payables amounting to
HK$301,685,000 (2023: HK$462,160,000), which are related to
the business acquisitions during the current and prior years, of
which HK$213,032,000 (2023: HK$212,675,000) is expected to
be settled after more than one year.

The provision for reinstatement costs represents management’s
best estimate of the Group’s liabilities of the costs of dismantling
and removing the leasehold improvements and restoring the sites
on which they are located.

BANK BORROWINGS

At 31 March 2024, the bank borrowings were repayable as
follows:

24,

25.

HiENRBERETER @)

L FE 5 5118 B FE FE < X {8 301,685,000 7
TE(ZZT ~ =4 : 462,160,000/ 7T) * H Y
EFRAFERBEFENESIKIE  Hh
213,032,000/ (= F == : 212,675,000
EIT) TBER S BB — R AT -

SERABRIEEREHAEBERTH
RBBARMELEURREREYEE
PRSP AR O B (B 2 R fit »
RITERK

RZE-_WE=A=+—08 " RITEXY

2024 2023
—EomE —ET-=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
F#ET FHT
Within 1 year or on demand —FENRIZER 136,912 101,348
After 1 year but within 2 years —FZEMFEAN 253,232 74,330
After 2 years but within 5 years MEBERFRN 288,758 313,330
Subtotal N 541,990 387,660
Total A&t 678,902 489,008
2024 2023
—R-[mF —T-=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
F#&T FAT

Bank borrowings RITIER
— unsecured — K 678,902 489,008
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RIS

25.

26.

EC Healthcare

BANK BORROWINGS (continued)

Certain of the Group’s banking facilities are subject to the
fulfilment of covenants relating to certain of the Group’s financial
ratios, as are commonly found in lending arrangements with
financial institutions. If the Group were to breach the covenants,
the drawn down facilities might be subject to repayment
immediately. It is also provided in the facility agreement for the
unsecured bank loans of HK$671,843,000 (2023:
HK$400,000,000) that if the controlling shareholder of the
Company, Mr. Tang Chi Fai, Eddy, is not or ceases to be the
controlling shareholder of the Company owning less than 51% of
the total issued shares of the Company, then the lender is
entitled to request immediate repayment of these outstanding
loans and all accrued interest.

At 31 March 2024, none of the covenants relating to the drawn
down facilities had been breached.

DEFERRED REVENUE

The deferred revenue is mainly related to the provision of medical,
aesthetic medical and beauty and wellness services and multi-
channel networking and related services.

The service period for medical, aesthetic medical and beauty and
wellness services is generally one year and all customers are
required to prepay the packages in full prior to utilisation of those
services.

Upfront payment is required for certain customers for the
provision of multi-channel networking and related services.

The amount of revenue recognised for the year ended 31 March
2024 (2023: year ended 31 March 2023) that was included in
deferred revenue as at 1 April 2023 was HK$596,247,000 (1 April
2022: HK$656,067,000).

All of the deferred revenue as at 31 March 2024 and 2023 is
expected to be recognised as revenue within one year from the
end of the reporting period.
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25.

26.

BITER #)

AEBEETRITHEBEFEXNBELSE
BETUBLERNEOE  FIREE - 1t
ERNERREN BB INEERH
o MASEBEERZY  BRIABER
PR REE  BEERRITEXR
671,843,000 7t( = T = = £F:
400,000,0007% 7T ) B Ft & 1 & TN AR E -
KRR BIRIEARIE R B S8 S W IE ST
EHEAARRRIEEITROHBENS1% AR
BWARRRIERRE - AIBERABEERT

EREAEENERKEEAFE -

EMEEZE

RZZE_ME=A=+—B #HEEE
BT R IE B R 22K

IEFE WA

BEEWATZEBHER  X2BREUR
EERBEERBARS REBEE L LA
ARG AR -

BE XBBRUAREANELRBEHR
BHBELS—F MATPRERZER
BRBEAZRANERER -

ETEPARRHRZ REE
ARG A TR -

EEVNEEL

—ECFNA-AEERABERER
TE-NE=Z/A=+—-HBHItFE
—E =R HECEo=F=A=+—
HIEFE) #ERH A £ 58596,247,0008 7T
(ZZE=—FMA—H :656,067,000/87T) °

R-ZEZNFER-_E-_=F=fA=+—H

M BRIERA BN BERRE —F
WFER YA
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R

27. INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

(@) Current taxation in the consolidated statement of financial

position represents:

27. ZEMBRRRAKAEHR

(a) HAFBRRRAMENIABIERE

2024 2023
—E-IE —ET-=F
HK$’°000 HK$’000
FHT FABT
Provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax FREBFSHEE
for the year 65,517 58,371
Tax provision/(recoverable) arising from ERWEELD
business acquisitions TIEAAE /(AT B RLIE ) 4,014 (464)
Provisional tax paid B EERIA (49,955) (60,116)
19,576 (2,209)
Balance of Profits Tax provision relating HBATFEHAN
to prior years FISTRHE 4R 9,170 17,212
28,746 15,003
Provision for tax outside Hong Kong EBBINRIB RS 4,687 12,564
Total &5t 33,433 27,567
Represented by: R
Current tax recoverable AU Bl BN EAFR 1B (13,737) (32,185)
Current tax payable JE A BN EAFR 18 47,170 59,752
Total &5t 33,433 27,567
203 FEHRSE 2023/24
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B F5 < M 5
27. INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED 27. REMBERRARANAEH @)
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
(Continued)
(b) Deferred Tax (Assets)/Liabilities (b) EZEBIE(EE) BFE
Temporary
Temporary differences
differences between Fair value
between  depreciation adjustment
right-of-use  and the related arising from
Unused assets and depreciation business
tax losses lease liabilities allowance  combinations
RAREER HERERNE
HEAEZH BBl REBAHEL
ABARERSE MERER ERER  WATERR &5t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000
T#n TER TER TER TER
At 1 April 2022 W-E-—#NE—H (30,746) (6,257) 6,462 104,809 74,268
(Creditedy/charged to RERGEA) /TR
profit or loss (32,194) (1,208) 10,248 (15,024) (38,178
Business acquisitions Rl - - - 11,169 11,169
At31March 2023 and 1 April 2023 W-ZE=-=£=F=+-H
kZZ-ZENA-A (62,940) (7,465) 16,710 100,954 47,259
Credited to profit or loss RE&ETA (25,923) (2,075) (5,753) (16,877) (50,628)
Business acquisitions E - - 456 10,018 10,474
Disposal of a subsidiary HE-RHBAT 27 - 42 - 313
At 31 March 2024 R-Z-ME=A=+-H (88,592) (9,540) 11,455 94,095 7,418
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27. INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
(Continued)

Reconciliation to the consolidated statement of
financial position

. BEBBRRRABAEH @

RE P IARR R AR

2024 2023
—E_ME —Eo=fF
HK$’000 HK$’'000
F#ET FH&T
Deferred tax assets recognised in the RERE TR KRR R
consolidated statement of financial position — ¥EFER 1B & & (86,389) (55,974)
Deferred tax liabilities recognised in the RER B I TSR R RAERH
consolidated statement of financial position  ELFHIBEE & 93,807 103,233
Total &5 7,418 47,259
Deferred tax assets and liabilities not recognised KRR ESEREE

The Group has not recognised deferred tax assets in respect of
tax losses arising in Hong Kong and the Chinese Mainland of
HK$28,091,000 (2023: HK$31,791,000) as it is not probable that
future taxable profits against which the losses can be utilised will
be available in the relevant tax jurisdiction and entity. The tax
losses do not expire under current tax legislation, except for the
tax losses of HK$23,263,000 (2023: HK$26,828,000) relating to
the Group’s entities in the Chinese Mainland, which will expire
within five years.

At 31 March 2024, no deferred tax has been recognised for
withholding taxes that would be payable on the unremitted
earnings that are subject to withholding taxes of the Group’s
subsidiaries established in Chinese Mainland. In the opinion of
the directors, it is not probable that these subsidiaries will
distribute such earnings in the foreseeable future. The aggregate
amount of temporary differences associated with investments in
subsidiaries in Chinese Mainland for which deferred tax liabilities
have not been recognised totalled approximately HK$1,590,000
at 31 March 2024 (2023: HK$1,455,000).

As at 31 March 2024 and 2023, the Group did not have material
unrecognised deferred tax liabilities.
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REBEWEGB N AR R P B AREEERBIE
5 1828,001,000% w( = T = = F:
31,791,000 70) RELERIBEE - RE
REENEREER R BRI IERARK
FERRT s B AN AT 8 BT 18 IR IK
WITRE  BIAEBEE TSI 685
REBEBRPBEAEMNEBMHERIE
23,263,000/ 70 (=& = =4 : 26,828,000
BT BRIN - HASHR A FANEIE

M-ZE-NE=A=+—0 #BEzxA~E
B R R B A ST 2 I B A Bk R BE &
i EN 2 BN ERTRAELERE -
FERAE &tEBﬁ%“ﬂHﬁT\ﬁEATﬁE
ARDEZERN R _ZT_MFE=A
=t+—H BEFPERNEHERRIRERE
AERELCHBEAB OR EZHAEAH
#91,590,000 T (ZF = =4 : 1,455,000
/%TE)
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28. LEASE LIABILITIES 28. HE&AE
At 31 March 2024, the lease liabilities were payable as follows: RZZZNEF=A=+—0 ENWHEE
BEMT
2024 2023
—EWmE —T-=F
Within 1 year 1FR 255,461 299,039
After 1 year but within 2 years 1FAEE2FER 180,962 206,448
After 2 years but within 5 years 2FEBESER 231,161 302,735
After 5 years 5%+ 15,443 4,906
Subtotal NEt 427,566 514,089
Total A&t 683,027 813,128
29. SHARE CAPITAL, RESERVES AND 29. B - HERRKRE
DIVIDENDS
(@ Movements in components of equity (@ HERBoEE
The reconciliation between the opening and closing REBGEEREHIR Hﬁ%ﬂﬁﬁﬂﬁ?
balances of each component of the Group’s consolidated MY RENGEEREE R - AR
equity is set out in the consolidated statement of changes BRI =D N EVEF AR F'EJE’J“’E‘
in equity. Details of the changes in the Company’s FEFEERIT

individual components of equity between the beginning and
the end of the year are set out below:

Share-based Fair value
Share Share  Contribution ~compensation Capital reserve  Accumulated
capital premium reserve reserve reserve  (non-recycling) losses
WREX A AERE
i RivaE LERE Hems Raff  (FEARSR) ZitHE

(note 29(d)))  (note 20(c)) (note 29(e)))  (note 23(d)v)

(Waoan) (KEdm) () (HE2)
HKS000  HK$000 HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000 HK$'000
TER TR TER TER TER TR TER

At 1 April 2022 RZZE--%WE-R 12 1,983,326 = 32,151 70,667 - (651,414) 1,434,742
Issuance of shares Upon exercise of EBREEEARR

share options 2 - 134 - (29 - - - 105
Issuance of shares upon exercise EIREERERD

of warrants 29) - 8,400 - - - - - 8,400
Conversion of convertiole bonds ERBRES 20) - 21,449 - - (4,345) - - 17,104
Acquistton of partial interests in WEHELTB AR

subsidiaries 2() - 4,393 - - - - - 4,398
Dividend declared EERRE 290) - - - - - - (118,004) (118,004)
Loss and total comprehensive loss EREEREERRLEE

for the year - - - - - (3,900) (20,733 (24,633
At 31 March 2023 and 1 April 2023

12 2,017,702 - 2122 66,322 (8,900) (790,151) 1,322,107

Dividend declared BEikE 29p) - 5 5 = - 5 (55,689) (55/689)
Loss and total comprefensive loss EREERAEHELE

for the year - - - - - - (22,245) (22,245)
A3 March 2024 R-Z-mF=A=1-R 2 20 E 212 66,022 BO00) (868085 124178
* Amount less than HK$1,000. * SEEER1,00087T °
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29. SHARE CAPITAL, RESERVES AND
DIVIDENDS (continued)

(b) Dividends

(i) Dividends payable by the Compan

shareholders:

29. BA& - EERKRE @)

b) BE
It

y to equity AATENEZRRORE

)

(ii)

2024 2023
—E_F —E-=4F
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET FHAIT
Interim dividend declared and paid of 2 & JE & 5z~ 41 23A% 2
0.5 HK cents per ordinary share %jt B 0. 55%1111
(2023: 5.80 HK cents per ordinary —E=F FREBRR
share) 5.80781) 5,924 68,512
Final dividend of nil RIS EERERIRERERE
(2023: 4.20 HK cents) per ordinary i%ﬁﬁﬂﬁg
share proposed after the end of (ZZE=—=%:420)
the reporting period - 49,779
Total a5t 5,924 118,291
The final dividend proposed after the end of the Efbi&%ﬁﬁFEjXéw,}ﬁéZﬂiﬁﬁ
reporting period has not been recognised as a liability P& B iH AR AE 3R & BRfR R FERR
at the end of the reporting period. afE -
Dividends payable to equity shareholders of iy E—BBFERLEMTE
the Company attributable to the previous NEAEERRAIRE R
financial year, approved and paid during the FEMERIKM :
year:
2024 2023
—EE o4
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FExT FAT
Final dividend in respect of R L RIS B
the previous financial year, E—WREERKE
approved and paid during T LR 4.2081L
the year, of 4.20 HK cents per (ZZB=—=%F: 5K
ordinary share (2023: 4.20 HK @Ak 4.20 74L)
cents per ordinary share) 49,765 49,492
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29. SHARE CAPITAL, RESERVES AND
DIVIDENDS (continued)

(c) Share capital

29. BA& - EERRKRE @)

(c)

V@IS

2024 2023
—E-ME kSt : 5
Number of Number of
shares  HK$'000 shares  HK$'000
RGHE TEx G E! TR
Authorised EE
Ordinary shares of HK$0.00001 each BIREME0.00001 BTH L@k  38,000,000,000 380 38,000,000,000 380
Ordinary shares, issued and fully paid ZER CRORERE
At 1 April RmA—A 1,185,211,265 12 1,178,372,267 12
Issuance of shares upon exercise of TERRERETRG ()
share options () - - 17,500 =
Issuance of shares as part of the BOIRMERRFEZBRBE
consideration to acquire additional equity YR - B AR
interest in a subsidiary from non-controling  EESMRER D1 (i)
shareholders (ii) - - 862,922 =
Conversion of convertible bonds i) BRI E 2 (i) - - 3,968,576 =
Issuance of share upon exercise of warrants (iv) gt17{i F R & F TR (1v) - - 2,000,000 =
At 31 March R=A=+—H 1,185,211,265 12 1,185,211,265 12

*

Amount less than HK$1,000.

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive
dividends as declared from time to time and are entitled to
one vote per share at general meetings of the Company. All
ordinary shares rank equally with regard to the Company’s
residual assets.

M

EC Healthcare

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Company
issued 17,500 shares upon exercise of share options
by the relevant grantees at an exercise price of
HK$6.00 under the Share Option Scheme. These
new shares ranked pari passu in all respects with
other shares in issue.

Pursuant to the sale and purchase agreement in
connection with the acquisition of an additional 7.5%
equity interest in Prime Inspire Limited, a non-wholly
owned subsidiary of the Company, the Company
allotted and issued 852,922 shares to the sellers as
part of the purchase consideration during the year
ended 31 March 2023.
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29. SHARE CAPITAL, RESERVES AND
DIVIDENDS (continued)

(c) Share capital (Continued)

(d)

(i)

During the year ended 31 March 2023, a holder of
convertible bonds partially converted the convertible
bonds with a principal amount of HK$20,000,000 to
3,968,576 shares at a conversion price of HK$5.04.

During the year ended 31 March 2023, 2,000,000
shares (see note 31(d)(ii)) were issued and allotted to
warrant holders at an exercise price of HK$4.20 with
an aggregate cash consideration of HK$8,400,000
upon exercise of such warrants.

Nature and purpose of reserves

@i

(i)

Share premium

The share premium represents the difference
between the nominal value of the shares of the
Company and proceeds received from the issuance
of the shares of the Company. Under the Cayman
Companies Law, the share premium account of the
Company is distributable to the shareholders of the
Company provided that immediately following the
date on which the dividend is proposed to be
distributed, the Company would be in a position to
pay off its debts as they fall due in the ordinary
course of the business.

Merger reserve

The merger reserve represents the consolidated
share capital of Union (Group) Investment Limited
(“UGIL”) and a subsidiary acquired under common
control.
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29. BA& - EERKRE @)

(c) B=&#m)

(iii)

)

BHE_ZT_=#=A=+—H
LEFE - JBmRESFE AR
7K4 %8 /520,000,000 78 ST HY A]
HMIREZH B 845 3,968,576
BRAR1D - MIR(E R 5.04 87T ©

BHE-_Z-_=ZF=ZA=+—H
LEFE - RITE B BRI REE
B - B %47 & B % 2,000,000
B A& 10 (2 BI B FE31(d)(i) T 3R
REFZFEA  1THEER4.20
BT - B3R E 48,400,000
BT

d) RENEERBH

U

igrip-3id

P tn s B A 2 B Bty H E
BT AN R BT UER P 1S
RELHNER - RIEFSE
SRENE - AR E I E R
AHY KT ARRRBER - EER
FEEa o ki 8 B R - AR
RIZARRENEEENAEERH
BIZPERHMZER

ROHEE

FOTRBELRS (RB)KRESR
FRAR(TUGIL]) B —RUg &M
REKT B AR (ZHERZEH]) M
RE PR -
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29. SHARE CAPITAL, RESERVES AND
DIVIDENDS (continued)

(d) Nature and purpose of reserves (Continued)

(iii)

(iv)

(vi)

EC Healthcare

Exchange reserve

The exchange reserve comprises all foreign exchange
differences arising from the translation of the financial
statements of operations outside Hong Kong. The
reserve is dealt with in accordance with the
accounting policies set out in note 3.1.

Contribution reserve

The contribution reserve represents the difference
between the share of equity of Union Health Services
Holding Limited and the par value of share capital for
the issuance of new shares arising from the
reorganisation completed prior to the initial public
offering of the Company.

Share-based compensation reserve

The share-based compensation reserve represents the
fair value of the actual or estimated number of
unexercised share options and share awards granted
to employees, registered practitioners or other third
parties of the Group recognised in accordance with
the accounting policy adopted for share-based
payments in note 3.1.

Capital reserve

The capital reserve comprises:

(i) the amount allocated to the unexercised equity
component of convertible bonds and related
warrants issued by the Company in the prior
year, recognised in accordance with the
accounting policy in note 3.1; and

(i) the fair value of warrants issued to the sellers of
Hong Kong Pain and Wellness Solution Limited,
a non-wholly owned subsidiary of the
Company, to subscribe 10,000,000 shares as
part of the purchase consideration to acquire a
24% equity interest in this non-wholly owned
subsidiary in the prior year and adjustment for
the effect arising from exercise of warrants in
the prior years.
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29. A& - EERRKRE @)

(d) fEENEEREN @)

(iii)

(iv)

v)

(vi)

BE i

B EBREHARAEES
S5 75 81 5 18 5% 22 2 O S E
£ o % B IR MY EEST FT L
& 3 BRI -

HERE

& 1% ¥8 2 14 Union Health
Senvices Holding Limited &% #&
HEARARE R ARSI K
R EHFTSI BA EITHT IR A AR
AEEZEHZEEE -

BARR 42 32 A4 OB <& 2 18

AR5 % 1 0 2 6 48 9512 0
I 531 7 8L 28 ARG 15 75 2L 1
Z (S RTRAO ® EHEUR A B
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Notes to the Financial Statements

R

29. SHARE CAPITAL, RESERVES AND

DIVIDENDS (continued)

(d) Nature and purpose of reserves (Continued)

(vii) Other reserve

29. BA& - EERKRE @)

(d) RENEERBEN @)
(vi) Hb#E

The other reserve represents the fair value of
consideration payables to acquire the remaining
equity interests in Pathlab, Bayley & Jackson, Pioneer
Evolution Limited and an immaterial business on the
respective dates of completion of the first tranche of
such acquisitions. The subsequent changes in fair
value of the consideration payables are either
recognised in profit or loss or equity depending on
the nature of the transactions.

Pursuant to the sale and purchase agreement dated
14 December 2020, Jade Master International
Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,
would acquire the remaining 24% equity interest of
Pathlab (a 75% owned subsidiary before completion
of the 24% acquisition) by end of 2023, which would
be dependent on the future profit (the “Final Tranche
Consideration”). The Final Tranche Consideration was
finalised to be HK$124.6 million, before transaction
cost of HK$323,000 and was settled by the Group in
November 2023. Upon completion, Pathlab becomes
a 99% owned subsidiary of the Group. Since the
acquisition of additional interest in Pathlab did not
result in a loss of control, the transaction is
accounted for as an equity transaction.

In connection with the Group’s acquisition of 100%
equity interest in Excellent Connect, as further
detailed in note 33(a) the Group transferred 25%
issued share capital of UMT, the immediate holding
company of Excellent Connect, to the Excellent
Connect Seller (the “UMT Share Transfer”). Since the
UMT Share Transfer did not result in loss of the
Group’s control over UMT, the net change in the
Group’s share of UMT’s net assets immediately
before and after the UMT Share Transfer is credited
to other reserve.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

RIS

29. SHARE CAPITAL, RESERVES AND
DIVIDENDS (continued)

(d)

(e)

Nature and purpose of reserves (Continued)
(viii) Fair value reserve (non-recycling)

The fair value reserve (non-recycling) comprises the
cumulative net change in the fair value of equity
investments designated at fair value through other
comprehensive income (“FVOCI”) under HKFRS 9
that are held at the end of the reporting period.

Distributability of reserves

As at 31 March 2024, the Company’s reserves available for
distribution to equity shareholders of the Company were
HK$1,177,839,000 (2023: HK$1,255,773,000).

30. SHARE AWARD SCHEME AND
CO-OWNERSHIP SCHEME

(@)

EC Healthcare

Share Award Scheme

On 26 September 2016, the Board of directors (the
“Board”) approved the Company’s Employees’ Share
Award Scheme (the “Share Award Scheme”). Pursuant to
the rules of the Share Award Scheme, the Company had
appointed a trustee for the purpose of administering the
Share Award Scheme and holding the shares purchased
for the Share Award Scheme before the award and vesting
of the same. The Company paid to the trustee from time to
time for the purchase of shares held for the Share Award
Scheme from the market.

The terms of the Share Award Scheme provide for the
award of shares in the Company to employees of the
Group as part of their compensation package. Subject to
the rules of the Share Award Scheme, the Board shall
determine at the time of grant the vesting date for the
relevant awarded shares.

During the years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023, the

Group did not hold any shares for this scheme nor grant
any shares to the employees under this scheme.
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29. BA& - EERRKRE @)

(d) RENEERBE®N @)

(e)

(vii) ATEFE (THARE)

ATERE (THARR) B
BE BRI BB E BB
SRBBOR T AEATE
HARMRERS(RATE
B2 E R ) BB
&2 ATEBHEDFE -

REN T o B

RZZEZWWF=R=+—H ' ARQH
AHOR T AR REERENREER
1,177,839,000/8 7L (ZZE =% :
1,255,773,000/7C) °

30. R RBFERERERE A

2
(a)
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Notes to the Financial Statements

R

30. SHARE AWARD SCHEME AND
CO-OWNERSHIP SCHEME (continued)

(b)

Co-ownership Scheme

During the year ended 31 March 2021, the Company
adopted the Co-ownership Scheme (“Co-Ownership Plan
17). Pursuant to the scheme, the Company would grant
shares (“Award Shares”) to the invited employees of the
Group. The purpose of the Co-ownership Scheme is to
incentivise the employees. The Award Shares are the
contingent rights to receive the Company’s shares
depending on the level of the basic earnings per share
(“EPS”) for the year ending 31 March 2023 (2023 EPS”)
and the cumulative EPS for the years ending 31 March
2021, 2022 and 2023 (“3-year Cumulative EPS”). The
minimum level of the EPS and 3-year Cumulative EPS to be
achieved before any Award Shares will be granted are 1.33
times over the basic earnings per share for the year ended
31 March 2020 (“2020 EPS”), and 3.64 times over the
2020 EPS, respectively.

On 29 May 2023, the ordinary resolutions approving the
termination of Co-Ownership Plan 1 and the adoption of a
new Co-ownership Scheme (“Co-Ownership Plan 2”) were
duly passed by the Shareholders at the extraordinary
general meeting of the Company held on 29 May 2023. For
details of the Co-Ownership Plan 2, please refer to the
Company’s circular dated 12 May 2023.

The invited employees were required to transfer shares or
cash to a trust managed by an independent appointed
trustee, in which the cash was used to (i) acquire shares
from the market or two directors of the Company; or (ii)
subscribe the Company’s shares being allotted at the
market price. As at 31 March 2024, 9,964,493 shares
(2023:14,636,905 shares) were held on trust by the trustee
on behalf of the employees.

The Group has not recognised any share-based payment
expenses in connection with the Co-ownership Scheme.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

RIS

31. SHARE OPTION SCHEME 31.

The Company has a share option scheme which was adopted on
26 September 2016 whereby the directors of the Company are
authorised, at their discretion, to invite employees of the Group,
including directors of any company in the Group, to take up
options at considerations ranging from HK$3.03 to HK$13.30 to
subscribe for shares of the Company. Unless otherwise cancelled
or amended, the Share Option Scheme will be valid and effective
within 10 years commencing on the date on which it became
effective. Each option gives the holder the right to subscribe for
one ordinary share in the Company and is settled gross in shares.

(@) The terms and conditions of the grants are

B

ARBR-_T=RFALA-TRNBERRE
g8 ARRESRULERERIER
FARERER (BEAKREEMNARAES)
IARIE3.03/ 8T E 13.30 & LA RE AR -
ARBBARBIRD © BRIERTTREHIERT
BREAEGEEENEARTFRUNL
ik BBRER TRHAEARNREAR
NE—RERER - WERBARMDEE -

(@) BRHFERREFDT :

as follows:
Number of Contractual life
instruments  Vesting conditions of options
TEZE BEGRHE BRESHEH
Options granted to directors:
BTFESNBRE :
— On 26 September 2016 5,020,000  Exercisable in ten tranches from 10 years
1 January 2017 to
31 December 2026
—RIZIZE-—RENAZTRA ADAtHN _ZE—+F—H—H 104
EERFE+A=+—A1
AT
— On 18 September 2017 735,000  Exercisable in one tranche from 10 years
1 January 2027 to
17 September 2027
—RZZE—tFNA+NH AnAE—#HN_TE-_+tF—H—H 104F
EE-EFNATERERE
(oakd
— On 21 August 2018 300,000  Exercisable in two tranches from 10 years
2 January 2019 to
20 August 2028
—RZE-NFNAZ+—H A AEMIERN-_ZE—NEF—A=H 104F
EZFN\FNAZT A HE
118
EC Healthcare 214 Annual Report 2023/24



Notes to the Financial Statements

B 15 M 5
31. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued) 31. BRESTE ()
(@) The terms and conditions of the grants are () BREGRREHEDOT : @)

as follows: (Continued)

Number of Contractual life
instruments  Vesting conditions of options
THEE HEEH BRESHTEH
— On 21 August 2018 500,000  Exercisable in four tranches from 10 years
2 January 2019 to
20 August 2028
—RZE-NFNAZ+—H ADANHMR=_Z—NEFE—HA=H 104

22 - \FNA -+ BHHBTE

— On 2 October 2018 100,000  Exercisable in four tranches from 10 years
2 January 2019 to
1 October 2028

—RZE-N\F+AZH AN AMTtN-—E—NE—A=H 104F

E-FT-N\F+A-RAHRETRE

— On 2 October 2018 735,000  Exercisable in one tranche from 10 years
3 January 2028 to
1 October 2028

—RZZE-N\F+HZH ADAE—#HR=ZZE-NF—HA=H 104

E-FT-)N\F+A-RAHETRE

— On 28 November 2018 1,500,000 Exercisable in seven tranches from 9 years
2 January 2019 to
27 November 2028

—RZE-N\F+—A=+/\H AN AEtHR-_ZE—hhF—A=H 9%
Z_EZ)N\F+—AZ+tHHE
1718

— On 12 July 2019 1,000,000  Exercisable in four tranches from 5 years
2 January 2020 to
11 July 2024

—RZZE-NAF+HA+H A AR _TE=EF—A=H 5%

E-ZT_NFEE A+ HHETR®

— On 16 October 2019 735,000 Exercisable in one tranche from 10 years
2 January 2029 to
15 October 2029

—RZE-AF+A+<H AN —HRZZE-NF—HZH 104
EEAFTATHEBEE
171
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Notes to the Financial Statements

A 15 R 2= P 5
31. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued) 31. BIRESTE (@)
(@) The terms and conditions of the grants are () BHEHERRHF4DT @)
as follows: (Continued)
Number of Contractual life
instruments  Vesting conditions of options
THEZE BEGRHE BRESHEH
— On 16 October 2019 1,000,000 Exercisable in five tranches from 10 years
16 October 2019 to
15 October 2029
— RZE-NF+A+<H ASAERAMR-_FE—hhF+A+/<H 104

E-T-NFTATRAHETE

— On 15 March 2021 2,500,000  Exercisable in eight tranches from 10 years
15 March 2022 to
14 March 2031

—RZE-—F=A+HA ANAE/ MR_ZE=-—F=A+AH 104
ZT=—F= A+MBEHMTE

— On 24 September 2021 10,000,000  Exercisable in ten tranches from 10 years
26 September 2022 to
23 September 2031

—RZE—FNAZ=+HMA ASRTHR-_FT_Z 104

NAZ+RBEZZT=—%
NAZ+=H BT

— On 1 December 2021 10,950,000  Exercisable in nine tranches from 10 years
1 December 2022 to
30 November 2031

—RZEZ—F+=F—H ANAMMR-_ZE-_—F#+—-A—H 104
E_E=—F+—A=+BHMH
13E
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Notes to the Financial Statements

R

31. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

(@ The terms and conditions of the grants are

as follows: (Continued)

Number of
instruments
THEHH
Options granted to employees:
BT ESHEBRE
— On 18 September 2017 655,000
—RZE—tFNAT+N\AR
— On 10 July 2018 100,000
—RZE—\FtA+H
— On 7 September 2018 100,000
—RZE-\FHhLALH
— On 2 October 2018 482,500
—R=ZE—-\F+A=H
— On 28 November 2018 95,000

—R=EB-AFt+—-A=t/R
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31. BREE w)
(@) BRHEGRRHEGWOT @ @)

Contractual life

Vesting conditions of options
SRR BRESHTH
Exercisable in four tranches from 4 years
1 January 2018 to
31 December 2021
AlS ARt 22— \F—H—H 45
BT _—H+-RA=t+—H
HARTER
Exercisable in five tranches from 5 years
2 January 2019 to
31 December 2023
ASAERAMR-_ZE—hhF—A=H 5%
FE_=HF+A=+—HHHA
1718
Exercisable in four tranches from 10 years
2 January 2019 to
6 September 2028
ASROANR_E—-NE—HA=H 104F
Z2E - )\FAARNBEMTE
Exercisable in four tranches from 10 years
2 January 2019 to
1 October 2028
AN RONR—_E—-NE—-HA=H 104F
Z2ZE-)N\F+A—BHBETE
Exercisable in seven tranches from 10 years
2 January 2019 to
27 November 2028
ASREHR_E—-NE—-A=H 104F

E2FT-N\F+—AZ+ERHHH
Gk
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Notes to the Financial Statements

RIS

31. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

(@) The terms and conditions of the grants are

as follows: (Continued)

Number of
instruments
THEKE
— On 2 July 2019 150,000
—RZZE-NFEHAZH
— On 5 March 2020 150,000
—RZE-ZTF=AAHH
— On 29 July 2021 380,000
—RZE_—Ft+tA=+ANH
— On 1 August 2022 3,500,000
—RZTZFN\A—-H
— On 5 January 2023 1,800,000
—RZZEZ=F—HAAH
Total share options granted to 42,487,500
directors and employees
BTEERIESNERIERS
EC Healthcare 218

31. BREE w)

(@) BHEMRRREHMT @ @)

Vesting conditions
SRR

Exercisable in three tranches from
2 January 2020 to 1 July 2023
AINA=#HR_TE-_TF—A=H

E-FT=F+A—BEHMBETE

Exercisable in one tranche from
5 March 2020 to
7 November 2029
AnA—#R—_ZE=_EF=AAH
E2-FNFT—AEBHEETE

Exercisable in four tranches from
29 July 2021 to
28 July 2031

AN AR —_T=—F
tAZt+hBEE=Z=—%F
+ A=+ N\BEETE

Exercisable in five tranches from
1 August 2022 to
31 July 2032
ADARAMR-_ZE-_—_FNA—H
E-E=—F+A=+—HHH
(oakd

Exercisable in six tranches from
5 January 2023 to
4 January 2033
AIRAAHMR_E_=F—AAH
2T =—F—-ANAHBREITE

Contractual life
of options
BRESHEH

4 years

445

10 years

104

10 years

104

10 years

104

10 years

104
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Notes to the Financial Statements

R

31. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

(b) The number and weighted average exercise

(c)

31. BREE w)
(b) BRESEB RNEFITHEE

prices of share options are as follows: wmr
2024 2023
ZECME ZEC=E
Weighted Weighted
Number of average Number of average
options  exercise price options  exercise price
BRESE MEYHTRE EREZE METHTEE
Outstanding at the beginning of FENRTE

the year 33,967,500 10.56 28,715,000 10.94
Granted during the year ERRL - - 5,300,000 1.7
Exercised during the year FRNTHE - - (17,500) 6.00
Forfeited during the year FRBRRN (11,705,000) 11.59 (30,000) 12.46
Qutstanding at the end of the year ~ FRK1T{E 22,262,500 10.09 38,967,500 10.56
Exercisable at the end of the year ERA{7E 8,990,000 9.58 8,630,000 9.31

The weighted average share price at the date of exercise
for the share options exercised during the year ended 31
March 2023 was HK$7.27.

The options outstanding at 31 March 2024 had a weighted
average exercise price of HK$10.09 (2023: HK$10.56) and
a weighted average remaining contractual life of 7.12 years
(2023: 8.11 years).

Fair value of share options and assumptions

The fair value of services or assets received in return for
share options granted is measured by reference to the fair
value of share options granted. The estimate of the fair
value of the share options granted is measured based on a
binomial option pricing model, which takes into account the
suboptimal exercise factors and the post-vesting exit rates.
The contractual life of the share options is used as an input
into this model. Expectations of early exercise are
incorporated into the model.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

R

31. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

(d) Share options granted other than those

under the Share Option Scheme

Pursuant to the sale and purchase agreement in connection
with the acquisition of an additional 24% equity interest in
Hong Kong Pain and Wellness Solution Limited, a non-
wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, during the year
ended 31 March 2021, the Group issued warrants which
allow the sellers to subscribe an aggregate number of
10,000,000 shares of the Company within 1 to 5 years at
an exercise price of HK$4.20. The warrants vested in
stages in 5 years following the completion of the
acquisition. The Group measured the fair value of such
warrants by reference to their fair value based on a binomial
option pricing model.

During the year ended 31 March 2023, 2,000,000 shares
were allotted and issued at an exercise price of HK$4.20.

As at 31 March 2024, the warrants granted to the sellers
had a remaining contractual life of 1.4 years (2023: 2.4
years).
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NEE o

HE-_ZT-_=#=F=+—HItE
€ 2,000,000 % i& 7 #Z 171 (€ 4.20
BB R AT o
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RIS

32. CONVERTIBLE BONDS

During the year ended 31 March 2021, the Company issued 3
tranches of convertible bonds. The bondholders are entitled to
exercise the conversion rights to convert the principal amount
outstanding at a pre-determined conversion price at any time up

32. TERES

HE—

T —E=HA=+—HIEEE &

RABTHAMBRES - BFBEAR
RIT R - M AT ARIE S EI B B AT ke
R EENERESRAKEENSHE

to the maturity of the convertible bonds. The details of the RBEHROKREETBRRESHFBO
convertible bonds that are outstanding as at the end of the N
reporting period are as follows:
Original  Conversion
Principal Interest conversion price
amount rate price per share  Conversion
Tranche Issue date outstanding per annum  Maturity date per share (adjusted) period
#HR BITRH REEXSE X% A SREARE SKRERE BRDY
(A%)
Tranche A 5 February 2021 HK$234,000,000 2.5% 4 February 2026 HK$5.69 HK$5.50  Atany time up to
(2023: HK$234,000,000) (note) maturity date
£t “T-F 234,000,000 870 By 5.6957C 55081 EZIEAR
—ARHA (ZZ==fF: —AmA (FizE) AR
234,000,000 7%7T)
Tranche C 8 February 2021 HK$31,200,000 2.5% 7 February 2026 HK$5.69 HK$5.50  Atany time up to
(2023: HK$31,200,000) (note) maturity date
F=H ke S5 31,200,000 7T TECRE 5.69787T 55087 HEERHEAR
—ANRB (ZZ==F: —AtR () EREES
31,200,000 )
Note: In addition to the conversion rights in connection with the convertible BIEE © BRAn ESCATil A BE AT IRAR B 5 M0 IR AR AR S

EC Health

bonds as stated above, the Company issued warrants which allow the
bondholders to subscribe for an aggregate number of 50,145,867
shares at an exercise price of HK$6.17 with an aggregate consideration
of HK$309,400,000. As at 31 March 2024, the outstanding warrants
would allow the bondholders to subscribe for 5,899,514 shares (2023:
5,899,514 shares).

It is provided in the subscription agreements for the convertible bonds
that if the controlling shareholder of the Company, Mr. Tang Chi Fai,
ceases to be the controlling shareholder of the Company, owning less
than 51% of the total issued shares of the Company, then the
bondholders are entitled to request immediate repayment of the
outstanding convertible bonds and all accrued interest.

222

care

AARBITRREE  EATEFFAEAN
1B E6.17% TR & $£50,145,867 ik ik
5+ 48 X {8 /309,400,000 7L M= ZF
—HEZA=Z+—8 HARITERBRE
EBEATESF A ARESB99,514 0% B 19
(ZZE==% : 5,899,514 JZf%1%) °

AHRRES N RBE AR T - WAD R A
RERBEBLEETBRERARREET
8 7 HEER ) 51% A BV AR A BHERRAR R » 8
EFFHEABRERAMEEREEN AR
B3 KPR AT S, o
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32. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (continued)

Upon the issuance of convertible bonds, the liability component
was initially measured at its fair value of HK$238,118,000. The
residual amount of HK$66,082,000 was recognised as capital
reserve within equity (see note 29(d)(vi).

During the year ended 31 March 2023, HK$4,345,000 was
transferred to share premium from capital reserve upon the
partial conversion of convertible bonds with a principal amount of
HK$20,000,000.

The liability component of convertible bonds was analysed as
follows:

Non-current liabilities JEmEEE

32. ERES #)

RETAIRRES% BRI DL RE
N F({E238,118,000/8 Lit &  Fler & 58
66,082,000 % 7T JI A #E 25 N FE 58 A IR A 17

&5 (BT FE29(0)(Vvi)) °

BE-_ZT-_=%F=A=1+—HItFE R®
BB B3R K 4 420,000,000 7 IT HY A 32 A%
B+ 4,345,000 7 7T B # % A 7 1 B

ERERE -

A ESFNEERO T T

2024
—EopmE

HK$’000
FTHT

241,767

2023
—E=F
HK$’'000
T
230,132

BRRER 223
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33. BUSINESS ACQUISITIONS 33. XHKWE

EC Healthcare

proportionate share of these subsidiaries’ net identifiable
assets.

Had the acquisitions taken place at the beginning of the
year ended 31 March 2024, the consolidated revenue of
the Group and the consolidated profit of the Group for the
year would have been HK$128.3 million and HK$29.9
million, respectively. In aggregate, the Group incurred net
cash outflow totalling HK$96 million from acquisitions of
subsidiaries during the year ended 31 March 2024.
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(@ Summary of acquisitions for the year ended (@ ABE-ZE-_HWOF=A=+-—
31 March 2024 HEFENWEHRE
The fair value of the net assets acquired through business PR B BR S B 2 A U P U A%
acquisitions as at the dates of acquisitions is as follows: BENATEEOT :
Excellent HWEVC Total
Connect and Maple fst
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000
TiEr TEr TER
Total identifiable AHSIEEE/(BE) AH
net assets/(liabilities) 56,755 (1,153 55,602
Non-controlling interests R (14,189) 565 (13,624)
Goodwill on acquisitions WEEEANTE 192,334 11,298 203,632
Consideration for WEEENRE
the acquisitions 234,900 10,710 245,610
Cash consideration paid FREARERE
during the year 100,000 10,710 110,710
Cash and cash equivalents FrifiER & &
acquired ReEED (9,429) (5,274) (14,697)
Net outflow of cash and HAREETHES
cash equivalents included TENBRE RS
in cash flows of LEMRHFE
investing activities 90,577 5,436 96,013
The Group measured the non-controlling interests at their AEBIRENZENE R /A5

SEEEFTA L PIRT 2 IR A

WREEERBEE_E_MF=A
=+ —BIEFEVEHEL - FALRE
ERE WA RKREBLRE &R D B
R1283EBAITLK29AEET
BEZZ-NF=RA=+T—HILF
E - AEBBEKRERBAREERE
BRI EEB T ©
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33. BUSINESS ACQUISITIONS (continued)

(@ Summary of acquisitions for the year ended
31 March 2024 (Continued)

The business acquisitions are analysed below:

(@i

Excellent Connect

On 7 February 2023, Union Medical Technology
Limited (“UMT”) and Union (Group) Investment
Limited (“Union Group”), both being wholly-owned
subsidiaries of the Group, entered into a sales and
purchase agreement with the seller (“Excellent
Connect Seller”) to acquire 100% equity interest in
Excellent Connect Limited (“Excellent Connect”). The
maximum consideration consists of (1) the maximum
total cash consideration of HK$125,000,000
comprising (i) the initial cash consideration in the
amount of HK$100,000,000 to be payable to the
Excellent Connect Seller, and (ii) the contingent
consideration in the maximum amount of
HK$25,000,000, and (2) transfer of 25% issued share
capital of UMT (the “Consideration Shares”) from
Union Group to the Excellent Connect Seller.

Excellent Connect is an investment holding company
of companies engaged in the distribution of aesthetic
medical devices and beauty related consumables in
Hong Kong.

On 1 April 2023, the initial cash consideration of
HK$100,000,000 has been settled in full and the
Consideration Shares have been transferred by Union
Group to Excellent Connect Seller. Excellent Connect
became a 75%-owned subsidiary of the Group upon
completion of the acquisition on 1 April 2023.

A profit guarantee arrangement is included in the
sales and purchase agreement. Under the
arrangement, Excellent Connect Seller has agreed to
give profit guarantee to the Purchaser that the
accumulated net profit (as defined in the agreement)
for 3 years shall be no less than HK$75 million. The
Excellent Connect Seller shall compensate Union
Group any shortfall in accordance with the sales and
purchase agreement.
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33. ¥BUWE @)

@ HBZE-—s-—m&E=A=1+-—
ALEFENREHRE @

EEWBEBOHTIT -

@i

Excellent Connect

R-ZZT-_=F—-H+tH ' Union
Medical Technology Limited
(TUMT]) £ Union (Group)
Investment Limited ([ Union
Group)) (MEBHAEEHNEZE
WEARDIVEEHH  H
(['Excellent Connect Z /7 1) W B
Excellent Connect Limited
([Excellent Connect]) #J100%
kHE - maREREN) =L
1% & K & 125,000,0007% JT
B #E@0OE f FExcellent
Connect & 75 K ¥l 18 3R & K&
100,000,000 7T K ()& =
8k A 1 {E25,000,000 &5 & &
TG X (2)#5 UMT B #7TRE A Y
25% ([ X & A% 17 J) 8 Union
Group#8 # T Excellent Connect
B

Excellent Connect@ — X & &
ZERAT - ETRARRELS
BOHBEERNRERERE
FEFEm °

RZZEZ=FWA—A8 " ¥I&
15 % X {& 100,000,000 T &
2% X {1+ I B Union Group
2 A5 1B % 17 82 38 45 Excellent
ConnectB 5 c RZT =4
MmA—HZ/KKEI®Z:
Excellent Connect X /& 7~ &
WA 75% IRERME QR -

BEEMEPEESRMNRELR
Peo 1R B & HE - Excellent
ConnectEZ A EREME A E
R FIRRE - I=F A Rat4t
FERREBR)TIRTEEE
7 JT ° Excellent Connect & 77
JERE AR E & %7 Union Group
HEEM =% -
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33. BUSINESS ACQUISITIONS (continued)

(@) Summary of acquisitions for the year ended
31 March 2024 (Continued)

@i

EC Healthcare

Excellent Connect (Continued)

Management expected certain profit targets as stated
in the sale and purchase agreements will be met.
Accordingly, the present value of the aggregate
consideration in connection with the acquisitions of
Excellent Connect on the completion date was
HK$234,900,000.

Union Group also granted an option (the “Option”) to
the Excellent Connect Seller the right to require Union
Group to purchase from it up to an aggregate of 20%
of the issued share capital of UMT (“Option Shares”),
subject to certain terms and conditions. Upon the
exercise of the Option, the Excellent Connect Seller
shall become bound to sell, and Union Group shall
become bound to purchase the Option Shares. The
consideration of the Option Shares payable by Union
Group to the Excellent Connect Seller shall be
HK$110,000,000, satisfied by allotment of shares in
the Company or cash.

The acquisition was made as part of the Group’s
strategy in strengthening and stabilising the supply
chain of non-surgical aesthetic devices in support of
its businesses and achieve business synergies.

The goodwill of HK$192 million arising from the
acquisition was attributable to the synergy from the
share of customer pool with other businesses of the
Group.

The Group incurred acquisition-related costs of
HK$280,000. These costs have been charged to
“administrative and other expenses” in the
consolidation statement of profit or loss for the year.
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33. EBUWE @)

@ RBZE-—E-_mNE=A=+-—
HIEFENKBEHRE @)

@

Excellent Connect (#&)

ERERNEEHEMENE
THF B EiGeEHET -
- REK BB A B WE
Excellent Connect & 42 X {8 Y
1718 4 234,900,000 7T °

Union Group 78 #% T Excellent
Connect & 77 —IE i Ik 1 ([ 88
fx # 1) - B T H Z KUnion
Group L EE E UMT E 317 %
AEHEZRZ20% R ([HEE
RN ]) - BB TR TIER
NGt BITEBARER
Excellent Connect & J7 #5 /8
£ i1 Union Group #% 78 B8 & 88
f% #E A% {5 ° Union Group JE& fF
Excellent Connect & 77 &9 88 %
T [ig 1 £X /& # /3 110,000,000
EIT - WARR B AR F D 3K
WEMH RSN -

BRWBFEESASE NG
REFFMETRBOHEE
B AR EBLERER W
R R 8 SR B ) — #B D

WEELENBE12858ET
DREAREREMEBEFE
HZWIHFRRE -

NEEEEMERBK AN B
280,000/ 7T ° ZEMAE R
FANGEERERB [TTEK
EAthpA ] kR o
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33. BUSINESS ACQUISITIONS (continued) 33. EBUWEE @)

(@ Summary of acquisitions for the year ended (@ REBE-ZE-_OF=A=1+-—
31 March 2024 (Continued) HIEFENKBEHRE @)
(i) Excellent Connect (Continued) () Excellent Connect (#&)

P UgEE B HY - Excellent Connect
EENAHANEERBENR

The fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities
of Excellent Connect’s group as at the date of

acquisition are as follows: ELAT
Total
et
Note HK$’000
B ek FHExT
Property, plant and equipment M - WE REE 6,803
Deferred tax assets RIERIBE E 59
Inventories FE 6,154
Trade and other receivables Z 5 R EAM IR GRIE 6,038
Cash and cash equivalents ReRREFEY 9,423
Trade and other payables 5 N EAM RS FRIE (16,260)
Deferred revenue IEIEUA (77)
Current tax payable e B EAR 1B (3,062)
Lease liabilities HEAE (2,507)
Intangible assets on acquisition KRN ERAE 60,717
Deferred tax liabilities RERIERE (10,533)
Total identifiable net assets at fair value BATEREMR N FEEESE 56,755
Non-controlling interests FEIEAR I A (14,189)
Goodwill on acquisition WEEARNEE 14 192,334
Consideration RE 234,900
Cash consideration paid during the year ~ FRABEMIEE&RE 100,000
Cash and cash equivalents acquired FritiEIR & RIRS HEY (9,423)

Net outflow of cash and cash equivalents st AREEEFIRSHRENR S &
included in cash flows of ReEEYRLFE

investing activities 90,577

BUEESIER HE_TZUF
—A=+—HIFE ' Excelent
Connect & B AN £ B A fEH
18I EBBTHER » YR
SEZEBEMNEL287TEEE
TR

Since the acquisition, Excellent Connect’s group
contributed HK$118.3 million to the Group’s revenue
and HK$28.7 million to the Group’s consolidated
profit for the year ended 31 March 2024.

BREEREAEMGAIERSE
HAVE N -

The intangible assets are amortised over their
estimated useful lives.
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33. BUSINESS ACQUISITIONS (continued)

(@) Summary of acquisitions for the year ended
31 March 2024 (Continued)

(ii)

EC Healthcare

HWEVC and Maple

On 1 October 2022, High Group Corporation Limited
(“High Group”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Group, entered into sales and purchase agreements
with the seller (“HWEVC and Maple's Seller”), to
acquire 51% of the equity interest in each of HWEVC
Limited ("HWEVC") and Maple Investment Limited
("Maple"), HWEVC and Maple are principally engaged
in the provision of veterinary services in Hong Kong.

According to the agreements, High Group paid an
aggregate cash consideration of HK$10,710,000 for
these acquisitions. Upon completion of the
acquisition on 12 June 2023, HWEVC and Maple
became non wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Group.

Profit guarantee arrangements are included in the
agreements. Under the arrangements, HWEVC and
Maple's Seller agreed to guarantee the aggregate
profit generated by HWEVC and Maple for the
coming 5 years of not less than HK$18.85 million.
HWEVC and Maple's Seller shall compensate the
shortfall of the profit attributable to High Group in
accordance with the sales and purchase agreements.

Management expected certain profit targets as stated
in the sale and purchase agreements will be met.
Accordingly, the present value of the aggregate
consideration in connection with the acquisitions of
HWEVC and Maple on the completion date was
HK$10,710,000.

The acquisition was made as part of the Group’s
strategy in the expansion of veterinary services.

The goodwill of HK$11 million arising from the
acquisition was attributable to the synergy from the
share of customer pool with other businesses of the
Group.
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33. EBUWE @)

@ RBZE-—E-_mNE=A=+-—
HIEFENKBEHRE @)

(ii)

HWEVC K Maple

R—ZE-_—_®#+A—H ' &&
ErEWBARSEEEGR
ARl mHEE])ERER
(THWEVC K Maple B 75 1) 5152
B E W& U BHWEVC
Limited ((HWEVC]) % Maple
Investment Limited ([ Maple )
% B51%Mk # - HWEVC &
Maple £ ZH{ B HEIRHE
EEPRTE ©

BiEH#E B EERZSZK
BEEINBABASRE
10,710,000« H=—Z ==
FRA+Z—BERWEEE
1% + HWEVC & Maple i /7 £
EE2EKIBAR] ©

ZWEOENBRELZE R
BZEZ P HWEVC F Maple
&5 RAE D BRFEHWEVC &
Maple /A 7R 2R 5 4F FT 2 4 &) '@
BTV MN18.85BHEE T ©
HWEVC ¥ Maple & 7 [ETR I B
EEAES B EERG RS
HIZERE -

ERREBHEEREMIENE
THRFEZEASEHETR -
gt RFERK B E A B U
HWEVC & Maple #) 42 B &) IR
{E/410,710,000& 7T °

BRAWBEEATEEEER
iR RIE — 5D
WHEENBHE1BAEETD

KEAEEEMERTPAHL
Z W RBUE
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33. BUSINESS ACQUISITIONS (continued)

(@ Summary of acquisitions for the year ended
31 March 2024 (Continued)

(ii)

HWEVC and Maple (Continued)

The Group incurred acquisition-related costs of
HK$200,000. These costs have been charged to
“administrative and other expenses” in the
consolidation statement of profit or loss for the year.

The fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities
of HWEVC and Maple as at the date of acquisition is
as follows:

33. ¥BUWE @)

@ HBE-—s-—m&E=g=1+-
HIEFENKBEHRE @)

(ii)

HWEVC X Maple (&)

AEBEENBEBEERESA
200,000 7T ° ZERABE R
FRAMGZABREERA [TTHK
HAbB ] 0k -

U EE B E - HWEVC & Maple
WA B EENRBENATEE
T

Total
et
Note HK$’000
B ek FET
Property, plant and equipment M~ B R 2,263
Trade and other receivables Z 5 REMEURFIE 322
Cash and cash equivalents ReERREEFEY 5,274
Trade and other payables B 5 M EAM S FRIE (6,291)
Current tax payable FETRD R TE (952)
Lease liabilities HEaE (1,769)
Total identifiable net liabilities at fair value 1R AFEFTEM AR & E L5 (1,153)
Non-controlling interests JEIE R 565
Goodwill on acquisition W EENEE 14 11,298
Consideration KRE 10,710
Cash consideration paid during the year ~ FARABEMIEE&RE 10,710
Cash and cash equivalents acquired FritiEIR & RIRS HEY (5,274)
Net outflow of cash and cash equivalents 5t AR & EEIR SRS M
included in cash flows of investing B4 MRSZEBYnt F5E
activities 5,436

Since the acquisition, HWEVC and Maple contributed
HK$10.0 million to the Group’s revenue and HK$1.2
million to the Group’s consolidated profit for the year
ended 31 March 2024.

The intangible assets are amortised over their
estimated useful lives.
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BUEEIER HEZTUF
ZA=Z+—HIFE  HWEVC
K Maple ¥] 75 & B AYEH 10.0
BEETHER - REAREELS
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33. BUSINESS ACQUISITIONS (continued) 33. EKWE @)
(b) Summary of acquisitions for the year ended b) RBE_ZB-_=F=H=1—
31 March 2023 AIEFERNWEESE
The fair values of the net assets acquired through business PR B BR S B 2 A U P U A%
acquisitions as at the date of acquisitions is as follows: BENATEEOT :
Mobile
Medical
International Pioneer
Holdings Evolution
Limited Limited Others Total
EX0 7 Pioneer
Ry Evolution
BRAR* Limited Hith et
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TERT TERT TERT TET
Total identifiable net assets AR EE ELA%E 34,584 30,648 9,118 74,350
Non-controlling interests JEFERR RS (8,646) (21,355) (3,868) (33,869)
Goodwill on acquisitions WS E E RS 15,312 21,952 4,688 41,952
Consideration for the acquisitions Y& EBHIA(E 41,250 31,245 9,938 82,433
Cash consideration paid FREMNRERE
during the year 41,250 36,400 16,620 94,270
Cash and cash equivalents FrliER & &
acquired ReEEY (16,054) (32,840) (3,267) (52,161)
Net outflow of cash and FAREBEERE
cash equivalents included REMNRESNES
in cash flows of SEMRLFRE
investing activities 25,196 3,560 13,353 42,109

The Group measured the non-controlling interests at their
proportionate share of these subsidiaries’ net identifiable
assets.

Had the acquisitions taken place at the beginning of the
year ended 31 March 2023, the consolidated revenue of
the Group and the consolidated profit of the Group for the
year would have been HK$4,020 million and HK$113
million, respectively. In aggregate, the Group incurred net
cash outflow totalling HK$42 million from acquisitions of
subsidiaries during the year ended 31 March 2023.

EC Healthcare 230

REBEIZE R % E M & A BRI 3R]
FEEMIGLOIET EIFER R o

WEEEERBEE_S=_=F=A
=+—HIEFEVEE  FREAE
BEiRE WA RREBLRE & D 5
40208 BB T RIIBEEBB T -
HE-_Z-_=Z#=ZF=+—HItHF
E -AEBBEKREMNBAREELER:
M FREAT42B88ETT -

- EHHF

Annual Report 2023/24



Notes to the Financial Statements

R

33. BUSINESS ACQUISITIONS (continued)

(b) Summary of acquisitions for the year ended
31 March 2023 (Continued)

The business acquisitions are analysed below:

@i

Mobile Medical International Holdings Limited

On 23 May 2022, Union Preventive Healthcare
Limited (“Union Preventive”), a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Group, entered into a sales and
purchase agreement with the sellers (“Mobile
Medical’s Sellers”) to acquire 75% of the equity
interest in Mobile Medical International Holdings
Limited (“Mobile Medical”) at a consideration of
HK$41,250,000. Mobile Medical is principally
engaged in the provision of comprehensive health
screening services.

Upon completion of the acquisition on 14 June 2022,
Mobile Medical became a non wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Group.

The acquisition was made as part of the Group’s
strategy in further consolidating its position in the
health screening market in Hong Kong.

The goodwill of HK$15 million arising from the
acquisition was attributable to the synergy from the
share of customer pool with other businesses of the
Group.

The Group incurred acquisition-related costs of
HK$126,000. These costs have been charged to
“administrative and other expenses” in the
consolidation statement of profit or loss for the year.
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33. ¥BUWE @)

b) RBE-—s-—=£=A=1+-
BLEFENRBEHRE @

EWBOMTT -

@i

EHBEERERERAT

R-_ZE-_—_F#HA-_+=8"
K& E 2 E M E 2 5 Union
Preventive Healthcare Limited
([Union Preventive]) 8 & 7
([Mobile Medical# & 77 |) &7
B E kAU BE Mobile
Medical International Holdings
Limited ([ Mobile Medicall) #9
75% [ (B 741,250,000
77T ° Mobile Medical = ZH# =
REEEOERS SR -

R-ZT-—FXA+TMOARX
U BE =184 - Mobile Medical 5%
AAEENIIEEZEMBAR

ERARBESEAALAREE Y
ERERERBREHEM S
7 2 RERH) —&E 7 ©

WERELNHEISAEETT
KAEAREREMEBNEP
BHZ 0 FRUE -

AEBEENBREBREBRAA
126,000/8 7T ° 2 ZE K A FF A
FRGEBEEXRTTHREEM
F] A e
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33. BUSINESS ACQUISITIONS (continued) 33. EKWE @)
(b) Summary of acquisitions for the year ended b) RBEZE=—FB_—_="F=H=1T-—
31 March 2023 (Continued) HIEFENKBEHRE @)
() Mobile Medical International Holdings Limited () E=ARB2EREZERERAF
(Continued) (#&)
The fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities FAUREE B H - Mobile Medical £
of Mobile Medical as at the date of acquisition are as A#EpEERABRNATER
follows: ol
Total
st
Note HK$°000
B 5E FHT
Property, plant and equipment ME - B KRR 11,004
Inventories FE 402
Trade and other receivables Z 5 I E Ath FEYRIE 22,694
Cash and cash equivalents ReRREFEY 16,054
Trade and other payables 5 N EAM RS FRIE (41,784)
Lease liabilities AEaf (6,521)
Intangible assets on acquisition e E A E 39,204
Deferred tax liabilities BERIEAE (6,469)
Total identifiable net assets at fair value BATERENREMFEEERE 34,584
Non-controlling interests JEIE R T (8,646)
Goodwill on acquisition W EARNEE 14 15,312
Consideration RE 41,250
Cash consideration paid during the year ~ FRNBEAEHSRE 41,250
Cash and cash equivalents acquired T EIR ¢ MRS EEY (16,054)
Net outflow of cash and cash equivalents st AR EZEFHESTRENH SR
included in cash flows of ReFEYRLFE
investing activities 25,196
Since the acquisition, Mobile Medical contributed BWEEER BE_T_=
HK$106 million to the Group’s revenue and a profit of FZA=t+—RBHLFE"
HK$19 million to the Group’s consolidated profit for Mobile Medical ¥ 7% & E U A 1E
the year ended 31 March 2023. 106 EEBTHMER - R

AR ER -

The intangible assets are amortised over their B EEREGEAIERSE
estimated useful lives. HRVERESY o

EC Healthcare 232 Annual Report 2023/24



Notes to the Financial Statements

R

33. BUSINESS ACQUISITIONS (continued)

(b) Summary of acquisitions for the year ended
31 March 2023 (Continued)

(ii)

Pioneer Evolution Limited

On 30 September 2022, Team Expert Investment
Limited (“Team Expert”), an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Group entered into a sales and
purchase agreement with the sellers (“Pioneer
Sellers”) to acquire 60% of the equity interest in
Pioneer Evolution Limited which principally holds
50.54% of the issued share capital in Sure-Care
Medical and Health Limited (“Surecare”) at a
consideration of HK$36,400,000.

Surecare principally engaged in the provision of multi-
disciplinary healthcare services in Hong Kong with a
focus on the provision of specialty services under the
business name of Sure-Care Medical and Health
Network ({5 & f2484%). Upon completion of the
acquisition on 18 January 2023, Surecare became a
non wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group.

A profit guarantee arrangement is included in the
agreement. Under the arrangement, the Pioneer
Sellers agreed to guarantee the profit generated by
Surecare for coming the 5 years of not less than
HK$70 million. The Pioneer Sellers shall compensate
the shortfall of the profit attributable to Team Expert
in accordance with the sales and purchase
agreement. Management expected certain profit
targets as stated in the sales and purchase
agreement would not be met. Taking into account
the corresponding adjustment on the above variable
considerations, the present value of the aggregate
consideration in connection with the acquisition of
Surecare on the completion date was
HK$31,245,000.
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b) RBE-—s-—=£=A=1+-
BLEFENRBEHRE @

(ii)

Pioneer Evolution Limited

RZZE_ZFNALA=+HB" XK
EEEE2EKNB AR Team
Expert Investment Limited
([Team Expert]) £ &F 7
([Pioneer& 75 1) 5] 32 B B #
# LA (B 36,400,000 7% 7T I
## Pioneer Evolution Limited (3
ERBEERERABRAA
50.54% M B BT A ) ([ 15
1) 60% e -

EREIEREENFRHZE
MERRY - FINAEHEE
fEgmEmELRERAENR
B-RZZE_=F—A+/\H
TR R - ERRASAEE
FEEMBAR -

ZhEEE—MEANREL
BE o IRIBEZLHE - Pioneer & /7
FAEREERERRRSFHME
EHE AT LRTOEEETT ©
RIEE S sk - Pioneer 5 7 JE
4 {8 Team Expert J& 14 1 {a] 3%
FlzzE - EREBIEEHZ
Frui s T a8 B iR MmER
| ZEE ] #RENH
e B EEREENE
KREREXNBHRESR
31,245,000/ 7T °
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33. BUSINESS ACQUISITIONS (continued)

(b) Summary of acquisitions for the year ended
31 March 2023 (Continued)

(ii)

EC Healthcare

Pioneer Evolution Limited (Continued)

The acquisition was made as part of the Group’s
strategy in business expansion of medical services.

The goodwill of HK$22 million arising from the
acquisition was attributable to the synergy from the
share of customer pool with other businesses of the
Group.

The Group incurred acquisition-related costs of
HK$150,000. These costs have been charged to
“administrative and other expenses” in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss for the year.

The fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities
of Surecare as at the date of acquisition are as
follows:

33. EBWEE @)

b) RABE-—s—_=£=H=1+-—
BiEFENRBESRE @

(ii)

Pioneer Evolution Limited
(#&)

FRUESEERAKEERR
BERBBRREGH — 8D ©

WHELNHE2AEETT
KERAEEEMEFOER
BHZ R0 FRUE -

NEEEEMRERBK AN B
150,000/8 7T © #% 5 A AN 51 A
FAGRGERR[THREEM
] A e

RUEERH - EEAAIERE
ERBEHDXFENT

Total
et
Note HK$’000
B 5E FTER
Property, plant and equipment YIE - WS KRR 16,835
Inventories 78 3,718
Trade and other receivables B 5 K H Ab FEW IR 5,824
Current tax recoverable BJ Uy [E] BN ER TR 1B 736
Cash and cash equivalents ReERRESEEY 32,840
Trade and other payables 2 5 R EME R FIE (33,428)
Lease liabilities HEaE (15,305)
Intangible assets on acquisition WEE TS EF B E 23,267
Deferred tax liabilities RIEBIEBE (3,839)
Total identifiable net assets at fair value BATEFENR A FEELSE 30,648
Non-controlling interests FEIEAR I A (21,355)
Goodwill on acquisition IR EE R 14 21,952
Consideration KE 31,245
Cash consideration paid during the year FREMNRSRE 36,400
Cash and cash equivalents acquired T iEIR ¢ MRS EEY (32,840)
Net outflow of cash and cash equivalents st AIREEEIE S REN
included in cash flows of investing RERBEEEBWRT TR
activities 3,560
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33. BUSINESS ACQUISITIONS (continued)

(b) Summary of acquisitions for the year ended
31 March 2023 (Continued)

(ii) Pioneer Evolution Limited (Continued)

Since the acquisition, Surecare contributed HK$29
million to the Group’s revenue and a profit of HK$3
million to the Group’s consolidated profit for the year
ended 31 March 2023.

The intangible assets are amortised over their
estimated useful lives.

34. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Board approved to
establish imaging centers and integrated medical clinics and
entered into agreements to acquire certain property, plant and
equipment, with aggregate capital expenditure of HK$30 million.

The Group was committed at 31 March 2024 to enter into a few
new leases that have not yet commenced and the aggregate
lease payments without considering the extension options
amounted to HK$380 million (2023: HK$380 million).
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33.

34.

ERUEE @)
(b) RBE-—B-_=F=A=1+-—
HIEFENKBEHRE @)

(i) Pioneer Evolution Limited
(#&)

BlEEER 2T ==
FZRA=+-—BLFE" =8
HASEEWBAELH20BE&ET
WER - REAREELGRE R
EH3EEBTHMOER -

BIVEETRE MG AR
HAE B -

BARERE

HE-Z-=F=F=t+—HIFE &
EEMERLEEROREGAEBEDM
WEISZ e WS TWE - BB k&
BARATHBEA0EEET -

AEBR T -_NF=ZA=+—BE#HZ]
UERAMBNSHHAE MG TR
BENEENRBEAIOEEBIL(ZZ
Z=F:380BBHET) °
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35. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(@ In addition to the transactions and balances detailed

35. EHLERS

(@ FRHBHRREMEBYAFLANRZ SR

elsewhere in the financial statements, the Group had the HEERON - ANEBEFANEBE HEIA N
following material transactions with related parties during WNERRS :
the year:
2024 2023
TE-mEF —E-=F
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
BiaE F#&T FHT
Companies beneficially owned HEEER
by Tang Chi Fai BENAT
Lease rental payments HEREMR 0] 2,124 2,124
Companies beneficially owned BT ERBER
by the spouse of Tang Chi Fai BENLTA
Lease rental payments AERSMRK i) 240 288
Joint ventures o TaF
Purchases of skincare and BEEEREAEM
beauty products and medical EEREM
consumables (ii) 16,653 17,750
Purchases of property, plant and HBEYXE  BERXE
equipment (iii) 20,189 112,661
Equipment maintenance BREMEERGE
service fee (iv) 4,406 3,786
Companies beneficially BB AT
owned by non-controlling FERBRRER
shareholders of subsidiaries BENRAT
Lease rental payments HERSRK 0] 2,208 2,208
Companies beneficially HEBREN —BREXE
owned by a family member of EREENLT
Lu Lyn Wade Leslie
Lease rental payments HERSMAK 0] 17,207 16,037
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35. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

@)

(Continued)

Notes:

0} The lease rentals were charged from the related parties
according to mutually agreed terms.

(ii) Purchases were made with the joint ventures according to the
mutually agreed terms.

(iii) ltems of property, plant and equipment were purchased from
joint ventures according to mutually agreed terms.

(iv) Equipment maintenance service fees were charged from the
joint ventures according to mutually agreed terms.

Compensation of key management personnel of the Group:

All members of key management personnel are directors of
the Company, and their compensations are disclosed in
note 9.

During the year ended 31 March 2023, Wong Chi Cheung,
an executive director of the Company, obtained a loan of
HK$2,900,000, which is unsecured, interest-bearing at
3.5% per annum and repayable in 2025. The maximum
amount due from this executive director during the year
ended 31 March 2023 and the balance as at 31 March
2023 amounted to HK$2,900,000. Mr. Wong resigned as
director during the year ended 31 March 2024.

There was no continuing connected transaction nor
connected transaction entered into by the Group during the
years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023 which is required to
be disclosed under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. The
related party transactions with entities beneficially owned
by Tang Chi Fai or his spouse or non-controlling
shareholders of subsidiaries disclosed in note 36(a) are
exempted from the disclosure requirements in Chapter 14A
of the Listing Rules as they are below the de minimis
threshold under Rule 14A.76(1).
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35. LR B (@)

(@)

(%)

0 HEESTIREEITHE KA
AR 77 Y ER

(i) BEDNBREEFHENBERAEE
TR EEUTER o

(i) - WERIBEE HREES

BERNERBEREDRE

v) REEERSERIEET HED
GRAA E U o

REBETZERBASNFM

FBELEEERABRARAES
1 15 55 8 5 B 7 B 5 O AP 25 -

BE-_ZTZ-_=F=A=+—HI*F
[ ARBWTEETELEENEER
2,900,000/ 7T ° #% B Z R B 1%
FEIS%TBLT R B - REEIE -
HE-_T-_=F=-A=+—HItFE
ERESTEESESRERR_Z
—ZTEZAZ+THBHHES A
2,900,000 870« BAEREBEZT
“WNEZAZt+—BIFERTE
$o

BHE-_ZT-_MNER-_FT-_=F=#
“+—HILFE  AEELEARE
FHARBEAAEREIBERER
SXEEZ 5 o AT FE36(e) # B &Y
B0 R Bk H A B sk B A R IEIE
PR A% B E S A K E AR 1T HO R R

RPERRET EMBRAF14AER
WERAT  RRAEBEISEAIRE
F4ATE() IEHIRIEFA R AKT o
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36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 3. TRIEABEERTMIAND

VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are
credit risk, liquidity risk, interest rate risk and equity price and
investment risks. The directors review and agree policies for
managing each of these risks and they are summarised below.

Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its
contractual obligations resulting in a financial loss to the Group.

The Group was involved in the provision of medical, aesthetic
medical, beauty and wellness and multi-channel networking and
related services and the sale of skincare, healthcare and beauty
products and receivable balances are mainly from financial
institutions in respect of credit card receivables and other
institutional customers arising from medical and multi-channel
networking and related services. Receivable balances are
monitored on an ongoing basis by senior management and the
Group’s exposure to bad debts is not significant. In addition, the
Group’s bank balances are deposited with creditworthy banks
with no recent history of default.

The credit risk of the Group’s other financial assets arises from
the default of the counterparties, with a maximum exposure
equal to the carrying amounts of these financial assets.

The Group measures loss allowances for trade receivables at an
amount equal to lifetime ECLs, which is calculated using a
provision matrix or based on the probabilities of default with
reference to available market information. As the Group’s
historical credit loss experience does not indicate significantly
different loss patterns for different customer segments, the loss
allowance based on past due status is not further distinguished
between the Group’s different customer bases.

No allowances in respect of expected credit losses have been
recognised as management assessed the risk of default based
on historical experience and forward-looking element is not
significant.
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36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 3. TRIEAREERSMIAND

VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS FE @
(Continued)
Credit risk (Continued) EERK &)
The following table provides information about the Group’s TREIRZZFZOER=ZZT==F=A
exposure to credit risk for trade receivables as at 31 March 2024 =+ —HAREEAKREERRBONER
and 2023:
2024 2023
—E-ME o4
(e[ RN M Gross carrying
amount amount
EREAE FRE4E
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Current (not past due) BNHR (ki@ HR) 144,768 130,505
Less than 3 months past due wHEI DR BE A 83,921 59,446
3 to 6 months past due wEI3 =618 A 22,943 16,635
7 to 12 months past due wWEI7 21218 A 10,020 4,563
More than 1 year past due BE1F M 1,364 737
Total A&t 263,016 211,886
Liquidity risk REBESERE
The Group monitors and maintains a sufficient level of cash and AEBEEEREFEEERATENRS
cash equivalents deemed adequate by management to finance RBReZEBYMKT  UBNAREENEE
the Group’s operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuation in LERERERERDHTE - TEE T H
cash flows. Management reviews and monitors its working B NERACSEEST L -

capital requirements regularly.
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36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 36. TRIAKMEEREMIANAD

VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 1S ()

(Continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued) REBESER @)

The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities, based on AEENSRBEERGAORMRIRESRN
the contractual undiscounted cash flows, is as follows: SMEEIERAT

As at 31 March 2024 R-E_NMF=A=+—H

More than ~ More than
Within 1 year but 2years Total
1 year or lessthan butlessthan ~ More than undiscounted Carrying
on demand 2 years 5years 5years  cash flows amounts

AR-FRE —F0E MERE AHHR
RERRE BRER BRER EENE RERELR RafE
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TR TR TR TRT FRT

Trade payables E5EMNTE 81,094 - - - 81,094 81,094
Other payables and accruals EERFUARESER 370,331 14,643 263,878 17,211 666,123 604,368
Bank borrowings R 185,385 285,742 295,239 - 766,366 678,902
Lease liabilities HEBE 273,965 192,175 241,251 15,809 723,206 683,027
Convertible bonds akES 6,630 259,208 - - 265,838 241,767
Total At 917,405 751,768 800,374 33,080 2502627 2,289,158

As at 31 March 2023 N-E-—=#=g=+-—H

More than More than
Within 1 year but 2 years Total
1 year or lessthan  butlessthan ~ Morethan  undiscounted Carrying
on demand 2 years 5 years Syears  cash flows amounts
BR—ER —EE AENE RER

BERER EmER BREM TENE RERELE KHEE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
AL TAT AL T TAL T
Trade payables EHEATE 70,093 - - - 70,093 70,093
Other payables and accruals EtERZEREAER 537,834 19,664 26,687 251,638 835,823 780,792
Bank borrowings BITEH 121,459 88,364 332,927 - 542,750 489,008
Lease liabilties MEBE 315,722 216,423 312,376 5,070 849,591 813,128
Convertible bonds mhRES 6,630 6,630 252,578 - 265,838 230,132
Total At 1,061,738 381,081 924,568 256,708 2,564,005 2,383,153
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36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 3. TRIEABREERSMIAND

VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(Continued)

Interest rate risk

The Group’s interest rate risk arises primarily from bank
borrowings, convertible bonds and lease liabilities. Bank
borrowings, convertible bonds and lease liabilities issued at
variable rates and at fixed rates expose the Group to cash flow
interest rate risk and fair value interest rate risk respectively.

The Group monitors the level of its variable rate borrowings and
fixed rate borrowings and manages the contractual terms of the
interest-bearing financial liabilities. The Group’s interest rate
profile as monitored by management is set out in (i) below.

() Interest rate profile

The following table details the interest rate profile of the

EE @)

A= E R

AEENFERBEZRERITER - A

BMREFLEEEE - REFHFEREE

M R B 7 IRITREFN —Hﬁ‘ﬂxf HFREE

EF/‘EUA$EI7¥K RERENERAR
DA E g o

REBETFBF KGR R EE MR B R
HRFRERFREERMAR E’J’\Zﬂ%%ﬁ
AEEAEEBEFRANEHERER T
() -

i) RI=RER

TRAVAKERBE R ZER

Group’s borrowings at the end of the reporting period. ZFNEBER o
2024 2023
“E-mE —TCI=fF
Effective Effective
interest rate Amount interest rate Amount
ERA=R &8 BIRA% Ec
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
FirsE TEx TR
Fixed rate borrowings: R ESERAE
Bank borrowings RITER 25 7.13% 7,050  4.08%-7.13% 11,198
Lease liabilities HEAR 28 2.66%-6% 683,027 2.66% 813,128
Convertible bonds aRES 32 1.94% 241,767 7.94% 230,132
Subtotal INet 931,853 1,054,458
Variable rate borrowings: ZENRIRER
Bank borrowings SRITET 25 5.77%-8.33% 671,843  4.03%-4.69% 477 810
Subtotal Nt 671,843 477,810
Total &t 1,603,696 1,532,268
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36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 3. TRIEABEERTMIAND

VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(Continued)

Interest rate risk (Continued)
(ii) Sensitivity analysis

At 31 March 2024, it was estimated that a general
increase/decrease of 100 basis points in interest rates, with
all other variables held constant, would have decreased/
increased the Group’s profit after taxation and retained
profits by approximately HK$6,820,000 (2023:
HK$3,990,000). Other components of the consolidated
equity would not be affected in response to a general
increase/decrease in interest rates.

The sensitivity analysis above indicates the annualised
impact on the Group’s interest expense that would arise
assuming that the change in interest rates had occurred at
the end of the reporting period arising from floating rate
non-derivative instruments held by the Group as at that
date which exposes the Group to cash flow interest rate
risk.

Equity price and investment risks

The Group is exposed to equity price risk arising from individual
equity investments classified as financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss or fair value through other comprehensive
income. The valuation of the unlisted investments is determined
by reference to the financial forecast of the investees, the recent
transaction price of the same class of instruments or price/
earnings ratio of comparable companies. Investment fund risk is
the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of investment funds
will fluctuate due to changes in the prices of underlying securities
or the financial performance of the funds. All of the Group’s
unquoted investments are held for strategic purposes. Their
performance is assessed regularly based on the information
available to the Group.

In addition, the Group has taken out two life insurance policies
covering a non-controlling shareholder of a subsidiary which
include investment elements, which the price risk is similar to the
above investment fund risk.
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36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(Continued)

Equity price and investment risks (Continued)

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to every 5%
change in the fair values of the investments to which the Group
has significant exposure at the end of the reporting period, with
all other variables held constant and before any impact on tax.
There is no impact on the Group’s equity except on the retained
profits and fair value reserve (non-recycling).

The maximum risk resulting from these investments equals their

36.

tREAREEREBIAND
E @)

REERRRER @)

TRINFEMBEMEERITTE ARG
ANERABRBHZENBERT  ARER®RE
HIRmE EARBRAIE N R FEZEE 5%
BURRE o I ARE BB (RE &N &
NHERE (TEARR) RN A BZE -

ZEREMEENRSARERERER

fair value. & -
Change
Carrying Change in other
amount of in profit comprehensive
investments before tax income
BRER R AT A REMZHE
IREE =) hE=Yiok Lo
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET FTET
As at 31 March 2024 N-Z-WE=A=+—H
Unlisted investments — FVOCI FLETIRE — RAFERA
Hp2mEles 9,637 - 482
Unlisted investments — Fair value FLETIRE — RAFERA
through profit or loss (“FVTPL") Ba((EATEFAER]D 117,706 5,885 -
Total A&t 127,343 5,885 482
As at 31 March 2023 AN_E-=F=ZA=1+—H
Unlisted investments — FVOCI FEMRE — BAFETFA
Hi 2 E R 10,419 - 521
Unlisted investments — FVTPL FEMRE — BAFETA
B 140,176 7,009 -
Total A&t 150,595 7,009 521
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36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 3. TRIEABEERTMIAND

VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(Continued)

Capital management

The Group’s main objectives with respect to capital management
include maintaining a solid and stable financing structure to
support its ongoing business growth so that it can continue to
maximise shareholders’ return, and providing an adequate return
to the shareholders by pricing products and services
commensurate with the level of risk.

The Group regularly reviews and manages its capital structure
and makes adjustments to it in light of changes in economic
conditions and the risk characteristics of the underlying assets.
To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust
the dividend payment to the shareholders, return capital to the
shareholders or issue new shares. The Group is not subject to
any externally imposed capital requirements. No changes were
made to the objectives, policies or processes for managing
capital during the year.

Fair value measurement
Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value
Fair value hierarchy

The following table presents the fair value of the Group’s financial
instruments measured at the end of the reporting period on a
recurring basis, categorised into the three-level fair value
hierarchy as defined in HKFRS 13 Fair value measurement. The
level into which a fair value measurement is classified is
determined with reference to the observability and significance of
the inputs used in the valuation technique as follows:

° Level 1 valuations: Fair value measured using only Level 1
inputs, i.e. unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities at the measurement date

° Level 2 valuations: Fair value measured using Level 2
inputs, i.e. observable inputs which fail to meet Level 1,
and not using significant unobservable inputs.
Unobservable inputs are inputs for which market data are
not available.

° Level 3 valuations: Fair value measured using significant
unobservable inputs
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36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 3. TREABREERSMIAND

VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 18 ()

(Continued)

Fair value measurement (Continued) AFEFE @)

The following tables illustrate the fair value measurement TRINNAEEESHTENAFEAERE
hierarchy of the Group’s financial instruments: & -

Assets measured at fair value: BRAFEIENEE

Fair value measurement using
ERTSIEETAVENE
Quoted prices Significant Significant

in active observable  unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total

RERTE EXTBRE  EXTUEE
@ HARE HARE

(5-B&) (B=B#&) (F=ER) it
HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$’000
T T Ti#n FEx
As at 31 March 2024 RZE-_NE=A=+-H
Financial assets at fair value through A TEst ABHEHL BEE
profit or loss 899 3,248 113,559 117,706
Financial assets at fair value through %A &S A 22 E Uz H)
other comprehensive income SREE - - 9,637 9,637
Other receivables HipfEdzE = = 98,305 98,305
As at 31 March 2023 R-B-=%£=zZA=1+-AH
Financial assets at fair value through & AT B ABHENS BEE
profit or loss 1,028 6,323 132,825 140,176
Financial assets at fair value through R A &S A 22 E k)
other comprehensive income SREE - - 10,419 10,419
Other receivables Hib e FIE - - 99,559 99,559
During the year ended 31 March 2024, there were no transfers of HEZZ-_MF=A=+—RALFE £
fair value measurements between Level 1 and Level 2 and no —EREF_ELZETEAFEFEHE
transfers into or out of Level 3 for both financial assets and BURTERCREERCRAEETT
financial liabilities. FEREANEL -
The Group’s policy is to recognise transfers between levels of fair REBEMBER ARE R L mREBRREKR
value hierarchy as at the end of the reporting period in which they R AT EBR 2 EH =R -
occur.
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36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 3. TRIEABEERTMIAND

VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(Continued)

Valuation techniques and inputs used in Level 2
fair value measurements

The unlisted fund investments are not quoted in an active market
and may be subject to restrictions on redemptions. Management
considers the valuation techniques and inputs used in valuing
these investment funds as part of its due diligence prior to
investing to ensure they are reasonable and appropriate and
therefore the net assets value of these funds may be used as an
input into measuring their fair values.

In respect of the unlisted fund investment categorised into Level
2, the valuation of such is estimated by reference to the
transaction price at arm’s length for same class of equity
instrument.

Valuation techniques and inputs used in Level 3
fair value measurements

The fair value of an unlisted equity investment amounting to
HK$10,877,000 (2023: HK$14,120,000) is determined by
referencing to the fair value of underlying properties held by the
investee using the market approach by taking into account the
quoted selling price of such properties (2023: residual approach
by taking into account the redevelopment potential of such
properties). The fair value measurement is positively correlated to
the estimated profit margin of 5% (2023: 5%) on redevelopment.
As at 31 March 2024, it is estimated that with all other variables
held constant, a decrease/increase in estimated profit margin by
1% (2023: 1%) would decrease/increase the Group’s profit for
the year by approximately HK$340,000 (2023: HK$440,000).

The fair value of the unlisted fund investment relating to a
co-living project amounting to HK$19,418,000 (2023:
HK$29,418,000) is determined by the income approach based
on the forecast of future cash flows. The fair value measurement
is positively correlated to the average occupancy rate for the next
five years (2024: 90%; 2023: 91%) and negatively correlated to
the discount rate (2024: 10.5%; 2023: 14.5%).
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36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 3. TRIEABREERESMIAND

VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(Continued)

Valuation techniques and inputs used in Level 3
fair value measurements (Continued)

As at 31 March 2024, it is estimated that with all other variables
held constant, a decrease/increase in average occupancy rate
for the next five years by 5% would decrease/increase the
Group's profit for the year by approximately HK$12,030,000 and
HK$12,030,000 (2023: HK$9,678,000 and HK$9,074,000)
respectively, while a decrease/increase in discount rate by 1%
would increase and decrease the Group’s profit for the year by
approximately HK$3,092,000 and HK$3,092,000 (2023:
HK$1,815,000 and HK$1,815,000) respectively.

The returns of the life insurance policies are at the discretion of
the insurers. Accordingly, management assesses that the
redemption values of such policies approximate to their fair
values.

The Group’s other investments categorised in Level 3 were
managed by unrelated asset managers who applied various
investment strategies to accomplish their respective investment
objectives. The fair value of these investments is recorded based
on valuations supplied by the fund managers. These valuations are
measured by the percentage of ownership of the private equity’s
net asset value, which is an unobservable input. The fund
managers apply appropriate valuation techniques such as the
latest transaction price, discounted cash flow, or a forward price/
earnings multiple arrived at by comparison with publicly-traded
comparable companies and after applying a liquidity discount. The
models are calibrated regularly and tested for validity using prices
from any observable current market transactions in the same
instruments or based on any available observable market data.

The fair value of other receivables measured at fair value is
determined with reference to forecast of future cash flows in
accordance with the terms set out in underlying sales and
purchase agreements. The fair value of other receivables is
negatively corelated to net income of investees companies.

As at 31 March 2024, it is estimated that with all other variables
held constant, a decrease/increase in net income by 5% would
increase and decrease the Group’s profit for the year by
approximately HK$2,985,065 and HK$2,823,238, respectively.
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36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(Continued)

Valuation techniques and inputs used in Level 3
fair value measurements (Continued)

The movements during the year in the balance of the Level 3
measurements are as follows:

3. TREREEREHIEND

1B ()

FE-BRATFEFEMANMGER
ity % By A B8 ()

FAFE=EREERESHOT :

Unlisted equity Unlisted Investmentsin  Unlisted equity
investments fund life insurance investment Other
- FVTPL investments policies - FvoCl receivables Total
FLTRARE -
FLETRARE - BRATETA
BATEHABE FLAEERE  ARRERE  Htt2EME  HUEWFE at
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TAR TER iR TAT TER
At 1 April 2022 W-E--#NE—H 45,154 39,418 56,367 14,588 80,845 235,372
Additional contribution BINEE 1,310 - - - - 1,310
Acqisttions WEsE - 11,087 - 3,638 5,154 19,829
Fair value change INEEE) (12,768) (7,929) 1,230 (7,807) 13,560 (13,708)
At 31 March 2023 and W-E-=5=ZR=1-H
1 April 2023 k-ZE-=5mA-H 33,696 42,532 56,597 10,419 99,559 242,803
Additional contribution FINEE 1,168 944 - - - 2,112
Fair value change INTEES) (9,354) (13,617) 1,593 (782) (1,254) (23,414)
At 31 March 2024 WZE-ME=R=1-H 25,510 29,859 58,190 9,637 98,305 221,501

Financial assets and liabilities not measured at
fair value

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial instruments carried
at amortised cost are not materially different from their fair values
as at the end of the reporting period.
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37. COMPANY-LEVEL STATEMENT OF

37. RRIMBMRRE

FINANCIAL POSITION
2024 2023
—E-OF =5
Note HK$’°000 HK$’000
B 5E TET FHT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS ERBEE
Investments in subsidiaries I E AT IRE 1 1
Prepayments TE B - 13,290
Financial assets at fair value BEAFESAEMEAERERN
through other comprehensive CRIEE
income 9,637 9,637
Financial assets at fair value BEATER ABED
through profit or loss SREE 11,728 15,685
Total non-current assets FRBEERE 21,366 38,613
CURRENT ASSETS REEE
Prepayments, deposits and FENFIE - ek
other receivables H b W sk IE 15,775 19,685
Amounts due from subsidiaries i S NGB 1,449,703 1,502,065
Cash and cash equivalents WENIREEEY 1,755 2,345
Total current assets MEEEEE 1,467,233 1,524,095
CURRENT LIABILITIES FEE
Other payables H{th fE A~ 3008 2,659 10,469
NET CURRENT ASSETS REBEEFE 1,464,574 1,513,626
TOTAL ASSETS LESS EERERABAE
CURRENT LIABILITIES 1,485,940 1,552,239
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES 38
Convertible bonds Al E S 241,767 230,132
NET ASSETS EEFE 1,244,173 1,322,107
EQUITY Es 29(a)
Share capital B 12 12
Reserves s 1,244,161 1,322,095
Total Equity R 1,244,173 1,322,107

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on

27 June 2024.

Lu Lyn Wade Leslie

B g
Director

EE

249

R-EBE-NENA-_tLRAEEESHE

R HETIE o

Lee Heung Wing
=LY
Director

EE
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38. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

The following list contains only the particulars of subsidiaries
which principally affected the results, assets and liabilities of the

Group.
Place of
incorporation/ Issued
establishment/ share capital/
Name of subsidiary operations paid-up share capital
EMRL/ ERfiRE/
WEAREH R/ B2 BRBA
Able Lead Corporation Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000
(EERAA) B 10,0007
Ace Miracle Enterprises Limited BvI US$1
ABRERES 1%n
All Union International Investment Limited Hong Kong HK$1
(AREREABRAR) % 1R
AmMed Cancer Center (Central) Limited Hong Kong HK$2
A 28T
ATO Hair Club Limited Hong Kong HK$100
ik 1007
Bayley & Jackson Dental Surgeons Limited Hong Kong HK$100
(RHEE FREBAERAR) 6 10087
Best Union (China) Limited Hong Kong HK$1
(B (PE)BRAR) 6 1T
Billon Energy Limited Hong Kong HKS$1
(KFBRAR) A 1R
Canadian Asian Neck and Back Institute Limited ~ Hong Kong HK$100
(BEEEMERERRAT) E 1007
Centre of Rehabiltation & Exercising Hong Kong HK$10,000
Specialist Limited R 10,0004 7T
(BEMEAEREENRBRAA)
Crown Leader Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000
(BREARAR) R 10,0007
EC Healthcare 250

38. RKEBRATMNKRE

NTHREREITEZERNEE X4 -
BERAEBEZHBARFS -

Effective percentage
of equity interest
held by the Group
AEERENER
RERDL

Directly Indirectly

E# ik

- 97%

- 100%

- 100%

- 100%

- 100%

- 50%

- 100%

- 100%

- 75%

- 51%

- 51%

Principal activities

IREH

Provision of healthcare services
REEBRE

Investment holding
RELER

Sales of skincare products
HEERER

Provision of top notch cancer
diagnosis services
RERRERED RS

Hair treatment
BEER

Provision of dental services
REFRRHE

Provision of medical, quasi-medical
and traditional beauty services
and sale of skincare and beauty
products

REBE  EREREAZAREMU
REEEBRERER

Property investment

RENE

Provision of chiropractic services
REUARRE

Provision of rehabiitation services
RFERE

Provision of veterinary medical
services
REBREERE
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38. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 38. NHELQRMNIRE &)

Effective percentage
of equity interest
Place of held by the Group
incorporation/ Issued REEBENER
establishment/ share capital/ BEEAL
Name of subsidiary operations paid-up share capital Directly Indirectly  Principal activities
HRRL/ BEIRE/
WEAREH R/ &%n% BRRA Ef g IEEE
Conya Group Limited Hong Kong HK$11,000 - 60%  Provision of dental services
(REEEBRAR) A 11,0005 RALTRIRE
Dermagic Skin Treatment Centre Company Hong Kong HK$770 - 85%  Provision of traditional beauty
Limited 6 70787 services and sale of skincare and
(BESERERLARAR) beauty products
RUEREAREARHEEERE
REM
Dr. Pro and Dr. Reborn Medical Aesthetics Macau MOP26,000 - 100%  Provision of aesthetic medical
Centre Limited P 26,000:2FI7 beauty services
(BERBEERTOARAR) RHEBEERRK
EHC Management Limited Hong Kong HK$100 - 100%  Investment holding
(EHRFEEEARAF) % 1007 REHR
Elisland Limited Hong Kong HK$1,000 - 51%  Provision of veterinary medical
Bl 100077 services
REBREERE
Eternal Harvest International Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 - 51%  Provision of veterinary medical
(REEBERAT) 6 10,0003 7T services
RURBRERE
Excellent Power Investments Limited BvI USS1 - 100%  Investment holding
AEAEREE 1%71 REHR
Gala Equity Limited BVI US$1 - 100%  Investment holding
ABEMTES 1% RAZR
Gold Rise Global Limited Hong Kong HK$415 - 85%  Provision of traditional beauty
(EERHKERAT) ik 4158 services and sale of skincare and
beauty products
RUEREAREAREEERR
XREMm
Grand Best Union Limited Hong Kong HK$1 - 100%  Provision of administrative services
(EILHBRAT) A 1A RETIR
Grand Best Union Services Limited Hong Kong HK$100 - 90%  Investment holding
A 10057 REHR
Green Mile Veterinary Management Limited Hong Kong HK$30,000,000 - 70%  Provision of veterinary medical
B3 30,000,000 % ¢ senvices

REBEERRS
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38. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 38. RHE QA RMNIRE &)

Effective percentage
of equity interest
Place of held by the Group
incorporation/ Issued REEBENER
establishment/ share capital/ BEEAL

Name of subsidiary operations paid-up share capital Directly Indirectly  Principal activities

iMEL/ BRARA/

WEARER R/ EEhY BRRE E# BE  FEEH

Guangzhou Zhuansheng Aesthetic Medical Beauty The PRC/ RMB10,000,000 - 90%  Provision of medical services
Clinic Company Limited Chinese Mainland AKH10,000,0007 RUEBERS
(BMEEXREXAFDBERAA) (Note 1)

P/ REAR (1)

Guangzhou Zhuansheng Enterprise Management  The PRC/ RMB500,000 = 90%  Provision of medical services
Company Limited Chinese Mainland AR%500,0007 RUEBERS
(BEMEELEERBRAR) (Note 1)

RE/PEARE (1)
Hair Forest Treatment Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 - 100%  Hair treatment
B 10,000/57¢ BRER

Hairchitect Institute (Harbour City) Limited Hong Kong HK$1,200 - 75%  Hair freatment
(REMEZ A% (585) ERAT) 6 1,200%7 PEER

Health Easy Dental Group Limited Hong Kong HK$100 - 60%  Provision of dental services
([BETHEEERAT) i 10077 RUTHRS

Health & Care Dental Clinic Limited Hong Kong HK$8,708,433 - 100%  Provision of dental services
(BRETHEHRMERAR) i 8,708,433 /87T RUTHRS

Health & Care Dental Services Limited Hong Kong HK$800,000 - 100%  Provision of dental services
(BREIHRHERLR) i 800,000/ RUTHRS

Health & Care (Macau) Dental Group Limited Macau MOP25,000 - 100%  Provision of dental services
(BR(EM) THEBERAF) pidy 25,0007 RUTHRS

High Group Corporation Limited Hong Kong HK$100 - 100%  Investment holding
(BBEZERAA) i 100787 REHR

Hong Kong Medical Advanced Imaging Limited ~ Hong Kong HK$80,000,000 - 42.6%  Provision of medical imaging

i 80,000,000%7 (Note 2) senvices
(fiiF2)  REBEZERS
Hong Kong Medical Advanced Imaging Hong Kong HK$35,000,000 - 35%  Provision of medical imaging
(TST) Limited ik 35,000,000/ 7 services
REBEYERK
Hong Kong Medical Endoscopy Center Limited ~ Hong Kong HK$100 - 73%  Provision of medical surgery
A 1005 services
RUEBEF MRS
Hong Kong Oncology Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 - 100%  Provision of medical services
i 10,0007t REBERS
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38. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 38. NHERQRMNIRE &)

Effective percentage
of equity interest
Place of held by the Group
incorporation/ Issued REEBENER
establishment/ share capital/ BEEAL
Name of subsidiary operations paid-up share capital Directly Indirectly  Principal activities
iMEL/ ERIRE/
WEARERE R/ EEhY BRRE B B IEEH
Hong Kong Orthopaedic and Clinical Myotherapy - Hong Kong HK$20,000,000 = 45%  Provision of medical services
Limited ik 20,000,000% 7 Note2) — RERERHE
(Bt 2)
Hong Kong Orthopaedic and Spine Centre Limited Hong Kong HK$2 - 100%  Provision of medical services
BEEMRARTLERLA B 25T RESERS
Hong Kong Pain And Wellness Solution Limited ~ BVI US$10,000 - 75%  Investment holding
RBRERHE 10,000%T REHR
Hong Kong Polyclinics Limited Hong Kong HK$1 - 60%  Provision of medical services
B 1AL REEERS
Hong Kong Polyclinics Limited BVI US$10,000 - 60%  Investment holding
EREERES 10,000%7T REAR
Hong Kong Professional Vaccine Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 - 100%  Provision of vaccine services
B 10,0007 RERERS
Hongkong Professional Pediatrics Vaccine Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 - 9% Provision of vaccine services
R 10,0007 REEE RS
Hong Kong Veterinary Imaging Center Limited ~ Hong Kong HK$1,000 - 51%  Provision of medical imaging
(EEBEYETOARRA) B 10007 sevices
REBEYERY
Honor Hong Kong Development Limited Hong Kong HK$10 - 100%  Sale of skincare products
(FEERERBRAT) Gl 1087 HERBER
Honour Year Limited Hong Kong HK$20,000 - 55%  Investment holding
R 20,000% 7 REAR
Humphrey & Partners Medical Services Hong Kong HK$1 - 100%  Provision of medical services
Management Limited E5 13T REBERY
iMedtech Limited BvVI USS1 - 100%  Investment holding
HEEERES 1%L REBR
Jade Master International Limited BvVI US$10 - 100%  Investment holding
REEEREE 0% RERR
King Equity Investments Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 - 51%  Provision of veterinary medical
(FEREBRAR) B 10,0007 senvices

REBERERS
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38. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 38. RHE QA RMNIRE &)

Effective percentage
of equity interest
Place of held by the Group
incorporation/ Issued AEEEENER
establishment/ share capital/ BEEAL
Name of subsidiary operations paid-up share capital Directly Indirectly  Principal activities
HRRL/ BEIRE/
WEAREH R/ BE BRRA Ef g IEEE
Langham Crystal Eye Genter Limited Hong Kong HK$15,000,000 - 100%  Provision of eye senvices
B 15,000,000/ RIS
Laugh and Shine Limited Hong Kong HK$100 — 100%  Provision of dental services
A 100%7T AT RIS
Majai Limited Hong Kong HK$1,000 - 75%  Provision of veterinary medical
SHBERAA B 10007 servioes
RURBBERE
Mainwel Beauty Limited Hong Kong HK$2,000 - 73.3%  Provision of hair services
(EHARAR) 7k 2,000%7T RALBERE
Marvel Champion Group Limited BvI USS1 - 100%  Investment holding
(REEEERAR) ABEMTESR 1% REHR
Mber (HK) Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 - 100%  Investment holding
A 10,0007t RAZR
Mber Limited BvI US$1 - 100%  Investment holding
ABEMTEE e RERR
Mckenzie Capital Investment Limited Hong Kong HK$40,000,000 - 51%  Investment holding
A 40,000,000% 7 RAZR
Mckenzie Healthcare Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 - 51%  Provision of medical services
(NHHTEDX _]) %/% 10,000/’&73 } @i\%% Ei‘%
Medic One Surgery Center Limited Hong Kong HK$1 - 100%  Provision of management services
A 1R REERE
Mobile Medical Int'l Centre Ltd BVl US$100 - 75%  Investment holding
EREARES 10057 REBR
Mobile Medical & Health Check Ctr Ltd Hong Kong HK$100 - 100%  Provision of medical services
EAB2ERPLERAT % 10087 REBERE
My Healthcare Limited Hong Kong HK$100 - 75%  Leasing and hospital income
6 10077t RERFRMA
New Elte Inc. Limited Hong Kong HK$10 - 100%  Provision of medical and traditional
(HBEZERLA) g 10747 beautty services and sale of

skincare and beauty products
REBBREGEARBIRAEE
ERERER
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38. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 38. NHERQRMNIRE &)

Effective percentage
of equity interest
Place of held by the Group
incorporation/ Issued REEBENER
establishment/ share capital/ BEEAL
Name of subsidiary operations paid-up share capital Directly Indirectly  Principal activities
SRR/ BEIRE/
WEAREH R/ EEHE BRBA Ef g IEEE
New Medical Centre Holding Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 = 51%  Investment holding
A 10,0005 RAZR
New Union International Capital Limited Hong Kong HK$1 - 100%  Provision of management services
(BB ERERAR) 6 1R RILERRE
New York Medical Group Hong Kong HK$1,000 - 100%  Provision of chiropractic services
(BHBEEE) ik 1,000%7 REERRE
New York Medical Group (HO) Limited Hong Kong HK$100 - 100%  Provision of chiropractic services
A 1007 RARRE
Pathlab Medical Laboratories Limited Hong Kong HK$5,000,000 - 99%  Provision of laboratory testing
(RuBBIRHERAR) & 5,000,000/ senices
RUBSBRRE
Perfect Magnum Limited BVI US$1 - 100%  Investment holding
REEMTES B RAZR
Plenty Business Limited BvI US$1 - 100%  Investment holding
ABAEREE 1% RAZR
Pioneer Evolution Limited BVI US$1 - 60%  Investment holding
ABEMTESE E RERR
Presminent Medical Centre Limited Hong Kong HK$1,000,000 - 51%  Provision of medical services
(EAERRLERDT) % 1,000,0007% ¢ RUBERE
Premier Medical Group (BVI) Limited BVI Us$10 - 70%  Investment holding
ABRERAES 1051 RAZER
Prime Inspire Limited BvVI US$1,000 - 70%  Provision of multi-channel
ABEMTES 1,000%T networking services
RS EERIRE
Prime Kids Limited Hong Kong HK$100 - 51%  Provision of medical services
8 10077 RBERE
Professional Aesthetic Surgery Centre Limited ~ Hong Kong HK$1 - 100%  Provision of management services
(ERESERFALERAT) ik 1R RILERRE
Professional Medical and Surgery Center Limited  Hong Kong HK$1 - 100%  Provision of management services
(ERBREATOERAR) A 1R RILERRE
Qualigenics Medical Limited Hong Kong HK$3,000 - 100%  Provision of medical services
(BEEEERAA) & 30007 REEERS
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38. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 38. RHE QA RMNIRE &)

Effective percentage
of equity interest
Place of held by the Group
incorporation/ Issued AEEEENER
establishment/ share capital/ BEEAL
Name of subsidiary operations paid-up share capital Directly Indirectly  Principal activities
iMEL/ BRARA/
WEARERE R/ &%n% BRRE E# B IEEH
Reliable Global Group Limited BvI US$1 - 100%  Investment holding
EREARES %7 REBR
Sure-Care Medical and Health Cayman Limited ~ Cayman HK$99,064 r 30.32%  Provision of medical services
(ERBRERAA) GEEE 99,0647870 Note?) — RHEBERS
(M3t2)
Swiss Line by Dermalab Limited Hong Kong HK$1,000 - 100%  Sale of skincare products
(ENEERAR) B 1,000 HEERER
Team Expert Investment Limited BvI US$1 - 100%  Investment holding
REEEREE 157 RERR
The New Medical Center Limited Hong Kong HK$15,000,000 - 51%  Provision of medical services
i 15,000,0007%7 RABERE
The New Medical Imaging Center Limited Hong Kong HK$100 - 100%  Provision of medical imaging
i 100787 senvioes
REBSTERS
The One Dental Limited Hong Kong HK$100 - 100%  Provision of dental services
B 1007 U T RIRT
The One Dental Plus Limited Hong Kong HK$1 - 100%  Provision of dental services
B 1A RETHRS
The One Dental Three Limited Hong Kong HK$100 - 100%  Provision of dental services
R 1007 RETHRS
UMH GP Network (Kwun Tong) Limited Hong Kong HK$3,000,000 - 80%  Provision of medical services
B 3,000,000/ 7 REEERY
UMH GP Network Holding Limited BvVI US$1 - 100%  Investment holding
REEEREE 157 RERR
UMH GP Network Limited Hong Kong HK$100 - 100%  Provision of medical services
(BRFEESEARAA) BE 10057 REEERY
UMH Summit Medical Limited Hong Kong HK$12,000,000 - 100%  Provision of medical services
(BESHERAA) BE 12,000,000 REEERY
UMH Treasury Services Alpha Limited Hong Kong HK$10 - 100%  Holding of healthcare machines
Bl 1087 BEEEER
UMH Treasury Services Beta Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 - 100%  Holding of healthcare machines
B 10,0007 FREERR

EC Healthcare 256 Annual Report 2023/24



Notes to the Financial Statements

R

38. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 38. NHERQRMNIRE &)

Effective percentage
of equity interest
Place of held by the Group
incorporation/ Issued REEBENER
establishment/ share capital/ BEEAL
Name of subsidiary operations paid-up share capital Directly Indirectly  Principal activities
iMEL/ ERIRE/
WEARERE R/ EEhY ARBA B B IEEH
Union (Group) Investment Limited Hong Kong HK$29,608 - 100%  Provision of medical, quasi-medical
(B4 (£B)REEBAT) A 29,6087 and traditional beauty services
and sale of skincare and beauty
products
REBE  RERRERRAREMU
REEEEREAER
Union Advanced Imaging Holding Limited BVI US$10,000 - 100%  Investment holding
RBRERHE 10,000%T REHR
Union Capital Investment Holding Limited BvVI US$1 - 100%  Investment holding
REEERES 157 RERR
Union Dental Holding Limited BvI US$1 - 100%  Investment holding
EREERES 157 REBR
Union Dermatory Holding Limited BvI US$1 - 100%  Investment holding
HEEERES 157 REBR
Union Enchanting Limited BvVI US$1 - 100%  Investment holding
(BaRCERRA) EEEERES B3 AR
Union General Surgery Limited Hong Kong HK$100 - 100%  Provision of medical services
& 100557 REBERE
Union Harvest Corporation Limited Hong Kong HKS$1 - 100%  Provision of marketing services
(S2ARAR) i 1ET R R
Union Health Services Holding Limited BvI USS$1 - 100%  Investment holding
EREERES 157 REZR
Union Honor International Enterprise Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 - 100%  Provision of management services
(BEEEAEERAR) B 10,0007 REEERY
Union Lab Holding Limited BvVI US$1 - 100%  Investment holding
HEEERRR 157 REBR
Union Medical Association Limited Hong Kong HKS$1 - 100%  Owner of trademarks
Bl 1A HEREAA
Union Medical Capital Management Limited BvVI US$1 - 100%  Investment holding
HEEERER 157 REBR
Union Medical Technology Holdings Limited BvI US$1 - 100%  Investment holding
EEEERES 157 AR
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38. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 38. RHE QA RMNIRE &)

Effective percentage
of equity interest
Place of held by the Group
incorporation/ Issued AEEEENER
establishment/ share capital/ BEEAL
Name of subsidiary operations paid-up share capital Directly Indirectly  Principal activities
HRRL/ BEIRE/
WEARER R/ EEHE BRRA Ef BE  FEEH
Union Neurology and Orthology Limited Hong Kong HK$100 = 75%  Provision of medical services
i 10057 RUEBERY
Union Oncology Holding Limited BvI 1US$10,000 r 100%  Investment holding
ABRERES 10,000% 7t RAZR
Union Preventive Healthcare Limited BvVI USS1 - 100%  Investment holding
REEEREE 1%T RAZR
Union Trichology Limited BvI 1S$20,000 - 75%  Investment holding
ABEMRES 20,0007 REHR
Wincom Limited Hong Kong HK$100 - 51%  Provision of veterinary medical
(EAERAA) % 10087 services
RESEERRS
Window-Discovery Tours Limited Hong Kong HK$800,000 - 97%  Provision of travel agency services
(BREEERAR) A 800,000/ iRk g R
Young Aesthetics Medical Limited Hong Kong HK$100 - %%  Provision of aesthetic medical
(REBEBRAR) BE 10047 senvices
RHEBEERRE
Note 1: The subsidiaries are wholly-foreign owned enterprises in the PRC. W1 ZENBRARATRBEIEBEDLE -
Note 2: These two entities with lower than 50% effective interests held by the eE2 : REEFETE50% BRI AZME
Group are subsidiaries of the Group as the Group controls the ERANEENNERR - THRAE
compositions of the respective boards of directors. Bzl saESgEK -
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39. PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARIES WITH 39. BEEARFERERN B HE

MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING

INTERESTS

Details of the Group’s subsidiaries that have material non-

controlling interests are set out below:

BHEBLE

BT

REBEA E NI R AE R AR

2024 2023
—E_NE —E-=4F
Percentage of equity interest held IEEREREENOREA S
by non-controlling interests:
Subsidiary group A — principally engaged HIBEEA — T ERNEE
in provision of medical services MEIREEBERS
in Hong Kong 49% 49%
Subsidiary group B — principally engaged KM{EBE£EB — T E2RNEE
in provision of laboratory testing wEREEREAH (T
in Hong Kong (Note 1) 1% 25%
2024 2023
—E_ME —Eo=f
HK$’000 HK$’000
THT FRETT
Profit/(loss) for the year allocated to DB IR BTN FE
non-controlling interests: wmHL(Es18) -
Subsidiary group A B A 16,663 19,582
Subsidiary group B EEEB N/A R iE H 4,395
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests: 2 < A% 8. T IEIE AR #E %S ¢
Subsidiary group A MEBEEA 23,030 22,950
Subsidiary group B MEEEB N/A R iE H 7,440
Accumulated balances of non-controling R 2R& A EREY FEIE AR S
interests at the reporting date: RIEHRE -
Subsidiary group A MEEEA 121,846 130,180
Subsidiary group B ELEB N/A R F 69,168

Note 1: Pursuant to the sale and purchase agreement dated 14 December
2020, the Group acquired an additional 24% equity interest of
Subsidiary group B during the year. Accordingly, the non-controlling
interest of Subsidiary group B is not considered as a material non-

controlling interests as at 31 March 2024.
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39. PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARIES WITH
MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING
INTERESTS (continued)

The following tables illustrate the summarised financial information
of the above subsidiaries. The amounts disclosed are before any
inter-company eliminations:

3. BEEARFEREZNE D
BB AT @)

TRHA LAMEARNTHEERRE -
B RAEMARREHEAINDSEE

Subsidiary
group A
MEATA
HK$’000
2024 —ZE-mE T
Revenue N 265,506
Total expense X 209,385
Earning before interest, tax, depreciation MEBITE REHEAT 2
and amortisation B F| 92,720
Current assets mBNEE 215,105
Non-current assets EREEE 333,594
Current liabilities mEAaE 189,245
Non-current liabilities EREBEE 10,488
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and Re kRS EWFENCRD)
cash equivalents 12,133
Subsidiary Subsidiary
group A group B
MEARA MiEARB
HK$’'000 HK$'000
2023 =4 FHET FHET
Revenue WA 261,119 208,138
Total expenses BRI 201,022 128,214
Earning before interest, tax, MENTEREER 2
depreciation and amortisation ZF 95,631 43,641
Current assets REEE 255,416 107,640
Non-current assets FRBEE 261,063 389,485
Current liabilities mEAaE 255,232 10,976
Non-current liabilities ERBEE 19,794 955,103
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and ReRReEEWEM CRd)
cash equivalents FEE (19,877) 13,337
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40. IMMEDIATE AND ULTIMATE CONTROLLING

41.

PARTY

At 31 March 2024, the directors consider the immediate parent
and ultimate controlling party of the Group to be Union Medical
Care Holding Limited, which is incorporated in the BVI.

NON-ADJUSTING EVENTS AFTER THE
REPORTING PERIOD

Further to the acquisition as detailed in note 17(a), on 12 June
2024, the Group entered into a sales and purchase agreement to
dispose of 51% of the entire issued share capital of a subsidiary
operating under the business name of Zenith Medical Centre at a
total consideration of HK$80,249,000. Upon completion of the
disposal, the Group will no longer have any interest in the
company and the company will cease to be accounted as a
subsidiary of the Company.
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40. HERRRERTS

41.

MN_ZE_WE=ZA=+—H EFRAN
SENEZES AR RERIERABARE
B 4 B = B S 5T AKX SZ &9 Union Medical
Care Holding Limited

BEHRNFRAREE

BWE17@F M IREEER RS -OF
NATZH AEBEFTVEERE 0 U
£ PA Zenith Medical Centre H) 3 55 4 FE AR &
R B AR 2R HITRAMNS1% « B
{8 480,249,000/ 7L - M EEME © AN
EEBTHERZARNMEAER  MZ
RNAETBIEARABNBABIALR -
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Conyers Trust Company (Cayman) Limited
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Definitions

“AGM”
[BRBFRE]

“Articles of Association”
[4EAE =2 4BR ]

“Audit Committee”
[BZLZEg]

“Board”
34

“CG Code”

“Chinese Medicine

Practitioner(s)”
[
“Company”
[ARA ]
“Director(s)”

Ex3

“EBITDA”

[ BRI E REHA 2 BF ]

EC Healthcare

the annual general meeting of the Company proposed to be held on 23
August 2024
BER-ZZE_MENA T ZHETNARARRRBAFAE

the Company’s articles of association
RATIR A EIZ A

the audit committee of the Board
BEELEREES

the board of Directors

Exg

the Corporate Governance Code contained in Appendix C1 to the Listing
Rules, as amended from time to time
ETRAIMERC1 FrEl b EE AR (N SR])

person(s) who is (are) registered as registered Chinese medicine
practitioner(s) of the Chinese Medicine Council of Hong Kong under the
Register of Chinese Medicine Practitioners kept in accordance with the
Chinese Medicine Ordinance
RIRBECRBEEADEFNPEIMafrafMad i EREgRE 8 g
REMAL

EC Healthcare & £ #25%, an exempted company incorporated in the Cayman
Islands with limited liability, the shares of which are listed on the Main Board
of the Stock Exchange

EC Healthcare 2 B2 NHASHESTMKINERREGRAF - HRHK
BERFrER

the director(s) of the Company
KAREE

earnings before interests, taxation, depreciation-owned property, plant and

equipment and amortisation

REAFE BB - BAVE  BELRBFEREHE BT
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Definitions

TR

“Greater Bay Area”

[AEE

“Greater China’
[ KA |

“Group”
[ A5 ]

“g.f.a.”
[RIET TS ]

“Healthcare Professionals”

[fRERES |

HKS’
5]

“Hong Kong’

(&%)

city cluster across the Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macau region, consisting of
Hong Kong, Macau and nine cities in Guangdong Province, namely,
Dongguan, Foshan, Guangzhou, Huizhou, Jiangmen, Shenzhen, Zhaoging,
Zhongshan and Zhuhai

BR-BH-RFI(EBER) WRAONTE  FEE  RFIRERENNERT
(BUERZE ~ #h1L ~ B~ 3N - JIPY - Ry - BE - RILRIKE)

Mainland China, Hong Kong, Macau and Taiwan
REIREE - FE - RFIRAE

the Company and its subsidiaries
RpEl REM B AT

gross floor area
MRIEHEEE

person(s) registered with the respective boards or councils before he/she is
allowed to practise in Hong Kong under the relevant laws of Hong Kong as
may be amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time.
The 13 healthcare professionals comprise Chinese medicine practitioners,
chiropractors, dental hygienists, dentists, medical laboratory technologists,
medical practitioners, midwives, nurses, pharmacists, occupational
therapists, optometrists, physiotherapists and radiographers
FERERIBFIBENRERT » BRIAREMANERNEEBBENETERNE
ZA EHEAEFENREEEELOAL - 1I3ERREREERESRE - A
B TRMRIEE - TR BB BAE  BEL  EL - R BE¥e
FERM ~ BRYLAD - ¥IRIE R AN K pAT BRAm

Hong Kong dollar, the lawful currency of Hong Kong
BEBETEEET

the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the People’s Republic of

China
R ARENEE B RTHE
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Definitions

1

“Listing Date”
[ 7 B &1

“Listing Rules”
[ Em#R Al

MEA”
[E8 ]

“Macau”
[P ]

“Macau Doctor(s)”

[JRPIEe A |

“Medical Professionals”

[EFEEEAER]

“Memorandum and Articles of

Association”

[ EIZ A M S 48R

“Model Code”

=S

“Mr. Tang”
[ &% A |

“PRC”
[ e

EC Healthcare

11 March 2016, being the date on which the shares were first listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange
—E-—RF=A+—H AROEREBRZFER LT ZA

the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange
B PTRE S E AR Bl

merger and acquisition
& 0F Mk iE

the Macau Special Administrative Region of the People’s Republic of China
RREE A R AFNBDR PR R TR

doctor(s) licensed by and registered with the department of health in Macau
(RFIEFRIITE R BN B A R)
ERFIFRITRE BN ERT A RELE

Healthcare Professionals, excluding full-time and exclusive Registered
Practitioners
REEEES  TEE2BERETMES

the Company’s memorandum and article of association
PN/NSIFER A=t N S E

Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers as set
out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules

EHRAIMERCIPAFC L BEITAERETES R HNELETRD

Mr. Tang Chi Fai, the chairman and an executive Director
TRERATEEHEESLLE

the People’s Republic of China
hEE AR KA
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Definitions

“PRC Doctor(s)”

[ B A e B8 A
“Prospectus”
[BBRER]

“Registered Practitioner(s)”

Esaiiisf==

“Reporting Period”
[R5 HA A |

“Sales Volume”
[$HE#
“Share(s)”
(Bt

“Shareholder(s)”
A% |

medical practitioner(s) with the qualification of a doctor (% £f) or assistant
doctor (¥13£BhI2EAD) under the PRC Law on Medical Practitioners (FFZE A
R AT 3 B8 60)%) and is practicing at a medical or healthcare institution
BE(PEARLMEANFEEMNEZ) AERBMMREDEBMEARMNEE £58
BRI

the prospectus dated 1 March 2016 issued by the Company
ARBRZE—NF=ZA—HHENBBRER

registered dentist within the meaning of the Dentists Registration Ordinance
(Cap. 156), registered medical practitioner within the meaning of the Medical
Registration Ordinance (Cap. 161), registered chiropractor within the
meaning of the Chiropractors Registration Ordinance (Cap. 428), listed or
registered Chinese medicine practitioner within the meaning of the Chinese
Medicine Ordinance (Cap. 549), registered veterinary surgeons within the
meaning of the Veterinary Surgeons Registration Ordinance (Cap. 529),
Macau Doctors and PRC Doctors
CFEMEE) (F 156 %) FrigrsEM A 28 - (B AEMmIEs) (F161E) i
MEEME L - (S BRI (F428%) FricMaMAE - (REBEIEH) (5
549% ) FTiEMRYI T M g - CERE M RDI) (5520 %) Prg eyt i &
B ORPIEAERRBIARERE

financial year ended 31 March 2024
HE-Z-_MFE=A=1+—ALHBFE

being the total sales volume generated from contracted sales entered into,
and all products and services offered by the Group
BAIUMEAEEARNERIBMHOFAEE R RRGEENBIHER

ordinary share(s) in the share capital of the Company with par value of
HK$0.00001 each

AR B AR TE B 0.00001 7 7T #) i Ak

holder(s) of Share(s)
AR BB A
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EC Healthcare

our employeés who have con_ﬂ_plet-:é"d mah?fd:atory-lht'emal traihing'de\?eloped
by our Doctors to provide quési-medical services and/or traditional beauty
services under our internal licensing programme

B TE B H 1P B8 AR Il 7 058 Il 1M 1R 3B 55 B A AR I8 3 P U AR 2RI AR 7 1R (R 2 B8 R AR
BR/EFETRENEE

year-on-year
Eils

per cent.
ERz)=d
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Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability
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